IMMUNOGENIC CELL DEATH IN CANCER: FROM BENCHSIDE RESEARCH TO BEDSIDE REALITY

EDITED BY: Abhishek D. Garg, Patrizia Agostinis PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology and Frontiers in Oncology





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2016 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-838-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-838-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

IMMUNOGENIC CELL DEATH IN CANCER: FROM BENCHSIDE RESEARCH TO BEDSIDE REALITY

Topic Editors:

Abhishek D. Garg, KU Leuven University of Leuven, Belgium Patrizia Agostinis, KU Leuven University of Leuven, Belgium



Glow-diffused rendition of a fluorescence microscopy image depicting a human dendritic cell (green) interacting with a human cancer cell (T24 bladder carcinoma cells; red) undergoing immunogenic cell death (ICD) induced by Hypericin-based Photodynamic Therapy (Hyp-PDT).

Image by Abhishek D. Garg and Patrizia Agostinis.

Classically, anti-cancer therapies have always been applied with the primary aim of tumor debulking achieved through widespread induction of cancer cell death. While the role of host immune system is frequently considered as host protective in various (antigen-bearing) pathologies or infections yet in case of cancer overtime it was proposed that the host immune system either plays no role in therapeutic efficacy or plays a limited role that is therapeutically unemployable. The concept that the immune system is dispensable for the efficacy of anticancer therapies lingered on for a substantial amount of time; not only because evidence supporting the claim that anti-cancer immunity played a role were mainly contradictory, but also largely because it was considered acceptable (and sometimes still is) to test anticancer therapies in immunodeficient mice (i.e. SCID/athymic mice lacking adaptive immune system). This latter practice played a detrimental role in appreciating the role of anticancer immunity in cancer therapy. This scenario is epitomized by the fact that for a long time the very existence of cancer-associated antigens or cancer-associated 'danger signaling' remained controversial.

However, over last several years this dogmatic view has been considerably modified. The existence of cancer-associated antigens and 'danger signaling' has been proven to be incontrovertible. These developments have together paved way for the establishment of the attractive concept of "immunogenic cell death" (ICD). It has been established that a restricted class of chemotherapeutics/targeted therapeutics, radiotherapy, photodynamic therapy and certain oncolytic viruses can induce a form of cancer cell death called ICD which is accompanied by spatiotemporally defined emission of danger signals. These danger signals along with other factors help cancer cells undergoing ICD to activate host innate immune cells, which in turn activate T cell-based immunity that helps eradicate live (or residual) surviving cancer cells.

The emergence of ICD has been marred by some controversy. ICD has been criticized to be either experimental model or setting-specific or mostly a concept based on rodent studies that may have very limited implications for clinical application. However, in recent times it has emerged (through mainly retrospective or prognostic studies) that ICD can work in various human clinical settings hinting towards clinical applicability of ICD. However a widespread consensus on this issue is still transitional.

In the current Research Topic we aimed to organize and intensify a discussion that strives to bring together the academic and clinical research community in order to provide a background to the current state-of-the-art in ICD associated bench-side research and to initiate fruitful discussions on present and future prospects of ICD translating towards the clinical, bedside reality.

Citation: Garg, A. D., Agostinis, P., eds. (2016). Immunogenic Cell Death in Cancer: From Benchside Research to Bedside Reality. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-838-2

Table of Contents

06 Editorial: Immunogenic Cell Death in Cancer: From Benchside Research to Bedside Reality

Abhishek D. Garg and Patrizia Agostinis

- *09 DAMPs from cell death to new life* Emilie Vénéreau, Chiara Ceriotti and Marco Emilio Bianchi
- 20 Radio-immunotherapy-induced immunogenic cancer cells as basis for induction of systemic anti-tumor immune responses – pre-clinical evidence and ongoing clinical applications

Anja Derer, Lisa Deloch, Yvonne Rubner, Rainer Fietkau, Benjamin Frey and Udo S. Gaipl

Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death Lucillia Bezu, Ligia C. Gomes-da-Silva, Heleen Dewitte, Karine Breckpot,

Jitka Fucikova, Radek Spisek, Lorenzo Galluzzi, Oliver Kepp and Guido Kroemer

50 Corrigendum: "Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death"

Lucillia Bezu, Ligia C. Gomes-da-Silva, Heleen Dewitte, Karine Breckpot, Jitka Fucikova, Radek Spisek, Lorenzo Galluzzi, Oliver Kepp and Guido Kroemer

51 Prognostic and predictive value of DAMPs and DAMP-associated processes in cancer

Jitka Fucikova, Irena Moserova, Linda Urbanova, Lucillia Bezu, Oliver Kepp, Isabelle Cremer, Cyril Salek, Pavel Strnad, Guido Kroemer, Lorenzo Galluzzi and Radek Spisek

68 Exploiting the Immunogenic Potential of Cancer Cells for Improved Dendritic Cell Vaccines

Lien Vandenberk, Jochen Belmans, Matthias Van Woensel, Matteo Riva and Stefaan W. Van Gool

83 Lymphoma immunotherapy: current status

Roberta Zappasodi, Filippo de Braud and Massimo Di Nicola

97 Exploiting the immunomodulatory properties of chemotherapeutic drugs to improve the success of cancer immunotherapy

Kelly Kersten, Camilla Salvagno and Karin E. de Visser

113 Targeting epigenetic processes in photodynamic therapy-induced anticancer immunity

Malgorzata Wachowska, Angelika Muchowicz and Jakub Golab

122 Molecular and Translational Classifications of DAMPs in Immunogenic Cell Death

Abhishek D. Garg, Lorenzo Galluzzi, Lionel Apetoh, Thais Baert, Raymond B. Birge, José Manuel Bravo-San Pedro, Karine Breckpot, David Brough, Ricardo Chaurio, Mara Cirone, An Coosemans, Pierre G. Coulie, Dirk De Ruysscher, Luciana Dini, Peter de Witte, Aleksandra M. Dudek-Peric, Alberto Faggioni, Jitka Fucikova, Udo S. Gaipl, Jakub Golab, Marie-Lise Gougeon, Michael R. Hamblin, Akseli Hemminki, Martin Herrmann, James W. Hodge, Oliver Kepp, Guido Kroemer, Dmitri V. Krysko, Walter G. Land, Frank Madeo, Angelo A. Manfredi, Stephen R. Mattarollo, Christian Maueroder, Nicolò Merendino, Gabriele Multhoff, Thomas Pabst, Jean-Ehrland Ricci, Chiara Riganti, Erminia Romano, Nicole Rufo, Mark J. Smyth, Jürgen Sonnemann, Radek Spisek, John Stagg, Erika Vacchelli, Peter Vandenabeele, Lien Vandenberk, Benoit J. Van den Eynde, Stefaan Van Gool, Francesca Velotti, Laurence Zitvogel and Patrizia Agostinis





Editorial: Immunogenic Cell Death in Cancer: From Benchside Research to Bedside Reality

Abhishek D. Garg* and Patrizia Agostinis*

Cell Death Research and Therapy (CDRT) Laboratory, Department of Cellular Molecular Medicine, KU Leuven University of Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

Keywords: immunogenicity, cancer immunology, cancer immunotherapy, anticancer vaccines, damageassociated molecular patterns, danger signals, danger signalling, immunosurveillance

The Editorial on the Research Topic

Immunogenic Cell Death in Cancer: From Benchside Research to Bedside Reality

Immunogenic cell death (ICD) has emerged as a cornerstone of therapy-induced antitumor immunity (1-3). ICD is distinguished by spatiotemporally defined emission of danger signals or damageassociated molecular patterns (DAMPs) that elevate the immunogenic potential of dying cells [Garg et al.; (4)]. The important role played by DAMPs in immunity, tissue remodeling, and inflammation is discussed in details by Venereau et al. (Marco E. Bianchi lab).

Most potent ICD inducers, characterized so far, elicit danger signaling through oxidativeendoplasmic reticulum stress (5). Several ICD inducers have been characterized, e.g., some chemotherapies, some physicochemical therapies (e.g., radiotherapy or photodynamic therapy/PDT), and oncolytic viruses (2, 6). Here, radiotherapy is among the first recognized immunogenic therapies [on account of "abscopal-effect" (7)]. The immunogenic potential of radiotherapy and possibilities for its combination with immune checkpoint blockers is discussed by Derer et al. (Udo S. Gaipl lab). It is noteworthy that ICD can also be achieved by various "smart" combinatorial strategies – an important point for clinically applied non-ICD inducers, discussed in details by Bezu et al. (Guido Kroemer lab).

Several lines of experimental evidence have established the validity of ICD. However, the overreliance on usage of prophylactic vaccination in transplantable (heterotopic) tumor models has attracted some criticism (8). While these criticisms are valid, the field is already moving toward tumors produced orthotopically (curative/therapeutic) or in genetically engineered mouse models (GEMM) (at least for few ICD inducers, e.g., hypericin-PDT, Newcastle disease virotherapy and anthracyclines) (9–12). Moreover, the clinical existence of ICD has been proven through retrospective analysis involving cancer patient's survival/therapy-responsiveness data (13–17). These observations have encouraged the increased usage of ICD-associated DAMPs as predictive/prognostic biomarkers – a point discussed in detail by Fucikova et al. (Radek Spisek lab). The promising results generated by systemically administered ICD inducers have also paved way for application of ICD-based dendritic cell (DC) vaccines (12). This important development has been discussed from the preclinical/clinical vantage points of various solid tumors by Vandenberk et al. (Stefaan W. van Gool lab) and lymphoma by Zappasodi et al. (Massimo Di Nicola lab). In the latter case, it is clear that the field is moving toward chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cell's application, and it will be interesting to see its combination with ICD in near future.

Nevertheless, the insurmountable complexity of cancer makes it inevitable that in certain contexts, ICD may fail. This failure may stem from various factors, e.g., tumor heterogeneity (8), MHC-level heterogeneity (12), pre-established niches enriched in immunosuppressive factors or immune-checkpoints (1), stem cell-based immune-evasion (12), low mutational load, inactivating

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and Reviewed by:

Bibhash Mukhopadhyay, Johnson & Johnson, USA

*Correspondence:

Abhishek D. Garg abhishekdgarg@gmail.com, abhishek.garg@med.kuleuven.be; Patrizia Agostinis patrizia.agostinis@med.kuleuven.be

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 04 February 2016 Accepted: 14 March 2016 Published: 29 March 2016

Citation:

Garg AD and Agostinis P (2016) Editorial: Immunogenic Cell Death in Cancer: From Benchside Research to Bedside Reality. Front. Immunol. 7:110. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00110

6

mutations/polymorphisms in certain immune-receptors (1), general ablation of danger signaling (14), and other genetic or even epigenetic causes. Several of these pro-cancerous immuneevasive mechanisms and immunotherapeutic strategies required for overcoming them are discussed in detail by Kersten et al. (Karin E. de Visser lab). The strategies for targeting epigenetic processes to improve immunotherapy are further discussed by Wachowska et al. (Jakub Golab lab).

We believe that the valuable contributions of key researchers/ clinicians toward this research topic/special edition have largely fulfilled its primary aim, i.e., to foster a critical discussion on experimental and clinical relevance of ICD. In fact, to further summarize and organize the fields of ICD and DAMPs, we have produced a multi-author consensus paper within this research topic that attempts to classify DAMPs and ICD inducers with an eye on translational potential of ICD (Garg et al.). This classification paper brings together >50 authors from the fields of ICD and DAMPs, and tries to reach a comprehensive accord on various terminologies related to DAMPs/ICD, the historical background of these concepts, ICD classification system (Type I vs. Type II inducers), and the relevant preclinical/clinical criteria crucial for the field(s) (Garg et al.). We hope that this consensus paper will be a useful literature resource for various researchers/clinicians. These contributions, while summarizing the status quo, have also exposed a set of major questions and challenges that still need to be addressed.

MAJOR QUESTIONS TO RESOLVE

- 1. Which danger signaling module is most specific to ICD? Ecto-CRT seems to have remarkable exclusivity to ICD (10, 18–20) yet certain ICD inducers do not induce secreted-ATP (10), released-HMGB1 (19), or Type I IFN-responses (21). Alternatively, many non-ICD inducers induce secreted-ATP (22), released-HMGB1 (23), or Type I IFN-response (21). In fact, Type I IFN-responses can neutralize oncolytic viruses through antiviral signaling (24).
- 2. *Are ICD-associated DAMPs interchangeable?* Ecto-HSP90 was proposed to be interchangeable with ecto-CRT (25, 26), but this was recently invalidated in another set-up (21).
- 3. Could ICD-associated DAMPs act as bystanders in certain contexts? Induction of ICD-associated DAMPs may not always translate into a relevant functional outcome, e.g., Bleomycin induces all ICD-associated DAMPs yet elicits Tregs induction (27).
- 4. What is the full extent of "plasticity" of ICD-associated danger/ immunogenic signaling?
- 5. What is the exact role of cellular catabolic processes in regulating ICD? Current results are highly variable; while macroautophagy positively regulates secreted-ATP (28), yet it can also negatively regulate ecto-CRT (29–31). Also, the exact roles of chaperone-mediated autophagy/CMA [CMA-essential gene *Lamp2a* regulates ecto-CRT (29)] or proteasome activity remains unresolved (Bortezomib induces ICD but not MG132, yet both inhibit the proteasome) (5).
- 6. What are the common molecular determinants of ICD across various cell death pathways? ICD-profile is largely associated

with caspase-dependent apoptosis (18) but association with necroptosis is also emerging (10).

- 7. How does ICD counter-act the (innately) apoptosis-associated immunosuppressive processes?
- 8. Does the role of ROS in ICD extend beyond a proximal stressor? e.g., ROS-elicited oxidation-associated molecular patterns/OAMPs have been shown to mediate immunogenic potential (11).
- 9. Why ICD fails in certain (GEMM) cancer mice models (8) but works in others (9, 32)?
- 10. Can epigenetic events [e.g., Long non-coding/micro-RNA (33)] regulate ICD and how?

TRANSLATIONAL/CLINICAL CHALLENGES

- 1. Can ICD's clinical translation withstand the "adverse effects" of mice-to-human immune differences?
- 2. Confirming ICD's existence in a prospective (high-powered/ supervised) clinical trial.
- 3. Can ICD withstand the (clinical-)operational/regulatory (GLP/ GMP/GCP) hurdles associated with anticancer vaccinesproduction? [indications for which are emerging (12)]
- 4. Characterizing ICD-resistance mechanisms in the clinic.
- 5. Characterizing reliable ICD-biomarker(s) detectable in patient tumor/sera-samples.
- 6. *Investigating ICD as a source of robust prognostic/predictive/ mechanistic biomarkers* [a point investigated recently in some studies (13, 34)].

We believe that the operational function of ICD (i.e., a dying cancer cell eliciting heightened immunogenicity-driven antitumor immunity) is incontrovertibly valid; but, owing to the incomprehensible complexity of cancer, the "specifics of ICD" (i.e., its molecular, signaling, and immunological determinants) will always remain open to amenability and variations. We envisage that overtime various "variants" of ICD may emerge that differ from each other in a manner dependent upon, the type of anticancer therapy, cancer cell death pathways, cancer-types, tumor antigen make-up, the *in vivo/in situ* location, and the location-dependent immune-contexture.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ADG wrote the manuscript. PA provided senior supervision and critically revised the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all the authors who contributed to this research topic as well as various reviewers/editors of the respective manuscripts, for their efforts, timely responses, and enthusiasm. We also thank the Frontiers Editorial Office for their assistance and support. This work was supported by C1 grant of the KU Leuven (C16/15/073), Federal Grant under the IAP7/32 of the Belgian Science Policy Office and FWO grant (G0584.12N) to PA. AG is supported by the FWO Postdoctoral Fellowship.

REFERENCES

- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:51–72. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-032712-100008
- Kepp O, Senovilla L, Vitale I, Vacchelli E, Adjemian S, Agostinis P, et al. Consensus guidelines for the detection of immunogenic cell death. Oncoimmunology (2014) 3(9):e955691. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.955691
- Galluzzi L, Vacchelli E, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Buque A, Senovilla L, Baracco EE, et al. Classification of current anticancer immunotherapies. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5(24):12472–508. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2998
- Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Martins I, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Michaud M, et al. Molecular determinants of immunogenic cell death elicited by anticancer chemotherapy. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* (2011) 30(1):61–9. doi:10.1007/s10555-011-9273-4
- van Vliet AR, Martin S, Garg AD, Agostinis P. The PERKs of damageassociated molecular patterns mediating cancer immunogenicity: from sensor to the plasma membrane and beyond. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2015) 33:74–85. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.03.010
- Adkins I, Fucikova J, Garg AD, Agostinis P, Spisek R. Physical modalities inducing immunogenic tumor cell death for cancer immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e968434. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.968434
- Kaminski JM, Shinohara E, Summers JB, Niermann KJ, Morimoto A, Brousal J. The controversial abscopal effect. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2005) 31(3):159–72. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv.2005.03.004
- Ciampricotti M, Hau CS, Doornebal CW, Jonkers J, de Visser KE. Chemotherapy response of spontaneous mammary tumors is independent of the adaptive immune system. *Nat Med* (2012) 18(3):344–6. doi:10.1038/ nm.2652
- Michaud M, Xie X, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Zitvogel L, White E, Kroemer G. An autophagy-dependent anticancer immune response determines the efficacy of melanoma chemotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3(7):e944047. doi:10.416 1/21624011.2014.944047
- Koks CA, Garg AD, Ehrhardt M, Riva M, Vandenberk L, Boon L, et al. Newcastle disease virotherapy induces long-term survival and tumor-specific immune memory in orthotopic glioma through the induction of immunogenic cell death. *Int J Cancer* (2015) **136**(5):E313–25. doi:10.1002/ijc.29202
- Vandenberk L, Garg AD, Verschuere T, Koks C, Belmans J, Beullens M, et al. Irradiation of necrotic cancer cells employed for pulsing dendritic cells (DCs), potentiates DC vaccine-induced antitumor immunity against highgrade glioma. *Oncoimmunology* (2016) 5(2):e1083669. doi:10.1080/21624 02X.2015.1083669
- Garg AD, Vandenberk L, Koks C, Verschuere T, Boon L, Van Gool S, et al. Dendritic cell vaccines based on immunogenic cell death elicit danger signals and T cell-driven rejection of high-grade glioma. *Sci Transl Med* (2016) 8(328):328ra27. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aae0105
- Garg AD, De Ruysscher D, Agostinis P. Immunological metagene signatures derived from immunogenic cancer cell death associate with improved survival of patients with lung, breast or ovarian malignancies: a large-scale metaanalysis. *Oncoimmunology* (2016) 5(2):e1069938. doi:10.1080/2162402X. 2015.1069938
- Garg AD, Elsen S, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, de Witte P, Agostinis P. Resistance to anticancer vaccination effect is controlled by a cancer cellautonomous phenotype that disrupts immunogenic phagocytic removal. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(29):26841–60. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.4754
- Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, et al. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(9):1050–9. doi:10.1038/nm1622
- Sistigu A, Yamazaki T, Vacchelli E, Chaba K, Enot DP, Adam J, et al. Cancer cell-autonomous contribution of type I interferon signaling to the efficacy of chemotherapy. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(11):1301–9. doi:10.1038/nm.3708
- Vacchelli E, Ma Y, Baracco EE, Sistigu A, Enot DP, Pietrocola F, et al. Chemotherapy-induced antitumor immunity requires formyl peptide receptor 1. *Science* (2015) 350(6263):972–8. doi:10.1126/science.aad0779
- Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(1):54–61. doi:10.1038/nm1523
- 19. Garg AD, Krysko DV, Verfaillie T, Kaczmarek A, Ferreira GB, Marysael T, et al. A novel pathway combining calreticulin exposure and ATP secretion in

immunogenic cancer cell death. *EMBO J* (2012) **31**(5):1062–79. doi:10.1038/ emboj.2011.497

- Martins I, Kepp O, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Tailler M, Shen S, et al. Restoration of the immunogenicity of cisplatin-induced cancer cell death by endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Oncogene* (2011) 30(10):1147–58. doi:10.1038/ onc.2010.500
- Dudek-Peric AM, Ferreira GB, Muchowicz A, Wouters J, Prada N, Martin S, et al. Antitumor immunity triggered by melphalan is potentiated by melanoma cell surface-associated calreticulin. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75(8):1603–14. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2089
- Martins I, Tesniere A, Kepp O, Michaud M, Schlemmer F, Senovilla L, et al. Chemotherapy induces ATP release from tumor cells. *Cell Cycle* (2009) 8(22):3723–8. doi:10.4161/cc.8.22.10026
- Zhao T, Ren H, Jia L, Chen J, Xin W, Yan F, et al. Inhibition of HIF-1alpha by PX-478 enhances the anti-tumor effect of gemcitabine by inducing immunogenic cell death in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(4):2250–62. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2948
- Randall RE, Goodbourn S. Interferons and viruses: an interplay between induction, signalling, antiviral responses and virus countermeasures. J Gen Virol (2008) 89(Pt 1):1–47. doi:10.1099/vir.0.83391-0
- Zappasodi R, Pupa SM, Ghedini GC, Bongarzone I, Magni M, Cabras AD, et al. Improved clinical outcome in indolent B-cell lymphoma patients vaccinated with autologous tumor cells experiencing immunogenic death. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(22):9062–72. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1825
- Fucikova J, Kralikova P, Fialova A, Brtnicky T, Rob L, Bartunkova J, et al. Human tumor cells killed by anthracyclines induce a tumor-specific immune response. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(14):4821–33. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0950
- Bugaut H, Bruchard M, Berger H, Derangere V, Odoul L, Euvrard R, et al. Bleomycin exerts ambivalent antitumor immune effect by triggering both immunogenic cell death and proliferation of regulatory T cells. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(6):e65181. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0065181
- Michaud M, Martins I, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Ma Y, Pellegatti P, et al. Autophagy-dependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutic agents in mice. *Science* (2011) 334(6062):1573–7. doi:10.1126/ science.1208347
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Agostinis P. Calreticulin surface exposure is abrogated in cells lacking, chaperone-mediated autophagy-essential gene, LAMP2A. *Cell Death Dis* (2013) 4:e826. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.372
- Martin S, Dudek-Peric AM, Maes H, Garg AD, Gabrysiak M, Demirsoy S, et al. Concurrent MEK and autophagy inhibition is required to restore cell death associated danger-signalling in Vemurafenib-resistant melanoma cells. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2015) 93(3):290–304. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2014.12.003
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Ferreira GB, Verfaillie T, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV, et al. ROS-induced autophagy in cancer cells assists in evasion from determinants of immunogenic cell death. *Autophagy* (2013) 9(9):1292–307. doi:10.4161/auto.25399
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Zitvogel L. Immunological effects of chemotherapy in spontaneous breast cancers. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2(12):e27158. doi:10.4161/onci.27158
- Musahl AS, Huang X, Rusakiewicz S, Ntini E, Marsico A, Kroemer G, et al. A long non-coding RNA links calreticulin-mediated immunogenic cell removal to RB1 transcription. *Oncogene* (2015) 34(39):5046–54. doi:10.1038/ onc.2014.424
- Stoll G, Bindea G, Mlecnik B, Galon J, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Meta-analysis of organ-specific differences in the structure of the immune infiltrate in major malignancies. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(14):11894–909. doi:10.18632/ oncotarget.4180

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Garg and Agostinis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



DAMPs from cell death to new life

Emilie Vénéreau^{1,2}, Chiara Ceriotti¹ and Marco Emilio Bianchi^{1,3*}

¹ Chromatin Dynamics Unit, Division of Genetics and Cell Biology, San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy, ²HMGBiotech Srl, Milan, Italy, ³Università Vita-Salute San Raffaele, Milan, Italy

Our body handles tissue damage by activating the immune system in response to intracellular molecules released by injured tissues [damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs)], in a similar way as it detects molecular motifs conserved in pathogens (pathogen-associated molecular patterns). DAMPs are molecules that have a physiological role inside the cell, but acquire additional functions when they are exposed to the extracellular environment: they alert the body about danger, stimulate an inflammatory response, and finally promote the regeneration process. Beside their passive release by dead cells, some DAMPs can be secreted or exposed by living cells undergoing a life-threatening stress. DAMPs have been linked to inflammation and related disorders: hence, inhibition of DAMP-mediated inflammatory responses is a promising strategy to improve the clinical management of infection- and injury-elicited inflammatory diseases. However, it is important to consider that DAMPs are not only danger signals but also central players in tissue repair. Indeed, some DAMPs have been studied for their role in tissue healing after sterile or infection-associated inflammation. This review is focused on two exemplary DAMPs, HMGB1 and adenosine triphosphate, and their contribution to both inflammation and tissue repair.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Abhishek D. Garg, KU Leuven-University of Leuven, Belaium

Reviewed by:

Graham Robert Leggatt, University of Queensland, Australia Walter G. Land, University of Strasbourg, France

*Correspondence:

Marco Emilio Bianchi, Chromatin Dynamics Unit, Division of Genetics and Cell Biology, San Raffaele Scientific Institute, San Raffaele University, Via Olgettina 58, Milan 20133, Italy bianchi.marco@hsr.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 01 July 2015 Accepted: 02 August 2015 Published: 18 August 2015

Citation:

Vénéreau E, Ceriotti C and Bianchi ME (2015) DAMPs from cell death to new life. Front. Immunol. 6:422. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00422 Keywords: DAMP, tissue repair, HMGB1, ATP, inflammation

Introduction

Our body evolved mechanisms to detect pathogens through the recognition of conserved molecular motifs, called pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). The binding of these molecules to pattern recognition receptors (PRR), such as Toll-like receptors (TLR), triggers the response of the immune system against the intruder (1). However, this "Stranger Theory" could not explain why strong immune responses are elicited in sterile conditions such as ischemic injuries, trauma, tumors, tissue transplants, and autoimmune diseases. By symmetry to the PAMP concept, Polly Matzinger proposed the "Danger Theory" in which the injured tissues were postulated to release intracellular molecules [damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs)] that activate the immune system (2). This concept has roots in a clinical trial on kidney transplantation, in which the oxygen free radical scavenger superoxide dismutase was exploited to avoid reperfusion injury (3). However, for many years the "Danger Theory" remained a theoretical model, until High Mobility Group Box 1 (HMGB1) and uric acid crystals were recognized as DAMPs (4, 5). Since then, many more DAMPs were identified and their roles in health and disease are now partially understood (**Table 1**).

Damage-associated molecular patterns are molecules that have a physiological "day-time job" inside the cell, and have the additional job of signaling cell damage when they are outside the cell. Location, inside vs. outside the cells, is critical: DAMPs are invisible to the immune system when performing their day-time job, and become visible only when exposed to the extracellular environment.

Timing is also important. Initially, DAMPs were expected to attest cell death, and therefore to be released passively from dead cells. Indeed, HMGB1 was identified as a DAMP because it is

TABLE 1 List of putative DAMPs and role in inflammation and tissue re	pair.
---	-------

	DAMPs	Receptors	Release	Role in inflammation/immunity	Role in tissue repair	Reference
Nucleus	Histones	TLR2, TLR4 and TLR9	P, S and A	TLR- and inflammasome-dependent inflammatory response	N.D.	(6)
	Genomic DNA	TLR9	Ρ	TLR9- and NALP3-mediated innate immune response, DC maturation	N.D.	(6)
	HMGB1	TLR2, TLR4, RAGE and TIM3	P and A	Recruitment/activation of immune cells	Migration/proliferation of stem cells, pro-angiogenic mediator.	(7)
	IL1a	IL-1R	Ρ	Strong pro-inflammatory activity	Protective during early phase of inflammation	(7)
	IL33	ST2	Ρ	Secretion of pro-inflammatory and Th2 cytokines	Epithelial cells proliferation and mucus production in the gut	(8)
	ATP	P2Y2 and P2X7	P and A	Macrophages recruitment, IL-1β production by DC, antitumor immunity	Migration/proliferation of epithelial and endothelial cells, pro-angiogenic role	(9)
	F-actin	DNGR1	Ρ	Contribution in recognition of necrotic cells by DC	N.D.	(10)
	Cyclophilin A	CD147	А	Inflammatory cells recruitment, inflammatory mediators release	N.D.	(10)
	HSPs	CD91, TLR2, TLR4, SREC1 and FEEL1	P, S and A	Recruitment of immune cells DC maturation, T cell-based antitumor immunity	Wound debris clearance, cell migration/proliferation and collagen synthesis in skin	(7)
	Uric acid crystals	NLRP3	Ρ	DC maturation and neutrophil recruitment	N.D.	(7)
	S100s	TLR2, TLR4, RAGE	Ρ	Potent immunostimulatory activity, monocytes and neutrophils recruitment	Myoblast proliferation/differentiation	(7)
Mitochondria	Mitochondrial DNA	TLR9	Ρ	Macrophages and neutrophils activation	N.D.	(11)
	Mitochondrial trascription factor A	RAGE and TLR9	Ρ	DC activation, type I interferon release	N.D.	(11)
ER	Calreticulin	CD91	P and S	Potent "eat me" signal, mediator of tumor immunogenicity	Cell migration/proliferation, extracellular matrix production	(10)

P, passive release; A, active secretion; S, surface exposure; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; N.D. not described.

passively released by necrotic cells, which undergo an untimely death, but not by apoptotic cells, which eliminate themselves in an elaborately programed way (4). However, an important addition to the DAMP concept is that DAMPs do not necessarily originate from dead cells: DAMPs can be secreted or exposed by living cells undergoing a life-threatening stress. Indeed, alerting the immune system as soon as possible can bring advantages. HMGB1 can be secreted by stressed cells via a private secretion pathway, not involving the endoplasmic reticulum (12, 13). Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) can be actively released via vesicles and connexin or pannexin hemichannels (14). Other DAMPs, such as calreticulin and heat shock protein 90 (HSP90), are exposed *de novo* or become enriched on the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane (15).

It is now time to recognize another essential feature of DAMPs: they are essential for tissue healing after inflammation, both sterile and infection-associated. This review will focus on two exemplary DAMPs, HMGB1 and ATP, and their contribution to both inflammation and tissue repair.

HMGB1 and ATP as Exemplary DAMPs

HMGB1, a Redox-Sensitive DAMP

HMGB1 is a mobile chromatin protein that acts as a DNA chaperone, by binding DNA transiently and bending it reversibly. As a DNA chaperone, it facilitates nucleosome formation, contributes to the binding of proteins, including transcription factors that distort DNA upon binding, and participates in transcription, replication, and DNA repair (16). HMGB1 is constitutively expressed in almost all cell types, and to act as a DAMP it must relocate into the external environment: it is passively released following traumatic cell death (but not apoptosis) and is secreted during severe stress (4, 17).

HMGB1 secretion is not completely understood. Drawing a comparison with another leaderless protein, IL-1β, a "two-step model" for HMGB1 secretion was proposed, which involves a first trigger to induce HMGB1 acetylation and cytoplasmic translocation and a second trigger to elicit its extracellular transport (18) Indeed, secreted HMGB1 (as opposed to HMGB1 passively released by dead cells) is hyperacetylated (19). In accordance with the two-step model, Lu et al. (20) have demonstrated that the inflammasome, in particular NLRP3, is involved in the release of HMGB1. Inflammasomes are large caspase-1-activating complexes, composed by the assembly of proteins that are ultimately activated by both PAMPs and DAMPs (21). There are multiple inflammasome complexes, and among them the one containing NLRP3 (also known as NALP3 and cryopyrin) is the most studied. Since the synthesis of NLRP3 is triggered by TLR signaling, it has recently been proposed that HMGB1 itself could "prime" the inflammasome through its binding to TLR2/TLR4 (22). Indeed, the role of HMGB1 in inflammasome activation has been demonstrated in a model of heatstroke-induced liver injury (23).

Once in the extracellular milieu, HMGB1 signals danger to the surrounding cells, triggers inflammation, and activates innate and adaptive immunity by interacting with multiple receptors (24).

The first receptor described for HMGB1 is the receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE), a multifunctional transmembrane protein of the immunoglobulin superfamily (25). Under physiological conditions, RAGE is expressed at low levels in the majority of tissues and, interestingly, at high levels in the lung. In pathophysiological conditions such as chronic inflammation, RAGE expression is considerably increased in different tissues, in particular activated endothelium and leukocytes (26). HMGB1 signaling through RAGE leads to activation of the nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB) pathway, as well as to signal transduction through JNK, and p38 (27). In addition, HMGB1/ RAGE interactions lead to the activation of the ERK MAP kinase pathway, which is important in cell migration, tumor proliferation and invasion, and expression of matrix metalloproteinases. The HMGB1/RAGE axis is mainly involved in the recruitment and migration of cells, directly by inducing expression of adhesion molecules, such as VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 (28), or indirectly by inducing secretion of chemokines, in particular CXCL12, which in turn forms a heterocomplex with HMGB1 (29).

HMGB1 also binds to TLRs. In complex with CpG-ODNs, HMGB1 binds to TLR9 and enhances cytokine production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells (DCs) (30). When HMGB1 is bound to nucleosomes, it activates macrophages and DCs through TLR2 (31). However, most studies focused on the HMGB1/TLR4 axis. TLR4 mediates cell responses to lipopolysaccharide (LPS), but responds to several DAMPs as well. The contribution of the HMGB1/TLR4 axis to inflammation and immune regulation has been demonstrated in a wide range of experimental models, such as liver and lung damage, cancer, and epilepsy (32–35). Recently, a large body of evidence demonstrated that the redox state of cysteines modulates the binding of HMGB1 to its receptors, and consequently its activities.

HMGB1 contains three cysteines: C23 and C45 can form a disulfide bond, and C106 is unpaired. These cysteines are modified by redox reactions, giving rise to three isoforms named "fully reduced HMGB1" for the all-thiol form, "disulfide HMGB1" for the partially oxidized one, and "sulfonyl HMGB1" for the terminally oxidized form (36). Fully reduced HMGB1 forms a heterocomplex with the chemokine CXCL12, which binds with increased affinity to its CXCR4 receptor (29). Conversely, the extracellular TLR4 adaptor myeloid differentiation factor 2 (MD-2) binds specifically to disulfide HMGB1, and not to the other redox forms, triggering the expression of chemokines and cytokines (37). Notably, interaction with MD-2 also requires the third cysteine, in the fully reduced form. Thus, the disulfide bond between C23 and C45 makes HMGB1 a proinflammatory cytokine, whereas further cysteine oxidation to sulfonates abrogates both the chemoattractant and proinflammatory activities of HMGB1 (38). Several studies demonstrated a correlation between the presence of the disulfide HMGB1 and the onset of pathologies such as brain injury, liver damage, myositis, and juvenile idiopathic arthritis (19, 39-41). Moreover, disulfide HMGB1, and not the reduced form, contributes to nociceptive signal transmission via activation of TLR4 (42) (Figure 1).

The HMGB1 inside the cell (nucleus or cytosol) is completely reduced, and early prevalence of fully reduced HMGB1 and subsequenct appearance of disulfide HMGB1 were observed in models of brain, muscle, or liver injuries and in patients with Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis (19, 39, 41). Supernatants from LPS-activated THP-1 monocytic cells contain both fully reduced and disulfide HMGB1 (38), suggesting that activated monocytes/macrophages contribute to inflammation by producing disulfide HMGB1. Tandem mass-spectrometric analysis showed that systemic levels of the disulfide HMGB1 isoform dramatically increased during early Macrophages Activation Syndrome (43). Similarly, a study revealed that cells undergoing unprimed pyroptosis release a reduced HMGB1 redox isoform, whereas priming with TLRs ligands results in the conversion to disulfide HMGB1 (44).

In conclusion, it is now essential to identify the redox state of HMGB1 in each specific condition and locale *in vivo*.

ATP, a Time-Resolved DAMP

Nucleotides as well, particularly ATP, have both intra- and extracellular roles. They are well known for their function as a universal energy source in cell reactions and metabolism. The multiple functions of extracellular ATP have been known since the late 1940s, when its vasoactive property and its release in shock were discovered [reviewed by Gordon (45)]. Later, ATP was found to be released at nerve terminals, affecting smooth muscle tone. Moreover, ATP and adenosine are involved in the mechanisms underlying local control of vessel tone, while ADP induces platelet aggregation and is released, together with ATP, from platelet granules (45). Several cell types release ATP during inflammatory, ischemic, and hypoxic conditions. ATP release can occur in a passive fashion, for example during necrosis, but many molecular pathways have been described for active release, as ATP-containing lysosome exocytosis from astrocytes, pannexin-mediated ATP release during apoptosis, and connexinor pannexin-mediated ATP release from inflammatory cells, such as neutrophils (46). Moreover, it has been recently demonstrated that ATP can also be secreted by dying cancer cells through the classical endoplasmic reticulum/Golgi secretory pathway (47).

In the extracellular compartment, nucleotide signaling is intrinsically short-lived. Signaling is terminated in the timescale from seconds to minutes by the enzymatic conversion of ATP to adenosine through the ecto-nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase CD39 (from ATP/ADP to AMP) and the ecto-5'-nucleotidase CD73 (from AMP to adenosine) (48). ATP acts as a signaling molecule through the activation of purinergic P2 receptors (9). These receptors have a widespread expression throughout different tissues and are involved in innate and adaptive immune responses (46, 48). P2 receptors can be further subdivided into metabotropic P2Y receptors (P2YRs), which are G-protein-coupled, and ionotropic P2X receptors (P2XRs), which are nucleotide-gated ion channels.

P2YR signaling has been linked with chronic inflammation, and one of the most studied receptor of this class is P2Y2R, which is activated by UTP or ATP. P2Y2R agonists promote mucociliary clearance and wound healing [reviewed by Idzko et al. (9)]. For these reasons, P2YR agonists were exploited for the treatment of cystic fibrosis (49). Apoptotic cells release ATP



as a "find-me" signal that binds P2Y2R on macrophages, stimulating their phagocytic activity and the clearance of apoptotic cells (50). During pneumonia, neutrophil-dependent ATP release and autocrine activation of P2Y2R contribute to purinergic chemotaxis, thereby enhancing bacterial clearance (51). However, ATPelicited P2Y2R signaling can lead to uncontrolled inflammation and chronic inflammatory diseases. On alveolar epithelial cells or eosinophils, P2Y2R signaling causes production of pro-allergic mediators (for example, IL-33, IL-8, eosinophil cationic protein) during allergic airway disease (52). Similarly, P2Y2R signaling on DC has a role during the induction and self-perpetuation of asthma (53). In general, P2Y2R antagonists can evolve into useful drugs for chronic inflammatory diseases.

P2XR channels are opened by the binding of ATP, allowing sodium and calcium influx and potassium efflux. The increased level of intracellular calcium activates p38 MAPK or phospholipase A2 signaling, while potassium efflux activates the inflammasome (9). Then, P2XR channels gradually dilate into pores permeable to larger organic cations and small hydrophilic molecules with a molecular mass below 900 dalton (including ATP) (54). Among P2XRs, P2X7R is predominantly expressed on immune cells such as mast cells, macrophages, microglia, and DCs, and its signaling has been linked to inflammatory and infectious disorders (46). P2X7R is required for appropriate inflammatory defense mechanism against invading pathogens and cancer cells. For instance, it is important during intracellular killing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by macrophages (55). Dying tumor cells release ATP that activates P2X7R on DCs, which in turn promote the priming of IFN-y-producing cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells that kill cancer cells (56). On the other hand, P2X7R signaling contributes to the induction and maintenance of chronic inflammation. Indeed, P2X7R signaling on DCs is involved in the sensitization phase of allergic disorders such as contact hypersensitivity (through CD81 T-cell priming) (57) and asthma (through CD41 T-cells, TH2 response) (58), and contributes to transplant rejection (through CD41 T cells, TH1 response) (59). Furthermore, P2X7R signaling on enteric neurons or mast cells has been implicated in promoting intestinal inflammation during inflammatory bowel disease (60) (Figure 2).

As already mentioned, the binding of extracellular ATP to P2X7R elicits NLRP3 activation (21). The contribution of the ATP/P2X7 receptor axis to inflammasome activation in pathogenic conditions has been shown in a bleomycin model of pulmonary inflammation in mice. This leads to IL-1 β maturation and secretion, causing lung inflammation that evolves to fibrosis (61). Moreover, P2X7R upregulation in atherosclerotic lesions in mice



mitochondria is a universal energy source in cell reactions and metabolism. Upon damage or stress, ATP, and other nucleotides, are passively released by dead cells or actively secreted by stressed cells. ATP binds to ionotropic P2X receptors (P2XR), which are nucleotide-gated ion channels, allowing sodium (Na⁺) and calcium (Ca²⁺) influx and potassium (K⁺) efflux. The increased level of intracellular calcium activates p38 MAPK or phospholipase A2 signaling, while potassium efflux activates the inflammasome. P2XR signaling is involved in inflammation, tumor and

bacterial killing. ATP also binds to metabotropic P2Y receptors (P2YR), which are G-protein-coupled, and induces activation of MAPK and phospholipase C (PLC). P2YR signaling is implicated in inflammation and wound healing, and ATP released by apoptotic cells acts as a "find-me" signal to recruit macrophages to the site of damage and to promote clearance of apoptotic cells. ATP signaling is abolished by the enzymatic conversion of ATP to adenosine through the ecto-nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase CD39 (from ATP to AMP) and the ecto-5'-nucleotidase CD73 (from AMP to adenosine).

modulates NLRP3 inflammasome activation, and is involved in the progression and development of atherosclerosis (62).

As we reviewed in this chapter, DAMPs, in particular HMGB1 and ATP, have been linked to inflammation and related disorders. Hence, inhibition of DAMP-mediated inflammatory responses might appear as a promising strategy to improve the clinical management of infection- and injury-elicited inflammatory diseases. However, it is important to keep in mind that these sophisticated molecules are danger signals important not only for the inflammatory response but also for tissue repair. Here, we review the latest findings on the regenerative properties of HMGB1 and ATP.

HMGB1 and ATP in Tissue Repair

The functions of DAMPs consist in alerting the body about danger, stimulating the immune system in order to initiate the immune response, and finally promoting the regeneration process. This last property of DAMPs has been particularly investigated for two members of the family: HMGB1 and ATP (**Figure 3**).

HMGB1, a Chemotactic and Proangiogenic DAMP

HMGB1 plays an important role in promoting tissue regeneration after acute inflammation. Locally released HMGB1 recruits bonemarrow derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), and promotes the proliferation and differentiation of tissue-associated resident stem cells, such as dental pulp stem cells, mesoangioblasts, and MSCs (63). Adult MSCs have attracted intense interest because they can be isolated from the bone marrow and can be expanded in culture while maintaining their multipotency, and thus may be used for the repair of bone, cartilage, muscle, bone marrow stroma, tendon, fat, and other connective tissues. HMGB1 induces migration of MSC (64-66) and their differentiation into osteoblasts (64). Moreover, intravenous administration of HMGB1 in mice induces MSC accumulation in skin grafts, promoting inflammatory suppression in the grafts, and subsequent tissue regeneration (67). However, a recent study showed that HMGB1 induces migration of monocytes but not of MSCs (68). Further experiments are necessary in order to understand these discrepancies, in particular, the culture conditions that



could modulate the redox state of HMGB1 and consequently its chemotactic activity.

Tissue repair requires angiogenesis, and numerous studies have identified HMGB1 as a proangiogenic factor [recently reviewed by Yang et al. (69)]. Briefly, HMGB1 plays an important role in neovascularization of ischemic areas by recruiting endothelial progenitor cells through activation of integrins and inducing the migration and sprouting of endothelial cells in a RAGE-dependent manner (70, 71). In addition, HMGB1 stimulates endothelial cells and macrophages to release proangiogenic cytokines, such as VEGF, TNF- α , and IL-8 (72). HMGB1 secreted by leukocytes is important for the skeletal muscle to react to hypoxia and to initiate angiogenesis in response to injury (73).

The regenerative properties of HMGB1 have been studied in different models of tissue injury, including spinal cord, skin, muscle, and heart. In a model of spinal cord injury in zebrafish, the authors observed that HMGB1 expression increases after injury in both motoneurons and endothelial cells. Moreover, inhibition of HMGB1 decreases locomotor recovery and axonal formation (74). In a model of spontaneous spinal cord regeneration in the gecko, HMGB1 does not mediate the inflammatory response but promotes regeneration. Here, HMGB1 induces migration of oligodendrocytes by interacting with RAGE, but not TLRs (75).

In skin, HMGB1 was identified as a chemoattractant for bone marrow-derived epithelial progenitors, which contribute to epithelial regeneration (67). A well-known consequence of diabetes is impaired skin wound repair, and topical treatment with recombinant fully reduced HMGB1 accelerated wound healing in diabetic mice (76). Accordingly, HMGB1 levels are low in diabetic human and mouse skin, and inhibition of endogenous HMGB1 impaired wound healing in non-diabetic mice but had no effect in diabetic mice. Conversely, HMGB1 also plays a role in scar formation in fetal skin (77). Interestingly, the authors used a recombinant HMGB1 described to induce TNF release, suggesting that it corresponds to the disulfide form.

In a mouse model of acute myocardial infarction, overexpression of HMGB1 in cardiac cells or local administration of HMGB1 induced myocardial regeneration, restored cardiac function, and improved survival (78, 79). These effects were due to proliferation and differentiation of cardiac stem cells and induction of angiogenesis. Moreover, HMGB1 stimulates primary cardiac fibroblasts to exert a paracrine action on cardiac stem cells (80), and intramyocardial injection of HMGB1 improved global cardiac function by reducing fibrosis and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy (81). HMGB1 activates a number of genes involved in cardiac protection and regeneration, and Notch1 signaling plays a key role in HMGB1 ability to activate cardiac stem cells (82). Interestingly, beneficial effects of HMGB1 were also observed in models of heart failure (81-83). Conversely, HMGB1 blockade caused an expansion of the infarct scar and marked hypertrophy of the non-infarcted area (84).

Finally, HMGB1 is important in skeletal muscle regeneration. The presence of only half of the normal amount of HMGB1 results in defective myogenesis both during development and after acute injury (85). In particular, the absence of HMGB1 in leukocytes results in defective angiogenesis and a delay in muscle regeneration (73). HMGB1 levels are increased in regenerating skeletal muscle after ischemia/reperfusion, and intramuscular administration of HMGB1 enhances both vascularization and myofiber formation (86). Besides angiogenesis, HMGB1 also promotes myogenesis by stimulating migration and proliferation of mesoangioblasts and migration of skeletal myoblasts and smooth muscle cells, and by accelerating myogenic differentiation (86–89).

In conclusion, HMGB1 released by injured tissues promotes tissue repair by inducing migration and proliferation of stem cells, and by promoting angiogenesis. However, several studies have demonstrated the beneficial effect of blocking HMGB1 in animal models of spinal cord, liver, brain, and myocardial damage after ischemia/reperfusion injury (24). Indeed, HMGB1 also activates fibroblasts and astrocytes, which might induce fibrosis as a program of tissue consolidation if successful regeneration is not achieved. The discrepancy between these results might be due to the fact that the redox state of HMGB1 has not been rigorously identified in most of the studies reported. Indeed, even if the fully reduced HMGB1 is the most used recombinant form, the reduced and disulfide forms can easily interconvert both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Nucleotides as "Find-Me" Signals in Tissue Repair

The interplay between nucleotides and the immune system is essential for regenerative processes in the body (46, 90). During tissue regeneration, the organism needs to remove dead cells and debris to recruit various types of cells and to stimulate their proliferation in order to achieve wound closure. Nucleotides participate actively to these three phases by interacting with purinergic receptors on different cell types.

The two families of P2Rs appear to have separate roles: P2XRs are involved in defense mechanisms and cell death, and P2YRs in

wound healing (9). Indeed, prevalently P2YRs have been studied in different models of tissue regeneration. Both ATP and UTP released by apoptotic cells in a caspase-1-dependent manner act as "find-me" signals that recruit macrophages through P2Y2R, and stimulate their phagocytic activity (50). Neutrophils release ATP that in turn recruits neutrophils, in a feed forward loop (51). In addition, both ATP and UTP promote migration of vascular smooth muscle cells through binding of P2Y2R to filamin A (91).

Stimulation of P2Y receptors has a mitogenic effect on multiple cell types, including brain capillary endothelial cells (92), cardiac endothelial cells (93), and fibroblasts (94). Non-hydrolyzable nucleotide analogs (e.g., ATP γ S, ADP β S) strongly promote proliferation of HUVEC cells and of mammalian vascular smooth muscular cells (95). These observations strongly suggest that nucleotide might be proangiogenic factors important for tissue repair.

Nucleotide release from dying cells after acute kidney injury induces proliferation of neighboring tubular cells, thus promoting wound closure via the downstream activation of Akt (96). In the liver, ATP released after partial hepatectomy, both from hepatocytes and from Kupffer cells, contributes to liver regeneration by activating cell cycle progression in hepatocytes (97). Calcium waves elicited by ATP released from damaged cells are important in the developing brain of *Xenopus laevis*, where neural progenitor cells reorganize their cytoskeleton and activate the actomyosin contractile machinery to drive the expulsion of damaged cells into the brain ventricle. This represents a mechanism for rapid wound healing in the developing brain (98).

Shockwave treatment is a new technology used to treat chronic painful conditions of the musculoskeletal system. Shockwaves induce ATP release, which leads to Erk1/2 and p38 MAPK activation and cell proliferation, and increased wound healing in a rat model (99). During skin wound healing, extracellular nucleotides have a dual function: they inhibit keratinocyte motility and facilitate migration of other cell types (e.g., endothelial cells) (100, 101). Treatment of mouse ear wounds with Mg-ATP encapsulated in lipid vesicles (ATP-vesicles) induced macrophage accumulation, in situ proliferation and new tissue growth (102). ATP release from HaCaT keratinocytes caused the propagation of intercellular calcium waves from cells at the frontier facing the scar toward the cells in the rear, in a P2Y-receptor-dependent manner (103). Finally, the most striking evidence of P2YR signaling in tissue repair is the delay of wound healing observed in $P2y2r^{-/-}$ mice (94).

In zebrafish larvae, when the tail fin is wounded, osmolarity differences between the interstitial fluid and the ambient water trigger ATP release, which initiates rapid wound closure through long-range activation of basal epithelial cell motility. In this case, P2Y2R is probably irrelevant, since the P2Y2R inhibitor suramin had little effect, even at high concentrations (104). Indeed, wound healing is known to involve other purinergic receptors. In cystic fibrosis, ATP release from epithelial cells activates P2RY11 on nearby epithelial cells, stimulating proliferation, migration and wound repair (105). P2X7 activation participates in angiogenesis and wound repair by promoting VEGF release from human monocytes (106). Moreover, P2X7 is necessary for timely healing of abrasion wounds and normal stromal collagen structure (107).

Acute UV irradiation of keratinocytes causes ATP release that triggers P2X7R on skin-resident T cells and participates to DNA repair response essential for skin regeneration (108). Thus, even P2XRs might switch from their killing activity, opening pores on the plasma membrane that cause the cell to collapse, to a proregenerative function, helping tissue repair.

Conclusion and Future Directions

Nature is remarkably conservative, in that it uses the same molecule over and over again to attain related goals (109). DAMPs are exemplary from this point of view, as they are (generally abundant) molecules that are involved in the everyday functioning of the cell, and double up as signals of cell damage when they are present outside of the cell. As it happens, this simple invention that allowed to discern damage (DAMP-out) from normality (DAMP-in), could be used further to better describe the nature of the damage, and to record its occurrence for future memory. Thus, after being released (either passively or actively), DAMPs act to:

- (1) convey the message of danger to other cells,
- (2) trigger inflammation and activate innate immunity to stop the damage,
- (3) participate in cell-cell communication that instructs adaptive immunity, to help establish immunological memory,
- (4) orchestrate tissue repair and healing.

Points (1) and (2) have been widely described (7, 110). The cooptation of DAMPs into the process of immunological memory (point 3) and the related process of Immunogenic Cell Death are the subject of other reviews in this Frontiers collection. Immunogenic cell death is a perfect example of interplay between several DAMPs to alert and activate the immune system.

Here, we have focused on the role played by ATP and HMGB1 in wound repair and tissue reconstruction. ATP and other nucleotides, and their purinergic receptors, have been known to participate in tissue repair since the late 1990s, even before they were recognized as DAMPs. Examples involving HMGB1 are now as numerous. However, a fundamental problem must be acknowledged: how can the organism use the same DAMPs

References

- Janeway CA. Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* (1989) 54(Pt 1):1–13. doi:10.1101/SQB.1989.054.01.003
- Matzinger P. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol (1994) 12:991–1045. doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.005015
- Land W, Schneeberger H, Schleibner S, Illner WD, Abendroth D, Rutili G, et al. The beneficial effect of human recombinant superoxide dismutase on acute and chronic rejection events in recipients of cadaveric renal transplants. *Transplantation* (1994) 57:211–7. doi:10.1097/00007890-199401001-00010
- Scaffidi P, Misteli T, Bianchi ME. Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. *Nature* (2002) 418:191–5. doi:10.1038/ nature00858
- Shi Y, Evans JE, Rock KL. Molecular identification of a danger signal that alerts the immune system to dying cells. *Nature* (2003) 425:516–21. doi:10.1038/ nature01991

to trigger inflammation and to orchestrate tissue repair, which should occur *after* resolution of inflammation? Here, we can only speculate, and perhaps suggest future avenues of research. Usually, a signal with two possible meanings must be disambiguated by either the state of the receiver or the context of the signaling. Thus, to disambiguate the DAMP in inflammation and tissue repair, cells would need two different receptors, on different cells or on the same cell but at different times. Perhaps relevant here is that RAGE, a receptor for HMGB1, is low at the beginning of inflammation and induced by it.

Context in signaling is easy to picture: contextuality is paramount in everyday human communication. In the case of inflammation and tissue repair, context is the co-presence of other ligand-receptor pairs in different situations, in addition to the DAMP and its receptor, so that cells are differently activated or polarized. In fact, inflammation creates a microenvironment that is acidic, oxidizing (rich in oxygen and ROS), and where the metabolism of inflammatory cells is shifted toward glycolysis, whereas tissue repair occurs in a microenvironment which is neutral, reducing, and where macrophage metabolism is shifted towards oxidative phosphorylation and fatty acid oxidation (111, 112).

Also notable is that tissue reconstruction and inflammation, or at least some aspects of both, occur simultaneously in chronically inflamed tissue. In situations like rheumatoid arthritis, where inflammation is rampant and the synovia grows exuberantly into a pannus, DAMPs might not be disambiguated, and might actually activate both programs at the same time. Not surprisingly, targeting DAMPs or their receptors during chronic inflammation is often beneficial. However, finely tuning might be better than blocking them altogether. Thus, better understanding of the activity and the interaction of cells in inflammation and tissue reconstruction, and of DAMP signaling, is key to control excessive inflammation, resolve chronic inflammation, and promote tissue repair and healing.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by grants from the Associazione Italiana Ricerca sul Cancro (IG - 10411 to MB) and Ministero della Salute (GR-2011-02351814 to EV).

- Schaefer L. Complexity of danger: the diverse nature of damage-associated molecular patterns. J Biol Chem (2014) 289:35237–45. doi:10.1074/jbc. R114.619304
- Bianchi ME. DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. J Leukoc Biol (2007) 81:1–5. doi:10.1189/jlb.0306164
- Lopetuso LR, Scaldaferri F, Pizarro TT. Emerging role of the interleukin (IL)-33/ST2 axis in gut mucosal wound healing and fibrosis. *Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair* (2012) 5:18. doi:10.1186/1755-1536-5-18
- Idzko M, Ferrari D, Eltzschig HK. Nucleotide signalling during inflammation. *Nature* (2014) 509:310–7. doi:10.1038/nature13085
- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:860–75. doi:10.1038/nrc3380
- Krysko DV, Agostinis P, Krysko O, Garg AD, Bachert C, Lambrecht BN, et al. Emerging role of damage-associated molecular patterns derived from mitochondria in inflammation. *Trends Immunol* (2011) **32**:157–64. doi:10.1016/j. it.2011.01.005

- Wang H, Bloom O, Zhang M, Vishnubhakat JM, Ombrellino M, Che J, et al. HMG-1 as a late mediator of endotoxin lethality in mice. *Science* (1999) 285:248–51. doi:10.1126/science.285.5425.248
- Gardella S, Andrei C, Ferrera D, Lotti LV, Torrisi MR, Bianchi ME, et al. The nuclear protein HMGB1 is secreted by monocytes via a non-classical, vesicle-mediated secretory pathway. *EMBO Rep* (2002) 3:995–1001. doi:10.1093/ embo-reports/kvf198
- Eltzschig HK, Macmanus CF, Colgan SP. Neutrophils as sources of extracellular nucleotides: functional consequences at the vascular interface. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* (2008) 18:103–7. doi:10.1016/j.tcm.2008.01.006
- Gardai SJ, McPhillips KA, Frasch SC, Janssen WJ, Starefeldt A, Murphy-Ullrich JE, et al. Cell-surface calreticulin initiates clearance of viable or apoptotic cells through trans-activation of LRP on the phagocyte. *Cell* (2005) 123:321–34. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.08.032
- Bianchi ME, Agresti A. HMG proteins: dynamic players in gene regulation and differentiation. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* (2005) 15:496–506. doi:10.1016/j. gde.2005.08.007
- Lu B, Wang C, Wang M, Li W, Chen F, Tracey KJ, et al. Molecular mechanism and therapeutic modulation of high mobility group box 1 release and action: an updated review. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2014) 10:713–27. doi:10.1586/ 1744666X.2014.909730
- Bonaldi T, Talamo F, Scaffidi P, Ferrera D, Porto A, Bachi A, et al. Monocytic cells hyperacetylate chromatin protein HMGB1 to redirect it towards secretion. *EMBO J* (2003) 22:5551–60. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdg516
- Antoine DJ, Jenkins RE, Dear JW, Williams DP, McGill MR, Sharpe MR, et al. Molecular forms of HMGB1 and keratin-18 as mechanistic biomarkers for mode of cell death and prognosis during clinical acetaminophen hepatotoxicity. J Hepatol (2012) 56:1070–9. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2011.12.019
- Lu B, Wang H, Andersson U, Tracey KJ. Regulation of HMGB1 release by inflammasomes. Protein Cell (2013) 4:163–7. doi:10.1007/s13238-012-2118-2
- Gombault A, Baron L, Couillin I. ATP release and purinergic signaling in NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Front Immunol* (2013) 3:414. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2012.00414
- Frank MG, Weber MD, Watkins LR, Maier SF. Stress sounds the alarmin: the role of the danger-associated molecular pattern HMGB1 in stress-induced neuroinflammatory priming. *Brain Behav Immun* (2015) 48:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.03.010
- Geng Y, Ma Q, Liu Y-N, Peng N, Yuan F-F, Li X-G, et al. Heatstroke induces liver injury via IL-1β and HMGB1-induced pyroptosis. J Hepatol (2015). doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2015.04.010
- Andersson U, Tracey KJ. HMGB1 is a therapeutic target for sterile inflammation and infection. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:139–62. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-030409-101323
- 25. Parkkinen J, Raulo E, Merenmies J, Nolo R, Kajander EO, Baumann M, et al. Amphoterin, the 30-kDa protein in a family of HMG1-type polypeptides. Enhanced expression in transformed cells, leading edge localization, and interactions with plasminogen activation. *J Biol Chem* (1993) 268:19726–38.
- Kierdorf K, Fritz G. RAGE regulation and signaling in inflammation and beyond. J Leukoc Biol (2013) 94:55–68. doi:10.1189/jlb.1012519
- 27. Kokkola R, Andersson A, Mullins G, Ostberg T, Treutiger C-J, Arnold B, et al. RAGE is the major receptor for the proinflammatory activity of HMGB1 in rodent macrophages. *Scand J Immunol* (2005) **61**:1–9. doi:10.1111/j.0300-9475.2005.01534.x
- Fiuza C, Bustin M, Talwar S, Tropea M, Gerstenberger E, Shelhamer JH, et al. Inflammation-promoting activity of HMGB1 on human microvascular endothelial cells. *Blood* (2003) 101:2652–60. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-05-1300
- Schiraldi M, Raucci A, Muñoz LM, Livoti E, Celona B, Venereau E, et al. HMGB1 promotes recruitment of inflammatory cells to damaged tissues by forming a complex with CXCL12 and signaling via CXCR4. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:551–63. doi:10.1084/jem.20111739
- Tian J, Avalos AM, Mao S-Y, Chen B, Senthil K, Wu H, et al. Toll-like receptor 9-dependent activation by DNA-containing immune complexes is mediated by HMGB1 and RAGE. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:487–96. doi:10.1038/ni1457
- Urbonaviciute V, Fürnrohr BG, Meister S, Munoz L, Heyder P, De Marchis F, et al. Induction of inflammatory and immune responses by HMGB1nucleosome complexes: implications for the pathogenesis of SLE. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205:3007–18. doi:10.1084/jem.20081165
- 32. Wang X, Sun R, Wei H, Tian Z. High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1)toll-like receptor (TLR)4-interleukin (IL)-23-IL-17A axis in drug-induced

damage-associated lethal hepatitis: interaction of $\gamma\delta$ T cells with macrophages. Hepatology (2013) 57:373–84. doi:10.1002/hep.25982

- Yang Z, Deng Y, Su D, Tian J, Gao Y, He Z, et al. TLR4 as receptor for HMGB1mediated acute lung injury after liver ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Lab Invest* (2013) 93:792–800. doi:10.1038/labinvest.2013.66
- Weng H, Deng Y, Xie Y, Liu H, Gong F. Expression and significance of HMGB1, TLR4 and NF-κB p65 in human epidermal tumors. *BMC Cancer* (2013) 13:311. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-13-311
- Maroso M, Balosso S, Ravizza T, Liu J, Aronica E, Iyer AM, et al. Toll-like receptor 4 and high-mobility group box-1 are involved in ictogenesis and can be targeted to reduce seizures. *Nat Med* (2010) 16:413–9. doi:10.1038/ nm.2127
- Antoine DJ, Harris HE, Andersson U, Tracey KJ, Bianchi ME. A systematic nomenclature for the redox states of high mobility group box (HMGB) proteins. *Mol Med* (2014) 20:135–7. doi:10.2119/molmed.2014.00022
- Yang H, Wang H, Ju Z, Ragab AA, Lundbäck P, Long W, et al. MD-2 is required for disulfide HMGB1-dependent TLR4 signaling. *J Exp Med* (2015) 212:5–14. doi:10.1084/jem.20141318
- Venereau E, Casalgrandi M, Schiraldi M, Antoine DJ, Cattaneo A, De Marchis F, et al. Mutually exclusive redox forms of HMGB1 promote cell recruitment or proinflammatory cytokine release. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:1519–28. doi:10.1084/jem.20120189
- Liesz A, Dalpke A, Mracsko E, Antoine DJ, Roth S, Zhou W, et al. DAMP signaling is a key pathway inducing immune modulation after brain injury. J *Neurosci* (2015) 35:583–98. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2439-14.2015
- Harris HE, Andersson U, Pisetsky DS. HMGB1: a multifunctional alarmin driving autoimmune and inflammatory disease. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2012) 8:195–202. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2011.222
- Lundbäck P, Stridh P, Klevenvall L, Jenkins RE, Fischer M, Sundberg E, et al. Characterization of the inflammatory properties of actively released HMGB1 in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2015). doi:10.1089/ ars.2014.6039
- 42. Agalave NM, Larsson M, Abdelmoaty S, Su J, Baharpoor A, Lundbäck P, et al. Spinal HMGB1 induces TLR4-mediated long-lasting hypersensitivity and glial activation and regulates pain-like behavior in experimental arthritis. *Pain* (2014) **155**:1802–13. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2014.06.007
- Palmblad K, Schierbeck H, Sundberg E, Horne A-C, Harris HE, Henter J-I, et al. High systemic levels of the cytokine-inducing HMGB1 isoform secreted in severe macrophage activation syndrome. *Mol Med* (2014) 20:538–47. doi:10.2119/molmed.2014.00183
- Nyström S, Antoine DJ, Lundbäck P, Lock JG, Nita AF, Högstrand K, et al. TLR activation regulates damage-associated molecular pattern isoforms released during pyroptosis. *EMBO J* (2013) 32:86–99. doi:10.1038/emboj.2012.328
- Gordon JL. Extracellular ATP: effects, sources and fate. *Biochem J* (1986) 233:309–19.
- Junger WG. Immune cell regulation by autocrine purinergic signalling. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) 11:201–12. doi:10.1038/nri2938
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Verfaillie T, Kaczmarek A, Ferreira GB, Marysael T, et al. A novel pathway combining calreticulin exposure and ATP secretion in immunogenic cancer cell death. *EMBO J* (2012) **31**:1062–79. doi:10.1038/ emboj.2011.497
- Eltzschig HK, Sitkovsky MV, Robson SC. Purinergic signaling during inflammation. N Engl J Med (2012) 367:2322–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1205750
- Knowles MR, Clarke LL, Boucher RC. Activation by extracellular nucleotides of chloride secretion in the airway epithelia of patients with cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med (1991) 325:533–8. doi:10.1056/NEJM199108223250802
- Elliott MR, Chekeni FB, Trampont PC, Lazarowski ER, Kadl A, Walk SF, et al. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. *Nature* (2009) 461:282–6. doi:10.1038/nature08296
- Chen Y, Corriden R, Inoue Y, Yip L, Hashiguchi N, Zinkernagel A, et al. ATP release guides neutrophil chemotaxis via P2Y2 and A3 receptors. *Science* (2006) **314**:1792–5. doi:10.1126/science.1132559
- Kouzaki H, Iijima K, Kobayashi T, O'Grady SM, Kita H. The danger signal, extracellular ATP, is a sensor for an airborne allergen and triggers IL-33 release and innate Th2-type responses. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:4375–87. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003020
- Idzko M, Hammad H, van Nimwegen M, Kool M, Willart MAM, Muskens F, et al. Extracellular ATP triggers and maintains asthmatic airway inflammation by activating dendritic cells. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:913–9. doi:10.1038/nm1617

- Surprenant A, Rassendren F, Kawashima E, North RA, Buell G. The cytolytic P2Z receptor for extracellular ATP identified as a P2X receptor (P2X7). *Science* (1996) 272:735–8. doi:10.1126/science.272.5262.735
- Placido R, Auricchio G, Falzoni S, Battistini L, Colizzi V, Brunetti E, et al. P2X(7) purinergic receptors and extracellular ATP mediate apoptosis of human monocytes/macrophages infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* reducing the intracellular bacterial viability. *Cell Immunol* (2006) 244:10–8. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2007.02.001
- Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1betadependent adaptive immunity against tumors. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:1170–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2028
- Weber FC, Esser PR, Müller T, Ganesan J, Pellegatti P, Simon MM, et al. Lack of the purinergic receptor P2X(7) results in resistance to contact hypersensitivity. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:2609–19. doi:10.1084/jem.20092489
- Müller T, Vieira RP, Grimm M, Dürk T, Cicko S, Zeiser R, et al. A potential role for P2X7R in allergic airway inflammation in mice and humans. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2011) 44:456–64. doi:10.1165/rcmb.2010-0129OC
- Wilhelm K, Ganesan J, Müller T, Dürr C, Grimm M, Beilhack A, et al. Graftversus-host disease is enhanced by extracellular ATP activating P2X7R. *Nat Med* (2010) 16:1434–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2242
- Kurashima Y, Amiya T, Nochi T, Fujisawa K, Haraguchi T, Iba H, et al. Extracellular ATP mediates mast cell-dependent intestinal inflammation through P2X7 purinoceptors. *Nat Commun* (2012) 3:1034. doi:10.1038/ ncomms2023
- Riteau N, Gasse P, Fauconnier L, Gombault A, Couegnat M, Fick L, et al. Extracellular ATP is a danger signal activating P2X7 receptor in lung inflammation and fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2010) 182:774–83. doi:10.1164/rccm.201003-0359OC
- 62. Peng K, Liu L, Wei D, Lv Y, Wang G, Xiong W, et al. P2X7R is involved in the progression of atherosclerosis by promoting NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Int J Mol Med* (2015) **35**:1179–88. doi:10.3892/ijmm.2015.2129
- Zhang X, Jiang H, Gong Q, Fan C, Huang Y, Ling J. Expression of high mobility group box 1 in inflamed dental pulp and its chemotactic effect on dental pulp cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2014) 450:1547–52. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2014.07.027
- 64. Meng E, Guo Z, Wang H, Jin J, Wang J, Wang H, et al. High mobility group box 1 protein inhibits the proliferation of human mesenchymal stem cells and promotes their migration and differentiation along osteoblastic pathway. *Stem Cells Dev* (2008) 17:805–13. doi:10.1089/scd.2008.0276
- Lotfi R, Eisenbacher J, Solgi G, Fuchs K, Yildiz T, Nienhaus C, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells respond to native but not oxidized damage associated molecular pattern molecules from necrotic (tumor) material. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:2021–8. doi:10.1002/eji.201041324
- Xie H-L, Zhang Y, Huang Y-Z, Li S, Wu C-G, Jiao X-F, et al. Regulation of high mobility group box 1 and hypoxia in the migration of mesenchymal stem cells. *Cell Biol Int* (2014) 38:892–7. doi:10.1002/cbin.10279
- 67. Tamai K, Yamazaki T, Chino T, Ishii M, Otsuru S, Kikuchi Y, et al. PDGFRalpha-positive cells in bone marrow are mobilized by high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) to regenerate injured epithelia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A (2011) 108:6609–14. doi:10.1073/pnas.1016753108
- Vogel S, Börger V, Peters C, Förster M, Liebfried P, Metzger K, et al. Necrotic cell-derived high mobility group box 1 attracts antigen-presenting cells but inhibits hepatocyte growth factor-mediated tropism of mesenchymal stem cells for apoptotic cell death. *Cell Death Differ* (2015) 22:1219–30. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.225
- Yang S, Xu L, Yang T, Wang F. High-mobility group box-1 and its role in angiogenesis. J Leukoc Biol (2014) 95:563–74. doi:10.1189/jlb.0713412
- Chavakis E, Hain A, Vinci M, Carmona G, Bianchi ME, Vajkoczy P, et al. High-mobility group box 1 activates integrin-dependent homing of endothelial progenitor cells. *Circ Res* (2007) 100:204–12. doi:10.1161/01. RES.0000257774.55970.f4
- Mitola S, Belleri M, Urbinati C, Coltrini D, Sparatore B, Pedrazzi M, et al. Cutting edge: extracellular high mobility group box-1 protein is a proangiogenic cytokine. J Immunol (2006) 176:12–5. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.1.12
- Van Beijnum JR, Nowak-Sliwinska P, van den Boezem E, Hautvast P, Buurman WA, Griffioen AW. Tumor angiogenesis is enforced by autocrine regulation of high-mobility group box 1. *Oncogene* (2013) **32**:363–74. doi:10.1038/ onc.2012.49

- Campana L, Santarella F, Esposito A, Maugeri N, Rigamonti E, Monno A, et al. Leukocyte HMGB1 is required for vessel remodeling in regenerating muscles. J Immunol (2014) 192:5257–64. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300938
- 74. Fang P, Pan H-C, Lin SL, Zhang W-Q, Rauvala H, Schachner M, et al. HMGB1 contributes to regeneration after spinal cord injury in adult zebrafish. *Mol Neurobiol* (2014) 49:472–83. doi:10.1007/s12035-013-8533-4
- Dong Y, Gu Y, Huan Y, Wang Y, Liu Y, Liu M, et al. HMGB1 protein does not mediate the inflammatory response in spontaneous spinal cord regeneration: a hint for CNS regeneration. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288:18204–18. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M113.463810
- Straino S, Di Carlo A, Mangoni A, De Mori R, Guerra L, Maurelli R, et al. High-mobility group box 1 protein in human and murine skin: involvement in wound healing. *J Invest Dermatol* (2008) 128:1545–53. doi:10.1038/ sj.jid.5701212
- Dardenne AD, Wulff BC, Wilgus TA. The alarmin HMGB-1 influences healing outcomes in fetal skin wounds. *Wound Repair Regen* (2013) 21:282–91. doi:10.1111/wrr.12028
- Kitahara T, Takeishi Y, Harada M, Niizeki T, Suzuki S, Sasaki T, et al. Highmobility group box 1 restores cardiac function after myocardial infarction in transgenic mice. *Cardiovasc Res* (2008) 80:40–6. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvn163
- 79. Limana F, Germani A, Zacheo A, Kajstura J, Di Carlo A, Borsellino G, et al. Exogenous high-mobility group box 1 protein induces myocardial regeneration after infarction via enhanced cardiac C-kit+ cell proliferation and differentiation. *Circ Res* (2005) **97**:e73–83. doi:10.1161/01. RES.0000186276.06104.04
- Rossini A, Zacheo A, Mocini D, Totta P, Facchiano A, Castoldi R, et al. HMGB1-stimulated human primary cardiac fibroblasts exert a paracrine action on human and murine cardiac stem cells. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* (2008) 44:683–93. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2008.01.009
- Takahashi K, Fukushima S, Yamahara K, Yashiro K, Shintani Y, Coppen SR, et al. Modulated inflammation by injection of high-mobility group box 1 recovers post-infarction chronically failing heart. *Circulation* (2008) 118:S106–14. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.757443
- Limana F, Esposito G, Fasanaro P, Foglio E, Arcelli D, Voellenkle C, et al. Transcriptional profiling of HMGB1-induced myocardial repair identifies a key role for Notch signaling. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21:1841–51. doi:10.1038/ mt.2013.137
- Volz HC, Seidel C, Laohachewin D, Kaya Z, Müller OJ, Pleger ST, et al. HMGB1: the missing link between diabetes mellitus and heart failure. *Basic Res Cardiol* (2010) 105:805–20. doi:10.1007/s00395-010-0114-3
- Kohno T, Anzai T, Naito K, Miyasho T, Okamoto M, Yokota H, et al. Role of high-mobility group box 1 protein in post-infarction healing process and left ventricular remodelling. *Cardiovasc Res* (2009) 81:565–73. doi:10.1093/cvr/ cvn291
- Dormoy-Raclet V, Cammas A, Celona B, Lian XJ, van der Giessen K, Zivojnovic M, et al. HuR and miR-1192 regulate myogenesis by modulating the translation of HMGB1 mRNA. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:2388. doi:10.1038/ncomms3388
- De Mori R, Straino S, Di Carlo A, Mangoni A, Pompilio G, Palumbo R, et al. Multiple effects of high mobility group box protein 1 in skeletal muscle regeneration. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2007) 27:2377–83. doi:10.1161/ ATVBAHA.107.153429
- Degryse B, Bonaldi T, Scaffidi P, Müller S, Resnati M, Sanvito F, et al. The high mobility group (HMG) boxes of the nuclear protein HMG1 induce chemotaxis and cytoskeleton reorganization in rat smooth muscle cells. *J Cell Biol* (2001) 152:1197–206. doi:10.1083/jcb.152.6.1197
- Sorci G, Riuzzi F, Arcuri C, Giambanco I, Donato R. Amphoterin stimulates myogenesis and counteracts the antimyogenic factors basic fibroblast growth factor and S100B via RAGE binding. *Mol Cell Biol* (2004) 24:4880–94. doi:10.1128/MCB.24.11.4880-4894.2004
- Palumbo R, Sampaolesi M, De Marchis F, Tonlorenzi R, Colombetti S, Mondino A, et al. Extracellular HMGB1, a signal of tissue damage, induces mesoangioblast migration and proliferation. J Cell Biol (2004) 164:441–9. doi:10.1083/jcb.200304135
- Vitiello L, Gorini S, Rosano G, la Sala A. Immunoregulation through extracellular nucleotides. *Blood* (2012) 120:511–8. doi:10.1182/ blood-2012-01-406496
- Yu N, Erb L, Shivaji R, Weisman GA, Seye CI. Binding of the P2Y2 nucleotide receptor to filamin A regulates migration of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* (2008) 102:581–8. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.107.162271

- Albert JL, Boyle JP, Roberts JA, Challiss RA, Gubby SE, Boarder MR. Regulation of brain capillary endothelial cells by P2Y receptors coupled to Ca2+, phospholipase C and mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Br J Pharmacol* (1997) 122:935–41. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0701453
- Satterwhite CM, Farrelly AM, Bradley ME. Chemotactic, mitogenic, and angiogenic actions of UTP on vascular endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol* (1999) 276:H1091–7.
- Jin H, Seo J, Eun SY, Joo YN, Park SW, Lee JH, et al. P2Y2 R activation by nucleotides promotes skin wound-healing process. *Exp Dermatol* (2014) 23:480–5. doi:10.1111/exd.12440
- Erlinge D. Extracellular ATP: a growth factor for vascular smooth muscle cells. *Gen Pharmacol* (1998) 31:1–8. doi:10.1016/S0306-3623(97)00420-5
- Nakagawa S, Omura T, Yonezawa A, Yano I, Nakagawa T, Matsubara K. Extracellular nucleotides from dying cells act as molecular signals to promote wound repair in renal tubular injury. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2014) 307:F1404–11. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00196.2014
- Gonzales E, Julien B, Serrière-Lanneau V, Nicou A, Doignon I, Lagoudakis L, et al. ATP release after partial hepatectomy regulates liver regeneration in the rat. *J Hepatol* (2010) 52:54–62. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2009.10.005
- Herrgen L, Voss OP, Akerman CJ. Calcium-dependent neuroepithelial contractions expel damaged cells from the developing brain. *Dev Cell* (2014) 31:599–613. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2014.10.012
- 99. Weihs AM, Fuchs C, Teuschl AH, Hartinger J, Slezak P, Mittermayr R, et al. Shock wave treatment enhances cell proliferation and improves wound healing by ATP release-coupled extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) activation. J Biol Chem (2014) 289:27090–104. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.580936
- Taboubi S, Milanini J, Delamarre E, Parat F, Garrouste F, Pommier G, et al. G alpha(q/11)-coupled P2Y2 nucleotide receptor inhibits human keratinocyte spreading and migration. *FASEBJ* (2007) 21:4047–58. doi:10.1096/fj.06-7476com
- 101. Kaczmarek E, Erb L, Koziak K, Jarzyna R, Wink MR, Guckelberger O, et al. Modulation of endothelial cell migration by extracellular nucleotides: involvement of focal adhesion kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-mediated pathways. *Thromb Haemost* (2005) **93**:735–42. doi:10.1267/THRO0 5040735
- 102. Howard JD, Sarojini H, Wan R, Chien S. Rapid granulation tissue regeneration by intracellular ATP delivery – a comparison with Regranex. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e91787. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0091787
- 103. Takada H, Furuya K, Sokabe M. Mechanosensitive ATP release from hemichannels and Ca²⁺ influx through TRPC6 accelerate wound closure in keratinocytes. J Cell Sci (2014) **127**:4159–71. doi:10.1242/jcs.147314

- Gault WJ, Enyedi B, Niethammer P. Osmotic surveillance mediates rapid wound closure through nucleotide release. J Cell Biol (2014) 207:767–82. doi:10.1083/jcb.201408049
- 105. Higgins G, Buchanan P, Perriere M, Al-Alawi M, Costello RW, Verriere V, et al. Activation of P2RY11 and ATP release by lipoxin A4 restores the airway surface liquid layer and epithelial repair in cystic fibrosis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2014) **51**:178–90. doi:10.1165/rcmb.2012-0424OC
- 106. Hill LM, Gavala ML, Lenertz LY, Bertics PJ. Extracellular ATP may contribute to tissue repair by rapidly stimulating purinergic receptor X7-dependent vascular endothelial growth factor release from primary human monocytes. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:3028–34. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001298
- 107. Mayo C, Ren R, Rich C, Stepp MA, Trinkaus-Randall V. Regulation by P2X7: epithelial migration and stromal organization in the cornea. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2008) 49:4384–91. doi:10.1167/iovs.08-1688
- MacLeod AS, Rudolph R, Corriden R, Ye I, Garijo O, Havran WL. Skin-resident T cells sense ultraviolet radiation-induced injury and contribute to DNA repair. *J Immunol* (2014) **192**:5695–702. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1303297
- Jacob F. La Logique du vivant. Une histoire de l'hérédité. Paris: Editions Gallimard – coll. Tel (1970).
- Chen GY, Nuñez G. Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:826–37. doi:10.1038/nri2873
- 111. Carta S, Castellani P, Delfino L, Tassi S, Venè R, Rubartelli A. DAMPs and inflammatory processes: the role of redox in the different outcomes. *J Leukoc Biol* (2009) 86:549–55. doi:10.1189/jlb.1008598
- 112. Ghesquière B, Wong BW, Kuchnio A, Carmeliet P. Metabolism of stromal and immune cells in health and disease. *Nature* (2014) 511:167–76. doi:10.1038/ nature13312

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicting financial interests. However, Marco Emilio Bianchi is founder and part owner of HMGBiotech, a company that provides goods and services related to HMGB proteins, and Emilie Vénéreau was partially supported by HMGBiotech.

Copyright © 2015 Vénéreau, Ceriotti and Bianchi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Radio-immunotherapy-induced immunogenic cancer cells as basis for induction of systemic anti-tumor immune responses – pre-clinical evidence and ongoing clinical applications

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Abhishek D. Garg, KU Leuven-University of Leuven, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Luis De La Cruz-Merino, Hospital Universitario Virgen Macarena, Spain Alexandre Corthay, University of Oslo, Norway

*Correspondence:

Udo S. Gaipl, Department of Radiation Oncology, University Hospital Erlangen, Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg (FAU), Universitaetsstrasse 27, Erlangen, 91054 Germany udo.gaipl@uk-erlangen.de

[†]Anja Derer, Lisa Deloch and Yvonne Rubner have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 29 July 2015 Accepted: 16 September 2015 Published: 08 October 2015

Citation:

Derer A, Deloch L, Rubner Y, Fietkau R, Frey B and Gaipl US (2015) Radio-immunotherapyinduced immunogenic cancer cells as basis for induction of systemic anti-tumor immune responses – preclinical evidence and ongoing clinical applications. Front. Immunol. 6:505. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00505 Anja Derer^{\dagger}, Lisa Deloch^{\dagger}, Yvonne Rubner^{\dagger}, Rainer Fietkau, Benjamin Frey and Udo S. Gaipl^{*}

Department of Radiation Oncology, University Hospital Erlangen, Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, Erlangen, Germany

Radiotherapy (RT) primarily aims to locally destroy the tumor via the induction of DNA damage in the tumor cells. However, the so-called *abscopal*, namely systemic and immune–mediated, effects of RT move over more and more in the focus of scientists and clinicians since combinations of local irradiation with immune therapy have been demonstrated to induce anti-tumor immunity. We here summarize changes of the phenotype and microenvironment of tumor cells after exposure to irradiation, chemotherapeutic agents, and immune modulating agents rendering the tumor more immunogenic. The impact of therapy-modified tumor cells and damage-associated molecular patterns on local and systemic control of the primary tumor, recurrent tumors, and metastases will be outlined. Finally, clinical studies affirming the bench-side findings of interactions and synergies of radiation therapy and immunotherapy will be discussed. Focus is set on combination of radio(chemo)therapy (RCT) with immune checkpoint inhibitors, growth factor inhibitors, and chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy. Well-deliberated combination of RCT with selected immune therapies and growth factor inhibitors bear the great potential to further improve anti-cancer therapies.

Keywords: radiotherapy, abscopal effect, immune therapy, checkpoint inhibitors, PD-L1, DAMP, EGFR, antitumor immunity

Radiotherapy (RT) is an integral part of multimodal cancer treatments (1). Besides its local mode of action on tumor cell DNA, it can induce systemic and immune-mediated anti-tumor responses, especially in combination with additional immune activation (2). The current review focuses on induction of immunogenic cancer cell death by RT and on interactions of RT with selected immune therapies to induce a long-lasting, local, and systemic tumor control.

According to the WHO, cancer incidences are expected to increase by over 50% until 2020 (3). With this in mind, the clinical management of treatment modalities is a big challenge for scientists and clinicians alike. Consequently, improving the understanding of cellular and molecular processes occurring in the patients during therapies will help to optimize the design of clinical trials and ultimately that of patient treatment as well. Common therapy options comprise surgery,

RT, chemotherapy (CT), immunotherapy (IT), targeted therapy, hyperthermia (HT), and hormonal therapy, all of which are either administered as a stand-alone therapy or in various combinations. Out of all these options, over 50% of all cancer patients receive RT (4).

RT-Induced DNA Damage

The clear-cut aim of RT is the deposition of a maximal dose of ionizing radiation (IR) in the tumor while simultaneously sparing healthy tissue. A significant amount of damage within the malignant cells ultimately leads to the loss of clonogenicity, the induction of cell death and finally in the reduction of tumor size. This is achieved either directly or indirectly: radiation induces DNA lesions and creates highly reactive radicals that then also damage DNA. The accumulation of DNA lesions can jeopardize the genomic stability of the cell, especially when the DNA damage response (DDR) system is impaired. Individuals with germ-line mutations in DDR genes show a higher predisposition for cancer. Errors in this highly regulated process of DDR can result in accumulation of genomic mutations and malignant transformation. On the other hand, DDR also acts as a negative saboteur to resist CT and RT (5). Forms of IR-induced DNA damage that endanger chromatin integrity are single-strand breaks (SSBs) and doublestrand breaks (DSBs) of the DNA, whereas SSBs (~1000/Gy) (6) are way more frequent than DSBs (~40-50/Gy) (7). However, the time to repair DSBs takes much longer. Cells have developed several DNA repair pathways, such as homologous recombination (HR), non-homologous end-joining (NHEJ), nucleotide excision repair (NER), and base excision repair (BER) as well as mismatch repair (MMR) dependent on size and modality of the DNA damage (for further interest on this topic refer to Ref. (8)). Still, if the cell is no longer able to compensate the damage, cell death is the final consequence.

RT-Induced Cell Death

Mitotic catastrophe, apoptosis, autophagy, and senescence have been the most prominent observed forms of cell death induced by RT (9). Within the last years, it has become evident that tumor cell necrosis can be induced in a programed manner besides occurring through a more or less unregulated process (10).

Apoptosis

Apoptosis is a programed cell suicide and the best characterized form of cell death. It is of particular importance during development and aging to maintain a homeostatic balance in tissues. A dysfunctional regulation can result in autoimmune diseases, viral infections, or cancer. In cancer therapy, apoptosis can be induced in tumor cells by the use of IR and/or cytotoxic drugs (11). In general, two main pathways exist: the intrinsic mitochondrial pathway is mainly regulated by proteins of the B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) family, which includes pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins, whereas the extrinsic pathway is induced by cell death receptors on the cell surface. In early stages of apoptosis, the cell maintains its organelle integrity and the cell membrane remains intact. In later stages, various morphological changes of the cell are visible: cell shrinkage, chromatin condensation, DNA fragmentation, membrane blebbing, and formation of apoptotic bodies (12). Under normal conditions, apoptotic cells are engulfed by neighboring "non-professional" phagocytic cells, such as mesenchymal and epithelial cells (13). However, if the number of apoptotic cells exceeds a certain level, professional phagocytes are attracted to the site by the so-called "find me" signals that are released by dying cells (14, 15). These signals include factors such as nucleotides, proteins, and phospholipids (14, 15). The uptake of apoptotic cells by other cells is facilitated by changes within the outer membrane of the dying cell, the so-called "eat me" signals. One of the most prominent of these signals is phosphatidylserine (PS) that, under normal conditions, is located on the inner plasma membrane leaflet. During apoptosis, however, it translocates to the outer side of the lipid layer where it can be recognized by adaptor proteins and specific PS receptors on phagocytes (16). The detection and ingestion of apoptotic material by macrophages predominantly induces the release of anti-inflammatory cytokines while simultaneously inhibiting the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Figure 1). By contrast, the uptake of apoptotic cells by immature dendritic cells (DCs) inhibits their maturation and induces tolerance (17). Therefore, apoptosis subserves several pro-tumor functions (18). Strategies have emerged to increase the immunogenicity of apoptotic cells by blocking their clearance by macrophages with the PS-binding protein AnnexinA5 (AnxA5) (19). Pre-clinical experiments revealed a long-lasting immune memory against tumor cells and a delayed tumor growth mediated by AnxA5 when given in combination with IR (20).

Nevertheless, apoptosis often plays a subordinate role in solid tumors, as tumor cells acquire resistance to apoptosis through several mechanisms; e.g., the tumor suppressor gene p53 is mutated in more than 50% of human malignancies (9). Other resistance mechanisms are overexpression of anti-apoptotic proteins, inactivation of pro-apoptotic genes, as well as interference with the death cell receptor and perforin/granzyme pathway (21).

Necrosis

In contrast to apoptosis, necrosis has often been defined as an uncontrolled or pathological cell death, which can be induced by extreme cellular stress such as trauma, infections, detergents, toxic agents, or heat. Morphologically, it is characterized by cellular swelling, rupture of the plasma membrane, and loss of intracellular content (22). It is considered to be a pro-inflammatory form of cell death due to its release of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) such as heat shock proteins (HSP), high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), nucleotides, or uric acid leading to an activation of both, the innate and the adaptive immune system (22, 23) (Figure 1). In the last few years, it has become clear that there is a second form of necrosis, the so-called necroptosis, which is dependent on the receptor-interacting protein (RIP) kinases RIP1 and RIP3 (24, 25). It can be induced by factors such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF), Fas Ligand, or TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) and utilizes the same initial signaling cascade as cell death receptor-induced apoptosis (25, 26). In addition, necroptosis can be manipulated by inhibitors such as Necrostatin 1, which blocks RIP1 kinase activity (27).



Therapeutic applications of RT and CT, either as stand-alone therapies or in combination with targeted therapies or IT, should stimulate local and systemic tumor control through the induction of immunogenic forms of cell death, which in turn can initiate persistent anti-tumor immune response. Particularly, both forms of necrosis are considered to be more immunogenic than the apoptosis and can therefore be useful tools to shift the tumor microenvironment toward an immunostimulatory rather than an immunosuppressive one (28) (**Figure 1**).

Impact of the Fractionation of Radiation on Anti-Tumor Responses

It has become obvious that radiation-induced non-(DNA) targeted, systemic effects are immune mediated and therefore also in part dependent on the primary cell death induction in the irradiated area (29, 30). With the emerging development of accelerators that has made it possible to deliver precisely higher single doses into the tumor area, one should focus on the immunological consequences of the different forms of radiation treatment as current pre-clinical data are not conclusive (2). RT can be administered in conventional fractionation schemes (1.8–2.2 Gy/fraction; 1 fraction/day, 5 days/week for 3–7 weeks), hyperfractionation (0.5–2.2 Gy/fraction, two fractions/day, 2–5 fractions/week for 2–4 weeks) or hypofractionation (3–20 Gy/fraction, 1 fraction/ day) (31) using various therapeutic systems, including stereotactic radiosurgery. In the latter, the external radiation procedure utilizes multiple convergent beams to deliver high single doses to a small volume while sparing adjacent normal tissue. Currently, three different main modalities, namely LINAC, Gamma Knife, and protons are used for stereotactic radiosurgery, especially for the treatment of brain tumors with limited size that cannot be removed surgically (32).

Pre-clinically, Rubner et al. showed that fractionated RT is the main stimulus for cell death induction and HSP70 release in p53 mutated and O6-methylguanine methyltransferase, a DNA repair protein, negative glioblastoma cell lines (33). Tsai et al. investigated whether single high dose vs. multiple small doses with a total dose of 10 Gy differentially alters gene expression. They found out, amongst others, that there are significant differences in the gene response depending on the fractionation of radiation: 10 Gy delivered in fractions lead to a more stable induction of genes (34). Multhoff et al. hypothesized that conventional fraction schemes over several weeks are thought to be rather negative for radiation-induced anti-tumor immune responses as tumor-infiltrating immune lymphocytes might be killed by the repeating irradiation (35). Dewan et al. investigated the effects of RT with immune modulatory anti-CTLA4-antibodies on induction of anti-tumor immune responses. In his model system 3×8 Gy was superior

to that of 5×6 Gy in induction of a T-cell-dependent abscopal anti-tumor effect (36). This indicates that a higher single dose applied in hypofractionated schemes is advantageous to boost the immune system.

While it has been known that cellular effects of stereotactic radiosurgery include the induction of necrotic cell death and endothelial proliferation with luminal narrowing and thrombosis, Witham et al. used a rat glioma model to investigate whether gamma knife radiosurgery also induces apoptosis. They found tumor apoptosis to be statistically higher in treated animals at 6, 24, and 48 h after radiosurgery (37). Taken together, all these data show that more pre-clinical and clinical research are needed to define the best single dose and the respective fractionation scheme for induction of immunogenic cancer cell death and consecutive anti-tumor immunity.

Induction of Anti-Tumor Immunity

The Role of DCs in Anti-Tumor Immune Response

The activation of the immune system is vital to promote a longlasting anti-tumor response. An essential asset for creating a potent anti-tumor immunity is the activation of DCs and consecutively cytotoxic CD8+ T lymphocytes (CTL) alongside with CD4⁺ T lymphocytes. Being the most efficient antigen-presenting cells, DCs play an important role in the initiation of the adaptive immunity. However, before DCs can stimulate any other cell type, they have to be activated properly. Such activating signals are not only foreign substances or infected cells, but can also be derived endogenously from stressed cells or cells dying by necrosis (38), as it is the case in tumor therapy. Immature DCs can then acquire and process tumor material, migrate to lymph nodes, and present or cross-present peptides of tumor-associated antigens (TAA) to naïve T cells in a MHC-II- or MHC-I-dependent manner, respectively (39). Aside from stimulating T-cell responses via the expression of co-stimulatory molecules such as CD80, CD86, as well as members of the TNF family (e.g., CD40, CD137 (4-1BB) L, OX40L) that can interact with the corresponding receptors on T cells, mature DCs secrete a wide range of pro-inflammatory cytokines (40). They therefore favor T-cell activation, survival, and differentiation and thus specific anti-tumor immune responses (41, 42).

DAMPs as Mediators of DC Activation

Other important factors for DC activation and maturation are secreted or exposed danger signals by dying cells, the so-called DAMPs (43). The surface exposure or release of DAMPs can be induced by IR or certain immunogenic chemotherapeutics, which are therefore capable of initiating a solid anti-tumor immune response (44). One of these signals is the early preapoptotic exposure of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) protein calreticulin (CRT) on the plasma membrane surface. This can be induced by IR or substrates such as anthracyclines or oxaliplatin and triggers the uptake of tumor cells by DCs. In the presence of later DAMPs, such as HMGB1, the internalized tumor antigens get processed and cross-presented finally resulting in stimulation of tumor-specific CTLs (45, 46).

High mobility group box 1 is a chromatin-associated nuclear protein functioning as a DAMP when being expressed extracellularly. It is passively released by necrotic or damaged cells and secreted by immune cells such as macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells, neutrophils, mature DCs, and T cells and binds with high affinity to the receptor for advanced glycation end-products (RAGE) as well as the toll-like receptors (TLR)2, TLR4, and TLR9 (47). Its release from tumor cells can be induced by various stimuli, such as RT (33) and especially after combinatory treatment of RT with further immunestimulation, e.g., HT(48). Chemotherapeutic agents like temozolomide, melphalan, and paclitaxel might also foster its release (49, 50). HMGB1 interaction with a functional TLR4 on DCs is required for an efficient cross-presentation of tumor-antigens to T cells (51) and the priming of a tumor-specific T-cell response. The importance of TLR4 activation via danger signals can be seen in patients suffering from breast cancer, head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCC), or colorectal cancer carrying a loss of function single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the Tlr-4 locus that have a predicted worsened outcome after immunogenic CT with anthracyclines or oxaliplatin (51, 52). However, HMGB1 also shows pro-tumorigenic properties. Thus, overexpression of HMGB1 and its receptor RAGE is observed in several cancers and is associated with tumor growth and metastasis (53). A possible explanation for the contradictory effects of HMGB1 might be a change of its redox state. Reducible HMGB1 binds to RAGE but not to TLR4 and promotes resistance to melphalan, paclitaxel, doxorubicin, and oxaliplatin, oxidized HMGB1, on the other hand, increases the cytotoxicity of these agents (54). One might speculate that RT-induced mitochondrial ROS production contributes to oxidation of HMGB1 and thereby to immunogenicity (55).

Another example for a DAMP that can be either passively released or actively secreted by dying or stressed cells is adenosine-5-triphosphate (ATP). It acts on purinergic P2RX7 receptors on DCs that in turn activate the NLRP3/ASC/caspase-1 inflammasome, finally resulting in the secretion of interleukin (IL-) IL-18 and IL-1 β (56). IL-1 β is required for efficient priming of CD4⁺ T cells and interferone- γ (IFN- γ) producing tumor antigen-specific CD8⁺ CTLs (57) and therefore for the generation of an anti-tumor immune response. Furthermore, ATP release from tumor cells also contributes to tumor growth and modulates immunosuppressive properties of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) via a P2 × 7 receptor dependent mechanism (58).

HSP70 released from stressed cancer cells can also serve as a danger signal. HSPs are among the most abundant proteins in cells. Intracellular HSPs function as chaperons ensuring the correct folding or degradation of misfolded proteins. Under stress-induced conditions such as oxidative stress, HT, irradiation, or chemotherapeutics, intracellularly located HSPs are overexpressed and can be translocated to the plasma membrane or be released into the extracellular compartment, thereby acting as danger signals. In this way, HSP70 and HSP90 in particular play a dual role in cancer. Intracellularly, they protect tumor cells from programed cell death by interfering with apoptotic processes (59). However, if they are bound to the plasma membrane or released they contribute to the activation of the innate and adaptive immune system (60, 61). HSP70 promotes DC maturation as well as NK cell migration, activation, and cytolytic activity. Also HSP70 is thought to be associated with tumor antigens triggering their cross-presentation via MHC-I on DCs and stimulating a CD8⁺ T-cell response (62). Relevance of exposed HSP70 as a tumor-specific recognition structure is given by the group of Multhoff et al. who found that HSP70 is expressed on the plasma membrane of 40 (colon), 37 (gastric), 43 (lower rectal), and 42% (squamous cell) tumor specimens, but never on healthy cells. However, during the investigation, it became clear that the tumor entity is of major importance for clinical outcome. They therefore suggest the usage of HSP70 as a potential prognostic marker for overall survival (OS) (63).

To sum up, danger signals such as CRT, HMGB1, ATP, and HSPs are inducible by several chemotherapeutic drugs or irradiation. They play important roles in the priming of anti-tumor immune responses, but, depending on their location, concentration, and redox state, can also promote tumor development and progression.

Therapy-Dependent Modulation of the Tumor Microenvironment

Tumors have developed several molecular and cellular mechanisms to evade immune surveillance. These strategies include the secretion of immunosuppressive factors such as TGF- β , IL-10, or indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) (64–68), the alteration of antigen-presentation (69, 70), disruption of T-cell activation (71), apoptosis promotion of activated T cells (72), as well as the recruitment of regulatory cells or in general the inhibition of immune cells (73–75).

However, given that the immune system provides a possible strategy to create an efficient and long-lasting anti-tumor response, it is necessary to find treatment strategies that overcome the protective immunosuppressive microenvironment created by the tumor. Lately, it has become clear that standard treatments, namely RT and CT, can already render tumors and their microenvironment more immunogenic (76). As outlined above, RT and CT are able to induce both apoptotic and necrotic tumor cell death resulting in surface exposure and release of danger signals or TAAs. Aside from inducing tumor cell death, various chemotherapeutics, even or especially at low concentrations, stimulate, e.g., the expression of components of the antigen-processing machinery together with co-stimulatory molecules (e.g., CD40, CD80, CD86, MHC-II) on DCs thus promoting the stimulation of tumor-specific T cells, resulting in an anti-tumor immune response.

Immunogenicity of Radiotherapy

While low doses of IR have anti-inflammatory effects (77), higher doses (>1 Gy) applied in tumor therapy are capable of stimulating the immune system in several ways: RT can enhance the expression of MHC-I on the surface of tumor cells alongside with cell death receptors Fas/CD95 and NKG2D ligand, thus boosting the recognition and killing of irradiated tumor cells through T cells and NK cells (78–80). IR also has the ability to induce the production and release of CXCL16 in tumor cells. CXCL16 is a chemokine binding to its receptor CXCR6 on activated T cells

therefore enhancing their recruitment to the tumor site (81). In addition, it also increases IFN- γ production that alters expression of adhesion molecules on vasculature, chemokines, and MHC-I expression, thus creating a microenvironment beneficial for T-cell infiltration and recognition of tumor cells by CTLs (82). Both, fractionated, hypofractionated, and ablative regimes bear the potential to stimulate immune responses (83, 84). However, which fractionation scheme and single dose of RT is the most immunogenic is under current intensive investigation and discussion (15, 42).

Taking all these factors into account, it becomes clear that CT and RT aside from their initial purpose to stop the proliferation of tumor cells and kill them are useful tools to shift an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment to a more beneficial immune stimulatory one. A detailed understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying these effects is therefore essential toward an optimized treatment.

Systemic Effects of Radiotherapy

As mentioned before, radiation, together with surgery and chemotherapeutics, is one of the most important tools in cancer treatment with the primary goal to achieve local control of tumor growth. Furthermore, it also enhances the tumors immunogenicity through the induction of distinct tumor cell death forms and the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, as well as danger signals. It therefore bears the potential to induce adaptive and innate immune responses, resulting in systemic antitumorigenic effects even outside of the field of irradiation (85). The phenomenon of regression of distant tumors or metastases outside the irradiation field is called abscopal effect of RT and its connection with immune events was first described by Nobler in 1969 (86). Since abscopal sounds a bit mystic, one should rather term it systemic immune-mediated effects of RT nowadays. Such reactions have been observed in many pre-clinical studies as well as in clinical settings for several tumor entities, including melanoma, hepatocellular, renal-cell, and mammary carcinomas, chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), or malignant lymphomas [for further reading, see Ref. (42, 87)].

On a cellular level, it was demonstrated that the adaptive immune systems contributes to these systemic reactions and that NK cells are also involved (88, 89). In addition, the release of danger signals or cytokines such as TNF- α and IFN- γ by radiation-damaged tumor cells promote DC maturation and cross-presentation resulting in the regression of more distant tumor masses through activation of tumor-specific T cells (36, 88, 90).

However, in most tumor entities RT alone is not sufficient to induce such systemic immune reactions (89). Therefore, combination with IT might be the solution. A combined treatment of RT with the DC growth factor Flt-3 induced immune-mediated anti-tumor responses outside the irradiation field (89). Shiraishi et al. observed such effects after combined treatment of colon26 adenocarcinoma-bearing Balb/c mice with fractionated RT and the macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha variant ECI301 (88). A better local control and regression of the not irradiated tumor was observed by Jurgenliemk-Schulz and colleagues after additional rIL-2 treatment to RT in SL2 lymphoma or M8013

Radio-immunotherapy-induced immunogenic cancer cells

mammary carcinoma inoculated mice (91). Another approach is the modification of tumor cells or DCs with genetically engineered viruses expressing various cytokines, including IL-2 (92, 93), IL-12, IL-18 (94, 95), GM-CSF (96), or IFN- β (97) to enhance anti-tumor immunity and protect against tumor re-challenge. Just recently, Golden et al. reported about immune-mediated systemic tumor responses when combing RT with GM-CSF for the treatment of patients with metastatic solid tumors (98).

A further encouraging strategy to improve the effectiveness of standard therapies is the usage of monoclonal antibodies (mAb) targeting immune cells or tumors. In this matter, therapeutic Ab (summarized in **Table 1**) that can be used either alone or in combination with RT, CT, or IT are involved in depletion of Tregs (anti-CD25) (99) or target (i) co-stimulatory molecules such as CD40 (100, 101), OX40 (CD134) (102), and 4-1BB (CD137) (103, 104) on immune cells; (ii) checkpoint inhibitors PD-1, PD-L1 (103, 105) and CTLA-4 (99, 104); and (iii) cell growth factors or their receptors, e.g., epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and VEGFR (106, 107), all of which will be discussed in the following paragraph.

Co-stimulatory Molecules as Target to Improve RT and CT-Induced Systemic Immune Responses

CD40

CD40, a member of the TNF receptor (TNF-R) family, is expressed on APCs such as DCs, B cells, and macrophages. Interaction with its ligand (CD40L) on activated T cells promotes their activation and subsequently the induction of adaptive immune responses. Furthermore, the interaction between CD40 and its natural ligand (CD40L, CD154) was shown to modulate the growth of malignant B cells, thus CD40-related therapies have been considered for a range of cancer entities, including B-cell malignancies, leukemia, and multiple myelomas (MMs) (108), making it an attractive target structure. CD40 agonists mediate tumor cell death and in combination with DC activation anti-tumor immune responses. Pre-clinical models showed that anti-CD40 therapy in combination with RT results in a CD8 T-cell-dependent immunity to B-cell lymphoma (101). Currently, there are several anti-CD40 antibodies such as CP-870,893, dacetuzumab, and lucatumumab either as stand-alone treatments or in various combinations under investigation, such as a phase 1A/II study (NTC00670592) of patients with advanced non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) or Hodgkin lymphoma (HL), which demonstrated a modest lucatumumab activity (109). However, there is still a lack of clinical data assessing the efficacy of targeting CD40 especially in combinatory therapy regimens with RT, CT, and other ITs, which is why further investigations are necessary.

OX40

OX40 (CD134), a co-stimulatory molecule expressed on activated T cells, is also part of the TNF-R superfamily. A phase I trial (NCT01644968), focusing on anti-OX40 monotherapy with a murine agonistic anti-human Ox40 mAb (9B12) in patients

with metastatic solid malignancies showed an increased proliferation of CD4+/FoxP3- and CD8+ T cells as well as CD3-/NK cells. While anti-OX40 treatment was well tolerated with mild to mediate side effects, 12 out of 30 patients showed regression of at least one metastatic lesion (110). In order to increase this effect, a variety of combinatory therapy strategies of anti-OX40 treatment with CT, RT, or other IT are currently under investigation. For instance, a murine model of stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) of lung cancer showed significant enhancement of tumorfree survival through intensified tumor antigen-specific CD8+ T-cell responses under RT combined with adjuvant anti-OX40 therapy (111). Furthermore, a phase I/II trial with SBRT plus anti-OX40 in patients suffering from metastatic breast cancer (NCT01862900) and a phase Ib trial with cyclophosphamide, RT, and anti-OX40 in patients with progressive metastatic prostate cancer (NCT01303705) are currently ongoing with results not yet published.

CD137 (4-1BB)

CD137, expressed on activated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, as well as on several APCs, including DCs, activated B cells, and macrophages, co-stimulates T-cell activation and clonal expansion after T-cell receptor (TCR) engagement through interactions with CD137-ligand. Importantly, the therapeutic use of 4-1BB agonists in vivo leads to a biased CD8+ T-cell activation with a concomitant decline of B cells, NK, and CD4⁺ T cells in an IFN-, TNF-, TGF-β, and IDO-dependent fashion (112). Furthermore, stimulation of CD137 on tumor endothelial cells via an agonistic antibody upregulates ICAM1, VCAM1, and E-selectin and thereby enhances T-cell recruitment into tumor tissue (113). In murine lung (M109) and breast carcinoma (EMT6) models, the efficiency of BMS-469492, another agonistic CD137 mAb, in combination with RT was evaluated. In the case of lung carcinoma treatment only a combination of the antibody with RT administered as a high radiation dose of 15 Gy resulted in an enhanced tumor response. In the breast cancer model, the CD137 agonist alone already led to significant tumor growth inhibition that could even be potentiated by using high single doses or fractionated radiation. The authors concluded that the different responses in the two models could result from differences in intrinsic immunogenicity of the different tumor entities and that anti-CD137 antibodies may not only be used as a stand-alone therapy but in combination with conventional anti-cancer treatments, e.g., RT (114). Furthermore, the combination of RT and anti-CD137 in an intracranial glioma model resulted in complete tumor elimination and prolonged survival in 67% of the mice. The combination therapy highly increased the numbers of tumor-infiltrating CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocytes as well as IFN- γ production (115). Thus, based on promising pre-clinical data of combining anti-CD137 and RT/CT, two currently ongoing clinical phase I studies have been initiated. While NCT00461110 investigates agonistic anti-CD137 (BMS-663513) treatment in combination with chemo-radiation (RT, paclitaxel, carboplatin) in non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) patients, NTC00351325 focuses on a combination therapy of BMS-663513 with CT (paclitaxel, carboplatin) in patients suffering from recurrent ovarian carcinoma.

TABLE 1 | Selected monoclonal antibodies and tyrosine kinase inhibitors against co-stimulatory and checkpoint molecules and growth factors that are in clinical phase I–III trials either alone or in combination with RT, CT or immunotherapy.

Target	Drug	Developer	Target disease (not all listed)
Co-stimulatory mo	lecules		
CD40	CP-870,893 Dacetuzumab Lucatumumab	Pfizer Seattle Genetics, Inc. Novartis	Melanoma; pancreatic carcinoma; <i>renal</i> -cell carcinoma; breast cancer Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL); chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL); non-hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL); multiple myeloma (MM) CLL; NHL; MM
CD134 (OX40)	MEDI6469	AstraZeneca	Advanced solid tumors; aggressive B-cell lymphomas; HNC; metastatic prostate cance
CD137	BM-663513	Bristol-Myers Squibb (BMS)	Melanoma; advanced solid malignancies; B-cell malignancies
Checkpoint inhibit	ors		
CTLA-4	Tremelimumab Ipilimumab	Pfizer BMS	Metastatic melanoma; HNSCC; NSCLC; advanced solid malignancies Yervoy™ approved for unresectable or metastatic melanomaª; lymphoma; NSCLC; HNC; prostate, pancreatic, liver, lung, kidney and renal-cell cancer; melanoma
PD-1	Nivolumab Pembrolizumab Pidilizumab	BMS Merck CureTech Ltd	Obvido [®] approved for unresectable or metastatic melanoma and NSCLC ^a ; MM; NHL Renal-cell carcinoma (RCC); advanced solid tumors; melanoma; NSCLC Keytruda [®] approved for advanced or unresectable melanoma ^a ; NSCLC; HNSCC; lymphoma; breast cancer; malignant glioma; melanoma MM; gliomas; lymphomas
PD-L1	BMS-936559 MEDI4736	BMS AstraZeneca	Recurrent solid tumors Advanced solid tumors; NSCLC; HNSCC; GBM
Growth factor inhi	bitors		
EGFR	Cetuximab Panitumumab Gefitinib Erlotinib	BMS Amgen AstraZeneca Genentech/Roche	Erbitux [®] approved for <i>K-ras</i> wild-type, EGFR-expressing metastatic colorectal cancer and recurrent/metastatic HNSCC ^a ; NSCLC; HNSCC; colorectal cancer Vectibix [™] approved for colorectal cancer ^a ; HNSCC; colorectal cancer Iressa [®] approved for NSCLC ^a ; HNC; skin, breast, colorectal cancer; GBM; NSCLC Tarceva [®] approved for NSCLC and pancreatic cancer ^a ; HNC; prostate, breast, esophageal, colorectal cancer; NSCLC; pancreatic cancer
HER2/neu receptor	Trastuzumab	Genentech/Roche	Herceptin® approved for HER2-overexpressing breast cancer and HER2-overexpressin metastatic gastric or gastroesophageal (GE) junction adenocarcinoma®; breast cancer; NSCLC
VEGFRs, PDGFRs, FLT-3, c-Kit, RET; CSF-1R	Sunitinib	Pfizer	Sutent® approved for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (pNET); kidney cancer and gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST) ^a ; pNET; kidney cancer; GIST; RCC, pancreatic and bladder cancer
VEGFRs, PDGFRs, RAF, FLT-3, c-Kit, RET	Sorafenib	Bayer	Nexavar [®] approved for recurrent or metastatic, progressive differentiated thyroid carcinoma (DTC), unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and advanced RCC [®] ; HCC; RCC, bladder cancer; brain neoplasms; advanced solid tumors
VEGFRs	Axitinib	Pfizer	Inlyta® approved for advanced RCCª; advanced gastric cancer; hepatocellular and colorectal carcinoma; prostate cancer; GBM; RCC; NSCLC
VEGFRs, PDGFRs, c-Kit	Pazopanib	GlaxoSmithKline	Votrient [®] approved for advanced soft tissue sarcoma and RCC ^a ; ovarian cancer; fallopian tube cancer; peritoneal carcinoma; NSCLC; RCC
VEGF-A	Bevacizumab	Genentech/Roche	Avastin® approved for recurrent epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube, or primary peritoneal cancer, recurrent/metastatic cervical cancer, metastatic HER2 negative breast cancer, RCC, GBM, NSCLC ^a ; advanced cancers

^aFDA-approved drugs.

Checkpoint Inhibitors as Targets to Improve RT-Induced Systemic Immune Responses

In order to ensure peripheral tolerance and to avoid overshooting immune reactions, endogenous mechanisms to dampen T cells have been evolved. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-antigen-4 (CTLA-4) and PD-1 are major negative co-stimulatory molecules expressed on activated T cells (116–118). While CTLA-4 regulates early stages of T-cell activation, PD-1 limits the activity of T cells in peripheral tissues during inflammatory response and is therefore a major immune resistance mechanism in the tumor microenvironment.

CTLA-4

T-cell activation and survival are dependent on positive signaling from the TCR as well as co-stimulatory molecules such as CD28. CTLA-4 is an inhibitory molecule that is upregulated on the surface of effector T cells and competes with CD28 for the binding to CD80/86 (B7.1 and B7.2). Under physiological conditions, this limits the T-cell response and helps to maintain T-cell homeostasis (119). However, with regard to cancer treatment, the down-regulation of a tumor-specific T-cell response is an unwanted scenario, thus favoring an antagonistic CTLA-4 therapy. Indeed, various pre-clinical and clinical studies have already proven the efficiency of anti-CTLA-4 therapy, especially for melanoma in multimodal settings. This tumor entity has a high prevalence for somatic mutations (120) and is therefore suitable for being specifically targeted by activated immune cells.

Pre-clinical melanoma models showed that tumors do not always respond to an anti-CTLA-4 mAb alone, while additive treatments with GM-CSF (121) or activation of the T-cell costimulatory receptor 4-1BB (122) are able to promote an antitumor response. Furthermore, a combination of RT and CTLA-4 mAb treatment prolonged the OS in an orthotopic GL261 glioma model, whereas CTLA-4 mAb alone was not able to extend the survival in comparison to untreated controls. A triple combination of RT, anti-CTLA-4, and anti-CD137 further improved survival in this pre-clinical model through a CD4+ T-cell-dependent manner and created a glioma-specific protective memory response (104). Dewan and colleagues reported an abscopal effect in breast (TSA) and colon cancer (MCA38) models: An increased frequency of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes along with tumor-specific IFN-γ production was observed after a combined administration of anti-CTLA-4 mAb (9H10) and fractionated $(3 \times 8 \text{ Gy or } 5 \times 6 \text{ Gy fractions in consecutive days})$, but not single-dose RT with 20 Gy. Furthermore, three doses of 8 Gy in combination with anti-CTLA-4 was able to induce a more potent systemic effect and higher frequency of tumor-specific T cells than five doses of 6 Gy plus anti-CTLA-4 (36), suggesting that fractionation influences the induction of anti-tumor immune responses with further immune stimulation (76).

Two fully humanized anti-CTLA-4 antibodies, tremelimumab and ipilimumab, advanced for testing in clinical trials. Most studies so far are focused on melanoma, where treatment-related adverse effects were found to be manageable (123–125). Various phase I and II studies evaluated anti-CTLA-4 therapy in a standalone therapy setting or in various combinations such as tumor antigen-loaded DCs (126, 127), the TLR9 agonist PF-3512676 (128), IFN- α -2b (129) or in combination with various chemotherapeutics (for further reading, refer to NCT00257205 (130), NCT02262741, NCT02319044, NCT02369874, NCT02352948, NCT02040064).

In summary, current study results show the importance of investigating the optimal dose, schedule, and combination of anti-CTLA-4 antibodies with other therapy options to ensure high patient safety and efficacy in selected cancer entities.

As approximately 50% of cancer patients receive RT with the primary goal of local tumor control (4), combinatory therapies of RT with immune checkpoint inhibitors targeting T cells might be a good synergistic option to induce additional systemic antitumor immune responses, as it has already been shown in many mouse models (**Table 2**) (36, 131–134). A tremelimumab/SBRT pilot study for patients suffering from unresectable pancreatic cancer (NCT02311361) is currently recruiting patients.

Another anti-CTLA-4 mAb is ipilimumab, as with tremelimumab, patients with advanced metastatic cancer can benefit from it. Adverse side effects such as strong autoimmune reactions have been observed in a dose-dependent manner in various phase I/II trials (163-165). An increase of the ipilimumab-induced response rate might be achieved through a combination with immunogenic RT. Postow et al. described the first case of a systemic immune-mediated effect in a patient suffering from metastatic melanoma that has been treated with ipilimumab and a concomitant palliative RT (28.5 Gy in three fractions) that correlated with beneficial immune changes in the peripheral blood when RT was added (136). Five months after RT and an additional administered ipilimumab dose, RT-treated and non-RT-treated lesions had regressed and remained stable with minimal disease progression after 10 months, as confirmed by computed tomography scans. A second case of complete systemic response after a combined treatment of ipilimumab followed by high-dose stereotactic RT of 54 Gy in three fractions to two out of seven metastatic liver lesions was reported in a patient with advanced melanoma (137). Several studies have also provided evidence of ipilimumab effectiveness in cases of melanoma with brain metastases (165, 166). Hence, in a retrospective study of 21 patients suffering from advanced melanoma and brain metastases, Grimaldi and colleagues (138) reported abscopal responses in 52% of patients receiving an initial ipilimumab therapy followed by localized RT. Furthermore, this systemic response was correlated with prolonged OS.

These promising results of combined ipilimumab and RT treatment spiked the interest and led to the initiation of studies for other cancer entities than melanoma. Likewise, a phase I/II study in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC) suggests the induction of clinical anti-tumor activity with disease control and manageable adverse effects after 10 mg/ kg of ipilimumab and RT with 8 Gy per lesion (167). A phase III trial (NCT00861614) evaluating ipilimumab administration (10 mg/kg) vs. placebo after RT in patients suffering from mCRPC with disease progress after docetaxel reported an improvement of median OS within the ipilimumab group (11.2 vs. 10 months in the placebo group). Conversely, most of the common adverse effects (26 vs. 3%) and four deaths occurred in patients receiving ipilimumab treatment vs. placebo (139). Just recently, a systemic response was reported in a patient suffering from metastatic NSCLC 2.5 months after the start of a combined ipilimumab and fractioned RT (140). This suggests that a combination of local RT alongside IT could be a useful approach to further improve clinical outcome of patients with metastatic disease (2). Therefore, various phase I/II studies of combined RT and ipilimumab administration for metastatic NSCLC (NCT02221739), advanced cervical cancer (NCT01711515), metastatic cancers of liver and lungs (NCT02239900), and patients with melanoma and brain metastases (NCT02115139) have been initiated and are currently recruiting patients.

PD-1/PD-L1 (B7-H1)

PD-1, another negative regulator of TCR signaling, and its ligand PD-L1 play an important role in modulating T-cell activity not only in physiological conditions but also in the tumor microenvironment of various cancer entities. Thus, blockage of PD-1 and PD-L1 interaction through mAb is a promising strategy to

TABLE 2 | Systemic effects observed in pre-clinical and clinical studies after multimodal treatment of RT, CT, and immunotherapy.

Checkpoint	Tumor type	Treatment	Systemic effects + key mediator	Reference
PRECLINICAL MO	OUSE-MODELS			
CTLA-4	Metastatic mammary carcinoma (4T1)	RT (2 \times 12 Gy) of primary tumor + anti-CTLA-4 mAb i.p. (3x)	Inhibition of lung metastases, ↑CD8 ⁺ CTLs	(131)
	Metastatic mammary carcinoma (4T1)	RT (2 \times 12 Gy) of primary tumor + anti-CTLA-4 (9H10) mAb i.p. (3 \times)	Inhibition of lung metastases, increased survival, $\uparrow CD8^+ CTLs$	(132)
	Mammary carcinoma (TSA), colon carcinoma (MCA38)	RT of primary tumor (20 Gy, 3 \times 8 Gy, 5 \times 6 Gy) + anti-CTLA-4 (9H10) mAb i.p. (3x)	Growth-inhibition of irradiated and non-irradiated tumor, $\uparrow CD8^+$ CTLs and CD4+ Th-cells, IFN γ	(36)
PD-1	Melanoma (B16), renal cortical adenocarcinoma (RENCA)	SABR (15 Gy) + anti-PD-1 mAb (5x)	Near-complete regression of primary tumor, 66% size reduction of non-irradiated tumor,↑ CD8 ⁺ CTLs	(133)
	Glioma (GL261) Melanoma (B16), breast carcinoma (4T1-HA)	RT (10 Gy) + anti-PD-1 mAb i.p. RT (12 Gy) + anti-PD-1 mAb i.p. (3x)	Tumor regression and long-term survival,↓ Tregs, ↑ CD8 ⁺ CTLs, IFN γ Tumor regression and tumor control, ↓ Tregs, ↑ CD8 ⁺ CTLs	(105) (135)
PD-L1	Mammary carcinoma (TUBO)	SABR (12 Gy) + anti-PD-L1 mAb (4x)	12 Gy) + anti-PD-L1 mAb (4x) Size reduction of primary and abscopal tumors, ↓ MDSC, ↑ CD8+ T-ce	
CD137 (4-1BB)	Lung carcinoma (M109) Breast carcinoma (EMT6)	RT (5, 10 or 15Gy) + anti-CD137 (BMS-469492) mAb i.v. (3x) RT (5, 10, 15Gy, 11 x 4 Gy) + anti-CD137 (BMS-469492) mAb i.v. (3x)	Tumor growth retardation at a dose of 15 Gy Enhanced tumor growth retardation at all radiation doses	(114) (114)
	Glioma (GL261)	RT (2 \times 4 Gy) + anti-CD137 mAb i.p. (3 \times)	Tumor eradication, prolonged survival (6/9), rejection of challenging tumors (5/6), \uparrow CD8 ⁺ CTLs and CD4 ⁺ Th-cells, IFN γ	(115)
CTLA-4 + CD137	Glioma (GL261)	RT (10 Gy) + anti-CD137 and anti-CTLA-4 mAb i.p. (3x)	Prolonged survival, †CD8+ CTLs and CD4+ Th-cells	(104)
CLINICAL STUDI	ES			
Checkpoint inhib	itors			
CTLA-4	Metastatic melanoma ($n = 1$)	RT (28.5 Gy in 3 fractions) + ipilimumab	Regression of irradiated and non-irradiated tumor lesions, stable lesions and minimal disease 10 months after RT	(136)
	Metastatic melanoma ($n = 1$)	RT (54 Gy in 3 fractions) + 4 cycles of ipilimumab	Regression of irradiated and non-irradiated tumor lesions, CR, no evidence of disease 12 months after RT	(137)
	Melanoma with brain metastasis $(n = 21)$	Four cycles of ipilimumab + loco-regional RT	13/21 LR, 11/21 with LR abscopal effect and 2/21 stable disease	(138)
	mCRPC (<i>n</i> = 799) [NCT00861614]	RT (1 × 8 Gy) per lesion + 1–4 doses of ipilimumab ($n = 399$) or placebo ($n = 400$)	Improved median OS	(139)
	Metastatic NSCLC ($n = 1$)	RT (5 \times 6 Gy) + four cycles of ipilimumab	Regression of irradiated and non-irradiated tumor lesions	(140)
PD-1	Melanoma, NSCLC, mCRPC, colorectal cancer, and renal cancer (n = 236)	nivolumab	Cumulative response rates in 14/76 among NSCLC patients, in 26/94 of melanoma patients and in 9/33 renal-cell cancer patients	(141)
	Advanced melanoma	Pembrolizumab (lambrolizumab; MK-3475)	52% response rate drug-related adverse effects were reported by 79% of patients, with 13% reporting grades 3 and 4 secondary effects	(142)
	Patients with DLBCL undergoing AHSCT [NCT00532259]	AHSCT + 3 doses pidilizumab	At 16 months, PFS was 0.72, among the 35 patients with measurable disease after AHSCT, overall response rate was 51%, † circulating lymphocyte subsets including PD-L1-bearing lymphocytes	(143)
PD-L1	Dose-escalation study in patients with NSCLC, melanoma, colorectal, renal-cell, ovarian, pancreatic, gastric, and breast cancer ($n = 207$) [NCT00729664]	Administration of BMS-936559 in 6-week cycles; up to 16 cycles	Objective response rate in 9/52 in melanoma, in 2/17 in renal-cell cancer, in 5/49 in NSCLC, and in 1/17 in ovarian cancer	(144)

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 2 | Continued

Checkpoint	Tumor type	Treatment	Systemic effects + key mediator	Reference
Growth factor inh	nibitors			
VEGF-A	Advanced nasopharyngeal carcinoma ($n = 44$) [NCT00408694]	IMRT (50-70 Gy) + CT + concurrent and adjuvant BEV	Localregional PFS (83.7%) and distant metastasis-free interval (90.8%), PFS (74.7%), OS (90.9%) within 2 years median followup	(145)
	Advanced colorectal carcinoma $(n = 19)$	RT (15x-3.4 Gy) + concurrent and adjuvant BEV + CT	CR (68.5%) and PR (21.1%) within 2 years median follow	(146)
	Newly diagnosed GBM [NCT00943826]	RT (60 Gy) + concurrent and adjuvant TMZ + BEV ($n = 458$) or placebo ($n = 463$)	Improved PFS	(147)
	Newly diagnosed GBM (n = 621) [NCT00884741]	RT (60Gy) + concurrent and adjuvant TMZ + BEV or placebo	Improved PFS	(148)
EGFR	LA-HNC [NCT00004227]	RT with concurrent cetuximab ($n = 211$) or RT alone ($n = 213$)	Improved median OS	(149)
	Unresectable LA-SCCHN ($n = 60$) [NCT00096174]	RCT with concurrent and adjuvant cetuximab	Improved median OS in HPV(+) tumors	(150)
	Esophageal cancer [ISRCTN47718479]	RCT with cetuximab ($n = 129$) or RCT alone ($n = 129$)	↓ Survival in cetuximab group	(151)
	Unresectable NSCLC [SWOG 0023]	RCT with adjuvant gefintinib ($n = 118$) or placebo ($n = 125$)	↓ Survival in gefinitib group	(152)
	LA-HNC ($n = 66$)	CRT + concurrent and adjuvant gefintinib	CR (90%), PFS (72%), OS (74%) within 3.5 years median followup	(153)
	Metastatic NSCLC ($n = 24$)	SBRT + CT with neoadjuvant, concurrent and adjuvant erlotinib	Improved PFS and OS	(154)
	Advanced cervical cancer ($n = 36$)	RCT with neoadjuvant, concurrent erlotinib	Improved PFS and OS	(155)
	Lung adenocarcinoma with brain metastases	WBRT with concurrent and adjuvant erlotinib ($n = 23$) or WBRT alone ($n = 21$)	Median local PFS 6.8 vs. 10.6 month (mOS: 6.8 vs. 10.6 month, response rate 54.84 vs. 95.65%) in RT vs. RT + E	(156)
	Newly diagnosed GBM ($n = 65$)	RCT with concurrent and adjuvant erlotinib	Median PFS 8.2 vs. 4.9 month (mS: 19.3 vs. 14.1 month) RCT + E vs. historical controls (only RCT)	(157)
EGFR + VEGF-A	LA-HNC (n = 27) [NCT00140556]	Neoadjuvant BEV and/or erlotinib concurrent CRT + BEV and erlotinib	CR (96%), local control (85%) and distant metastasis-free survival rate (93%), PFS (82%), OS (86%) within 3 years median followup	(158)
VEGFR, PDGFR, KIT, RAF	Advanced hepatocellular carcinoma ($n = 40$)	RT with concurrent and adjuvant Sorafenib (S)	No improved efficacy of RT + S compared to RT alone	(159)
	Newly diagnosed GBM ($n = 47$)	RCT with adjuvant sorafenib (S)	No improved efficacy of RCT + S compared to RCT alone	(160)
RTK inhibitor	Patients with oligometastases $(n = 25)$ [NCT00463060]	Sunitinib + IGRT (10 × 5 Gy)	Local (75%) and distant (52%) tumor control, PFS (56%), OS (71%) within 18-month median followup	(161)
	Patients with oligometastases $(n = 46)$	Sunitinib + SBRT (10 × 5 Gy)	Local (75%) and distant (40%) tumor control, PFS (34%), OS (29%) within 4-year median followup	(162)
Co-stimulatory m	olecules			
CD40	Advanced NHL ($n = 74$)or HL ($n = 37$) [NTC00670592]	Escalating doses of lucatumumab (once weekly for 4 weeks of an 8-week cycle)	Modest activity in relapsed/refractory patients with advanced lymphoma	(109)

t, increase; L, decrease; NSCLC, non-small cell lung carcinoma; mCRPC, metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer; GBM, glioblastoma multiforme; LA-HNC, locally advanced head and neck cancer; LA-SCCHN, locally advanced squamous cell head and neck cancer; DLBCL, diffuse large B-cell lymphoma; NHL, non-Hodgkin lymphoma; HL, Hodgkin lymphoma; SBRT, stereotactic body radiation therapy; SABR, stereotactic ablative RT; IMRT, intensity modulated radiation therapy; IGRT, image-guided radiotherapy; WBRT, whole brain radiotherapy; AHSCT, autologous hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation; OS, overall survival; PFS, progression-free survival; CR, complete response; PR, partial response; LR, local response; BEV, bevacizumab; R-ICE, rituximab, ifosfamide, carboplatin and etopside; MDSCs, myeloid-derived suppressor cells. overcome tumor-escape from a tumor-specific immune response (168, 169).

Pre-clinical studies have demonstrated an enhancement of anti-tumor immunity through a combination of RT together with antibody-mediated PD-1 blockade (133-135). For instance, the effectiveness of treatment of mouse melanoma and renalcell tumors with stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) was dependent on PD-1 expression. Only 20% of PD-1 KO mice and none of the wild-type mice survived beyond 40 days. The combination of SABR with PD-1 blockade resulted not only in an almost complete regression of the irradiated primary tumor, but also in a 66% size reduction of the non-irradiated secondary tumors. Park et al. therefore suggest a SABR-induced systemic tumor-specific immune response also targeting the secondary non-irradiated tumors that can further be increased by PD-1 blockade (133). Of note is that optimal timing of RT in combination with a checkpoint blockade is mandatory: since IR temporarily increases the expression of PD-1L on tumor cells (134), a concurrent application is suggested. Addition of anti-PD-L1 mAb after RT does not result in prolonged survival of tumor-bearing mice (170, 171).

Single-agent trials have already been initiated using the anti-PD-1 mAbs nivolumab, pembrolizumab, and pidilizumab, as recently summarized by Philips and Atkins (172). Those studies include planned or ongoing phase I-II trials of anti-PD-1 mAb monotherapy for various cancer entities, such as lymphoma (NCT02038946, NCT02038933, NCT01953692), NSCLC (NCT02066636, NCT01840579), hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (NCT01658878), HNSCC (NCT02105636), melanoma (NCT02374242, NCT01844505, NCT02306850), and glioma (NCT02337686, NCT02359565, NCT01952769), respectively, either alone or in comparison to CT or IT. A phase I trial investigating safety and reactivity of nivolumab in 236 patients with melanoma, NSCLC, mCRPC, colorectal cancer, and renal cancer concluded cumulative response rates in 14 of 76 among NSCLC patients, in 26 of 94 of patients suffering from melanoma and in 9 of 33 renal-cell cancer patients. Anti-PD-1 treatment-related toxic effects (grades 3 and 4) occurred in 14% of the patients (141). A phase I trial with BMS-936559, a PD-L1-specific Ab in NSCLC, melanoma, colorectal, renal-cell, ovarian, pancreatic, gastric, and breast cancer (NCT00729664) patients resulted in an objective response rate in 9 of 52 in melanoma, in 2 of 17 in renalcell cancer, in 5 of 49 in NSCLC, and in 1 of 17 in ovarian cancer, while drug-related adverse effects of grades 3 and 4 occurred in 9% of treated patients (144). A clinical investigation of lambrolizumab (MK-3475) in patients with advanced melanoma showed a 52% response rate. However, during the treatment drug-related adverse effects were reported by 79% of patients, with 13% reporting grades 3 and 4 secondary effects (142). These investigations lead to a FDA approval of pembrolizumab (formerly MK-3475 and lambrolizumab) in patients suffering from advanced or nonresectable melanoma that are no longer responsive to standard medications.

As it has been shown by Ansell et al., cells within the microenvironment in lymphomas express PD-L1, and with intratumorally found T cells also expressing PD-1, this discovery provides the possibility to successfully target this immune checkpoint also in malignancies of hematopoietic origin (173). In the case of pidilizumab, an international phase II study was conducted in patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) that are undergoing autologous hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation (AHSCT). The investigators discovered that among 35 out of 66 patients with measurable disease after AHSCT, the overall response rate after pidilizumab was 51%. In addition to that, an increase of activated CD4⁺ helper and central memory T cells along with circulating CD8⁺ peripheral and central memory T cells was found, which was the first reported clinical activity of PD-1 blockage in DLBCL (143). Recently, a study examining nivolumab in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma revealed a substantial therapeutic activity with an objective response rate of 87% and an acceptable safety profile in the evaluated cases (NCT01592370) (174).

In summary, PD-1 or PD-1L antagonistic mAb are able to promote a positive anti-tumor immune response in patients, while the response rate depends on the tumor entity. Thus, a combination therapy of anti-PD-1 mAb with RT could further improve the outcome and especially be an efficient strategy in the management of metastatic disease. The interactions of multiple co-stimulatory and inhibitory molecules regulating T-cell responses that can be targeted to strongly enhance radio(chemo) therapy (RCT)-induced anti-tumor immune responses are summarized in **Figure 2**.

Growth Factors as Targets for Cancer Therapeutics

The activation of receptors by growth factors such as EGF, VEGF, transforming growth factor- α (TGF- α), and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) triggers various cellular processes, including proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, migration, adhesion, invasion, vascular permeability, or angiogenesis. As EGF and VEGF signaling pathways are a key feature in the development, progression, and metastatic formation in a wide range of cancer entities, they function as important targets for therapeutic Ab (175). In addition, pre-clinical models demonstrated a broad efficacy for anti-EGFR and anti-VEGF Abs alone (176-178) and in combination with RT (179). As in the case of checkpoint inhibitors, concurrent application should be most effective, since, e.g., VEGF-C expression is enhanced after irradiation (180). While many inhibitors are currently undergoing clinical evaluation, several others are already used in cancer therapy (Figure 2). Some of the FDA-approved inhibitors are anti-EGFR mAb that either work via binding the extracellular domain of EGFR (cetuximab, panitumumab, and trastuzumab) or target the intracellular EGFR domain such as the tyrosine kinase inhibitors gefitinib and erlotinib (181). FDA-approved anti-VEGFR mAb, on the other hand, inhibit angiogenesis through VEGF-A blocking [e.g., bevacizumab (BEV)] or also act as VEGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as sunitinib, sorafenib, axitinib, and pazopanib (182, 183). They are approved for a variety of tumor entities, including metastatic colorectal cancer, gastric or gastroesophageal carcinoma, renal-cell carcinoma (RCC), advanced soft tissue sarcoma, pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (pNET), breast cancer, NSCLC, HNSCC, and glioblastoma. Several



reports about the safety and efficacy of growth factor inhibitors either in the form of monotherapy or as a combinatory therapy paired with IT, CT, or RT have been released. However, targeting VEGF or EGFR alone does not always provide adequate tumor control in the clinic. In the next section, we will therefore focus on FDA-approved inhibitors in combinatory therapy settings together with RT or RCT.

Growth Factor Inhibitors and RT

Patients suffering from loco-regional advanced squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck cancer (HNC) being treated in a phase III trial with a high-dose RT in combination with weekly cetuximab administration showed an increased loco-regional tumor control (24.4 vs. 14.9 months), along with increased median OS (49.0 vs. 29.3 months), increased median progressionfree survival (PFS,17.1 vs. 12.4 months), and reduced mortality in comparison to high-dose RT monotherapy (149). A combination of erlotinib with R(C)T is also able to enhance OS as well as PFS in patients with metastatic NSCLC (154), cervical cancer (155), lung adonocarcinoma (184), or GBM (157). Tong et al. demonstrated a protective effect of a combination of sunitinib with RT on oligometastases (161). Their results were confirmed by Kao et al. who found a 75% local control and 40% distant control of oligometastases, a PFS of 34%, and an OS of 29% over a 4-year period in patients with HNC, liver, lung, kidneys, and prostate cancers that have been treated with SBRT and concomitant sunitinib therapy (162). However, a combination therapy of RT and sorafenib in comparison with standard therapy was not able to enhance the efficacy in GBM and hepatocellular carcinoma (159, 160, 185).

Growth Factor Inhibitors and R(C)T

A phase II study demonstrated a near-complete or complete tumor response in 53% of patients treated with a combination of panitumumab and RCT vs. 32% of patients treated with standard RCT in patients with advanced rectal cancer with wild-type KRAS (186). In vitro studies on this matter also demonstrated an elevated level of radiosensitivity (187), while the clinical relevance of a combination of RT and adjunctive trastuzumab therapy is still under investigation. A phase II study investigating the effects of gefitinib with concomitant RCT in locally advanced HNC found a 4-year enhanced OS (74%), PFS (72%) and disease-specific survival rates (89%), respectively (153). BEV is the first approved angiogenesis inhibitor and is used in metastatic colorectal cancer, NSCLC, and breast cancer. As a result of the poor prognosis of patients with GBM and thus a need for new therapy modalities, the combination of standard RCT and anti-angiogenic antibodies such as BEV might be a promising approach in the treatment of this tumor entity. Therefore, various clinical trials dealt with this notion and revealed an extended PFS and improved life quality in newly diagnosed GBM patients that have been treated with standard RCT and BEV, whereas no change in OS was observed (147, 148, 188). BEV has also been examined in various other entities: an addition of BEV to RCT in pancreatic adenocarcinoma resulted in survival rates similar to those of standard approaches (189), in cases of nasopharyngeal carcinoma it was able to promote OS and has been linked to a delayed progression of distant metastases (145). Furthermore, an application of BEV in metastatic colorectal cancer resulted in high rates of long-term complete responses (CRs) (146). A simultaneous VEGF-A and

EGFR blockade (BEV + erlotinib) in locally advanced head and neck cancer (LA-HNC) together with concurrent RCT are favorable when being compared to historical controls (158).

Taken together, all these data suggest a synergized effect of combination treatment of R(C)T with VEGF and/or EGFR inhibitors as seen in NSCLC cells reported by Kriegs et al. (190). Most of the approved mAb used in cancer IT are generally well tolerated in humans (191). Conversely, mAb application can also be associated with an increased risk of unwanted and possibly even fatal adverse effects (191-194), including cytokine release syndrome, induced autoimmunity, organ toxicity, opportunistic infections, and even cancer as a result of immune suppression. This shows how, despite the success of therapeutic Ab, their clinical efficacy greatly depends on tumor type, treatment duration, administered dose, and combination-therapy options. With this in mind, a new and promising approach in IT, the adoptive cell transfer, might be another useful therapy option to be combined with RT. Here, autologous T cells that are either tumor-specific or genetically engineered are expanded ex vivo before being infused back into the patient. In this article, we will focus on genetically engineered T cells only.

Chimeric Antigen Receptors as Tool to Recognize Specific Tumor-Associated Antigens

As mentioned above, tumors are able to establish an immunosuppressive microenvironment resulting, amongst other effects, in the inhibition of an anti-tumor-specific T-cell response. This state is achieved through release of immunosuppressive cytokines, altered MHC expression, recruitment of regulatory T cells, and/ or the up-regulation of immune suppressing molecules such as CTLA-4, PD-1, and PD-L1 [reviewed in Ref. (195)]. Genetically engineered T cells, possessing a cloned tumor-specific TCR or chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) and thus the ability to recognize specific TAAs, might provide a new, promising immunotherapeutic strategy for cancer treatment. CARs are constructed from an antigen-binding domain [i.e., single chain antibody variable fragment (scFv)] that is derived from the variable region (Fabfragment) of a mAb which is linked to a transmembrane motif as well as an intracellular signaling domain of one or more costimulatory molecules such as CD28, Ox40, or CD137 (196).

Currently about 70 clinical trials investigating CAR T cell ITs are registered in *ClinicalTrials.gov*, with most of these studies exploring B-cell malignancies targeting CD19. One of these studies, a phase I trial of CD19-CAR T cells used in refractory B-cell malignancies, reported a CR in 70% of patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) as well as an OS at a median followup of 10 months with 51.6% at 9.7 months (197). A second study evaluating the effects of CD19-directed CAR (CTL019) T-cell therapy in relapsed or refractory ALL reported a 90% rate of complete remission (198). Along with other clinical trials (199, 200), these findings suggest a high beneficial effect of adoptive cell transfer with anti-CD19 CAR T cells in patients suffering from B-cell malignancies with manageable toxicities. These results give rise for cautious optimism in the treatment of solid tumors,

including advanced Her2-positive malignancies, GBM, neuroblastoma, sarcomas, melanoma, metastatic pancreatic cancer, and metastatic breast cancer. In order to enhance anti-tumor effects of CAR T cell therapy, it can also be combined with other therapy options or the so-called bi-specific CARs recognizing two antigens that are composed of two tandem-scFv fragments separated by a linker (201). The lymphodepletive and tumoricidal effects of standard-of-care CT and RT might potentiate the expansion and function of adoptively transferred CAR T cells, as suggested by Riccione et al. (202). However, more data of combination of RT with CAR T cells are first needed to allow for definite conclusions whether this treatment induces enhanced anti-tumor responses, locally and systemically.

Summary

A tumor is much more than just an accumulation of tumor cells. The cell death resistance of the malignant cells to anti-cancer therapies is one massive problem in the clinic. One of the challenges for researchers and clinicians is to identify treatments that will overcome or bypass the cell death resistance mechanisms established by the tumor cells, but also those of the microenvironment (68). Nowadays, the involvement of the immune system as a vital player in the recognition and eradication of malignant cells is generally accepted (203). While RT and CT are crucial for curative and palliative treatments, they do not only display cytotoxic or cytostatic effects and target the tumor directly, but are also involved in the activation of the immune system through the induction of immunogenic cell death or immunostimulatory mechanisms (29). In general, the modulation of the immune system via modifications of either tumor or immune cells with methods such as mAbs or small molecule inhibitors provides a great potential in the improvement of cancer therapies and numerous pre-clinical and clinical studies are ongoing. Even though these approaches often induce only modest and transient clinical responses in distinct malignancies, a combination with RT, and/or immunogenic CT and additional immune therapies such as vaccination might result in an improved clinical benefit. Thus, additional multi-center large-scaled randomized studies further evaluating the safety, efficacy, and clinical local and systemic outcome of monotherapy and combinatorial strategies are urgently needed. A more personalized treatment of patients through integration of predictive and prognostic biomarkers and considering individual radiosensitivity together with time and dose adaptions should be in the mind of clinicians and scientist alike. However, both have to keep in mind: it is crucial to first gain knowledge about the mechanisms and mode of action of the treatments to then be able to design multimodal therapies with respect to combinations and chronology. And if it does not work in the first try, go back to the lab and find out what can be optimized.

Acknowledgments

This work is in part funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF; m4 Cluster, 16EX1021R and GREWIS, 02NUK017G), the European Commission (DoReMi,

European Atomic Energy Community's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2011) under grant agreement no. 249689) and the Bavarian Equal Opportunities Sponsorship – Förderung von Frauen in Forschung und Lehre (FFL) – Promoting Equal

References

- Orth M, Lauber K, Niyazi M, Friedl AA, Li M, Maihofer C, et al. Current concepts in clinical radiation oncology. *Radiat Environ Biophys* (2014) 53(1):1–29. doi:10.1007/s00411-013-0497-2
- Frey B, Gaipl US. Radio-immunotherapy: the focused beam expands. *Lancet* Oncol (2015) 16(7):742–3. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(15)00055-8
- 3. Stewart BW, Kleihues P. International agency for research on cancer, world health organization. *World Cancer Report.* Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer (2003).
- Delaney G, Jacob S, Featherstone C, Barton M. The role of radiotherapy in cancer treatment: estimating optimal utilization from a review of evidence-based clinical guidelines. *Cancer* (2005) 104(6):1129–37. doi:10.1002/ cncr.21324
- Tian H, Gao Z, Li H, Zhang B, Wang G, Zhang Q, et al. DNA damage response – a double-edged sword in cancer prevention and cancer therapy. *Cancer Lett* (2015) 358(1):8–16. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2014.12.038
- Semenenko VA, Stewart RD. A fast Monte Carlo algorithm to simulate the spectrum of DNA damages formed by ionizing radiation. *Radiat Res* (2004) 161(4):451–7. doi:10.1667/RR3140
- Suzuki K, Okada H, Yamauchi M, Oka Y, Kodama S, Watanabe M. Qualitative and quantitative analysis of phosphorylated ATM foci induced by low-dose ionizing radiation. *Radiat Res* (2006) 165(5):499–504. doi:10.1667/rr3542.1
- Aziz K, Nowsheen S, Pantelias G, Iliakis G, Gorgoulis VG, Georgakilas AG. Targeting DNA damage and repair: embracing the pharmacological era for successful cancer therapy. *Pharmacol Ther* (2012) 133(3):334–50. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2011.11.010
- 9. Eriksson D, Stigbrand T. Radiation-induced cell death mechanisms. *Tumour Biol* (2010) **31**(4):363–72. doi:10.1007/s13277-010-0042-8
- Pasparakis M, Vandenabeele P. Necroptosis and its role in inflammation. Nature (2015) 517(7534):311–20. doi:10.1038/nature14191
- Rodel F, Sprenger T, Kaina B, Liersch T, Rodel C, Fulda S, et al. Survivin as a prognostic/predictive marker and molecular target in cancer therapy. *Curr Med Chem* (2012) **19**(22):3679–88. doi:10.2174/092986712801661040
- 12. Elmore S. Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. *Toxicol Pathol* (2007) **35**(4):495–516. doi:10.1080/01926230701320337
- Erwig LP, Henson PM. Clearance of apoptotic cells by phagocytes. *Cell Death Differ* (2008) 15(2):243–50. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402184
- Lauber K, Bohn E, Krober SM, Xiao YJ, Blumenthal SG, Lindemann RK, et al. Apoptotic cells induce migration of phagocytes via caspase-3-mediated release of a lipid attraction signal. *Cell* (2003) 113(6):717–30. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(03)00422-7
- Lauber K, Ernst A, Orth M, Herrmann M, Belka C. Dying cell clearance and its impact on the outcome of tumor radiotherapy. *Front Oncol* (2012) 2:116. doi:10.3389/fonc.2012.00116
- Ravichandran KS. Beginnings of a good apoptotic meal: the find-me and eat-me signaling pathways. *Immunity* (2011) 35(4):445–55. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2011.09.004
- Chen X, Doffek K, Sugg SL, Shilyansky J. Phosphatidylserine regulates the maturation of human dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(5):2985–94. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.5.2985
- Gregory CD, Pound JD. Cell death in the neighbourhood: direct microenvironmental effects of apoptosis in normal and neoplastic tissues. *J Pathol* (2011) 223(2):177–94. doi:10.1002/path.2792
- Munoz LE, Franz S, Pausch F, Furnrohr B, Sheriff A, Vogt B, et al. The influence on the immunomodulatory effects of dying and dead cells of annexin V. *J Leukoc Biol* (2007) 81(1):6–14. doi:10.1189/jlb.0306166
- Frey B, Schildkopf P, Rodel F, Weiss EM, Munoz LE, Herrmann M, et al. AnnexinA5 renders dead tumor cells immunogenic – implications for multimodal cancer therapies. J Immunotoxicol (2009) 6(4):209–16. doi:10.3109/15476910903204058
- Igney FH, Krammer PH. Death and anti-death: tumour resistance to apoptosis. Nat Rev Cancer (2002) 2(4):277–88. doi:10.1038/nrc776

Opportunities for Women in Research and Teaching. We further acknowledge the support by the German Research Foundation and the Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg within the funding program Open Access Publishing.

- Proskuryakov SY, Konoplyannikov AG, Gabai VL. Necrosis: a specific form of programmed cell death? *Exp Cell Res* (2003) 283(1):1–16. doi:10.1016/ S0014-4827(02)00027-7
- Krysko O, Love Aaes T, Bachert C, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV. Many faces of DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Cell Death Dis* (2013) 4:e631. doi:10.1038/ cddis.2013.156
- Mandal P, Berger SB, Pillay S, Moriwaki K, Huang C, Guo H, et al. RIP3 induces apoptosis independent of pronecrotic kinase activity. *Mol Cell* (2014) 56(4):481–95. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.10.021
- Holler N, Zaru R, Micheau O, Thome M, Attinger A, Valitutti S, et al. Fas triggers an alternative, caspase-8-independent cell death pathway using the kinase RIP as effector molecule. *Nat Immunol* (2000) 1(6):489–95. doi:10.1038/82732
- Zhou W, Yuan J. Necroptosis in health and diseases. Semin Cell Dev Biol (2014) 35:14–23. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2014.07.013
- Degterev A, Hitomi J, Germscheid M, Ch'en IL, Korkina O, Teng X, et al. Identification of RIP1 kinase as a specific cellular target of necrostatins. *Nat Chem Biol* (2008) 4(5):313–21. doi:10.1038/nchembio.83
- Gaipl US, Multhoff G, Scheithauer H, Lauber K, Hehlgans S, Frey B, et al. Kill and spread the word: stimulation of antitumor immune responses in the context of radiotherapy. *Immunotherapy* (2014) 6(5):597–610. doi:10.2217/ imt.14.38
- Rodel F, Frey B, Multhoff G, Gaipl U. Contribution of the immune system to bystander and non-targeted effects of ionizing radiation. *Cancer Lett* (2015) 356(1):105–13. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2013.09.015
- Formenti SC, Demaria S. Systemic effects of local radiotherapy. *Lancet Oncol* (2009) 10(7):718–26. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70082-8
- Prasanna A, Ahmed MM, Mohiuddin M, Coleman CN. Exploiting sensitization windows of opportunity in hyper and hypo-fractionated radiation therapy. *J Thorac Dis* (2014) 6(4):287–302. doi:10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2014.01.14
- Elia AE, Shih HA, Loeffler JS. Stereotactic radiation treatment for benign meningiomas. *Neurosurg Focus* (2007) 23(4):E5. doi:10.3171/FOC-07/10/E5
- Rubner Y, Muth C, Strnad A, Derer A, Sieber R, Buslei R, et al. Fractionated radiotherapy is the main stimulus for the induction of cell death and of Hsp70 release of p53 mutated glioblastoma cell lines. *Radiat Oncol* (2014) **9**(1):89. doi:10.1186/1748-717X-9-89
- Tsai MH, Cook JA, Chandramouli GV, DeGraff W, Yan H, Zhao S, et al. Gene expression profiling of breast, prostate, and glioma cells following single versus fractionated doses of radiation. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(8):3845–52. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4250
- Multhoff G, Gaipl US, Niedermann G. [The role of radiotherapy in the induction of antitumor immune responses]. *Strahlenther Onkol* (2012) 188(Suppl 3):312–5. doi:10.1007/s00066-012-0206-0
- Dewan MZ, Galloway AE, Kawashima N, Dewyngaert JK, Babb JS, Formenti SC, et al. Fractionated but not single-dose radiotherapy induces an immune-mediated abscopal effect when combined with anti-CTLA-4 antibody. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(17):5379–88. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. ccr-09-0265
- Witham TF, Okada H, Fellows W, Hamilton RL, Flickinger JC, Chambers WH, et al. The characterization of tumor apoptosis after experimental radiosurgery. *Stereotact Funct Neurosurg* (2005) 83(1):17–24. doi:10.1159/000084475
- Gallucci S, Lolkema M, Matzinger P. Natural adjuvants: endogenous activators of dendritic cells. *Nat Med* (1999) 5: 1249–1255. doi:10.1038/15200.
- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature (1998) 392(6673):245–52. doi:10.1038/32588
- Wallet MA, Sen P, Tisch R. Immunoregulation of dendritic cells. *Clin Med Res* (2005) 3(3):166–75. doi:10.3121/cmr.3.3.166
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):252–64. doi:10.1038/nrc3239
- Frey B, Rubner Y, Wunderlich R, Weiss EM, Pockley AG, Fietkau R, et al. Induction of abscopal anti-tumor immunity and immunogenic tumor cell death by ionizing irradiation – implications for cancer therapies. *Curr Med Chem* (2012) 19(12):1751–64. doi:10.2174/092986712800099811

- Gallo PM, Gallucci S. The dendritic cell response to classic, emerging, and homeostatic danger signals. Implications for autoimmunity. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:138. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00138
- 44. Frey B, Stache C, Rubner Y, Werthmoller N, Schulz K, Sieber R, et al. Combined treatment of human colorectal tumor cell lines with chemotherapeutic agents and ionizing irradiation can in vitro induce tumor cell death forms with immunogenic potential. *J Immunotoxicol* (2012) 9(3):301–13. doi :10.3109/1547691x.2012.693547
- 45. Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(1):54–61. doi:10.1038/nm1523
- 46. Gameiro SR, Jammeh ML, Wattenberg MM, Tsang KY, Ferrone S, Hodge JW. Radiation-induced immunogenic modulation of tumor enhances antigen processing and calreticulin exposure, resulting in enhanced T-cell killing. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5(2):403–16. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.1719
- Guo ZS, Liu Z, Bartlett DL, Tang D, Lotze MT. Life after death: targeting high mobility group box 1 in emergent cancer therapies. *Am J Cancer Res* (2013) 3(1):1–20.
- Schildkopf P, Frey B, Mantel F, Ott OJ, Weiss EM, Sieber R, et al. Application of hyperthermia in addition to ionizing irradiation fosters necrotic cell death and HMGB1 release of colorectal tumor cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2010) **391**(1):1014–20. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.12.008
- Dong Xda E, Ito N, Lotze MT, Demarco RA, Popovic P, Shand SH, et al. High mobility group box I (HMGB1) release from tumor cells after treatment: implications for development of targeted chemoimmunotherapy. J Immunother (2007) 30(6):596-606. doi:10.1097/ CJI.0b013e31804efc76
- Curtin JF, Liu N, Candolfi M, Xiong W, Assi H, Yagiz K, et al. HMGB1 mediates endogenous TLR2 activation and brain tumor regression. *PLoS Med* (2009) 6(1):e10. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000010
- Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, et al. Tolllike receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(9):1050–9. doi:10.1038/ nm1622
- Tesniere A, Schlemmer F, Boige V, Kepp O, Martins I, Ghiringhelli F, et al. Immunogenic death of colon cancer cells treated with oxaliplatin. *Oncogene* (2010) 29(4):482–91. doi:10.1038/onc.2009.356
- 53. Zhao CB, Bao JM, Lu YJ, Zhao T, Zhou XH, Zheng DY, et al. Co-expression of RAGE and HMGB1 is associated with cancer progression and poor patient outcome of prostate cancer. *Am J Cancer Res* (2014) 4(4):369–77.
- Tang D, Kang R, Cheh CW, Livesey KM, Liang X, Schapiro NE, et al. HMGB1 release and redox regulates autophagy and apoptosis in cancer cells. *Oncogene* (2010) 29(38):5299–310. doi:10.1038/onc.2010.261
- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12(12):860–75. doi:10.1038/nrc3380
- Aymeric L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Martins I, Kroemer G, et al. Tumor cell death and ATP release prime dendritic cells and efficient anticancer immunity. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(3):855–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. can-09-3566
- Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(10):1170–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2028
- Bianchi G, Vuerich M, Pellegatti P, Marimpietri D, Emionite L, Marigo I, et al. ATP/P2X7 axis modulates myeloid-derived suppressor cell functions in neuroblastoma microenvironment. *Cell Death Dis* (2014) 5:e1135. doi:10.1038/ cddis.2014.109
- Joly AL, Wettstein G, Mignot G, Ghiringhelli F, Garrido C. Dual role of heat shock proteins as regulators of apoptosis and innate immunity. *J Innate Immun* (2010) 2(3):238–47. doi:10.1159/000296508
- Lauber K, Brix N, Ernst A, Hennel R, Krombach J, Anders H, et al. Targeting the heat shock response in combination with radiotherapy: sensitizing cancer cells to irradiation-induced cell death and heating up their immunogenicity. *Cancer Lett* (2015) 368(2):209–29. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2015.02.047
- Schilling D, Kuhnel A, Konrad S, Tetzlaff F, Bayer C, Yaglom J, et al. Sensitizing tumor cells to radiation by targeting the heat shock response. *Cancer Lett* (2015) 360(2):294–301. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2015.02.033

- Multhoff G, Pockley AG, Streffer C, Gaipl US. Dual role of heat shock proteins (HSPs) in anti-tumor immunity. *Curr Mol Med* (2012) 12(9):1174–82. doi:10.2174/156652412803306666
- Pfister K, Radons J, Busch R, Tidball JG, Pfeifer M, Freitag L, et al. Patient survival by Hsp70 membrane phenotype: association with different routes of metastasis. *Cancer* (2007) 110(4):926–35. doi:10.1002/cncr.22864
- Akasaki Y, Liu G, Chung NH, Ehtesham M, Black KL, Yu JS. Induction of a CD4+ T regulatory type 1 response by cyclooxygenase-2-overexpressing glioma. J Immunol (2004) 173(7):4352–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.7.4352
- 65. Torre-Amione G, Beauchamp RD, Koeppen H, Park BH, Schreiber H, Moses HL, et al. A highly immunogenic tumor transfected with a murine transforming growth factor type beta 1 cDNA escapes immune surveillance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1990) 87(4):1486–90. doi:10.1073/pnas.87.4.1486
- Gerlini G, Tun-Kyi A, Dudli C, Burg G, Pimpinelli N, Nestle FO. Metastatic melanoma secreted IL-10 down-regulates CD1 molecules on dendritic cells in metastatic tumor lesions. *Am J Pathol* (2004) 165(6):1853–63. doi:10.1016/ s0002-9440(10)63238-5
- Uyttenhove C, Pilotte L, Theate I, Stroobant V, Colau D, Parmentier N, et al. Evidence for a tumoral immune resistance mechanism based on tryptophan degradation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *Nat Med* (2003) 9(10):1269–74. doi:10.1038/nm934
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* (2011) 144(5):646–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Natali PG, Nicotra MR, Bigotti A, Venturo I, Marcenaro L, Giacomini P, et al. Selective changes in expression of HLA class I polymorphic determinants in human solid tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1989) 86(17):6719–23. doi:10.1073/pnas.86.17.6719
- Algarra I, Collado A, Garrido F. Altered MHC class I antigens in tumors. Int J Clin Lab Res (1997) 27(2):95–102. doi:10.1007/BF02912442
- Koneru M, Schaer D, Monu N, Ayala A, Frey AB. Defective proximal TCR signaling inhibits CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte lytic function. *J Immunol* (2005) 174(4):1830–40. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.4.1830
- Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. *Nat Med* (2002) 8(8):793–800. doi:10.1038/nm730
- Hartmann E, Wollenberg B, Rothenfusser S, Wagner M, Wellisch D, Mack B, et al. Identification and functional analysis of tumor-infiltrating plasmacytoid dendritic cells in head and neck cancer. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(19):6478–87.
- Li Q, Pan PY, Gu P, Xu D, Chen SH. Role of immature myeloid Gr-1+ cells in the development of antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(3):1130–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-1715
- Peng G. Characterization of regulatory T cells in tumor suppressive microenvironments. *Methods Mol Biol* (2010) 651:31–48. doi:10.1007/978-1-60761-786-0_2
- Frey B, Rubner Y, Kulzer L, Werthmoller N, Weiss EM, Fietkau R, et al. Antitumor immune responses induced by ionizing irradiation and further immune stimulation. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2014) 63(1):29–36. doi:10.1007/s00262-013-1474-y
- 77. Large M, Hehlgans S, Reichert S, Gaipl US, Fournier C, Rodel C, et al. Study of the anti-inflammatory effects of low-dose radiation: the contribution of biphasic regulation of the antioxidative system in endothelial cells. *Strahlenther Onkol* (2015) **191**(9):742–9. doi:10.1007/s00066-015-0848-9
- Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, Groothuis TA, Chakraborty M, Wansley EK, et al. Radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(5):1259–71. doi:10.1084/jem.20052494
- Chakraborty M, Abrams SI, Camphausen K, Liu K, Scott T, Coleman CN, et al. Irradiation of tumor cells up-regulates Fas and enhances CTL lytic activity and CTL adoptive immunotherapy. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(12):6338–47. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.12.6338
- Kim JY, Son YO, Park SW, Bae JH, Chung JS, Kim HH, et al. Increase of NKG2D ligands and sensitivity to NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity of tumor cells by heat shock and ionizing radiation. *Exp Mol Med* (2006) 38(5):474–84. doi:10.1038/emm.2006.56
- Matsumura S, Demaria S. Up-regulation of the pro-inflammatory chemokine CXCL16 is a common response of tumor cells to ionizing radiation. *Radiat Res* (2010) 173(4):418–25. doi:10.1667/rr1860.1

- Lugade AA, Sorensen EW, Gerber SA, Moran JP, Frelinger JG, Lord EM. Radiation-induced IFN-gamma production within the tumor microenvironment influences antitumor immunity. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(5):3132–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.5.3132
- Kulzer L, Rubner Y, Deloch L, Allgauer A, Frey B, Fietkau R, et al. Norm- and hypo-fractionated radiotherapy is capable of activating human dendritic cells. *J Immunotoxicol* (2014) 11(4):328–36. doi:10.3109/1547691x.2014.880533
- Lee Y, Auh SL, Wang Y, Burnette B, Wang Y, Meng Y, et al. Therapeutic effects of ablative radiation on local tumor require CD8+ T cells: changing strategies for cancer treatment. *Blood* (2009) 114(3):589–95. doi:10.1182/ blood-2009-02-206870
- Kaminski JM, Shinohara E, Summers JB, Niermann KJ, Morimoto A, Brousal J. The controversial abscopal effect. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2005) 31(3):159–72. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv.2005.03.004
- Nobler MP. The abscopal effect in malignant lymphoma and its relationship to lymphocyte circulation. *Radiology* (1969) 93(2):410–2. doi:10.1148/93.2.410
- Rubner Y, Wunderlich R, Ruhle PF, Kulzer L, Werthmoller N, Frey B, et al. How does ionizing irradiation contribute to the induction of anti-tumor immunity? *Front Oncol* (2012) 2:75. doi:10.3389/fonc.2012.00075
- Shiraishi K, Ishiwata Y, Nakagawa K, Yokochi S, Taruki C, Akuta T, et al. Enhancement of antitumor radiation efficacy and consistent induction of the abscopal effect in mice by ECI301, an active variant of macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(4):1159–66. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-07-4485
- Demaria S, Ng B, Devitt ML, Babb JS, Kawashima N, Liebes L, et al. Ionizing radiation inhibition of distant untreated tumors (abscopal effect) is immune mediated. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2004) 58(3):862–70. doi:10.1016/j. ijrobp.2003.09.012
- Ohba K, Omagari K, Nakamura T, Ikuno N, Saeki S, Matsuo I, et al. Abscopal regression of hepatocellular carcinoma after radiotherapy for bone metastasis. *Gut* (1998) 43(4):575–7. doi:10.1136/gut.43.4.575
- Jurgenliemk-Schulz IM, Renes IB, Rutgers DH, Everse LA, Bernsen MR, Den Otter W, et al. Anti-tumor effects of local irradiation in combination with peritumoral administration of low doses of recombinant interleukin-2 (rIL-2). *Radiat Oncol Investig* (1997) 5(2):54–61. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1520-6823(1997)5:23.0.CO;2-I
- Fearon ER, Pardoll DM, Itaya T, Golumbek P, Levitsky HI, Simons JW, et al. Interleukin-2 production by tumor cells bypasses T helper function in the generation of an antitumor response. *Cell* (1990) 60(3):397–403. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(90)90591-2
- Huang H, Chen SH, Kosai K, Finegold MJ, Woo SL. Gene therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma: long-term remission of primary and metastatic tumors in mice by interleukin-2 gene therapy in vivo. *Gene Ther* (1996) 3(11):980–7.
- Asada H, Kishida T, Hirai H, Satoh E, Ohashi S, Takeuchi M, et al. Significant antitumor effects obtained by autologous tumor cell vaccine engineered to secrete interleukin (IL)-12 and IL-18 by means of the EBV/lipoplex. *Mol Ther* (2002) 5(5 Pt 1):609–16. doi:10.1006/mthe.2002.0587
- Tatsumi T, Huang J, Gooding WE, Gambotto A, Robbins PD, Vujanovic NL, et al. Intratumoral delivery of dendritic cells engineered to secrete both interleukin (IL)-12 and IL-18 effectively treats local and distant disease in association with broadly reactive Tc1-type immunity. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(19):6378–86.
- Moret-Tatay I, Diaz J, Marco FM, Crespo A, Alino SF. Complete tumor prevention by engineered tumor cell vaccines employing nonviral vectors. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2003) 10(12):887–97. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7700646
- Tatsuta K, Tanaka S, Tajiri T, Shibata S, Komaru A, Ueda Y, et al. Complete elimination of established neuroblastoma by synergistic action of gamma-irradiation and DCs treated with rSeV expressing interferon-beta gene. *Gene Ther* (2009) 16(2):240–51. doi:10.1038/gt.2008.161
- Golden EB, Chhabra A, Chachoua A, Adams S, Donach M, Fenton-Kerimian M, et al. Local radiotherapy and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor to generate abscopal responses in patients with metastatic solid tumours: a proof-of-principle trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2015) 16(7):795–803. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(15)00054-6
- 99. Klyushnenkova EN, Riabov VB, Kouiavskaia DV, Wietsma A, Zhan M, Alexander RB. Breaking immune tolerance by targeting CD25+ regulatory T cells is essential for the anti-tumor effect of the CTLA-4 blockade in an HLA-DR transgenic mouse model of prostate cancer. *Prostate* (2014) 74(14):1423–32. doi:10.1002/pros.22858

- 100. Kosaka A, Ohkuri T, Okada H. Combination of an agonistic anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody and the COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib induces anti-glioma effects by promotion of type-1 immunity in myeloid cells and T-cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2014) **63**(8):847–57. doi:10.1007/ s00262-014-1561-8
- Honeychurch J, Glennie MJ, Johnson PW, Illidge TM. Anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody therapy in combination with irradiation results in a CD8 T-celldependent immunity to B-cell lymphoma. *Blood* (2003) **102**(4):1449–57. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-12-3717
- 102. Yokouchi H, Yamazaki K, Chamoto K, Kikuchi E, Shinagawa N, Oizumi S, et al. Anti-OX40 monoclonal antibody therapy in combination with radiotherapy results in therapeutic antitumor immunity to murine lung cancer. *Cancer Sci* (2008) **99**(2):361–7. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.2007.00664.x
- 103. Verbrugge I, Hagekyriakou J, Sharp LL, Galli M, West A, McLaughlin NM, et al. Radiotherapy increases the permissiveness of established mammary tumors to rejection by immunomodulatory antibodies. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(13):3163–74. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-12-0210
- 104. Belcaid Z, Phallen JA, Zeng J, See AP, Mathios D, Gottschalk C, et al. Focal radiation therapy combined with 4-1BB activation and CTLA-4 blockade yields long-term survival and a protective antigen-specific memory response in a murine glioma model. *PLoS One* (2014) **9**(7):e101764. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0101764
- 105. Zeng J, See AP, Phallen J, Jackson CM, Belcaid Z, Ruzevick J, et al. Anti-PD-1 blockade and stereotactic radiation produce long-term survival in mice with intracranial gliomas. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2013) 86(2):343–9. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2012.12.025
- 106. Naumov GN, Nilsson MB, Cascone T, Briggs A, Straume O, Akslen LA, et al. Combined vascular endothelial growth factor receptor and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) blockade inhibits tumor growth in xenograft models of EGFR inhibitor resistance. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(10):3484–94. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-08-2904
- 107. Bozec A, Sudaka A, Toussan N, Fischel JL, Etienne-Grimaldi MC, Milano G. Combination of sunitinib, cetuximab and irradiation in an orthotopic head and neck cancer model. *Ann Oncol* (2009) **20**(10):1703–7. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdp070
- Tong AW, Stone MJ. Prospects for CD40-directed experimental therapy of human cancer. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2003) 10(1):1–13. doi:10.1038/ sj.cgt.7700527
- 109. Fanale M, Assouline S, Kuruvilla J, Solal-Celigny P, Heo DS, Verhoef G, et al. Phase IA/II, multicentre, open-label study of the CD40 antagonistic monoclonal antibody lucatumumab in adult patients with advanced non-Hodgkin or Hodgkin lymphoma. *Br J Haematol* (2014) **164**(2):258–65. doi:10.1111/ bjh.12630
- 110. Curti BD, Kovacsovics-Bankowski M, Morris N, Walker E, Chisholm L, Floyd K, et al. OX40 is a potent immune-stimulating target in late-stage cancer patients. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(24):7189–98. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. can-12-4174
- 111. Gough MJ, Crittenden MR, Sarff M, Pang P, Seung SK, Vetto JT, et al. Adjuvant therapy with agonistic antibodies to CD134 (OX40) increases local control after surgical or radiation therapy of cancer in mice. *J Immunother* (2010) 33(8):798–809. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181ee7095
- Vinay DS, Kwon BS. Immunotherapy of cancer with 4-1BB. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2012) 11(5):1062–70. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-11-0677
- 113. Palazon A, Teijeira A, Martinez-Forero I, Hervas-Stubbs S, Roncal C, Penuelas I, et al. Agonist anti-CD137 mAb act on tumor endothelial cells to enhance recruitment of activated T lymphocytes. *Cancer Res* (2011) **71**(3):801–11. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-10-1733
- 114. Shi W, Siemann DW. Augmented antitumor effects of radiation therapy by 4-1BB antibody (BMS-469492) treatment. *Anticancer Res* (2006) 26(5a):3445–53.
- 115. Newcomb EW, Lukyanov Y, Kawashima N, Alonso-Basanta M, Wang SC, Liu M, et al. Radiotherapy enhances antitumor effect of anti-CD137 therapy in a mouse glioma model. *Radiat Res* (2010) 173(4):426–32. doi:10.1667/rr1904.1
- 116. Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2008) 26:677–704. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.26.021607.090331
- 117. Brunet JF, Denizot F, Luciani MF, Roux-Dosseto M, Suzan M, Mattei MG, et al. A new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily – CTLA-4. *Nature* (1987) **328**(6127):267–70. doi:10.1038/328267a0
- 118. Grosso JF, Jure-Kunkel MN. CTLA-4 blockade in tumor models: an overview of preclinical and translational research. *Cancer Immun* (2013) **13**:5.
- 119. McCoy KD, Le Gros G. The role of CTLA-4 in the regulation of T cell immune responses. *Immunol Cell Biol* (1999) 77(1):1–10. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1711.1999.00795.x
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. *Nature* (2013) 500(7463):415–21. doi:10.1038/nature12477
- 121. van Elsas A, Hurwitz AA, Allison JP. Combination immunotherapy of B16 melanoma using anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF)-producing vaccines induces rejection of subcutaneous and metastatic tumors accompanied by autoimmune depigmentation. *J Exp Med* (1999) 190(3):355–66.
- 122. Curran MA, Kim M, Montalvo W, Al-Shamkhani A, Allison JP. Combination CTLA-4 blockade and 4-1BB activation enhances tumor rejection by increasing T-cell infiltration, proliferation, and cytokine production. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(4):e19499. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019499
- 123. Camacho LH, Antonia S, Sosman J, Kirkwood JM, Gajewski TF, Redman B, et al. Phase I/II trial of tremelimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2009) 27(7):1075–81. doi:10.1200/jco.2008.19.2435
- 124. Kirkwood JM, Lorigan P, Hersey P, Hauschild A, Robert C, McDermott D, et al. Phase II trial of tremelimumab (CP-675,206) in patients with advanced refractory or relapsed melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16(3):1042–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-09-2033
- 125. Tarhini A. Immune-mediated adverse events associated with ipilimumab ctla-4 blockade therapy: the underlying mechanisms and clinical management. *Scientifica (Cairo)* (2013) 2013:857519. doi:10.1155/2013/857519
- 126. Ribas A, Comin-Anduix B, Chmielowski B, Jalil J, de la Rocha P, McCannel TA, et al. Dendritic cell vaccination combined with CTLA4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(19):6267–76. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-09-1254
- 127. Palucka AK, Ueno H, Connolly J, Kerneis-Norvell F, Blanck JP, Johnston DA, et al. Dendritic cells loaded with killed allogeneic melanoma cells can induce objective clinical responses and MART-1 specific CD8+ T-cell immunity. J Immunother (2006) 29(5):545–57. doi:10.1097/01.cji.0000211309.90621.8b
- Millward M, Underhill C, Lobb S, McBurnie J, Meech SJ, Gomez-Navarro J, et al. Phase I study of tremelimumab (CP-675 206) plus PF-3512676 (CPG 7909) in patients with melanoma or advanced solid tumours. *Br J Cancer* (2013) 108(10):1998–2004. doi:10.1038/bjc.2013.227
- 129. Tarhini AA, Cherian J, Moschos SJ, Tawbi HA, Shuai Y, Gooding WE, et al. Safety and efficacy of combination immunotherapy with interferon alfa-2b and tremelimumab in patients with stage IV melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2012) 30(3):322–8. doi:10.1200/jco.2011.37.5394
- 130. Ribas A, Kefford R, Marshall MA, Punt CJ, Haanen JB, Marmol M, et al. Phase III randomized clinical trial comparing tremelimumab with standardof-care chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31(5):616–22. doi:10.1200/jco.2012.44.6112
- 131. Demaria S, Kawashima N, Yang AM, Devitt ML, Babb JS, Allison JP, et al. Immune-mediated inhibition of metastases after treatment with local radiation and CTLA-4 blockade in a mouse model of breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11(2 Pt 1):728–34.
- 132. Pilones KA, Kawashima N, Yang AM, Babb JS, Formenti SC, Demaria S. Invariant natural killer T cells regulate breast cancer response to radiation and CTLA-4 blockade. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(2):597–606. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-08-1277
- Park SS, Dong H, Liu X, Harrington SM, Krco CJ, Grams M, et al. PD-1 restrains radiotherapy-induced abscopal Effect. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2015) 3(6):610–9. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0138
- Deng L, Liang H, Burnette B, Beckett M, Darga T, Weichselbaum RR, et al. Irradiation and anti-PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(2):687–95. doi:10.1172/jci67313
- 135. Sharabi AB, Nirschl CJ, Kochel CM, Nirschl TR, Francica BJ, Velarde E, et al. Stereotactic radiation therapy augments antigen-specific PD-1-mediated antitumor immune responses via cross-presentation of tumor antigen. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2015) 3(4):345–55. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.cir-14-0196
- 136. Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, Yamada Y, Yuan J, Kitano S, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(10):925–31. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1112824

- Hiniker SM, Chen DS, Reddy S, Chang DT, Jones JC, Mollick JA, et al. A systemic complete response of metastatic melanoma to local radiation and immunotherapy. *Transl Oncol* (2012) 5(6):404–7. doi:10.1593/tlo.12280
- Grimaldi AM, Simeone E, Giannarelli D, Muto P, Falivene S, Borzillo V, et al. Abscopal effects of radiotherapy on advanced melanoma patients who progressed after ipilimumab immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e28780. doi:10.4161/onci.28780
- 139. Kwon ED, Drake CG, Scher HI, Fizazi K, Bossi A, van den Eertwegh AJ, et al. Ipilimumab versus placebo after radiotherapy in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer that had progressed after docetaxel chemotherapy (CA184-043): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2014) 15(7):700–12. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(14)70189-5
- 140. Golden EB, Demaria S, Schiff PB, Chachoua A, Formenti SC. An abscopal response to radiation and ipilimumab in a patient with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2013) 1(6):365–72. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.cir-13-0115
- 141. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) **366**(26):2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- 142. Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Hodi FS, Hwu WJ, Kefford R, et al. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med (2013) 369(2):134–44. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1305133
- 143. Armand P, Nagler A, Weller EA, Devine SM, Avigan DE, Chen YB, et al. Disabling immune tolerance by programmed death-1 blockade with pidilizumab after autologous hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: results of an international phase II trial. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31(33):4199–206. doi:10.1200/jco.2012.48.3685
- 144. Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(26):2455–65. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- 145. Lee NY, Zhang Q, Pfister DG, Kim J, Garden AS, Mechalakos J, et al. Addition of bevacizumab to standard chemoradiation for locoregionally advanced nasopharyngeal carcinoma (RTOG 0615): a phase 2 multi-institutional trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2012) 13(2):172–80. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(11)70303-5
- 146. Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Sheldon H, Buffa FM, Kouklakis G, Ragoussis I, et al. Phase I/II trial of bevacizumab and radiotherapy for locally advanced inoperable colorectal cancer: vasculature-independent radiosensitizing effect of bevacizumab. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(22):7069–76. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-09-0688
- 147. Chinot OL, Wick W, Mason W, Henriksson R, Saran F, Nishikawa R, et al. Bevacizumab plus radiotherapy-temozolomide for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. N Engl J Med (2014) 370(8):709–22. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1308345
- Gilbert MR, Dignam JJ, Armstrong TS, Wefel JS, Blumenthal DT, Vogelbaum MA, et al. A randomized trial of bevacizumab for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. N Engl J Med (2014) 370(8)):699–708. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1308573
- 149. Bonner JA, Harari PM, Giralt J, Azarnia N, Shin DM, Cohen RB, et al. Radiotherapy plus cetuximab for squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. N Engl J Med (2006) 354(6):567–78. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa053422
- 150. Egloff AM, Lee JW, Langer CJ, Quon H, Vaezi A, Grandis JR, et al. Phase II study of cetuximab in combination with cisplatin and radiation in unresectable, locally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: Eastern cooperative oncology group trial E3303. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20(19):5041–51. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-14-0051
- 151. Hurt CN, Nixon LS, Griffiths GO, Al-Mokhtar R, Gollins S, Staffurth JN, et al. SCOPE1: a randomised phase II/III multicentre clinical trial of definitive chemoradiation, with or without cetuximab, in carcinoma of the oesophagus. BMC Cancer (2011) 11:466. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-11-466
- 152. Kelly K, Chansky K, Gaspar LE, Albain KS, Jett J, Ung YC, et al. Phase III trial of maintenance gefitinib or placebo after concurrent chemoradiotherapy and docetaxel consolidation in inoperable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: SWOG S0023. J Clin Oncol (2008) 26(15):2450–6. doi:10.1200/jc0.2007.14.4824
- 153. Cohen EE, Haraf DJ, Kunnavakkam R, Stenson KM, Blair EA, Brockstein B, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor gefitinib added to chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced head and neck cancer. J Clin Oncol (2010) 28(20):3336–43. doi:10.1200/jco.2009.27.0397
- 154. Iyengar P, Kavanagh BD, Wardak Z, Smith I, Ahn C, Gerber DE, et al. Phase II trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy combined with erlotinib for

patients with limited but progressive metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol (2014) **32**(34):3824–30. doi:10.1200/jco.2014.56.7412

- 155. Nogueira-Rodrigues A, Moralez G, Grazziotin R, Carmo CC, Small IA, Alves FV, et al. Phase 2 trial of erlotinib combined with cisplatin and radiotherapy in patients with locally advanced cervical cancer. *Cancer* (2014) 120(8):1187–93. doi:10.1002/cncr.28471
- 156. McTyre E, Scott J, Chinnaiyan P. Whole brain radiotherapy for brain metastasis. *Surg Neurol Int* (2013) 4(Suppl 4):S236–44. doi:10.4103/2152-7806.111301
- 157. Prados MD, Chang SM, Butowski N, DeBoer R, Parvataneni R, Carliner H, et al. Phase II study of erlotinib plus temozolomide during and after radiation therapy in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma multiforme or gliosarcoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2009) 27(4):579–84. doi:10.1200/jco.2008.18.9639
- 158. Yoo DS, Kirkpatrick JP, Craciunescu O, Broadwater G, Peterson BL, Carroll MD, et al. Prospective trial of synchronous bevacizumab, erlotinib, and concurrent chemoradiation in locally advanced head and neck cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(5):1404–14. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-11-1982
- 159. Chen SW, Lin LC, Kuo YC, Liang JA, Kuo CC, Chiou JF. Phase 2 study of combined sorafenib and radiation therapy in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2014) 88(5):1041–7. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2014.01.017
- 160. Hainsworth JD, Ervin T, Friedman E, Priego V, Murphy PB, Clark BL, et al. Concurrent radiotherapy and temozolomide followed by temozolomide and sorafenib in the first-line treatment of patients with glioblastoma multiforme. *Cancer* (2010) **116**(15):3663–9. doi:10.1002/cncr.25275
- 161. Tong CC, Ko EC, Sung MW, Cesaretti JA, Stock RG, Packer SH, et al. Phase II trial of concurrent sunitinib and image-guided radiotherapy for oligometastases. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(6):e36979. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0036979
- 162. Kao J, Chen CT, Tong CC, Packer SH, Schwartz M, Chen SH, et al. Concurrent sunitinib and stereotactic body radiotherapy for patients with oligometastases: final report of a prospective clinical trial. *Target Oncol* (2014) 9(2):145–53. doi:10.1007/s11523-013-0280-y
- 163. Weber JS, O'Day S, Urba W, Powderly J, Nichol G, Yellin M, et al. Phase I/ II study of ipilimumab for patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol (2008) 26(36):5950–6. doi:10.1200/jco.2008.16.1927
- 164. Wolchok JD, Neyns B, Linette G, Negrier S, Lutzky J, Thomas L, et al. Ipilimumab monotherapy in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma: a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 2, dose-ranging study. *Lancet* Oncol (2010) 11(2):155–64. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(09)70334-1
- 165. Margolin K, Ernstoff MS, Hamid O, Lawrence D, McDermott D, Puzanov I, et al. Ipilimumab in patients with melanoma and brain metastases: an open-label, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2012) **13**(5):459–65. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(12)70090-6
- 166. Weber JS, Amin A, Minor D, Siegel J, Berman D, O'Day SJ. Safety and clinical activity of ipilimumab in melanoma patients with brain metastases: retrospective analysis of data from a phase 2 trial. *Melanoma Res* (2011) 21(6):530–4. doi:10.1097/CMR.0b013e32834d3d88
- 167. Slovin SF, Higano CS, Hamid O, Tejwani S, Harzstark A, Alumkal JJ, et al. Ipilimumab alone or in combination with radiotherapy in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: results from an open-label, multicenter phase I/II study. Ann Oncol (2013) 24(7):1813–21. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdt107
- 168. Iwai Y, Ishida M, Tanaka Y, Okazaki T, Honjo T, Minato N. Involvement of PD-L1 on tumor cells in the escape from host immune system and tumor immunotherapy by PD-L1 blockade. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99(19):12293–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.192461099
- 169. Pilon-Thomas S, Mackay A, Vohra N, Mule JJ. Blockade of programmed death ligand 1 enhances the therapeutic efficacy of combination immunotherapy against melanoma. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(7):3442–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0904114
- 170. Dovedi SJ, Adlard AL, Lipowska-Bhalla G, McKenna C, Jones S, Cheadle EJ, et al. Acquired resistance to fractionated radiotherapy can be overcome by concurrent PD-L1 blockade. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74(19):5458–68. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-14-1258
- 171. Dovedi SJ, Illidge TM. The antitumor immune response generated by fractionated radiation therapy may be limited by tumor cell adaptive resistance and can be circumvented by PD-L1 blockade. *Oncoimmunology* (2015) 4(7):e1016709. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2015.1016709
- 172. Philips GK, Atkins M. Therapeutic uses of anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies. *Int Immunol* (2015) **27**(1):39–46. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxu095

- 173. Ansell SM. Targeting immune checkpoints in lymphoma. *Curr Opin Hematol* (2015) 22(4):337–42. doi:10.1097/MOH.00000000000158
- 174. Ansell SM, Lesokhin AM, Borrello I, Halwani A, Scott EC, Gutierrez M, et al. PD-1 blockade with nivolumab in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2015) 372(4):311–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1411087
- 175. Schoffski P, Dumez H, Clement P, Hoeben A, Prenen H, Wolter P, et al. Emerging role of tyrosine kinase inhibitors in the treatment of advanced renal cell cancer: a review. Ann Oncol (2006) 17(8):1185–96. doi:10.1093/ annonc/mdj133
- Bjorndahl M, Cao R, Eriksson A, Cao Y. Blockage of VEGF-induced angiogenesis by preventing VEGF secretion. *Circ Res* (2004) **94**(11):1443–50. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000129194.61747.bf
- 177. Cai J, Han S, Qing R, Liao D, Law B, Boulton ME. In pursuit of new anti-angiogenic therapies for cancer treatment. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)* (2011) 16:803–14. doi:10.2741/3721
- Eklund L, Bry M, Alitalo K. Mouse models for studying angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in cancer. *Mol Oncol* (2013) 7(2):259–82. doi:10.1016/j. molonc.2013.02.007
- 179. Heiduschka G, Grah A, Oberndorfer F, Seemann R, Kranz A, Kornek G, et al. Significance of p16 expression in head and neck cancer patients treated with radiotherapy and cetuximab. *Strahlenther Onkol* (2014) **190**(9):832–8. doi:10.1007/s00066-014-0652-y
- Chen YH, Pan SL, Wang JC, Kuo SH, Cheng JC, Teng CM. Radiation-induced VEGF-C expression and endothelial cell proliferation in lung cancer. Strahlenther Onkol (2014) 190(12):1154–62. doi:10.1007/s00066-014-0708-z
- Dutta PR, Maity A. Cellular responses to EGFR inhibitors and their relevance to cancer therapy. *Cancer Lett* (2007) 254(2):165–77. doi:10.1016/j. canlet.2007.02.006
- Sonpavde G, Hutson TE. Recent advances in the therapy of renal cancer. Expert Opin Biol Ther (2007) 7(2):233–42. doi:10.1517/14712598.7.2.233
- 183. Limaverde-Sousa G, Sternberg C, Ferreira CG. Antiangiogenesis beyond VEGF inhibition: a journey from antiangiogenic single-target to broad-spectrum agents. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2014) **40**(4):548–57. doi:10.1016/j. ctrv.2013.11.009
- 184. Zhuang H, Yuan Z, Wang J, Zhao L, Pang Q, Wang P. Phase II study of whole brain radiotherapy with or without erlotinib in patients with multiple brain metastases from lung adenocarcinoma. *Drug Des Devel Ther* (2013) 7:1179–86. doi:10.2147/dddt.s53011
- 185. Hottinger AF, Aissa AB, Espeli V, Squiban D, Dunkel N, Vargas MI, et al. Phase I study of sorafenib combined with radiation therapy and temozolomide as first-line treatment of high-grade glioma. *Br J Cancer* (2014) 110(11):2655–61. doi:10.1038/bjc.2014.209
- 186. Helbling D, Bodoky G, Gautschi O, Sun H, Bosman F, Gloor B, et al. Neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy with or without panitumumab in patients with wild-type KRAS, locally advanced rectal cancer (LARC): a randomized, multicenter, phase II trial SAKK 41/07. *Ann Oncol* (2013) 24(3):718–25. doi:10.1093/annonc/mds519
- 187. Azria D, Larbouret C, Robert B, Culine S, Ychou M, Verrelle P, et al. [Radiotherapy and inhibitors of epidermal growth factor receptor: preclinical findings and preliminary clinical trials]. *Bull Cancer* (2003) **90**:S202–12.
- 188. Lai A, Tran A, Nghiemphu PL, Pope WB, Solis OE, Selch M, et al. Phase II study of bevacizumab plus temozolomide during and after radiation therapy for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma multiforme. *J Clin Oncol* (2011) 29(2):142–8. doi:10.1200/jco.2010.30.2729
- 189. Van Buren G II, Ramanathan RK, Krasinskas AM, Smith RP, Abood GJ, Bahary N, et al. Phase II study of induction fixed-dose rate gemcitabine and bevacizumab followed by 30 Gy radiotherapy as preoperative treatment for potentially resectable pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2013) 20(12):3787–93. doi:10.1245/s10434-013-3161-9
- 190. Kriegs M, Gurtner K, Can Y, Brammer I, Rieckmann T, Oertel R, et al. Radiosensitization of NSCLC cells by EGFR inhibition is the result of an enhanced p53-dependent G1 arrest. *Radiother Oncol* (2015) 115(1):120–7. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2015.02.018
- 191. Hansel TT, Kropshofer H, Singer T, Mitchell JA, George AJ. The safety and side effects of monoclonal antibodies. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2010) 9(4):325–38. doi:10.1038/nrd3003
- 192. Li X, Shan BE, Wang J, Xing LP, Guo XJ, Zhang YH, et al. Incidence and risk of treatment-related mortality with anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody in cancer patients: a meta-analysis of 21 randomized

controlled trials. *PLoS One* (2013) **8**(11):e81897. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0081897

- Ranpura V, Hapani S, Wu S. Treatment-related mortality with bevacizumab in cancer patients: a meta-analysis. *JAMA* (2011) **305**(5):487–94. doi:10.1001/ jama.2011.51
- 194. Brennan FR, Morton LD, Spindeldreher S, Kiessling A, Allenspach R, Hey A, et al. Safety and immunotoxicity assessment of immunomodulatory monoclonal antibodies. *MAbs* (2010) 2(3):233–55. doi:10.4161/mabs.2.3.11782
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. *Science* (2011) 331(6024):1565–70. doi:10.1126/science.1203486
- 196. Wieczorek A, Uharek L. Genetically modified T cells for the treatment of malignant disease. *Transfus Med Hemother* (2013) 40(6):388–402. doi:10.1159/000357163
- 197. Lee DW, Kochenderfer JN, Stetler-Stevenson M, Cui YK, Delbrook C, Feldman SA, et al. T cells expressing CD19 chimeric antigen receptors for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in children and young adults: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *Lancet* (2015) 385(9967):517–28. doi:10.1016/ s0140-6736(14)61403-3
- 198. Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia. N Engl J Med (2014) 371(16):1507–17. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1407222
- 199. Kalos M, Levine BL, Porter DL, Katz S, Grupp SA, Bagg A, et al. T cells with chimeric antigen receptors have potent antitumor effects and can establish memory in patients with advanced leukemia. *Sci Transl Med* (2011) 3(95):95ra73. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3002842

- Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med (2011) 365(8):725–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1103849
- 201. Grada Z, Hegde M, Byrd T, Shaffer DR, Ghazi A, Brawley VS, et al. TanCAR: a novel bispecific chimeric antigen receptor for cancer immunotherapy. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* (2013) 2:e105. doi:10.1038/mtna.2013.32
- 202. Riccione K, Suryadevara CM, Snyder D, Cui X, Sampson JH, Sanchez-Perez L. Generation of CAR T cells for adoptive therapy in the context of glioblastoma standard of care. J Vis Exp (2015) 96:e52397. doi:10.3791/52397
- Mittal D, Gubin MM, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. New insights into cancer immunoediting and its three component phases – elimination, equilibrium and escape. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2014) 27:16–25. doi:10.1016/j. coi.2014.01.004

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Derer, Deloch, Rubner, Fietkau, Frey and Gaipl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death

Lucillia Bezu^{1,2,3,4†}, Ligia C. Gomes-da-Silva^{1,2,3,5†}, Heleen Dewitte^{6,7}, Karine Breckpot⁷, Jitka Fucikova^{8,9}, Radek Spisek^{8,9}, Lorenzo Galluzzi^{1,2,10,11,12‡}, Oliver Kepp^{1,2,3‡*} and Guido Kroemer^{1,2,3,9,11,12,13‡*}

¹ Equipe 11 labellisée par la Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, Paris, France, ² U1138, INSERM, Paris, France, ³ Metabolomics and Cell Biology Platforms, Gustave Roussy Campus Cancer, Villejuif, France, ⁴ Faculté de Medecine, Université Paris-Sud, Le Kremlin-Bicêtre, France, ⁵ Department of Chemistry, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal, ⁶ Laboratory for General Biochemistry and Physical Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, ⁷ Laboratory of Molecular and Cellular Therapy, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Jette, Belgium, ⁸ Sotio a.c., Prague, Czech Republic, ⁹ Department of Immunology, 2nd Faculty of Medicine, University Hospital Motol, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic, ¹⁰ Gustave Roussy Campus Cancer, Villejuif, France, ¹¹ Université Paris Descartes, Paris, France, ¹² Université Pierre et Marie Curie, Paris, France, ¹³ Pôle de Biologie, Hopitâl Européen George Pompidou, AP-HP, Paris, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Patrizia Agostinis, University of Leuven, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Stephan Gasser, National University of Singapore, Singapore Luis De La Cruz-Merino, Hospital Universitario Virgen Macarena, Spain

*Correspondence:

Oliver Kepp and Guido Kroemer, INSERM U1138, Centre des Recherche des Cordeliers, Equipe 11, 15 rue de l'Ecole de Médecine, Paris 75005, France oliver.kepp@gustaveroussy.fr; kroemer@orange.fr

> [†]Equally contributed to this work. [‡]Shared senior co-authorship.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 12 March 2015 **Accepted:** 06 April 2015 **Published:** 24 April 2015

Citation:

Bezu L, Gomes-da-Silva LC, Dewitte H, Breckpot K, Fucikova J, Spisek R, Galluzzi L, Kepp O and Kroemer G (2015) Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death. Front. Immunol. 6:187. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00187 The term "immunogenic cell death" (ICD) is commonly employed to indicate a peculiar instance of regulated cell death (RCD) that engages the adaptive arm of the immune system. The inoculation of cancer cells undergoing ICD into immunocompetent animals elicits a specific immune response associated with the establishment of immunological memory. Only a few agents are intrinsically endowed with the ability to trigger ICD. These include a few chemotherapeutics that are routinely employed in the clinic, like doxorubicin, mitoxantrone, oxaliplatin, and cyclophosphamide, as well as some agents that have not yet been approved for use in humans. Accumulating clinical data indicate that the activation of adaptive immune responses against dying cancer cells is associated with improved disease outcome in patients affected by various neoplasms. Thus, novel therapeutic regimens that trigger ICD are urgently awaited. Here, we discuss current combinatorial approaches to convert otherwise non-immunogenic instances of RCD into *bona fide* ICD.

Keywords: ATP, autophagy, calreticulin, endoplasmic reticulum stress, HMGB1, type I interferon

Introduction

The expression "immunogenic cell death" (ICD) generally refers to a functionally peculiar case of regulated cell death (RCD) that – in immunocompetent hosts – is capable of activating an adaptive immune response against dead cell-associated antigens (1–5). Of note, ICD generally (but not obligatorily) manifests with apoptotic morphological features, and at least some of its manifestations depend on components of the apoptotic apparatus (6–8). Irrespective of these morphological and biochemical considerations, immunocompetent mice injected s.c. with cancer cells succumbing to

Abbreviations: APC, antigen-presenting cell; CALR, calreticulin; CTLA4, cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4; CXCL10, chemokine (C–X–C motif) ligand 10; DAMP, damage-associated molecular pattern; EIF2A, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2A, 65 kDa; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; HMGB1, high-mobility group box 1; ICD, immunogenic cell death; IFN, interferon; IFNAR, interferon (alpha, beta, and omega) receptor; mAb, monoclonal antibody; P2RX7, purinergic receptor P2X, ligand gated ion channel, 7; P2RY2, purinergic receptor P2Y, G-protein coupled, 2; RCD, regulated cell death; siRNA, small-interfering RNA; TLR, toll-like receptor.

bona fide ICD (in the absence of any adjuvant) develop a cellular immune response associated with the establishment of immuno-logical memory that protects them from a subsequent challenge with living cells of the same type (1–3). Importantly, vaccination experiments of this type, involving murine cells and syngeneic mice, remain the gold-standard method to identify *bona fide* ICD, though several tests have been developed to detect some of its cellular manifestations (see below) (2, 3, 9, 10).

Only a few lethal stimuli are intrinsically endowed with the ability to trigger ICD (9, 11-14). These include some chemotherapeutic agents that are employed in the clinic, including (1) various anthracyclines (i.e., doxorubicin, epirubicin, and idarubicin), which are commonly used against a wide panel of malignant conditions (15-17); (2) mitoxantrone, an anthracenedione generally used for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia, breast carcinoma, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, and prostate carcinoma (15, 16); (3) oxaliplatin, a platinum derivative approved for use in combination with 5-fluorouracil to treat advanced colorectal carcinoma (18, 19); (4) cyclophosphamide, an alkylating agent that is employed against various neoplastic and autoimmune conditions (20-23); and (5) bortezomib, a proteasomal inhibitor approved for the therapy of multiple myeloma and mantle cell lymphoma (24-26). Specific forms of irradiation as well as photodynamic therapy, both of which are habitually employed for the treatment of various neoplasms, have also been shown to trigger *bona fide* ICD (27-34). Finally, a bunch of hitherto experimental agents is intrinsically endowed with the capacity to initiate ICD, including (but not limited to) some oncolytic viruses (35-39), the microtubular inhibitor patupilone (40-42), and elevated hydrostatic pressures (43).

According to accepted models, ICD relies on the establishment of adaptive stress responses that promote the spatiotemporally coordinated emission of endogenous danger signals from dying cells (44, 45). The endogenous molecules that dispatch danger signals in response to stress are cumulatively known as "damageassociated molecular patterns" (DAMPs) and operate upon binding to receptors expressed by bystander cells, including cellular components of both the innate and adaptive immune system (2, 46-49). As it stands, four DAMPs have been shown to be required for RCD as induced by anthracyclines to be perceived as immunogenic, namely, (1) the exposure of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) chaperone calreticulin (CALR) on the outer surface of the plasma membrane (16); (2) the secretion of ATP (50); (3) the production of type I interferon (IFN) (51); and (4) the release of the non-histone chromatin-binding protein high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) into the extracellular space (52). This said, it cannot be formally excluded that other hitherto undiscovered DAMPs are required for anthracycline-elicited RCD to promote an adaptive immune response. Along similar lines, not all these DAMPs may be required for RCD as induced by agents other than anthracyclines to be perceived as immunogenic (53-55).

In this context, i.e., anthracycline-induced ICD, CALR exposure obligatorily relies on the establishment of a pre-mortem ER stress response centered around the phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2A, 65 kDa (EIF2A) (7, 56), ATP secretion requires the induction of autophagy (57), and type I IFN production stems from toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) signaling (51). The molecular mechanisms underlying the ability of anthracyclines and other ICD inducers to promote HMGB1 release remain obscure (2, 3). Cumulatively, these DAMPs recruit antigen-presenting cells (APCs) to sites of active ICD and stimulate the uptake, processing, and presentation of dead cellassociated antigens, eventually resulting in the priming of an adaptive immune response (2, 3). In particular, CALR promotes antigen uptake by APCs by binding to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1, best known as CD91) (58); ATP stimulates the recruitment of APCs and their activation upon binding to purinergic receptor P2Y, G-protein coupled, 2 (P2RY2) and purinergic receptor P2X, ligand-gated ion channel, 7 (P2RX7), respectively (50, 59, 60); type I IFNs exert immunostimulatory effects via IFN (alpha, beta, and omega) receptors (IFNARs) (51); and HMGB1 does so through TLR4 and advanced glycosylation end product-specific receptor (AGER, best known as RAGE) (52, 61).

A detailed discussion of the molecular and cellular mechanisms involved in the detection of ICD-associated DAMPs goes beyond the scope of this review and can be found in Ref. (2, 3). However, it is important to note that the failure of cancer cells to emit one (or more) of these DAMPs completely compromises the immunogenicity of RCD (2, 3). Thus, at odds with their wildtype counterparts, $Calr^{-/-}$ murine CT26 colorectal cells exposed to anthracyclines are unable to vaccinate mice against a subsequent inoculation with malignant cells of the same type (16). The same holds true in several other situations in which adaptive responses cannot proceed normally, including the genetic inhibition of autophagy (e.g., upon the expression of short-hairpin RNAs targeting the essential autophagy proteins Atg5 or Atg7) or the unfolded protein response (e.g., upon the expression of a non-phosphorylatable variant of EIF2A) (7, 57, 62, 63).

Accumulating clinical evidence indicates that the (re-)activation of a proficient immune response against malignant cells is associated with improved disease outcome in patients affected by a wide panel of neoplasms (64-68), in particular when malignant lesions are highly infiltrated by immune effector cells prior to therapy (69). Considerable efforts are therefore being devoted to the development of clinically implementable strategies that (re-)instate anticancer immunosurveillance (70, 71). So far, the most successful of these approaches involves the administration of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) that block immunosuppressive receptors expressed by activated T cells, such as cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA4) and programed cell death 1 (PDCD1, best known as PD-1) (72, 73). Three distinct checkpoint blockers of this type, namely, the CTLA4-targeting mAb ipilimumab and the PD-1targeting mAbs nivolumab and pembrolizumab, are approved by the US Food and Drug Administration and other regulatory agencies worldwide for use as standalone immunotherapeutic interventions in melanoma patients (74-77). In addition, the administration of checkpoint blockers has been shown to improve the clinical profile of various chemotherapeutic and immunotherapeutic agents (78). Along similar lines, various combinatorial immuno(chemo)therapeutic regimens are being investigated in clinical trials for their ability to mediate superior antineoplastic effects as compared to monotherapies based on their constituents (79, 80). In this framework, various attempts are

being made to render immunogenic otherwise non-immunogenic instances of therapy-induced RCD, thereby converting them into *bona fide* ICD (79, 81–84). This can be due to molecular defects that prevent cancer cells from emitting DAMPs appropriately, as mentioned above, as well as to the intrinsic features of the therapeutic agent under consideration (**Table 1**). For instance, at odds with its derivative oxaliplatin, cisplatin is intrinsically unable to trigger ICD since it does not stimulate the exposure of CALR on the outer surface of the plasma membrane (18, 19, 85).

Here, we discuss strategies to convert non-immunogenic instances of RCD into *bona fide* ICD. In particular, we will review approaches for (1) correcting the incapacity of some therapeutic agents to kill cancer cells while provoking the emission of one or more DAMP(s); or (2) complementing the missing DAMP(s) with exogenous interventions. On the contrary, we will not dwell on strategies that boost the immunogenicity of RCD by operating downstream of DAMP-sensing receptors.

Combinatorial Strategies to Restore CALR Exposure

Some anticancer therapeutics efficiently kill cancer cells (hence promoting the release of HMGB1) and stimulate the secretion of both ATP and type I IFNs, but selectively fail to promote CALR exposure. Most often, such a defect originates from the inability of these agents to trigger an ER stress response resulting in EIF2A phosphorylation (56, 114), and hence can be corrected by the coadministration of an ER stressors. As mentioned above, cisplatin is one of the antineoplastic agents that fail to trigger bona fide ICD as it does not drive a robust ER stress response (18, 19, 85). The ER-stressing agents that have been shown to correct this defect, hence rendering cisplatin-induced RCD immunogenic, include thapsigargin, an inhibitor of various members of the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA) (19, 114); tunicamycin, an inhibitor of N-glycosylation (19, 94, 114); pyridoxine, a cell-permeant precursor of bioactive vitamin B6 (90, 91, 115); and ZnCl₂ (92). Similar results have been obtained by establishing an ER stress response through the enforced overexpression of reticulon 1 (RTN1), an ER protein involved in vesicular trafficking and secretion (116, 117). The latter approach is obviously incompatible with clinical applications. Nonetheless, these data reinforce the notion that the immunogenicity of cisplatin-induced RCD can be restored by various interventions that induce an ER stress (94).

Another strategy that successfully restores CALR exposure in cells succumbing to chemicals that *per se* do not enable this phenomenon consists in the co-administration of inhibitors of the EIF2A phosphatase composed of protein phosphatase 1, regulatory subunit 15A (PPP1R15A, best known as GADD34), and pyrophosphatase (inorganic) 1 (PPA1, best known as PP1), resulting in accrued EIF2A phosphorylation even in the absence of overt ER stress (16). Thus, whereas CT26 cells treated with etoposide (a topoisomerase II inhibitor currently approved for the treatment of various malignancies) (118, 119) do not expose CALR as they die, and hence fail to vaccinate mice against a subsequent challenge with neoplastic cells of the same type, they efficiently do so in the presence of tautomycin, calyculin A, and salubrinal

(three distinct GADD34/PP1 inhibitors) (16). Similar results have been obtained with the small-interfering RNA (siRNA)-mediated downregulation of PP1 or GADD34 (16), as well as with short cellpermeant peptides that disrupt the physical interaction between these two proteins (102). Although siRNA- and peptide-based strategies may not be easily implemented in clinical settings, these results corroborate the specificity of tautomycin, calyculin A, and salubrinal, and lend further support to the notion that interventions that stimulate EIF2A phosphorylation efficiently promote CALR exposure even in the absence of overt ER stress (120).

At least theoretically, the co-administration of ER stressors or molecules that promote EIF2A phosphorylation can be harnessed to reconstitute the immunogenicity of RCD induced by all anticancer agents that per se do not stimulate CALR exposure on the cell surface but provoke ATP secretion, type I IFN production, and HMGB1 release. In addition, the inability of some anticancer agents to cause the translocation of CALR to the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane can be corrected, at least in some settings, by the co-administration of exogenous, recombinant CALR (7, 16, 106). CALR is indeed relatively "sticky" and its absorption on malignant cells succumbing to non-immunogenic RCD in vitro has been shown to fully restore the ability of these cells to vaccinate syngeneic mice against a subsequent neoplastic challenge (16). To the best of our knowledge, however, whether the systemic or intratumoral administration of recombinant CALR to tumorbearing mice treated with non-immunogenic therapeutics is able to convert them into bona fide ICD inducers has not been tested yet. As compared to administration of small molecules that establish an ER stress response or promote EIF2A phosphorylation, the use of recombinant CALR appears advantageous in that (at least theoretically) it would complement the lack of CALR exposure in all scenarios, irrespective of the underlying molecular defects (including the downregulation or loss of CALR itself). However, such an approach may not be implementable in the clinic, owing to pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic issues (e.g., distribution of the recombinant protein, serum half-life, etc. . .) as well as economic considerations. Current efforts are therefore being focused on the identification of novel (and the refinement of existing) small molecule-based strategies to stimulate CALR exposure upon the establishment of an ER stress or the induction of EIF2A phosphorylation.

Combinatorial Strategies to Boost ATP Secretion

In some settings, anticancer agents kill malignant cells in an efficient fashion (which corresponds to a consistent release of HMGB1), while stimulating the exposure of CALR and the production of type I IFN, but this is not accompanied by the accumulation of extracellular ATP (57, 121), a defect that can stem from at least three different causes. First, some therapeutic agents are unable to stimulate (or even inhibit) autophagic responses, which are required for dying cells to secrete ATP in sufficient amount for signaling via P2RY2 and P2RX7 receptors (57). Second, some malignant cells bear genetic or epigenetic defects that affect the molecular machinery for autophagy (122, 123). These cells are intrinsically unable to preserve the intracellular ATP pool in the

TABLE 1 | Immunogenicity of chemotherapy-induced regulated cell death (examples).

Drug	CALR exposure	ATP secretion	Type I IFN production	HMGB1 release	^a Bona fide ICD inducer	Restoration of ICD	Reference
5-Fluorouracil	Debated	No	n.d.	Yes	n.d.	RT	(16) (86) (87)
Bleomycin	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	n.a.	(88)
Bortezomib	Yes	n.d.	Yes	Yes	Yes	n.a.	(24) (25) (26) (89)
Camptothecin	Debated	No	n.d.	Yes	No	n.d.	(16) (87)
Carboplatin	Partial	Yes	n.d.	Partial	No	RT	(16) (86)
Cisplatin	No	Yes	n.d.	Yes	No	Pyridoxine Thapsigargin Tunicamycin ZnCl ₂	(19) (90) (91) (92) (93) (94)
Cyclophosphamide	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	n.a.	(20) (21) (95)
Digitoxin Digoxin	Yes	Yes	n.d.	Partial	No	Cytotoxic agents	(81) (83)
Docetaxel	Yes	No	n.d.	No	No	n.d.	(96) (97)
Doxorubicin	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	n.a.	(15) (16) (17) (51) (98) (99)
Epirubicin	Yes	Yes	n.d.	Yes	Yes	n.a.	(16) (17)
Etoposide	No	Yes	n.d.	Yes	No	Calyculin A Salubrinal Tautomycin PP1/GADD34-targeting peptides 2-deoxyglucose	(16) (17) (93) (100) (101) (102)
Gemcitabine	No	Partial	n.d.	Yes	No	PX-478	(103)
Idarubicin	Yes	n.d.	n.d.	Yes	Yes	n.a.	(17) (16) (104)
Irinotecan	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	Yes	n.d.	n.d.	(105)
Mafosfamide	Yes	n.d.	n.d.	Yes	Yes	n.d.	(20)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Drug	CALR exposure	ATP secretion	Type I IFN production	HMGB1 release	^a Bona fide ICD inducer	Restoration of ICD	Reference
Melphalan	Debated	n.d.	n.d.	Yes	n.d.	n.d.	(106) (107) (108)
Mitomycin C	Debated	No	n.d.	Yes	No	n.d.	(16) (87)
Mitoxantrone	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	n.a.	(7) (16) (17) (51) (57) (93) (109)
Oxaliplatin	Yes	Yes	Yes	n.d.	Yes	n.a.	(7) (18) (52) (57) (93) (110)
Patupilone	Yes ^b	n.d.	Yes	Yes ^b	Yes ^b	n.a.	(41) (42)
Temozolomide	No	Yes	n.d.	Yes	n.d.	Oncolytic virotherapy Cyclophosphamide	(111) (112)
Vemurafenib	Yes	n.d.	n.d.	Yes	n.d.	n.d.	(103) (113)

CALR, calreticulin; HMGB1, high-mobility group box 1; ICD, immunogenic cell death; IFN, interferon; n.a., not applicable; n.d., not determined; RT, radiation therapy. ^aAs determined in gold-standard vaccination experiments.

^bUnpublished observations from our group.

course of stress responses, resulting in limited ATP secretion during death (124). Third, some neoplastic cells express high levels of either ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase 1 (ENTPD1, best known as CD39) or 5'-nucleotidase, ecto (NT5E, best known as CD73), two membrane-bound nucleotidases that degrade extracellular ATP (125).

So far, one general strategy has been shown to restore extracellular ATP concentrations to levels that are compatible with the efficient recruitment and activation of APCs, namely, the pharmacological inhibition of CD39. Thus, CT26 cells lacking essential components of the autophagic machinery, such as Atg5, Atg7, or Beclin 1 (Becn1), secrete limited amounts of ATP as they succumb to anthracyclines, and hence are incapable of vaccinating syngeneic mice against a subsequent challenge with malignant cells of the same type (57). Such a functional defect can be corrected by the co-administration of ARL67156, a broad spectrum inhibitor of extracellular nucleotidases (57). Further confirming these findings, CT26 engineered to overexpress CD39 and exposed to anthracyclines are unable to protect syngeneic mice against a subsequent injection with neoplastic cells of the same type (57, 125). This defect can be corrected by the co-administration of ARL67156, along with the restoration of RCD-associated ATP secretion (57, 125). Taken together, these results indicate that inhibitors of extracellular nucleotidases may

constitute a convenient manner to boost the immunogenicity of RCD instances that are normally not associated with ATP secretion.

Importantly, the pharmacological activation of autophagy does not suffice for cancer cells to become immunogenic (16, 57). Nonetheless, combining anticancer agents that per se are unable to trigger ATP secretion with molecules that upregulate the autophagic flux, such as inhibitors of mechanistic target of rapamycin (MTOR) complex I (MTORCI), may efficiently convert non-immunogenic RCD instances into bona fide ICD. This hypothesis awaits formal experimental confirmation. Indeed, while other inducers of autophagy such as the glycolytic inhibitor 2-deoxyglucose (126) have been shown to reinstate the immunogenicity of etoposide-elicited RCD, such an effect was ascribed to the restoration of CALR exposure (indeed, etoposide kills malignant cells while promoting ATP secretion) (100). Finally, it should be noted that the establishment of an ATP gradient around dying cells may not constitute a general requirement for the perception of RCD as immunogenic (127). Moreover, at least in some settings, autophagy may actually inhibit ICD by limiting the production of reactive oxygen species in the course of adaptive stress responses, hence counteracting the establishment of ER stress and consequent CALR exposure (54, 55). Thus, further work is required to precisely identify malignancies in which autophagy

supports ICD. Only in these scenarios, the co-administration of autophagy inducers may constitute a proper approach to reinstate the immunogenicity of RCD.

Combinatorial Strategies to Promote Type I IFN Production

Whereas the role of type I IFN in the regulation of innate and adaptive immune responses is well known (128, 129), type I IFN signaling in malignant cells has been identified as a requirement for (anthracycline-induced) ICD only recently (51). Thus, cancer cells respond to various anthracyclines by activating a TLR3elicited signal transduction cascade resulting in type I IFN release, autocrine/paracrine type I IFN signaling, and chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 10 (CXCL10) secretion, two phenomena that underlie their vaccinating potential. At odds with their wild-type counterparts, Tlr3^{-/-} and Ifnar1^{-/-} murine cancer cells exposed to anthracyclines fail to vaccinate syngeneic mice against a subsequent injection of living cells of the same type (51). It has already been demonstrated that the inability of $Tlr3^{-/-}$ cells to undergo ICD can be corrected by the co-administration of recombinant type I IFNs or recombinant CXCL10. Similarly, *Ifnar1^{-/-}* cells succumbing to anthracyclines turn immunogenic in the presence of recombinant CXCL10 (but not type I IFNs) (51).

Various synthetic TLR3 agonists are available and some of them, including polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C) and its clinical grade analog polyI:polyC12U (also known as rintatolimod and AmpligenTM), have been extensively tested as immunostimulants in cancer patients (130, 131). It is therefore tempting to speculate that the co-administration of TLR3 agonists may restore the ability of anticancer agents that *per se* do not promote type I IFN release to trigger *bona fide* ICD. This hypothesis awaits urgent experimental confirmation. For the considerations presented above, small molecules that trigger TLR3 signaling would indeed be more convenient as clinical tools to restore type I IFN signaling than recombinant type I IFN or CXCL10 themselves.

Combinatorial Strategies to Substitute for HMGB1 Release

HMGB1 release occurs upon (nuclear and) plasma membrane permeabilization, i.e., it constitutes a post-mortem event (5, 132). Thus, all antineoplastic agents that efficiently kill malignant cells (as opposed to molecules that exert cytostatic effects or induce cell senescence) (133) promote HMGB1 release, perhaps with different kinetics (5, 132). However, the expression levels of HMGB1 vary in different tumor types and evolve along with tumor progression, implying that some malignant cells may express HMGB1 to levels that are not compatible with the activation of TLR4 and RAGE in immune cells upon release (134, 135). Importantly, the immunogenicity of anthracycline-induced RCD is compromised in these cells, as well in cells artificially depleted of HMGB1 by means of specific siRNAs (135). Recent results indicate that this defect can be efficiently corrected by the exogenous supply of a synthetic TLR4 agonist, i.e., dendrophilin, at least in experimental models (135). Since dendrophilin has not yet entered clinical development (130, 131), it will be interesting to see whether TLR4 agonists that are already licensed by regulatory agencies for use in humans, such as the Bacillus Calmette–Guérin (BCG) (80) and monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) (136), are also able to restore the immunogenicity of HMGB1-deficient cells succumbing to ICD.

In this context, it is worth noting that cancer cells exposing CALR, secreting ATP, producing type I IFNs but releasing limited amounts of HMGB1 as they respond to a lethal stimulus in a suboptimal manner fail to elicit adaptive immune responses (137). Upon inoculation into immunocompetent mice, these cells actually form tumors at the vaccination site (as a significant fraction of them is not dying) and the animals are unable to control a subsequent challenge with cell of the same type (3). We have observed this to occur in murine cancer cells treated with digoxin or digitoxin, two glycosides approved in many countries for the treatment of cardiac conditions (81). These molecules efficiently inhibit the human Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, which explains their pharmacological properties and their ability to kill some neoplastic cells of human origin, but not its murine counterpart (83). Thus, cardiac glycosides per se are unable to trigger ICD, at least in the murine system. However, clinical data indicate that they may convert non-immunogenic RCD as elicited by a very large panel of chemotherapeutics into bona fide ICD (83). From another standpoint, any anticancer agent that efficiently kills malignant cells could be considered as a means to restore the immunogenicity of cells responding to cardiac glycosides. We have recently initiated a clinical trial to prospectively test this hypothesis in head and neck squamous carcinoma patients.

Concluding Remarks

In spite of old beliefs, cancer cells continuously interact with the immune system: first, as they are generated by healthy cells upon malignant transformation; second, as they evolve and acquire additional neoplastic features; and third, when they are challenged with therapeutic interventions. During the last decade, such a conceptual revolution, i.e., considering tumors as entities that can be detected and destroyed by the immune system, has paved the way toward the development of novel therapeutic agents conceived to re(instate) anticancer immunity, and some of these interventions have already been licensed for use in humans by international regulatory agencies. In addition, it has become clear that many therapeutics that had been used for decades in the clinic are efficient (for the most part) because they engage the host immune system against malignant cells. ICD is one of the several mechanisms through which cytotoxic chemotherapeutics, targeted anticancer agents as well as some forms of radiotherapy can elicit tumortargeting immune responses. Identifying novel ICD inducers as well as measures that convert non-immunogenic RCD into bona fide ICD is of primordial importance. Promising preclinical results and preliminary clinical findings suggest, indeed, that agents that promote CALR exposure, ATP secretion, type I IFN production, HMGB1 release or stimulate the downstream signal transduction pathway may considerably improve the clinical profile of conventional therapeutic regimens (Figure 1). A systematic investigation of the ability of currently available anticancer agents to elicit the abovementioned ICD-associated processes in human cancer



cells of distinct histological origin is urgently awaited. These data may pave the way to the clinical implementation of combinatorial immuno(chemo)regimens that efficiently promote ICD and hence mediate complete tumor regression in a high proportion of patients.

Acknowledgments

GK is supported by the Ligue contre le Cancer (équipe labelisée); Agence National de la Recherche (ANR); Association pour la recherche sur le cancer (ARC); Cancéropôle Ile-de-France; Institut National du Cancer (INCa); Fondation Bettencourt-Schueller; Fondation de France; Fondation pour la Recherche Médicale (FRM); the European Commission (ArtForce); the European Research Council (ERC); the LabEx Immuno-Oncology; the SIRIC Stratified Oncology Cell DNA Repair and Tumor Immune Elimination (SOCRATE); the SIRIC Cancer Research and Personalized Medicine (CARPEM); and the Paris Alliance of Cancer Research Institutes (PACRI).

References

- Cirone M, Di Renzo L, Lotti LV, Conte V, Trivedi P, Santarelli R, et al. Activation of dendritic cells by tumor cell death. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:1218–9. doi:10.4161/onci.20428
- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:860–75. doi:10.1038/nrc3380
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:51–72. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-032712-100008
- Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Krautwald S, Kroemer G, Linkermann A. Molecular mechanisms of regulated necrosis. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* (2014) 35:24–32. doi:10. 1016/j.semcdb.2014.02.006
- Galluzzi L, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, Abrams JM, Adam D, et al. Essential versus accessory aspects of cell death: recommendations of the NCCD 2015. *Cell Death Differ* (2015) 22:58–73. doi:10.1038/cdd. 2014.137
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Vandenabeele P, Abrams J, Alnemri ES, Baehrecke EH, et al. Classification of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2009. *Cell Death Differ* (2009) 16:3–11. doi:10.1038/ cdd.2008.150
- 7. Panaretakis T, Kepp O, Brockmeier U, Tesniere A, Bjorklund AC, Chapman DC, et al. Mechanisms of pre-apoptotic calreticulin exposure in immunogenic cell death. *EMBO J* (2009) **28**:578–90. doi:10.1038/emboj.2009.1
- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Abrams JM, Alnemri ES, Baehrecke EH, Blagosklonny MV, et al. Molecular definitions of cell death subroutines: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2012. *Cell Death Differ* (2012) 19:107–20. doi:10.1038/cdd.2011.96
- Kepp O, Senovilla L, Vitale I, Vacchelli E, Adjemian S, Agostinis P, et al. Consensus guidelines for the detection of immunogenic cell death. Oncoimmunology (2014) 3:e955691. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.955691
- Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Senovilla L, Michaud M, Spaggiari S, Vacchelli E, et al. Screening of novel immunogenic cell death inducers within the NCI mechanistic diversity set. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e28473. doi:10.4161/onci. 28473
- Dudek AM, Garg AD, Krysko DV, De Ruysscher D, Agostinis P. Inducers of immunogenic cancer cell death. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2013) 24:319–33. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2013.01.005
- Vacchelli E, Senovilla L, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, Zitvogel L, et al. Trial watch: chemotherapy with immunogenic cell death inducers. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e23510. doi:10.4161/onci.23510
- Kepp O, Senovilla L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic cell death inducers as anticancer agents. Oncotarget (2014) 5:5190–1.
- Vacchelli E, Aranda F, Eggermont A, Galon J, Sautes-Fridman C, Cremer I, et al. Trial watch: chemotherapy with immunogenic cell death inducers. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e27878. doi:10.4161/onci.27878
- Casares N, Pequignot MO, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Roux S, Chaput N, et al. Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicin-induced tumor cell death. J Exp Med (2005) 202:1691–701. doi:10.1084/jem.20050915
- Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:54–61. doi:10.1038/nm1523
- Fucikova J, Kralikova P, Fialova A, Brtnicky T, Rob L, Bartunkova J, et al. Human tumor cells killed by anthracyclines induce a tumor-specific immune response. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:4821–33. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-11-0950
- Tesniere A, Schlemmer F, Boige V, Kepp O, Martins I, Ghiringhelli F, et al. Immunogenic death of colon cancer cells treated with oxaliplatin. *Oncogene* (2010) 29:482–91. doi:10.1038/onc.2009.356
- Martins I, Kepp O, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Tailler M, Shen S, et al. Restoration of the immunogenicity of cisplatin-induced cancer cell death by endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Oncogene* (2011) **30**:1147–58. doi:10.1038/onc. 2010.500
- 20. Schiavoni G, Sistigu A, Valentini M, Mattei F, Sestili P, Spadaro F, et al. Cyclophosphamide synergizes with type I interferons through systemic dendritic cell reactivation and induction of immunogenic tumor apoptosis. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:768–78. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-10-2788

- Sistigu A, Viaud S, Chaput N, Bracci L, Proietti E, Zitvogel L. Immunomodulatory effects of cyclophosphamide and implementations for vaccine design. *Semin Immunopathol* (2011) 33:369–83. doi:10.1007/s00281-011-0245-0
- Stoetzer OJ, Fersching DM, Salat C, Steinkohl O, Gabka CJ, Hamann U, et al. Circulating immunogenic cell death biomarkers HMGB1 and RAGE in breast cancer patients during neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Tumour Biol* (2013) 34:81–90. doi:10.1007/s13277-012-0513-1
- Ziccheddu G, Proietti E, Moschella F. The Janus face of cyclophosphamide: a sterile inflammatory response that potentiates cancer immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e25789. doi:10.4161/onci.25789
- Demaria S, Santori FR, Ng B, Liebes L, Formenti SC, Vukmanovic S. Select forms of tumor cell apoptosis induce dendritic cell maturation. *J Leukoc Biol* (2005) 77:361–8. doi:10.1189/jlb.0804478
- 25. Spisek R, Charalambous A, Mazumder A, Vesole DH, Jagannath S, Dhodapkar MV. Bortezomib enhances dendritic cell (DC)-mediated induction of immunity to human myeloma via exposure of cell surface heat shock protein 90 on dying tumor cells: therapeutic implications. *Blood* (2007) 109:4839–45. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-10-054221
- 26. Cirone M, Di Renzo L, Lotti LV, Conte V, Trivedi P, Santarelli R, et al. Primary effusion lymphoma cell death induced by bortezomib and AG 490 activates dendritic cells through CD91. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e31732. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0031732
- Korbelik M, Sun J, Cecic I. Photodynamic therapy-induced cell surface expression and release of heat shock proteins: relevance for tumor response. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:1018–26.
- Korbelik M, Zhang W, Merchant S. Involvement of damage-associated molecular patterns in tumor response to photodynamic therapy: surface expression of calreticulin and high-mobility group box-1 release. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2011) 60:1431–7. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1047-x
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P. Hypericin-based photodynamic therapy induces surface exposure of damage-associated molecular patterns like HSP70 and calreticulin. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61:215–21. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1184-2
- Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Immunogenic cell death in radiation therapy. Oncoimmunology (2013) 2:e26536. doi:10.4161/onci.26536
- Vacchelli E, Vitale I, Tartour E, Eggermont A, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J, et al. Trial watch: anticancer radioimmunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e25595. doi:10.4161/onci.25595
- 32. Bloy N, Pol J, Manic G, Vitale I, Eggermont A, Galon J, et al. Trial watch: radioimmunotherapy for oncological indications. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e954929. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.954929
- Garg AD, Agostinis P. ER stress, autophagy and immunogenic cell death in photodynamic therapy-induced anti-cancer immune responses. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* (2014) 13:474–87. doi:10.1039/c3pp50333j
- Golden EB, Apetoh L. Radiotherapy and immunogenic cell death. Semin Radiat Oncol (2015) 25:11–7. doi:10.1016/j.semradonc.2014.07.005
- Donnelly OG, Errington-Mais F, Steele L, Hadac E, Jennings V, Scott K, et al. Measles virus causes immunogenic cell death in human melanoma. *Gene Ther* (2013) 20:7–15. doi:10.1038/gt.2011.205
- Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, et al. Trial watch: oncolytic viruses for cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e24612. doi:10.4161/onci.25238
- Workenhe ST, Mossman KL. Rewiring cancer cell death to enhance oncolytic viro-immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology (2013) 2:e27138. doi:10.4161/onci. 27138
- Workenhe ST, Pol JG, Lichty BD, Cummings DT, Mossman KL. Combining oncolytic HSV-1 with immunogenic cell death-inducing drug mitoxantrone breaks cancer immune tolerance and improves therapeutic efficacy. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2013) 1:309–19. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0059-T
- Pol J, Bloy N, Obrist F, Eggermont A, Galon J, Cremer I, et al. Trial watch: oncolytic viruses for cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e28694. doi:10.4161/onci.28185
- Hoffmann J, Vitale I, Buchmann B, Galluzzi L, Schwede W, Senovilla L, et al. Improved cellular pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics underlie the wide anticancer activity of sagopilone. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68:5301–8. doi:10. 1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0237
- Pellicciotta I, Yang CP, Goldberg GL, Shahabi S. Epothilone B enhances Class I HLA and HLA-A2 surface molecule expression in ovarian cancer cells. *Gynecol* Oncol (2011) 122:625–31. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2011.05.007

- Senovilla L, Vitale I, Martins I, Tailler M, Pailleret C, Michaud M, et al. An immunosurveillance mechanism controls cancer cell ploidy. *Science* (2012) 337:1678–84. doi:10.1126/science.1224922
- Fucikova J, Moserova I, Truxova I, Hermanova I, Vancurova I, Partlova S, et al. High hydrostatic pressure induces immunogenic cell death in human tumor cells. *Int J Cancer* (2014) 135:1165–77. doi:10.1002/ijc.28766
- Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Decoding cell death signals in inflammation and immunity. Cell (2010) 140:798–804. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.015
- Galluzzi L, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Kroemer G. Organelle-specific initiation of cell death. Nat Cell Biol (2014) 16:728–36. doi:10.1038/ncb3005
- 46. Garg AD, Nowis D, Golab J, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV, Agostinis P. Immunogenic cell death, DAMPs and anticancer therapeutics: an emerging amalgamation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2010) 1805:53–71. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan. 2009.08.003
- Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Mitochondria: master regulators of danger signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2012) 13:780–8. doi:10.1038/nrm3479
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Agostinis P. Cancer immunogenicity, danger signals, and DAMPs: what, when, and how? *Biofactors* (2013) 39:355–67. doi:10.1002/ biof.1125
- Krysko O, Love Aaes T, Bachert C, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV. Many faces of DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Cell Death Dis* (2013) 4:e631. doi:10.1038/cddis. 2013.156
- Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1betadependent adaptive immunity against tumors. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:1170–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2028
- Sistigu A, Yamazaki T, Vacchelli E, Chaba K, Enot DP, Adam J, et al. Cancer cell-autonomous contribution of type I interferon signaling to the efficacy of chemotherapy. *Nat Med* (2014) 20:1301–9. doi:10.1038/nm.3708
- Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, et al. Tolllike receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:1050–9. doi:10.1038/ nm1622
- Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Enlightening the impact of immunogenic cell death in photodynamic cancer therapy. *EMBO J* (2012) 31:1055–7. doi:10. 1038/emboj.2012.2
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Agostinis P. Autophagy-dependent suppression of cancer immunogenicity and effector mechanisms of innate and adaptive immunity. Oncoimmunology (2013) 2:e26260. doi:10.4161/onci.26260
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Ferreira GB, Verfaillie T, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV, et al. ROS-induced autophagy in cancer cells assists in evasion from determinants of immunogenic cell death. *Autophagy* (2013) 9:1292–307. doi:10.4161/ auto.25399
- 56. Kepp O, Menger L, Vacchelli E, Locher C, Adjemian S, Yamazaki T, et al. Crosstalk between ER stress and immunogenic cell death. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2013) 24:311–8. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2013.05.001
- Michaud M, Martins I, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Ma Y, Pellegatti P, et al. Autophagy-dependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutic agents in mice. *Science* (2011) 334:1573–7. doi:10.1126/science.1208347
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Verfaillie T, Kaczmarek A, Ferreira GB, Marysael T, et al. A novel pathway combining calreticulin exposure and ATP secretion in immunogenic cancer cell death. *EMBO J* (2012) 31:1062–79. doi:10.1038/ emboj.2011.497
- Elliott MR, Chekeni FB, Trampont PC, Lazarowski ER, Kadl A, Walk SF, et al. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. *Nature* (2009) 461:282–6. doi:10.1038/nature08296
- Ma Y, Adjemian S, Mattarollo SR, Yamazaki T, Aymeric L, Yang H, et al. Anticancer chemotherapy-induced intratumoral recruitment and differentiation of antigen-presenting cells. *Immunity* (2013) 38:729–41. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2013.03.003
- Scaffidi P, Misteli T, Bianchi ME. Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. *Nature* (2002) 418:191–5. doi:10.1038/ nature00858
- Ma Y, Adjemian S, Yang H, Catani JP, Hannani D, Martins I, et al. ATPdependent recruitment, survival and differentiation of dendritic cell precursors in the tumor bed after anticancer chemotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e24568. doi:10.4161/onci.24568
- 63. Michaud M, Xie X, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Zitvogel L, White E, Kroemer G. An autophagy-dependent anticancer immune response determines the efficacy of

melanoma chemotherapy. Oncoimmunology (2014) 3:e944047. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.944047

- Fridman WH, Galon J, Pages F, Tartour E, Sautes-Fridman C, Kroemer G. Prognostic and predictive impact of intra- and peritumoral immune infiltrates. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:5601–5. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1316
- Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:298–306. doi:10.1038/nrc3245
- 66. Senovilla L, Vacchelli E, Galon J, Adjemian S, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, et al. Trial watch: prognostic and predictive value of the immune infiltrate in cancer. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:1323–43. doi:10.4161/onci.22009
- Bindea G, Mlecnik B, Tosolini M, Kirilovsky A, Waldner M, Obenauf AC, et al. Spatiotemporal dynamics of intratumoral immune cells reveal the immune landscape in human cancer. *Immunity* (2013) **39**:782–95. doi:10. 1016/j.immuni.2013.10.003
- Anitei MG, Zeitoun G, Mlecnik B, Marliot F, Haicheur N, Todosi AM, et al. Prognostic and predictive values of the immunoscore in patients with rectal cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) **20**:1891–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-13-2830
- Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. *Nature* (2014) 515:568–71. doi:10.1038/nature13954
- Galluzzi L, Senovilla L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. The secret ally: immunostimulation by anticancer drugs. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2012) 11:215–33. doi:10. 1038/nrd3626
- Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Mechanism of action of conventional and targeted anticancer therapies: reinstating immunosurveillance. *Immunity* (2013) 39:74–88. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.06.014
- Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Galon J, Sautes-Fridman C, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, et al. Trial watch: monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e22789. doi:10.4161/onci.25238
- Aranda F, Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Galon J, Fridman WH, Zitvogel L, et al. Trial watch: immunostimulatory monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy. Oncoimmunology (2014) 3:e27297. doi:10.4161/onci.27297
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'day S, Weber J, Garbe C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2011) 364:2517–26. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1104621
- Eggermont AM, Robert C. Melanoma: smart therapeutic strategies in immuno-oncology. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2014) 11:181–2. doi:10.1038/ nrclinonc.2014.36
- 76. Robert C, Ribas A, Wolchok JD, Hodi FS, Hamid O, Kefford R, et al. Anti-programmed-death-receptor-1 treatment with pembrolizumab in ipilimumab-refractory advanced melanoma: a randomised dosecomparison cohort of a phase 1 trial. *Lancet* (2014) 384:1109–17. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60958-2
- Robert C, Long GV, Brady B, Dutriaux C, Maio M, Mortier L, et al. Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med (2015) 372:320–30. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1412082
- Galluzzi L, Kroemer G, Eggermont A. Novel immune checkpoint blocker approved for the treatment of advanced melanoma. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e967147. doi:10.1016/j.clindermatol.2012.08.006
- Vacchelli E, Prada N, Kepp O, Galluzzi L. Current trends of anticancer immunochemotherapy. Oncoimmunology (2013) 2:e25396. doi:10.4161/onci. 25396
- Galluzzi L, Vacchelli E, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Buque A, Senovilla L, Baracco EE, et al. Classification of current anticancer immunotherapies. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5:12472–508.
- Menger L, Vacchelli E, Adjemian S, Martins I, Ma Y, Shen S, et al. Cardiac glycosides exert anticancer effects by inducing immunogenic cell death. *Sci Transl Med* (2012) 4:143ra199. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3003807
- Kono K, Mimura K. Immunogenic tumor cell death induced by chemoradiotherapy in a clinical setting. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e22197. doi:10.4161/ onci.22197
- Menger L, Vacchelli E, Kepp O, Eggermont A, Tartour E, Zitvogel L, et al. Trial watch: cardiac glycosides and cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e23082. doi:10.4161/onci.23082
- Palombo F, Focaccetti C, Barnaba V. Therapeutic implications of immunogenic cell death in human cancer. *Front Immunol* (2014) 4:503. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2013.00503

- Galluzzi L, Senovilla L, Vitale I, Michels J, Martins I, Kepp O, et al. Molecular mechanisms of cisplatin resistance. *Oncogene* (2012) 31:1869–83. doi:10.1038/ onc.2011.384
- Golden EB, Frances D, Pellicciotta I, Demaria S, Helen Barcellos-Hoff M, Formenti SC. Radiation fosters dose-dependent and chemotherapy-induced immunogenic cell death. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e28518. doi:10.4161/onci. 28518
- Yamamura Y, Tsuchikawa T, Miyauchi K, Takeuchi S, Wada M, Kuwatani T, et al. The key role of calreticulin in immunomodulation induced by chemotherapeutic agents. *Int J Clin Oncol* (2015) 20:386–94. doi:10.1007/s10147-014-0719-x
- Bugaut H, Bruchard M, Berger H, Derangere V, Odoul L, Euvrard R, et al. Bleomycin exerts ambivalent antitumor immune effect by triggering both immunogenic cell death and proliferation of regulatory T cells. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e65181. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0065181
- Chang CL, Hsu YT, Wu CC, Yang YC, Wang C, Wu TC, et al. Immune mechanism of the antitumor effects generated by bortezomib. *J Immunol* (2012) 189:3209–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103826
- Aranda F, Bloy N, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G, Senovilla L. Vitamin B6 improves the immunogenicity of cisplatin-induced cell death. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e955685. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.955685
- Aranda F, Bloy N, Pesquet J, Petit B, Chaba K, Sauvat A, et al. Immunedependent antineoplastic effects of cisplatin plus pyridoxine in non-small-cell lung cancer. *Oncogene* (2014). doi:10.1038/onc.2014.234
- Cirone M, Garufi A, Di Renzo L, Granato M, Faggioni A, D'orazi G. Zinc supplementation is required for the cytotoxic and immunogenic effects of chemotherapy in chemoresistant p53-functionally deficient cells. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e26198. doi:10.4161/onci.26198
- Martins I, Tesniere A, Kepp O, Michaud M, Schlemmer F, Senovilla L, et al. Chemotherapy induces ATP release from tumor cells. *Cell Cycle* (2009) 8:3723–8. doi:10.4161/cc.8.22.10026
- Mihailidou C, Chatzistamou I, Papavassiliou A, Kiaris H. Improvement of chemotherapeutic drug efficacy by endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2015) 22(2):229–38. doi:10.1530/ERC-15-0019
- 95. Chen X, Yang Y, Zhou Q, Weiss JM, Howard OZ, McPherson JM, et al. Effective chemoimmunotherapy with anti-TGFbeta antibody and cyclophosphamide in a mouse model of breast cancer. *PLoS One* (2014) **9**:e85398. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085398
- 96. Hodge JW, Garnett CT, Farsaci B, Palena C, Tsang KY, Ferrone S, et al. Chemotherapy-induced immunogenic modulation of tumor cells enhances killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes and is distinct from immunogenic cell death. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 133:624–36. doi:10.1002/ijc.28070
- Wang W, Qin S, Zhao L. Docetaxel enhances CD3+ CD56+ cytokine-induced killer cells-mediated killing through inducing tumor cells phenotype modulation. *Biomed Pharmacother* (2015) 69:18–23. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2014.10. 026
- Ma Y, Aymeric L, Locher C, Mattarollo SR, Delahaye NF, Pereira P, et al. Contribution of IL-17-producing gamma delta T cells to the efficacy of anticancer chemotherapy. J Exp Med (2011) 208:491–503. doi:10.1084/jem. 20100269
- Zappasodi R, Pupa SM, Ghedini GC, Bongarzone I, Magni M, Cabras AD, et al. Improved clinical outcome in indolent B-cell lymphoma patients vaccinated with autologous tumor cells experiencing immunogenic death. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**:9062–72. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1825
- 100. Beneteau M, Zunino B, Jacquin MA, Meynet O, Chiche J, Pradelli LA, et al. Combination of glycolysis inhibition with chemotherapy results in an antitumor immune response. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) **109**:20071–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1206360109
- 101. Boyd-Tressler A, Penuela S, Laird DW, Dubyak GR. Chemotherapeutic drugs induce ATP release via caspase-gated pannexin-1 channels and a caspase/pannexin-1-independent mechanism. J Biol Chem (2014) 289:27246-63. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.590240
- 102. Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Giordanetto F, Tesniere A, Vitale I, Martins I, et al. Disruption of the PP1/GADD34 complex induces calreticulin exposure. *Cell Cycle* (2009) 8:3971–7. doi:10.4161/cc.8.23.10191
- 103. Zhao T, Ren H, Jia L, Chen J, Xin W, Yan F, et al. Inhibition of HIFlalpha by PX-478 enhances the anti-tumor effect of gemcitabine by inducing immunogenic cell death in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Oncotarget* (2015) **6**:2250–62.

- 104. Wemeau M, Kepp O, Tesniere A, Panaretakis T, Flament C, De Botton S, et al. Calreticulin exposure on malignant blasts predicts a cellular anticancer immune response in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Cell Death Dis* (2010) 1:e104. doi:10.1038/cddis.2010.82
- 105. Frey B, Stache C, Rubner Y, Werthmoller N, Schulz K, Sieber R, et al. Combined treatment of human colorectal tumor cell lines with chemotherapeutic agents and ionizing irradiation can in vitro induce tumor cell death forms with immunogenic potential. *J Immunotoxicol* (2012) **9**:301–13. doi:10.3109/ 1547691X.2012.693547
- 106. Dudek-Peric AM, Ferreira GB, Muchowicz A, Wouters J, Prada N, Martin S, et al. Antitumor immunity triggered by melphalan is potentiated by melanoma cell surface-associated calreticulin. *Cancer Res* (2015). doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-14-2089
- 107. Lu X, Ding ZC, Cao Y, Liu C, Habtetsion T, Yu M, et al. Alkylating agent melphalan augments the efficacy of adoptive immunotherapy using tumorspecific CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2015) **194**:2011–21. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1401894
- 108. Zhou P, Teruya-Feldstein J, Lu P, Fleisher M, Olshen A, Comenzo RL. Calreticulin expression in the clonal plasma cells of patients with systemic light-chain (AL-) amyloidosis is associated with response to high-dose melphalan. *Blood* (2008) **111**:549–57. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-11-125526
- 109. Panaretakis T, Joza N, Modjtahedi N, Tesniere A, Vitale I, Durchschlag M, et al. The co-translocation of ERp57 and calreticulin determines the immunogenicity of cell death. *Cell Death Differ* (2008) 15:1499–509. doi:10. 1038/cdd.2008.67
- 110. Gou HF, Huang J, Shi HS, Chen XC, Wang YS. Chemo-immunotherapy with oxaliplatin and interleukin-7 inhibits colon cancer metastasis in mice. *PLoS One* (2014) **9**:e85789. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085789
- 111. Liikanen I, Ahtiainen L, Hirvinen ML, Bramante S, Cerullo V, Nokisalmi P, et al. Oncolytic adenovirus with temozolomide induces autophagy and antitumor immune responses in cancer patients. *Mol Ther* (2013) **21**:1212–23. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.51
- 112. Rubner Y, Muth C, Strnad A, Derer A, Sieber R, Buslei R, et al. Fractionated radiotherapy is the main stimulus for the induction of cell death and of Hsp70 release of p53 mutated glioblastoma cell lines. *Radiat Oncol* (2014) 9:89. doi:10. 1186/1748-717X-9-89
- 113. Martin S, Dudek-Peric AM, Maes H, Garg AD, Gabrysiak M, Demirsoy S, et al. Concurrent MEK and autophagy inhibition is required to restore cell death associated danger-signalling in vemurafenib-resistant melanoma cells. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2015) **93**:290–304. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2014.12.003
- 114. Hetz C. The unfolded protein response: controlling cell fate decisions under ER stress and beyond. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2012) 13:89–102. doi:10.1038/ nrm3270
- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Senovilla L, Olaussen KA, Pinna G, Eisenberg T, et al. Prognostic impact of vitamin B6 metabolism in lung cancer. *Cell Rep* (2012) 2:257–69. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.06.017
- 116. Steiner P, Kulangara K, Sarria JC, Glauser L, Regazzi R, Hirling H. Reticulon 1-C/neuroendocrine-specific protein-C interacts with SNARE proteins. J Neurochem (2004) 89:569–80. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02345.x
- 117. Michaud M, Sukkurwala AQ, Di Sano F, Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Synthetic induction of immunogenic cell death by genetic stimulation of endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e28276. doi:10.4161/ onci.28276
- Dubois SG, Grier HE. Chemotherapy: the role of ifosfamide and etoposide in Ewing sarcoma. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2009) 6:251–3. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc. 2009.25
- Johnson FM, Glisson BS. Chemotherapy: irinotecan or etoposide as front-line therapy for SCLC? *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2009) 6:562–3. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc. 2009.141
- 120. Kepp O, Semeraro M, Pedro JM, Bloy N, Buque A, Huang X, et al. eIF2alpha phosphorylation as a biomarker of immunogenic cell death. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2015). doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.02.004
- 121. Ma Y, Galluzzi L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Autophagy and cellular immune responses. *Immunity* (2013) **39**:211–27. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.017
- 122. Green DR, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G. Mitochondria and the autophagyinflammation-cell death axis in organismal aging. *Science* (2011) **333**:1109–12. doi:10.1126/science.1201940
- 123. Galluzzi L, Pietrocola F, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Amaravadi RK, Baehrecke EH, Cecconi F, et al. Autophagy in malignant transformation

and cancer progression. EMBO J (2015) **34**(7):856–80. doi:10.15252/embj. 201490784

- 124. Martins I, Wang Y, Michaud M, Ma Y, Sukkurwala AQ, Shen S, et al. Molecular mechanisms of ATP secretion during immunogenic cell death. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21:79–91. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.75
- 125. Michaud M, Sukkurwala AQ, Martins I, Shen S, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Subversion of the chemotherapy-induced anticancer immune response by the ecto-ATPase CD39. Oncoimmunology (2012) 1:393–5. doi:10.4161/ onci.19070
- 126. Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Vander Heiden MG, Kroemer G. Metabolic targets for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2013) 12:829–46. doi:10.1038/ nrd4191
- 127. Koks CA, Garg AD, Ehrhardt M, Riva M, Vandenberk L, Boon L, et al. Newcastle disease virotherapy induces long-term survival and tumor-specific immune memory in orthotopic glioma through the induction of immunogenic cell death. *Int J Cancer* (2015) **136**:E313–25. doi:10.1002/ijc.29202
- Ivashkiv LB, Donlin LT. Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14:36–49. doi:10.1038/nri3581
- McNab F, Mayer-Barber K, Sher A, Wack A, O'garra A. Type I interferons in infectious disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15:87–103. doi:10.1038/nri3787
- Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, et al. Trial watch: toll-like receptor agonists for cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunol*ogy (2013) 2:e25238. doi:10.4161/onci.25238
- 131. Aranda F, Vacchelli E, Obrist F, Eggermont A, Galon J, Sautes-Fridman C, et al. Trial watch: toll-like receptor agonists in oncological indications. Oncoimmunology (2014) 3:e29179. doi:10.4161/onci.29179
- Lotze MT, Tracey KJ. High-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1): nuclear weapon in the immune arsenal. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2005) 5:331–42. doi:10. 1038/nri1594
- Lopez-Otin C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G. The hallmarks of aging. *Cell* (2013) 153:1194–217. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.039

- 134. Pang X, Zhang Y, Wei H, Zhang J, Luo Q, Huang C, et al. Expression and effects of high-mobility group box 1 in cervical cancer. Int J Mol Sci (2014) 15:8699–712. doi:10.3390/ijms15058699
- 135. Yamazaki T, Hannani D, Poirier-Colame V, Ladoire S, Locher C, Sistigu A, et al. Defective immunogenic cell death of HMGB1-deficient tumors: compensatory therapy with TLR4 agonists. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21:69–78. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.72
- 136. Srivastava AK, Dinc G, Sharma RK, Yolcu ES, Zhao H, Shirwan H. SA-4-1BBL and monophosphoryl lipid A constitute an efficacious combination adjuvant for cancer vaccines. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74:6441–51. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-14-1768-A
- 137. Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Martins I, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Michaud M, et al. Molecular determinants of immunogenic cell death elicited by anticancer chemotherapy. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* (2011) **30**:61–9. doi:10.1007/ s10555-011-9273-4

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. The Guest Associate Editor, Patrizia Agostinis, declares that despite having co-authored a few manuscripts with the authors Lorenzo Galluzzi, Oliver Kepp and Guido Kroemer in the past 2 years, there has been no conflict of interest during the review and handling of this manuscript.

Copyright © 2015 Bezu, Gomes-da-Silva, Dewitte, Breckpot, Fucikova, Spisek, Galluzzi, Kepp and Kroemer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Corrigendum: "Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death"

Lucillia Bezu^{1,2,3,4†}, Ligia C. Gomes-da-Silva^{1,2,3,5†}, Heleen Dewitte^{6,7}, Karine Breckpot⁷, Jitka Fucikova^{8,9}, Radek Spisek^{8,9}, Lorenzo Galluzzi^{1,2,10,11,12‡}, Oliver Kepp^{1,2,3‡*} and Guido Kroemer^{1,2,3,11,12,13‡*}

¹ Equipe 11 Labellisée par la Ligue Nationale Contre le Cancer, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, Paris, France, ² U1138, INSERM, Paris, France, ³ Metabolomics and Cell Biology Platforms, Gustave Roussy Campus Cancer, Villejuif, France, ⁴ Faculté de Medecine, Université Paris-Sud, Le Kremlin-Bicêtre, France, ⁵ Department of Chemistry, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal, ⁶ Laboratory for General Biochemistry and Physical Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, ⁷ Laboratory of Molecular and Cellular Therapy, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Jette, Belgium, ⁸ Sotio a.c., Prague, Czech Republic, ⁹ Department of Immunology, 2nd Faculty of Medicine, University Hospital Motol, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic, ¹⁰ Gustave Roussy Campus Cancer, Villejuif, France, ¹¹ Université Paris Descartes, Paris, France, ¹² Université Pierre et Marie Curie, Paris, France, ¹³ Pôle de Biologie, Hopitâl Européen George Pompidou, AP-HP, Paris, France

Keywords: ATP, autophagy, calreticulin, endoplasmic reticulum stress, HMGB1 protein, type I interferon

A corrigendum on

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Patrizia Agostinis, University of Leuven, Belgium

*Correspondence:

Oliver Kepp oliver.kepp@gustaveroussy.fr; Guido Kroemer kroemer@orange.fr [†]Lucillia Bezu and Ligia C. Gomes-da-Silva have contributed equally to this work. [‡]Share senior co-authorship.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 18 May 2015 **Accepted:** 18 May 2015 **Published:** 01 June 2015

Citation:

Bezu L, Gomes-da-Silva LC, Dewitte H, Breckpot K, Fucikova J, Spisek R, Galluzzi L, Kepp O and Kroemer G (2015) Corrigendum: "Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death". Front. Immunol. 6:275. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00275

Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death

by Bezu L, Gomes-da-Silva LC, Dewitte H, Breckpot K, Fucikova J, Spisek R, et al. Front Immunol (2015) 6:187. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00187

We realized that the family name of one of the authors was misspelled in the original version of the article. Indeed, the name of the co-first author is not Ligia C. Gomes-de-Silva, but Ligia C. Gomes-da-Silva. We apologize to this author and to the readers of *Frontiers in Immunology* for the inconvenience this may have caused.

The original article has been updated.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Bezu, Gomes-da-Silva, Dewitte, Breckpot, Fucikova, Spisek, Galluzzi, Kepp and Kroemer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Prognostic and predictive value of DAMPs and DAMP-associated processes in cancer

Jitka Fucikova^{1,2}, Irena Moserova^{1,2}, Linda Urbanova^{1,2}, Lucillia Bezu^{3,4,5,6,7}, Oliver Kepp^{3,4,5,6,7}, Isabelle Cremer^{5,6,8}, Cyril Salek⁹, Pavel Strnad¹⁰, Guido Kroemer^{3,4,5,6,7,11}, Lorenzo Galluzzi^{3,4,5,6,12*†} and Radek Spisek^{1,2*†}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabrizio Mattei, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Italy

Reviewed by:

Stephan Gasser, National University of Singapore, Singapore Zong Sheng Guo, Harvard University, USA

*Correspondence:

Lorenzo Galluzzi, Equipe 11 - "Apoptose, Cancer et Immunité" Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers de Jussieu15, rue de l'École de Médecine, Paris 75006, France deadoc@vodafone.it; Radek Spisek, Sotio, Jankovcova 1518/2, 170 00 Prague 7, Czech Republic spisek@sotio.com †Lorenzo Galluzzi and Radek Spisek

share senior co-authorship.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 23 June 2015 **Accepted:** 22 July 2015 **Published:** 07 August 2015

Citation:

Fucikova J, Moserova I, Urbanova L, Bezu L, Kepp O, Cremer I, Salek C, Stmad P, Kroemer G, Galluzzi L and Spisek R (2015) Prognostic and predictive value of DAMPs and DAMP-associated processes in cancer. Front. Immunol. 6:402. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00402 ¹ Sotio, Prague, Czech Republic, ²Department of Immunology, 2nd Faculty of Medicine, University Hospital Motol, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic, ³Equipe 11 labellisée par la Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, Paris, France, ⁴U1138, INSERM, Paris, France, ⁵Sorbonne Paris Cité, Université Paris Descartes, Paris, France, ⁶Université Pierre et Marie Curie, Paris, France, ⁷Metabolomics and Cell Biology Platforms, Gustave Roussy Comprehensive Cancer Institute, Villejuif, France, ⁸Equipe 13, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, Paris, France, ⁹Institute of Hematology and Blood Transfusion, Prague, Czech Republic, ¹⁰Department of Gynecology and Obsterics, 2nd Faculty of Medicine, University Hospital Motol, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic, ¹¹Pôle de Biologie, Hopitâl Européen George Pompidou, AP-HP, Paris, France, ¹²Gustave Roussy Comprehensive Cancer Institute, Villejuif, France

It is now clear that human neoplasms form, progress, and respond to therapy in the context of an intimate crosstalk with the host immune system. In particular, accumulating evidence demonstrates that the efficacy of most, if not all, chemo- and radiotherapeutic agents commonly employed in the clinic critically depends on the (re)activation of tumor-targeting immune responses. One of the mechanisms whereby conventional chemotherapeutics, targeted anticancer agents, and radiotherapy can provoke a therapeutically relevant, adaptive immune response against malignant cells is commonly known as "immunogenic cell death." Importantly, dying cancer cells are perceived as immunogenic only when they emit a set of immunostimulatory signals upon the activation of intracellular stress response pathways. The emission of these signals, which are generally referred to as "damage-associated molecular patterns" (DAMPs), may therefore predict whether patients will respond to chemotherapy or not, at least in some settings. Here, we review clinical data indicating that DAMPs and DAMPassociated stress responses might have prognostic or predictive value for cancer patients.

Keywords: ATP, autophagy, calreticulin, ER stress response, HSPs, type I interferon

Abbreviations: AGER, advanced glycosylation end product-specific receptor; AML, acute myeloid leukemia; APC, antigenpresenting cell; ATF6, activating transcription factor 6; BECN1, beclin 1; C1q, complement component 1, q subcomponent; CALR, calreticulin; CLEC9A, C-type lectin domain family 9, member A; CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia; CRC, colorectal carcinoma; CXCL10, chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 10; CXCR4, chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor 4; DAMP, damage-associated molecular pattern; EIF2A, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2A; EIF2AK2, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2-alpha kinase 2; ENTPD1, ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase 1; FPR1, formyl peptide receptor 1; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma; HMGB1, high mobility group box 1; HSP, heat-shock protein; HSP90AA1, heat shock protein 90 kDa alpha (cytosolic), class A member 1; HSPA1A, heat shock 70 kDa protein 1A; HSPA5, heat shock 70 kDa protein 5; HSP90B1, heat shock protein 90 kDa beta (Grp94), member 1; ICD, immunogenic cell death; IFN, interferon; IFNA8, interferon, alpha 8; IFNAR1, interferon (alpha, beta and omega) receptor 1; IL-6, interleukin-6; KLRD1, killer cell lectin-like receptor subfamily D; LMAN1, lectin, mannosebinding, 1; MAP1LC3, microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3; MX1, MX dynamin-like GTPase 1; MYD88, myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88; NSCLC, non-small cell lung carcinoma; NK, natural killer; NT5E, ecto 5'-nucleotidase; P2RY2, purinergic receptor P2Y, G-protein coupled, 2; PLSCR1, phospholipid scramblase 1; PS, phosphatidylserine; TAA, tumor-associated antigen; THBS1, thrombospondin 1; TICAM1, Toll-like receptor adaptor molecule 1; TLR, Toll-like receptor; TM173, transmembrane protein 173; TNFø, tumor necrosis factor α; UPR, unfolded protein response; XBP1, X-box binding protein 1.

Introduction

For a long time, tumors were considered as highly homogenous entities resulting from the clonal expansion of a single cell with specific genetic or epigenetic defects (1). Now, it is clear that both hematopoietic and solid neoplasms are highly heterogenous, not only because malignant cells with distinct phenotypic and behavioral features generally co-exist, but also because multiple non-transformed cells are co-opted by growing cancers to support their needs. This is especially true for solid tumors, which contain an abundant non-malignant cellular compartment encompassing stromal, endothelial, and immune components (2, 3). The immune compartment of the tumor mass is per se very heterogenous, varying not only with tumor type, stage, and therapeutic regimen, but also on an inter-individual basis (4). Evidence accumulating over the last decade indicates indeed that human tumors form, progress, and respond to therapy in the context of an intimate, bidirectional interaction with the immune system (5, 6). Thus, clinically manifest neoplasms can develop only when they are able to escape immunosurveillance (7, 8), and they do so by evolving under the selective pressure imposed by the immune system (6, 9). Moreover, the composition, density, and intratumoral localization of the immune infiltrate have been ascribed with a robust prognostic or predictive value in several cohorts of cancer patients (10-12). Finally, the efficacy of most, if not all, therapeutic regimens commonly employed in cancer patients has been etiologically linked to the (re)elicitation of an adaptive immune response targeting malignant cells (13, 14).

Conventional chemotherapeutics and targeted anticancer agents can favor the (re)elicitation of anticancer immune responses through several mechanisms (13-15). A precise description of all these immunostimulatory pathways goes largely beyond the scope of this review, and can be found in Ref. (13, 14). However, it is useful to note that anticancer therapy can boost immunosurveillance by either of two mechanisms. First, it can directly modulate the functions of immune cells, including dendritic cells (DCs), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs), and CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ regulatory T (T_{REG}) cells (14). Second, it can promote the immunogenicity or adjuvanticity of cancer cells as it subjects them to a state of stress (which sometimes leads to their death) (14, 16). In particular, some chemotherapeutic agents like anthracyclines, oxaliplatin, and bortezomib, as well as specific forms of radiation therapy and photodynamic therapy, are able to trigger a functionally peculiar variant of caspase-dependent cell death that per se is perceived as immunogenic by the immune system (17-21). This means that, upon inoculation in immunocompetent hosts, cells succumbing to such an immunogenic form of cell death are sufficient to elicit an adaptive immune response against dead cell-associated antigens associated with the establishment of immunological memory (22, 23).

Mechanistically, immunogenic cell death (ICD) relies on the pre-mortem activation of several stress response pathways that are associated with the emission of a well-defined set of danger signals by dying cancer cells (24–26). When delivered in the correct spatiotemporal order, such damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) recruit specific cellular components of the innate and adaptive immune system to the tumor bed and activate them, ultimately resulting in the elicitation of a tumor-targeting immune response (22, 26). Conversely, in physiological conditions DAMPs are generally inaccessible to the immune system, and serve metabolic, structural, or enzymatic functions (26–28). Of note, DAMPs are not only involved in ICD-associated anticancer immunosurveillance, but also play a key role in the etiology of shock conditions triggered by trauma and other non-microbial stimuli (29, 30).

So far, four DAMPs have been ascribed a non-redundant, essential function in the context of anthracycline-induced ICD, namely (1) the pre-apoptotic exposure of the endoplasmic reticulum chaperone calreticulin (CALR) and various heat-shock proteins (HSPs) on the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane, which ensues the activation of an ER stress response orchestrated around the phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2A, 65 kDa (EIF2A) and the overgeneration of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (31-36); (2) the production of type I interferons (IFNs), which depends on Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) signaling (37-40); (3) the secretion of ATP, which relies on the activation of autophagy (41, 42); and (4) the release of the non-histone chromatin-binding protein high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) into the extracellular space, which correlates with cell death induction (43, 44). The role of other DAMPs such as mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), N-formylated peptides, cardiolipin, and filamentous (F)-actin in ICD signaling has not yet been investigated in detail (30, 45).

Accumulating preclinical evidence indicates that monitoring DAMPs or DAMP-associated stress responses in cancer patients may have prognostic or predictive value. Here, we review clinical data lending further support to this hypothesis.

Calreticulin, HSPs, and the ER Stress Response

Cancer cells undergoing ICD exhibit several manifestations of the so-called unfolded protein response (UPR) (34, 46), i.e., the ensemble of mechanisms aimed at the re-establishment of intracellular homeostasis following the accumulation of unfolded proteins within the ER lumen (47). In particular, ICD is etiologically associated with the phosphorylation of EIF2A on S51 (48), and this appears to be required for the exposure of CALR and HSPs on the surface of dying cells (34). On the cell surface, CALR, heat shock 70 kDa protein 1A (HSPA1A, best known as HSP70) and heat shock protein 90 kDa alpha (cytosolic), class A member 1 (HSP90AA1, best known as HSP90) play partially overlapping (but not identical) immunostimulatory functions. Indeed, CALR, HSP70 and HSP90 all bind to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1, best known as CD91) on antigen-presenting cells (APCs), hence stimulating the uptake of dead cell-associated antigens in the form of apoptotic bodies (32, 33). HSP70 and HSP90 favor CTL cross-priming by APCs upon interaction with Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) and CD14 (33, 49-51). In some settings, soluble HSPs and CALR operate as cytokines, stimulating the NF-kB-dependent secretion of pro-inflammatory mediators like interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) (52, 53). HSP70 boosts the cytotoxic functions of natural killer (NK) cells by binding to killer cell lectin-like receptor subfamily D, member 1 (KLRD1, best known as CD94) (54, 55). Moreover, ecto-HSP70 binds to phosphatidylserine (PS), a phospholipid that is exposed in the course of regulated cell death owing to the caspase-dependent activation of phospholipid scramblase 1 (PLSCR1) (56). The actual relevance of this interaction for ICD, however, has not been determined yet. Along similar lines, it remains obscure whether additional CALR receptors such as CD69; thrombospondin 1 (THBS1); complement component 1, q subcomponent (C1q); lectin, mannose-binding, 1 (LMAN1); and various integrins of the CD49 family are etiologically implicated in the perception

of ICD (57). Of note, ecto-CALR has been suggested to act as a DC receptor for the tumor-associated antigen (TAA) NY-ESO-1, hence facilitating the interaction between DCs and malignant cells (58). To the best of our knowledge, however, this finding has not been confirmed by independent investigators.

Accumulating clinical evidence indicates that various parameters linked to ICD-associated CALR and HSP signaling may have prognostic or predictive value for cancer patients (**Table 1**). In addition, the results of multiple clinical trials suggest that HSPs can be harnessed as a means to boost the efficacy of anticancer vaccines. High CALR levels in malignant cells have been shown to correlate with favorable disease outcome in a cohort of 68 neuroblastoma patients (irrespective of treatment) (59), and in a

Parameter	Cancer	Treatment	No	Note(s)	Reference
CALR	AML	Anthracyclines-based chemotherapy	20	CALR exposure on blasts correlated with improved RFS	(63)
	Bladder carcinoma	Surgery	195	High CALR levels correlated with poor disease outcome	(67)
	Breast carcinoma	Surgery	23	High CALR levels correlated with poor MFS	(68)
	CRC	Surgical resection and chemotherapy	68	High CALR levels correlated with improved 5-y survival rate	(61)
	Gastric carcinoma	Gastrectomy and lymphadenectomy	79	High CALR levels correlated with poor disease outcome	(69)
	Lung carcinoma	n.a.	58	High CALR levels correlated with malignancy and tumor grade	(64)
		Radiotherapy	23	High CALR levels correlated with prolonged OS	(60)
	Mantle cell lymphoma	Surgery	163	High CALR levels correlated with poor disease outcome	(67)
	Neuroblastoma	Surgery alone or	729	High CALR levels correlated with poor disease outcome	(67)
		combined with chemotherapy	68	High CALR levels correlated with favorable disease outcome	(59)
	Non–Hodgkin's Iymphoma	Autologous cancer cell-based vaccine	18	CALR exposure was associated to clinical responses	(62)
	Ovarian carcinoma	Paclitaxel-based chemotherapy	220	High CALR levels correlated with prolonged DFS and OS	(60)
CD47	AML	n.a.	137	High CD47 levels correlated with shortened OS	(70)
	Esophageal carcinoma	Surgery	102	High CD47 levels correlated with shortened OS	(71)
	Ovarian carcinoma	Surgery	86	Low CD47 levels correlated with improved disease outcome	(72)
CD91	Melanoma	n.a.	16	High CD91 levels were associated with slow progression	(73)
ER stress	AML	Anthracycline-based chemotherapy	105	XBP1 splicing correlated with prolonged DFS and OS	(74)
	Breast carcinoma	Anthracycline-based chemotherapy	60	Cancer cells from non-responders had high phosphorylation of EIF2A	(75)
		Surgical resection and/or hormonotherapy	100	XBP1 splicing correlated with poor disease outcome	(76)
	DLBCL	Bortezomib	119	High HSPA5 levels correlated with worsened OS	(77)
	HNC	Surgery	79	High HSPA5 levels correlated with improved OS	(78)
	Lung cancer	Surgery	132	High HSPA5 levels correlated with improved disease outcome	(79)
	NSCLC	Surgery	193	PKR activation and EIF2A phosphorylation correlated with improved OS	(80)
HSP90	CRC	n.a.	182	Increased serum levels were associated with oncogenesis	(65)
	Non–Hodgkin's Iymphoma	Autologous cancer cell-based vaccine	18	CALR exposure was associated to clinical responses	(62)
HSPA1A	Gastric carcinoma	n.a.	39 patients 186 controls	SNPs in HSPA1A affected disease incidence	(81)
LMAN1	Ovarian carcinoma	n.a.	289 patients 126 controls	SNPs in LMAN1 affected disease incidence	(82)
THBS1	Gastric carcinoma	n.a.	275 patients 275 controls	SNPs in THBS1 affected disease incidence	(83)

TABLE 1 | Clinical studies assessing the prognostic and predictive value of ICD-associated CALR and HSP signaling in cancer patients.

AML, acute myeloid leukemia; CRC, colorectal carcinoma; DFS, disease-free survival; DLBCL, diffuse large B-cell lymphoma; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; HNC, head and neck cancer; ICD, immunogenic cell death; MFS, metastasis-free survival; NSCLC, non-small cell lung carcinoma; n.a., not applicable or not available; OS; overall survival; RFS, relapse-free survival; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism.

cohort of 23 lung cancer patients and 220 ovarian cancer patients treated with ICD inducers (i.e., radiotherapy and paclitaxel, respectively) (60). Moreover, increased CALR expression by cancer cells has been associated with tumor infiltration by CD45RO+ memory T cells and improved 5-year overall survival amongst 68 subjects with Stage IIIB colorectal carcinoma (CRC) (61). Elevated levels of HSP90 and CALR on the surface of neoplastic cells have been associated with clinical responses amongst 18 patients with relapsed indolent non-Hodgkin's lymphoma treated with an autologous cancer cell-based vaccine (62). Moreover, CALR exposure by malignant blasts has been linked to prolonged relapse-free (but not overall) survival in a cohort of 20 individuals with acute myeloid leukemia (AML) (63). Of note, the blasts of some of these patients exposed CALR spontaneously, and this correlated not only with the degree of EIF2A phosphorylation in malignant cells, but also with the ability of autologous T cells to secrete IFNy on stimulation (63). Along similar lines, healthy individuals have been shown to differ from lung carcinoma patients with respect to the circulating levels of soluble CALR, as well as to the amount of CALR expressed on the surface of pulmonary (normal versus malignant) cells (64). Moreover, increased concentrations of soluble HSP90 have been detected in the serum of CRC patients (n = 172) as compared to healthy individuals (n = 10) (65). Interestingly, soluble HSP90 appears to activate cancer cell-intrinsic signaling pathways that promote disease progression (65, 66). These data indicate that cancer cells expose and/or shed CALR as well as HSPs even in the absence of chemotherapy (at least to some degree), possibly as a result of oncogenic stress and/or adverse microenvironmental conditions. Moreover, they suggest that membrane-bound CALR and HSPs have a different biological activity than their soluble counterparts.

Apparently at odds with the abovementioned clinical findings, total CALR levels have been positively associated with accelerated disease progression and poor outcome in a cohort of 79 gastric cancer patients (69), in 23 women with breast carcinoma upon surgery (68), as well in large cohorts of neuroblastoma (n = 729), bladder carcinoma (n = 195) and mantle cell lymphoma (n = 163) patients, irrespective of treatment type (67). Moreover, CALR expression by malignant cells failed to affect overall survival in 88 patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma treated with neo-adjuvant chemoradiotherapy and surgical resection (84). These results may reflect the intracellular functions of CALR in the preservation of reticular homeostasis, which is particularly important for malignant cells owing to their highly accelerated anabolic metabolism (85), or the fact that CALR exposure is generally associated with an increased expression of CD47, a very potent anti-phagocytic signal (67).

The phosphorylation of EIF2A as well as the activation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2-alpha kinase 2 (EIF2AK2, best known as PKR) have been associated with favorable disease outcome in a cohort of 193 non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) patients (80). On the contrary, elevated degrees of EIF2A phosphorylation in neoplastic cells have been correlated with nuclear size (a surrogate marker of DNA content), preferential tumor infiltration by T_{REG} cells, and poor disease outcome in a cohort of 60 breast carcinoma patients treated with anthracycline-based chemotherapy and tested longitudinally (75).

Other manifestations on an ongoing UPR have been ascribed with prognostic or predictive value, including (but not limited to): (1) the expression levels of the ER chaperone heat shock 70 kDa protein 5 (HSPA5, best known as GRP78), as demonstrated in cohorts of 132 lung carcinoma patients (79), 79 individuals with head and neck cancer (78) and 119 patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated with the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib (which is a bona fide ICD inducer) (77); and (2) the splicing of X-box binding protein 1 (XBP1) (48), as demonstrated in a cohort of 105 AML patients tested at diagnosis (74). Of note, both CALR and GRP78 expression levels are also indirect manifestations of the activation of another branch of the ER stress response, *i.e.*, the derepression of activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6) (74, 86). Finally, some studies have associated markers of an ongoing UPR with dismal disease outcome. For instance, Davies and colleagues have linked low levels of unspliced XBP1 as well as a high spliced/ unspliced XBP1 ratio with poor disease outcome in 100 primary breast carcinoma patients treated with adjuvant hormonal therapy (76). The apparent discrepancy in these observations may reflect the differential reliance of distinct tumor types (or similar tumors at distinct stages of progression) on the ER stress response for survival in adverse microenvironment conditions (87).

Other processes and parameters linked to CALR and/or HSP exposure and their immunostimulatory effects have been shown to influence disease outcome in cancer patients. For instance, high CD47 levels have been reported to constitute an independent negative prognostic factor in cohorts of 86 patients with ovarian clear cell carcinoma (72), 102 individuals with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (71), and 137 subjects with karyotypically normal AML (70). Along similar lines, the monocytes of 8 advanced melanoma patients progressing in an unusually slow fashion have been found to express increased amounts of CD91 as compared to those of 8 patients progressing normally (73). Moreover, single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) affecting HSPA1A have been linked to an increased incidence of gastric carcinoma (as determined in a cohort of 39 patients and 186 controls) (81), a SNP affecting THBS1 has been correlated with gastric cancer occurrence and progression in a cohort of 275 patients and 275 healthy individuals (83), while a SNP in *LMAN1* as well as the consequent decrease in LMAN1 levels appear to be associated with an increased risk for ovarian carcinoma (as determined in a cohort of 289 women seen in gynecologic oncology practice and 126 healthy volunteers) (82).

The robust immunostimulatory activity of HSPs has been harnessed to develop various anticancer vaccines that are nowadays in clinical development. These preparations generally consist in HSP-enriched (autologous or heterologous) cancer cell lysates that are administered directly to patients, in the presence of adequate immunological adjuvants (88, 89). The most common of these approaches relies on heat shock protein 90 kDa beta (Grp94), member 1 (HSP90B1, best known as GP96) and is often referred to as HSPPC-96 (Oncophage® or Vitespen®) (90). So far, the safety and clinical profile of HSPPC-96 have been tested in cohorts of patients with metastatic melanoma (n = 36-322) (91–94), CRC (n = 29) (95), non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (n = 20) (96); pancreatic adenocarcinoma (n = 10) (97), metastatic renal cell carcinoma (n = 84-409) (98, 99), glioma (n = 12) (100), recurrent

glioblastoma (n = 41) (101), and assorted advanced malignancies (n = 16) (102). These studies demonstrate that the administration of HSPPC-96 to cancer patients is safe and is generally associated with markers of immunostimulation. However, most often such effects are weak and unable to mediate long-term therapeutic activity (99). Thus, further studies are required for translating the well-established ability of HSPs to stimulate the priming of TAA-specific immune responses into a therapeutic reality.

Taken together, these clinical observations suggest that CALR, HSPs and various processes associated with their exposure, secretion and signaling functions may have prognostic, predictive and therapeutic value.

Type I IFN and TLR3 Signaling

Cancer cells responding to anthracyclines secrete type I IFNs as a consequence of TLR3 activation (39), and this is required for cell death to initiate adaptive immunity (39). By binding to homodimeric or heterodimeric receptors expressed on several immune effector cells, type I IFNs mediate multipronged immunostimulatory effects (40). In particular, type I IFNs promote cross-priming (103), boost the cytotoxic functions of CTLs and NK cells (104), and increase the survival of memory CTLs (105). Moreover, type I IFNs can protect antigen-activated CD8⁺ CTLs from elimination by NK cells (106, 107), trigger the secretion of pro-inflammatory mediators by macrophages (108),

and counteract the immunosuppressive functions of T_{REG} cells (109). Besides such immunostimulatory effects, type I IFNs can ignite a cancer cell-intrinsic signal transduction pathway leading, amongst various effects, to the synthesis of the chemotactic factor chemokine (C–X–C motif) ligand 10 (CXCL10) (39). Indeed, at odds with their wild-type counterparts, *Ifnar1^{-/-}* cancer cells succumbing to anthracyclines are unable to prime adaptive immune responses, even upon inoculation in wild-type hosts (39). Thus, type I IFN signaling in cancer cells appears to be critical for anthracycline-induced cell death to be perceived as immunogenic (39). Conversely, the efficacy of other immunotherapeutic agents such as the TLR7 agonist imiquimod requires type I IFN signaling in the host (110).

So far, only a few studies addressed the prognostic or predictive value of parameters reflecting the proficiency or activation status of TLR3 or type I IFN signaling (**Table 2**). High expression levels of TLR3 and/or toll-like receptor adaptor molecule 1 (TICAM1, a component of the TLR3 signaling apparatus best known as TRIF) have been associated with improved disease outcome in two cohorts of 85 and 172 subjects with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (111, 112), as well as amongst 99 patients with neuroblastoma (113). Along similar lines, TLR3 expression levels have been shown to predict the response of 194 breast carcinoma patients treated with adjuvant radiotherapy plus a TLR3 agonist (114). SNPs affecting *TLR3* have been shown to influence prognosis in cohorts of 582 patients with CRC, especially among untreated individuals

TABLE 2 | Clinical studies assessing the prognostic and predictive value of TLR3 status and type I IFN signaling in cancer patients.

Parameter	Cancer	Treatment	No	Note(s)	Reference
FNAR1	CRC	n.a.	1327 patients 758 controls	A SNP in IFNAR1 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(122)
	Glioma	n.a.	304	A SNP in IFNAR1 was shown to affect patient OS	(123)
TLR3	Breast carcinoma	n.a.	102 patients 72 controls	A SNP in TLR3 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(118)
		polyA:U plus radiotherapy	194	High TLR3 levels predicted clinical responses to therapy	(114)
	Cervical carcinoma	n.a.	130 patients 200 controls	A SNP in TLR3 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(117)
	CRC	n.a.	582	SNPs in TLR3 were shown to influence disease outcome	(115)
			2309 patients 2915 controls	SNPs in TLR3 were linked to increased disease incidence	(121)
	HCC	n.a.	466 patients 482 controls	A SNP in TLR3 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(120)
			172	High TLR3 levels correlated with prolonged OS	(111)
		Surgery	85	High TLR3 levels correlated with prolonged OS	(112)
	Neuroblastoma	n.a.	99	High TLR3 levels correlated with favorable disease outcome	(113)
	NSCLC	Surgery	568	SNPs in TLR3 were shown to influence disease outcome	(116)
	Oral squamous cell carcinoma	n.a.	93 patients 104 controls	SNPs in TLR3 were linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(119)
			240 patients 223 controls	A SNP in TLR4 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(124)
FRIF	HCC	Surgery	85	High TRIF levels correlated with prolonged OS	(112)
Type I IFN	Breast carcinoma	Anthracycline-based chemotherapy	50	A type I IFN-related signature predicted improved disease outcome	(39)
	CRC	n.a.	483	A SNP in IFNA7 was shown to affect patient OS	(122)
	Glioma	n.a.	304	A SNP in IFNA8 was shown to affect patient OS	(123)

CRC, colorectal carcinoma; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma; NSCLC, non-small cell lung carcinoma; n.a., not applicable or not available; OS; overall survival; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism.

with Stage II disease (115) and 568 NSCLC patients (116). Along similar lines, TLR3 SNPs have been associated with an altered risk for cervical cancer amongst 330 Tunisian women (117), breast carcinoma amongst 174 African-American women (118), oral squamous cell carcinoma amongst 197 individuals (119) HCC amongst 948 subjects (120), and CRC amongst more than 5,000 individuals (121). A type I IFN-related transcription signature centered around the expression of MX dynamin-like GTPase 1 (MX1) has been shown to predict the likelihood of 50 breast carcinoma patients to respond to neo-adjuvant anthracycline-based chemotherapy (39). Moreover, SNPs affecting interferon (alpha, beta and omega) receptor 1 (IFNAR1) have been associated with an increased risk for the development of CRC amongst 2085 individuals (122), as well as with significantly reduced overall survival in a cohort of 304 glioma patients (123). Similar results have been obtained for SNPs affecting the genes coding for two variants of IFNα (*i.e.*, IFNA7 and IFNA8) (122, 123).

The results of these studies suggest that monitoring biomarkers of TLR3 and type I IFN signaling may not only have prognostic/ predictive relevance for cancer patients, but also inform on the risk for cancer development in healthy subjects. Of note, recombinant IFN-α2a (Roferon-A®) is approved by the US Food and Drug Administration and other regulatory agencies worldwide for use in subjects with hairy cell leukemia and Philadelphia chromosome-positive chronic myelogenous leukemia upon minimal pretreatment, while recombinant IFN-α2b (Intron A[®]) is currently employed for the treatment of hairy cell leukemia, AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma, follicular lymphoma, multiple myeloma, melanoma, condyloma acuminata and cervical intraepithelial neoplasms.(125, 126) It remains to be determined to which extent, if any, the therapeutic efficacy of type I IFNs reflects their ability to promote the initiation of adaptive immune responses against dying cancer cells.

Extracellular ATP and Autophagy

ATP is secreted during ICD through a mechanism that involves pannexin 1 (PANX1) channels and lysosomal exocytosis (127, 128). Importantly, autophagy is required for cancer cells succumbing to anthracyclines to release ATP in immunostimulatory amounts (42, 129, 130). Thus, the ability of anthracyclines to cause bona fide ICD is lost when cancer cells are rendered autophagydeficient by genetic manipulations or engineered to overexpress ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase 1 (ENTPD1, best known as CD39), an enzyme that degrades extracellular ATP (42, 129). In line with this notion, the administration of CD39 inhibitors or CD39-neutralizing monoclonal antibodies reportedly relieves tumor-mediated immunosuppression (131), and (at least in some models) allows autophagy-deficient cells treated with anthracyclines to elicit normal immune responses upon inoculation in immunocompetent mice (42, 129). Extracellular ATP exerts immunostimulatory functions via at least three mechanistically distinct pathways: (1) by promoting the recruitment of APCs or APC precursors to sites of cell death, upon binding to purinergic receptor P2Y, G-protein coupled, 2 (P2RY2) (132–134); (2) by activating the so-called NLRP3 inflammasome and hence triggering the secretion of pro-inflammatory IL-1ß (135, 136), an effect that relies on purinergic receptor P2X, ligand gated ion channel, 7 (41); and (3) by boosting the proliferation and cytotoxic activity of NK cells (26). Notably, extracellular ATP is sequentially metabolized by CD39 and 5'-nucleotidase, ecto (NT5E, best known as CD73) into ADP, AMP and adenosine, the latter of which has robust immunosuppressive effects (137).

Accumulating clinical evidence ascribes to parameters linked to the capacity of cancer cells to recruit and activate immune effectors (through extracellular ATP) a prognostic or predictive value for cancer patients (Table 3). A SNP compromising the function of P2RX7 has been associated with decreased time-tometastasis in a cohort of 225 breast carcinoma patients treated with adjuvant anthracycline-based chemotherapy (41), with worsened clinicopathological parameters amongst 121 subjects with papillary thyroid cancer (138), and with an increased risk for the development of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), as determined in a cohort of 40 patients and 46 age-matched healthy individuals (139). Contrasting with these latter findings, however, the same SNP has been associated with increased overall survival in a cohort of 170 subjects with CLL (140), or found to have no correlation with disease incidence and/or outcome in independent cohorts of 144 CLL patients and 348 healthy controls (141), 121 individuals with CLL (142) 111 CLL patients and 97 controls (143), and 136 subjects with multiple myeloma (144). These apparently discrepant observations may reflect the cancer cell-intrinsic functions of P2RX7, which is known to control proliferation and regulated cell death (145). Of note, increased P2RY2 mRNA levels have also been detected in gastric cancer biopsies from 14 patients (as compared to the adjacent healthy mucosa) (146), but these findings do not allow to determine whether gastric neoplasms were infiltrated by P2RY2+ immune cells or whether they overexpressed P2RY2.

Further corroborating the advantage conferred to malignant cells by an increased ability to convert immunostimulatory extracellular ATP into immunosuppressive AMP and adenosine, several studies ascribed a negative prognostic or predictive value to increased CD39 or CD73 levels. For instance, elevated amounts of CD39 and CD73 have been detected in 29 endometrial tumor samples as compared to the adjacent non-malignant tissues, and expression levels correlated with tumor grade (152). Along similar lines, CD39 (but not CD73) levels on the surface of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells have been shown to positively correlate with disease stage in two independent cohorts of 34 and 62 patients with CLL (150, 151), while CD73 downregulation has been associated with prolonged disease-free survival amongst 500 individuals with glioblastoma (154). At stark contrast with these findings, high levels of CD39 mRNA have been linked to improved disease outcome in a cohort of 28 pancreatic cancer patients treated with surgery (153). The reasons underlying this discrepancy have not yet been clarified.

Of note, quantifying functional autophagy in tissue biopsies is rather complex, because most autophagic markers accumulate both when the autophagic flux is increased and when lysosomal degradation is blocked (155). Moreover, autophagy often serves a dual role in the course of tumor progression: (1) on the one hand it favors the survival of cancer cells exposed to adverse microenvironmental conditions (including nutritional, metabolic and therapeutic cues); (2) on the other hand, it is required for

Parameter	Cancer	Treatment	No	Note(s)	Reference
Autophagy	Breast carcinoma	n.a.	1067 patients 1992 patients	Low BECN1 levels correlated with worsened disease outcome	(147)
	HCC	Surgery	190	High LC3 levels correlated with prolonged OS	(148)
	HNC	Surgery	79	High LC3 levels correlated with node involvement and TNM score	(78)
	Pancreatic carcinoma	Surgery	73	High levels of BECN1 and other autophagy-related proteins correlated with poor outcome	(149)
CD39	CLL	n.a.	34 patients 31 controls	High CD39 levels on T cells correlated with late disease	(150)
			62	High CD39 levels on T cells correlated with late disease	(151)
	Endometrial cancer	Surgery	29	High CD39 levels correlated with tumor grade	(152)
	Pancreatic carcinoma	Surgery	28	High CD39 levels were linked to improved disease outcome	(153)
CD73	Endometrial cancer	Surgery	29	High CD73 levels correlated with tumor grade	(152)
	Glioblastoma	n.a.	500	CD73 downregulation was associated with improved DFS	(154)
P2RX7	Breast carcinoma	Anthracycline-based chemotherapy	225	A SNP in P2RX7 was linked to shortened MFS	(41)
	CLL	n.a.	40 patients 46 controls	A SNP in P2RX7 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(139)
			144 patients 348 controls	Lack of correlation between P2RX7 status and disease incidence	(141)
			111 patients 97 controls	Lack of correlation between P2RX7 status and disease incidence	(143)
			170	A SNP in P2RX7 was associated to increased OS	(140)
			121	Lack of correlation between P2RX7 status and pathological features	(142)
	Multiple myeloma	n.a.	136 patients 95 controls	Lack of correlation between P2RX7 status and disease incidence	(144)
	Papillary thyroid cancer	n.a.	121	A SNP in P2RX7 was linked to poor clinicopathological features	(138)
P2RY2	Gastric cancer	n.a.	14 patients	Increased expression of P2RY2 in malignant cells	(146)

CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia; DFS, disease-free survival; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma; HNC, head and neck cancer; MFS, metastasis-free survival; n.a., not applicable or not available; OS; overall survival; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism.

ICD-associated ATP secretion and for the elicitation of robust TAAtargeting immune responses (130, 156, 157). Notwithstanding these caveats, immunohistochemistry has been employed to study the prognostic or predictive value of autophagic markers such as the expression and lipidation of microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 (MAP1LC3, best known as LC3) (158), with mixed results. For instance, LC3 expression has been associated with prolonged overall survival in a cohort of 190 HCC patients (148), but with lymph node involvement and high TNM score amongst 79 individuals with head and neck cancer (78). Along similar lines, reduced expression of beclin 1 (BECN1), a key component of the molecular machinery for autophagy, has been associated with poor prognosis in two independent cohorts of 1067 and 1992 breast carcinoma patients (147), but with improved disease outcome in a cohort of 73 patients with pancreatic cancer (149). These are only two examples of an abundant scientific literature correlating the expression of autophagy proteins in biopsies from patients affected with virtually all types of malignancies to clinicopathological features and/or markers of disease progression. The development of assays to monitor the functionality of the autophagic apparatus in clinical samples is urgently awaited to properly assess the prognostic and predictive value of autophagy for cancer patients.

HMGB1 and Cell Death

According to current models, HMGB1 gets released in the course of cell death passively, upon the breakdown of the nuclear and

plasma membrane (145, 159). Thus, besides differences in expression level, the extent of HMGB1 release generally correlates with the degree of cell death (160). However, changes in the oxidation status of extracellular HMGB1 have been suggested to dramatically alter its biological activity (161-163). Indeed, while reduced HMGB1 efficiently dimerizes with CXCL12 and mediate potent chemotactic functions upon binding to chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor 4 (CXCR4) (164, 165), its oxidized counterpart fails to do so (162). Rather, oxidized HMGB1 signal via TLR2, TLR4 and advanced glycosylation end product-specific receptor (AGER, best known as RAGE) to stimulate the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (162, 166-168). In addition, TLR4 signaling promotes cross-priming by inhibiting the fusion of antigen-containing endosomes with lysosomes (169). Interestingly, HMGB1 also binds to TLR9 (170) and hepatitis A virus cellular receptor 2 (HAVCR2, best known as TIM-3) (171), in particular when complexed with DNA. However, while TLR9 promotes cytokine secretion by plasmacytoid DCs and B cells (170), TIM-3 signaling blunts the ability of DCs to respond efficiently to inflammatory stimuli (171). Thus, extracellular HMGB1 mediates multipronged and context-dependent immunomodulatory functions.

Various clinical studies indicate that monitoring parameters linked to HMGB1 release and signaling may convey prognostic or predictive information for cancer patients (**Table 4**). High expression levels of HMGB1 in malignant cells have been shown to correlate with improved overall survival in 88 patients with

TABLE 4 Clinical studies assessing the prognostic and predictive value of HMGB1 release and extracellular HMGB1 signaling in cancer	patients.
---	-----------

Parameter	Cancer	Treatment	No	Note(s)	Reference
CASP3	Endometrial carcinoma	n.a.	1028 patients 1003 controls	A SNP in CASP3 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(182)
CASP7	Endometrial carcinoma	n.a.	1028 patients 1003 controls	SNPs in CASP7 were linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(182)
CASP9	CRC	n.a.	402 patients 480 controls	SNPs in CASP9 were linked to decreased risk for oncogenesis and improved disease outcome	(183)
HMGB1	Bladder carcinoma	n.a.	164	High HMGB1 levels correlated to worsened disease outcome	(175)
	Breast	Anthracycline-based	232	Loss of nuclear HMGB1 positively correlated with tumor size	(173)
	carcinoma	chemotherapy	41	Increases in circulating HMGB1 were linked to clinical response	(184)
	CRC	n.a.	219 patients 75 controls	High levels of serum HMGB1 correlated with disease incidence	(185)
		n.a.	192	High HMGB1 levels correlated with worsened disease outcome	(177)
		Radioembolization therapy	49	High levels of serum HMGB1 correlated with decreased OS	(186)
		Surgery	72	Co-expression of HMGB1 in the nucleus and in the cytoplasm of	(174)
			22	malignant cells was linked to worsened 5-year survival rate	(0.4)
	Esophageal carcinoma	Chemoradiotherapy and surgery	88	High HMGB1 levels correlated with improved OS	(84)
	Gastric adenocarcinoma	Surgery	76	High HMGB1 levels in malignant cells correlated with improved OS	(172)
	HCC	n.a.	208	High HMGB1 levels correlated with worsened disease outcome	(179)
			161	High HMGB1 levels correlated with worsened disease outcome	(178)
	HNC	n.a.	71 patients 50 controls	High levels of serum HMGB1 correlated with disease progression	(187)
			103	High HMGB1 levels correlated with worsened disease outcome	(180)
	Malignant mesothelioma	n.a.	61 patients 45 controls	High levels of serum HMGB1 correlated with disease incidence	(188)
	Nasopharyngeal carcinoma	n.a.	166	High HMGB1 levels correlated with worsened disease outcome	(176)
	Pancreatic carcinoma	Multicomponent chemotherapy	78	High circulating HMGB1 correlated with poor therapy response	(189)
		n.a.	70	High levels of serum HMGB1 correlated with decreased OS	(190)
	Prostate carcinoma	n.a.	85	High HMGB1 levels correlated with worsened disease outcome	(181)
	Solid tumors	Virotherapy	17 202	Increases in circulating HMGB1 levels were linked to clinical response Increases in circulating HMGB1 levels were linked to clinical response	(191) (192)
MYD88	CRC	Surgery	108	High MYD88 levels correlated with shortened DFS and OS	(193)
WIT DOO	Lymphoma	Conventional chemotherapy	29	MYD88 mutations were involved in the pathogenesis of the disease	(194)
	Ovarian carcinoma	Surgery	123	High MYD88 levels correlated with worsened disease outcome	(195)
	o vanari odromorna	Salgery	109	High MYD88 levels correlated with shortened DFS and OS	(196)
RAGE	Breast carcinoma	n.a.	509 patients	A SNP in AGER was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(197)
			504 controls 120 patients 92 controls	High levels of circulating RAGE correlated with advanced disease	(198)
	Gastric carcinoma	Surgery	180	stage but improved outcome High RAGE levels were associated with worsened disease outcome	(199)
	HCC	Transarterial	71	High levels of circulating RAGE correlated with clinical response	(200)
	NSCLC	chemoembolization Platinum-based	562 patients	SNPs in AGER were linked to increased risk for oncogenesis and	(201)
	Ovarian carcinoma	chemotherapy n.a.	764 controls 190 patients 210 controls	differential clinical response A SNP in <i>AGER</i> was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(202)
TLR2	CRC	n.a.	2309 patients	SNPs in TLR2 were associated with decreased 5-year survival rate	(121)
	Gastric carcinoma	n.a.	2915 controls 289 patients 400 controls	A SNP in TLR2 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(203)
	HCC	n.a.	211 patients	SNPs in TLR2 were linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(204)
	Lymphoma	n.a.	232 controls 710 patients	A SNP in TLR2 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(205)
			710 controls		

(Continued)

TABLE 4 | Continued

Parameter	Cancer	Treatment	No	Note(s)	Reference
TLR4	Breast carcinoma	Anthracycline-based chemotherapy	280	A SNP in TLR4 was linked to shortened MFS	(43)
	CRC	n.a.	2309 patients 2915 controls	SNPs in TLR4 were associated with risk variations and increased OS	(121)
		Surgery	108	High TLR4 levels were associated with shortened DFS and OS	(193)
	HNC	Adjuvant systemic chemotherapy	188	A SNP in TLR4 was linked to shortened DFS and OS	(207)
	Melanoma	Allogenic cancer cell- based vaccine	72	A SNP in TLR4 was linked to shortened DFS and OS	(208)
		Various	622	A SNP in TLR4 was linked to shortened DFS and OS	(209)
	Ovarian carcinoma	Surgery	123	High TLR4 levels were associated with worsened disease outcome	(195)
	Prostate carcinoma	n.a.	700 patients 700 controls	A SNP in TLR4 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(210)
			258 patients 258 controls	A SNP in TLR4 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(211)
			157 patients 143 controls	A SNP in TLR4 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(212)
			240 patients 223 controls	A SNP in TLR4 was linked to increased risk for oncogenesis	(124)

CRC, colorectal carcinoma; DFS, disease-free survival; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma; HNC, head and neck cancer; MFS, metastasis-free survival; NSCLC, non-small cell lung carcinoma; n.a., not applicable or not available; OS; overall survival; RFS, relapse-free survival; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism.

esophageal squamous cell carcinoma subjected to neo-adjuvant chemoradiotherapy and surgical resection (84), as well as in 76 subjects with reseactable gastric adenocarcinoma (172). In a cohort of 232 breast carcinoma patients treated with anthracycline-based adjuvant chemotherapy, loss of nuclear HMGB1 has been positively associated with tumor size (173). Along similar lines, the co-expression of HMGB1 in the nucleus and in the cytoplasm of malignant cells has been shown to inversely correlate with tumor infiltration by CD45RO⁺ memory T cells and 5-year survival rate in 72 individuals with Stage IIIB CRC (174). Finally, HMGB1 overexpression has been shown to correlate with advanced clinical stage or decreased disease-free and/or overall survival amongst 164 patients with bladder carcinoma (175), 166 individuals with nasopharyngeal carcinoma (176), 192 CRC patients (177), 208 and 161 individuals with HCC (178, 179), 103 subjets with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (180), as well as 85 patients with prostate cancer (181).

Notably, circulating HMGB1 and RAGE levels have been intensively investigated for their predictive or prognostic value. Elevations of HMGB1 in the serum have been correlated with incidence, progression or unfavorable disease outcome in cohorts of 49 individuals with CRC, or 219 CRC patients and 75 healthy controls (185, 186), 70 individuals with pancreatic adenocarcinoma (190), 71 laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma patients and 50 healthy controls (187), 61 subjects with malignant pleural mesothelioma (188), and 78 pancreatic carcinoma patients (189). Conversely, a treatment-related increase in the circulating levels of HGMB1 has been associated with pathological complete response or partial remission amongst 41 breast carcinoma patients treated with neo-adjuvant chemotherapy based on epirubicin (an ICD inducer) (184), as well as amongst 17 and 202 subjects with chemotherapy-refractory tumors treated with oncolytic virotherapy (191, 192). High levels of RAGE in the serum have been linked to advanced tumor stage but improved clinical outcome amongst 120 patients with breast carcinoma (198). Along similar lines, serum RAGE concentrations were significantly higher in 32 individuals with HCC who favorably responded to transarterial chemoembolization therapy than in 39 patients who progressed upon treatment (200).

Thus, in many (but not all) clinical settings high intratumoral and circulating levels of HMGB1 have a negative prognostic or predictive value. These findings may reflect the ability of some tumors to retain HMGB1 in the course of stress response, the intrinsic resistance of such tumors to the induction of cell death, or the cancer cell-intrinsic functions of HMGB1 (213). In other settings, however, circulating HMGB1 and RAGE levels appear to reflect well the death of cancer cells exposed to immunogenic treatment modalities (184, 191, 192). Possibly, the timing of detection plays a critical role in this setting, calling for the development of optimized monitoring procedures.

SNPs in TLR2, TLR4 and AGER, as well as the circulating levels of a soluble RAGE variant have been shown to affect cancer susceptibility as well as disease outcome in several studies. In particular, TLR2 polymorphisms have been linked to an increased risk for lymphoma (as determined in 710 patients and as many healthy subjects) (205), gastric carcinoma (as assessed in 289 patients and more than 400 controls) (203), prostate carcinoma (as investigated in 195 patients and 250 healthy individuals) (206), HCC (as tested in 211 patients and 232 controls) (204), and CRC (as assessed in 2,309 patients and 2,915 healthy individuals) (121). Loss-of-function variants of TLR4 have been associated with decreased time-to-metastasis amongst 280 women with non-metastatic breast carcinoma treated with surgery followed by anthracycline-based chemotherapy and local irradiation (43), with reduced disease-free and overall survival amongst 188 head and neck cancer patients receiving adjuvant systemic therapy (207), amongst 72 melanoma patients vaccinated with a heat-shocked allogeneic melanoma cell line (208), and amongst 622 melanoma patients subjected to various treatment modalities (209). Along similar lines, SNPs affecting TLR4 or AGER have



been linked to an increased risk for prostate cancer (as determined in multiple studies collectively testing more than 1,000 patients and as many age-matched controls) (124, 210–212), ovarian cancer (as assessed in a study testing 190 patients and 210 controls) (202), breast carcinoma (as investigated in 509 patients and 504 healthy women) (197), CRC (as determined in a large cohort encompassing 2,309 patients and 2,915 healthy individuals) (121), and NSCLC (as tested in 562 patients and 764 controls) (201). Notably, this latter study also identified a specific *AGER* SNP associated with a differential response of NSCLC patients to chemotherapy (201).

Conversely, elevated expression levels of RAGE, TLR4 and/ or components of the TLR signaling machinery like myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MYD88) by malignant tissues have been correlated with shortened disease-free and overall survival in 2 cohorts of 109 and 123 ovarian carcinoma patients subjected to surgery (195, 196), in a cohort 108 subjects with CRC (193), and amongst 180 individuals with gastric carcinoma (199). Along similar lines, activating mutations in *MYD88* have been linked to the pathogenesis of primary central nervous system lymphomas (194). Most likely, these findings reflect the advantage conferred to malignant cells by the expression of RAGE and TLR4, which can activate robust pro-survival pathways via NF- κ B (214).

Finally, distinct SNPs affecting caspase-7 (*CASP7*) and one affecting caspase-3 (*CASP3*) have been associated with an altered risk for endometrial carcinoma (as investigated in a cohort of 1,028 patients and 1,003 healthy women) (182), whereas SNPs affecting caspase-9 (*CASP9*) have been linked to reduced CRC incidence or improved disease outcome (as determined in a cohort of 402 patients and 480 healthy controls) (183). It remains to be determined whether these SNPs truly compromise the ability of cancer cells to emit DAMPs (and hence trigger immunosurveillance mechanisms).

Other DAMPs

The abovementioned molecules and processes may constitute only the tip of an iceberg, meaning that several other DAMPs may contribute to the immunogenicity of cell death, at least in some circumstances. These DAMPs include (but are not limited to) various mitochondrial products like mtDNA, cardiolipin and N-formylated peptides (30) as well as cytosolic proteins like filamentous F-actin (45). Robust preclinical evidence implicates mtDNA in the etiology of septic and non-septic shock as well as in heart failure (29, 215). Cytosolic, extra-cytosolic and extracellular mtDNA molecules have indeed robust pro-inflammatory effects as they trigger type I IFN synthesis via transmembrane protein 173 (TM173, best known as STING) (216) or TLR9 activation (215). In line with this notion, circulating mtDNA levels have been shown to reflect the degree of inflammation and the extent of tissue damage in patients under maintenance hemodialysis (217). Moreover, mtDNA concentrations in the plasma of severe sepsis patients admitted to the emergency room have been ascribed robust predictive value on disease outcome (218). Upon binding to formyl peptide receptor 1 (FPR1), N-formylated peptides reportedly attract neutrophils, stimulate their degranulation, activate monocytes and favor the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (219-223). Cardiolipin, a lipid that is specifically contained in the inner mitochondrial membrane, binds CD1D on the surface of APC, thus endowing them with the ability of priming CD1D-restricted $\gamma\delta$ T cells (224). Finally, F-actin becomes accessible upon disruption of the plasma membrane and promotes the elicitation of adaptive immune responses against dead cell-associated antigens by binding to C-type lectin domain family 9, member A (CLEC9A, best known as DNGR1) on the surface of DCs (45). Studies elucidating the actual contribution of these DAMPs to ICD are urgently awaited.

Concluding Remarks

It is now clear that the emission of DAMPs according to a specific spatiotemporal pattern is an absolute requirement for the elicitation of immune responses against malignant cells succumbing to treatment, and that such responses are necessary for the full-blown efficacy of most (if not all) anticancer therapeutic regimens. In many settings, however, neoplastic cells exposed to conventional chemotherapeutics, radiotherapy or targeted anticancer agents fail to emit DAMPs in a manner compatible with the activation of the immune system, calling for the development of complementation strategies (16). Several approaches are being conceived to address this issue, including the implementation of combinatorial therapeutic regimens including (1) ER stressors, recombinant CALR or recombinant HSPs, to complement for defects in the CALR or HSP exposure pathway; (2) TLR3 agonists or recombinant type I IFNs, to correct problems in the secretion of type I IFN; (3) autophagy inducers or inhibitors of extracellular ATP-degrading enzymes, to maximize the amount of ATP secreted in the course of cell death; and (4) recombinant HMGB1, TLR4 agonists or cytotoxic agents, to restore HMGB1-dependent immunostimulation (225). Besides, consistent efforts are being devoted to the identification of additional strategies that per se induce ICD, in vivo (with direct therapeutic purposes), and in vitro (for instance, for the development of anticancer vaccines) (20). Monitoring DAMPs and DAMP-associated processes may

References

- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* (2000) 100:57–70. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9
- Whiteside TL. The tumor microenvironment and its role in promoting tumor growth. Oncogene (2008) 27:5904–12. doi:10.1038/onc.2008.271
- Meacham CE, Morrison SJ. Tumour heterogeneity and cancer cell plasticity. *Nature* (2013) 501:328–37. doi:10.1038/nature12624
- Sautes-Fridman C, Cherfils-Vicini J, Damotte D, Fisson S, Fridman WH, Cremer I, et al. Tumor microenvironment is multifaceted. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* (2011) 30:13–25. doi:10.1007/s10555-011-9279-y
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. *Science* (2011) 331:1565–70. doi:10.1126/science.1203486
- Mittal D, Gubin MM, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. New insights into cancer immunoediting and its three component phases – elimination, equilibrium and escape. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2014) 27:16–25. doi:10.1016/j. coi.2014.01.004
- Zitvogel L, Tesniere A, Kroemer G. Cancer despite immunosurveillance: immunoselection and immunosubversion. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) 6:715–27. doi:10.1038/nri1936
- Senovilla L, Galluzzi L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunosurveillance as a regulator of tissue homeostasis. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34:471–81. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.06.005
- Becht E, Goc J, Germain C, Giraldo NA, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Sautes-Fridman C, et al. Shaping of an effective immune microenvironment to and by cancer cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2014) 63:991–7. doi:10.1007/ s00262-014-1590-3
- Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:298–306. doi:10.1038/nrc3245
- 11. Senovilla L, Vacchelli E, Galon J, Adjemian S, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, et al. Trial watch: prognostic and predictive value of the immune infiltrate in cancer. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:1323–43. doi:10.4161/onci.22009

therefore have a dual clinical relevance (**Figure 1**). First, it may improve patient stratification by allowing for the identification of individuals with different prognosis and/or subjects who are likely to respond (or are responding) to a particular therapeutic regimen. Second, it may instruct therapeutic choices by spotting specific molecular or cellular defects that may be corrected pharmacologically. We surmise that the prognostic and/or predictive value of DAMPs and DAMP-associated processes will have a significant impact on the clinical management of cancer patients.

Acknowledgments

GK is supported by the Ligue contre le Cancer (équipe labelisée); Agence National de la Recherche (ANR) – Projets blancs; ANR under the frame of E-Rare-2, the ERA-Net for Research on Rare Diseases; Association pour la recherche sur le cancer (ARC); Cancéropôle Ile-de-France; Institut National du Cancer (INCa); Fondation Bettencourt-Schueller; Fondation de France; Fondation pour la Recherche Médicale (FRM); the European Commission (ArtForce); the European Research Council (ERC); the LabEx Immuno-Oncology; the SIRIC Stratified Oncology Cell DNA Repair and Tumor Immune Elimination (SOCRATE); the SIRIC Cancer Research and Personalized Medicine (CARPEM); and the Paris Alliance of Cancer Research Institutes (PACRI). RS is supported by the Ministry of Health of Czech Republic, grant numbers: IGA NT 14533-3 and IGA NT 11 404-5.

- Senovilla L, Aranda F, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G. Impact of myeloid cells on the efficacy of anticancer chemotherapy. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2014) 30:24–31. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2014.05.009
- Galluzzi L, Senovilla L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. The secret ally: immunostimulation by anticancer drugs. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2012) 11:215–33. doi:10.1038/nrd3626
- Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Mechanism of action of conventional and targeted anticancer therapies: reinstating immunosurveillance. *Immunity* (2013) 39:74–88. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.06.014
- Galluzzi L, Vacchelli E, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Buque A, Senovilla L, Baracco EE, et al. Classification of current anticancer immunotherapies. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5:12472–508.
- Vacchelli E, Prada N, Kepp O, Galluzzi L. Current trends of anticancer immunochemotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e25396. doi:10.4161/ onci.25396
- Fucikova J, Kralikova P, Fialova A, Brtnicky T, Rob L, Bartunkova J, et al. Human tumor cells killed by anthracyclines induce a tumor-specific immune response. *Cancer Res* (2011) **71**:4821–33. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-11-0950
- Dudek AM, Garg AD, Krysko DV, De Ruysscher D, Agostinis P. Inducers of immunogenic cancer cell death. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2013) 24:319–33. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2013.01.005
- Vacchelli E, Senovilla L, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, Zitvogel L, et al. Trial watch: chemotherapy with immunogenic cell death inducers. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e23510. doi:10.4161/onci.23510
- Fucikova J, Moserova I, Truxova I, Hermanova I, Vancurova I, Partlova S, et al. High hydrostatic pressure induces immunogenic cell death in human tumor cells. *Int J Cancer* (2014) 135:1165–77. doi:10.1002/ijc.28766
- Vacchelli E, Aranda F, Eggermont A, Galon J, Sautes-Fridman C, Cremer I, et al. Trial watch: chemotherapy with immunogenic cell death inducers. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e27878. doi:10.4161/onci.27878
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:51–72. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-032712-100008

- Kepp O, Senovilla L, Vitale I, Vacchelli E, Adjemian S, Agostinis P, et al. Consensus guidelines for the detection of immunogenic cell death. Oncoimmunology (2014) 3:e955691. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.955691
- 24. Matzinger P. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1994) **12**:991–1045. doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.005015
- Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Martins I, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Michaud M, et al. Molecular determinants of immunogenic cell death elicited by anticancer chemotherapy. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* (2011) 30:61–9. doi:10.1007/ s10555-011-9273-4
- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:860–75. doi:10.1038/nrc3380
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Agostinis P. Cancer immunogenicity, danger signals, and DAMPs: what, when, and how? *Biofactors* (2013) 39:355–67. doi:10.1002/ biof.1125
- Garg AD, Martin S, Golab J, Agostinis P. Danger signalling during cancer cell death: origins, plasticity and regulation. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21:26–38. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.48
- Zhang Q, Raoof M, Chen Y, Sumi Y, Sursal T, Junger W, et al. Circulating mitochondrial DAMPs cause inflammatory responses to injury. *Nature* (2010) 464:104–7. doi:10.1038/nature08780
- Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Mitochondria: master regulators of danger signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2012) 13:780–8. doi:10.1038/nrm3479
- Korbelik M, Sun J, Cecic I. Photodynamic therapy-induced cell surface expression and release of heat shock proteins: relevance for tumor response. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:1018–26.
- Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:54–61. doi:10.1038/nm1523
- 33. Spisek R, Charalambous A, Mazumder A, Vesole DH, Jagannath S, Dhodapkar MV. Bortezomib enhances dendritic cell (DC)-mediated induction of immunity to human myeloma via exposure of cell surface heat shock protein 90 on dying tumor cells: therapeutic implications. *Blood* (2007) 109:4839–45. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-10-054221
- Panaretakis T, Kepp O, Brockmeier U, Tesniere A, Bjorklund AC, Chapman DC, et al. Mechanisms of pre-apoptotic calreticulin exposure in immunogenic cell death. *EMBO J* (2009) 28:578–90. doi:10.1038/emboj.2009.1
- Krysko DV, Agostinis P, Krysko O, Garg AD, Bachert C, Lambrecht BN, et al. Emerging role of damage-associated molecular patterns derived from mitochondria in inflammation. *Trends Immunol* (2011) 32:157–64. doi:10.1016/j. it.2011.01.005
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Verfaillie T, Kaczmarek A, Ferreira GB, Marysael T, et al. A novel pathway combining calreticulin exposure and ATP secretion in immunogenic cancer cell death. *EMBO J* (2012) 31:1062–79. doi:10.1038/ emboj.2011.497
- Galluzzi L, Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, Sautes-Fridman C, et al. Trial watch: experimental toll-like receptor agonists for cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:699–716. doi:10.4161/onci.20696
- Aranda F, Vacchelli E, Obrist F, Eggermont A, Galon J, Sautes-Fridman C, et al. Trial watch: toll-like receptor agonists in oncological indications. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e29179. doi:10.4161/onci.29179
- Sistigu A, Yamazaki T, Vacchelli E, Chaba K, Enot DP, Adam J, et al. Cancer cell-autonomous contribution of type I interferon signaling to the efficacy of chemotherapy. *Nat Med* (2014) 20:1301–9. doi:10.1038/nm.3708
- Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Type I interferons in anticancer immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(7):405–14. doi:10.1038/ nri3845
- Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1betadependent adaptive immunity against tumors. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:1170–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2028
- Michaud M, Martins I, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Ma Y, Pellegatti P, et al. Autophagy-dependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutic agents in mice. *Science* (2011) 334:1573–7. doi:10.1126/ science.1208347
- 43. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, et al. Tolllike receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer

chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Nat Med* (2007) **13**:1050–9. doi:10.1038/ nm1622

- Brenner C, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Decoding cell death signals in liver inflammation. J Hepatol (2013) 59:583–94. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2013.03.033
- Ahrens S, Zelenay S, Sancho D, Hanc P, Kjaer S, Feest C, et al. F-actin is an evolutionarily conserved damage-associated molecular pattern recognized by DNGR-1, a receptor for dead cells. *Immunity* (2012) 36:635–45. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.03.008
- Tufi R, Panaretakis T, Bianchi K, Criollo A, Fazi B, Di Sano F, et al. Reduction of endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ levels favors plasma membrane surface exposure of calreticulin. *Cell Death Differ* (2008) 15:274–82. doi:10.1038/ sj.cdd.4402275
- Hetz C. The unfolded protein response: controlling cell fate decisions under ER stress and beyond. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2012) 13:89–102. doi:10.1038/ nrm3270
- Kepp O, Semeraro M, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Bloy N, Buque A, Huang X, et al. eIF2alpha phosphorylation as a biomarker of immunogenic cell death. Semin Cancer Biol (2015). doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.02.004
- Binder RJ, Blachere NE, Srivastava PK. Heat shock protein-chaperoned peptides but not free peptides introduced into the cytosol are presented efficiently by major histocompatibility complex I molecules. J Biol Chem (2001) 276:17163–71. doi:10.1074/jbc.M011547200
- Doody AD, Kovalchin JT, Mihalyo MA, Hagymasi AT, Drake CG, Adler AJ. Glycoprotein 96 can chaperone both MHC class I- and class II-restricted epitopes for in vivo presentation, but selectively primes CD8+ T cell effector function. J Immunol (2004) 172:6087–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.10.6087
- Spisek R, Dhodapkar MV. Towards a better way to die with chemotherapy: role of heat shock protein exposure on dying tumor cells. *Cell Cycle* (2007) 6:1962–5. doi:10.4161/cc.6.16.4601
- Basu S, Binder RJ, Suto R, Anderson KM, Srivastava PK. Necrotic but not apoptotic cell death releases heat shock proteins, which deliver a partial maturation signal to dendritic cells and activate the NF-kappa B pathway. *Int Immunol* (2000) 12:1539–46. doi:10.1093/intimm/12.11.1539
- 53. Duo CC, Gong FY, He XY, Li YM, Wang J, Zhang JP, et al. Soluble calreticulin induces tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) and interleukin (IL)-6 production by macrophages through mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and NFkappaB signaling pathways. *Int J Mol Sci* (2014) 15:2916–28. doi:10.3390/ijms15022916
- Multhoff G, Botzler C, Wiesnet M, Eissner G, Issels R. CD3- large granular lymphocytes recognize a heat-inducible immunogenic determinant associated with the 72-kD heat shock protein on human sarcoma cells. *Blood* (1995) 86:1374–82.
- Multhoff G, Botzler C, Jennen L, Schmidt J, Ellwart J, Issels R. Heat shock protein 72 on tumor cells: a recognition structure for natural killer cells. *J Immunol* (1997) 158:4341–50.
- Segawa K, Kurata S, Yanagihashi Y, Brummelkamp TR, Matsuda F, Nagata S. Caspase-mediated cleavage of phospholipid flippase for apoptotic phosphatidylserine exposure. *Science* (2014) 344:1164–8. doi:10.1126/science.1252809
- Gold LI, Eggleton P, Sweetwyne MT, Van Duyn LB, Greives MR, Naylor SM, et al. Calreticulin: non-endoplasmic reticulum functions in physiology and disease. *FASEB J* (2010) 24:665–83. doi:10.1096/fj.09-145482
- Zeng G, Aldridge ME, Tian X, Seiler D, Zhang X, Jin Y, et al. Dendritic cell surface calreticulin is a receptor for NY-ESO-1: direct interactions between tumor-associated antigen and the innate immune system. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:3582–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.6.3582
- Hsu WM, Hsieh FJ, Jeng YM, Kuo ML, Chen CN, Lai DM, et al. Calreticulin expression in neuroblastoma – a novel independent prognostic factor. *Ann Oncol* (2005) 16:314–21. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdi062
- 60. Garg AD, Elsen S, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, De Witte P, Agostinis P. Resistance to anticancer vaccination effect is controlled by a cancer cell-autonomous phenotype that disrupts immunogenic phagocytic removal. *Oncotarget* (2015).
- Peng RQ, Chen YB, Ding Y, Zhang R, Zhang X, Yu XJ, et al. Expression of calreticulin is associated with infiltration of T-cells in stage IIIB colon cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* (2010) 16:2428–34. doi:10.3748/wjg.v16.i19.2428
- 62. Zappasodi R, Pupa SM, Ghedini GC, Bongarzone I, Magni M, Cabras AD, et al. Improved clinical outcome in indolent B-cell lymphoma patients

vaccinated with autologous tumor cells experiencing immunogenic death. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**:9062–72. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1825

- Wemeau M, Kepp O, Tesniere A, Panaretakis T, Flament C, De Botton S, et al. Calreticulin exposure on malignant blasts predicts a cellular anticancer immune response in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Cell Death Dis* (2010) 1:e104. doi:10.1038/cddis.2010.82
- Liu R, Gong J, Chen J, Li Q, Song C, Zhang J, et al. Calreticulin as a potential diagnostic biomarker for lung cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61:855–64. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1146-8
- Chen JS, Hsu YM, Chen CC, Chen LL, Lee CC, Huang TS. Secreted heat shock protein 90alpha induces colorectal cancer cell invasion through CD91/ LRP-1 and NF-kappaB-mediated integrin alphaV expression. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285:25458–66. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.139345
- 66. Chen WS, Chen CC, Chen LL, Lee CC, Huang TS. Secreted heat shock protein 90alpha (HSP90alpha) induces nuclear factor-kappaB-mediated TCF12 protein expression to down-regulate E-cadherin and to enhance colorectal cancer cell migration and invasion. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288:9001–10. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.437897
- Chao MP, Jaiswal S, Weissman-Tsukamoto R, Alizadeh AA, Gentles AJ, Volkmer J, et al. Calreticulin is the dominant pro-phagocytic signal on multiple human cancers and is counterbalanced by CD47. *Sci Transl Med* (2010) 2:63ra94. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3001375
- Eric A, Juranic Z, Milovanovic Z, Markovic I, Inic M, Stanojevic-Bakic N, et al. Effects of humoral immunity and calreticulin overexpression on postoperative course in breast cancer. *Pathol Oncol Res* (2009) 15:89–90. doi:10.1007/s12253-008-9112-2
- Chen CN, Chang CC, Su TE, Hsu WM, Jeng YM, Ho MC, et al. Identification of calreticulin as a prognosis marker and angiogenic regulator in human gastric cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2009) 16:524–33. doi:10.1245/ s10434-008-0243-1
- Majeti R, Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, Pang WW, Jaiswal S, Gibbs KD Jr, et al. CD47 is an adverse prognostic factor and therapeutic antibody target on human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. *Cell* (2009) 138:286–99. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.045
- Suzuki S, Yokobori T, Tanaka N, Sakai M, Sano A, Inose T, et al. CD47 expression regulated by the miR-133a tumor suppressor is a novel prognostic marker in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncol Rep* (2012) 28:465–72. doi:10.3892/or.2012.1831
- Wang H, Tan M, Zhang S, Li X, Gao J, Zhang D, et al. Expression and significance of CD44, CD47 and c-met in ovarian clear cell carcinoma. *Int J Mol Sci* (2015) 16:3391–404. doi:10.3390/ijms16023391
- Stebbing J, Bower M, Gazzard B, Wildfire A, Pandha H, Dalgleish A, et al. The common heat shock protein receptor CD91 is up-regulated on monocytes of advanced melanoma slow progressors. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2004) 138:312–6. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02619.x
- Schardt JA, Weber D, Eyholzer M, Mueller BU, Pabst T. Activation of the unfolded protein response is associated with favorable prognosis in acute myeloid leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:3834–41. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2870
- Senovilla L, Vitale I, Martins I, Tailler M, Pailleret C, Michaud M, et al. An immunosurveillance mechanism controls cancer cell ploidy. *Science* (2012) 337:1678–84. doi:10.1126/science.1224922
- 76. Davies MP, Barraclough DL, Stewart C, Joyce KA, Eccles RM, Barraclough R, et al. Expression and splicing of the unfolded protein response gene XBP-1 are significantly associated with clinical outcome of endocrine-treated breast cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2008) **123**:85–8. doi:10.1002/ijc.23479
- 77. Mozos A, Roue G, Lopez-Guillermo A, Jares P, Campo E, Colomer D, et al. The expression of the endoplasmic reticulum stress sensor BiP/GRP78 predicts response to chemotherapy and determines the efficacy of proteasome inhibitors in diffuse large b-cell lymphoma. *Am J Pathol* (2011) **179**:2601–10. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.07.031
- Jiang L, Huang S, Li W, Zhang D, Zhang S, Zhang W, et al. Expression of autophagy and ER stress-related proteins in primary salivary adenoid cystic carcinoma. *Pathol Res Pract* (2012) 208:635–41. doi:10.1016/j. prp.2012.07.008
- Uramoto H, Sugio K, Oyama T, Nakata S, Ono K, Yoshimastu T, et al. Expression of endoplasmic reticulum molecular chaperone Grp78 in human lung cancer and its clinical significance. *Lung Cancer* (2005) 49:55–62. doi:10.1016/j.lungcan.2004.12.011

- He Y, Correa AM, Raso MG, Hofstetter WL, Fang B, Behrens C, et al. The role of PKR/eIF2alpha signaling pathway in prognosis of non-small cell lung cancer. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e24855. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024855
- Ferrer-Ferrer M, Malespin-Bendana W, Ramirez V, Gonzalez MI, Carvajal A, Une C. Polymorphisms in genes coding for HSP-70 are associated with gastric cancer and duodenal ulcer in a population at high risk of gastric cancer in Costa Rica. *Arch Med Res* (2013) 44:467–74. doi:10.1016/j. arcmed.2013.08.008
- Nevadunsky NS, Korneeva I, Caputo T, Witkin SS. Mannose-binding lectin codon 54 genetic polymorphism and vaginal protein levels in women with gynecologic malignancies. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* (2012) 163:216–8. doi:10.1016/j.ejogrb.2012.04.020
- Hong B, Chen S, Qi Y, Zhu J, Lin J. Association of THBS1 rs1478605 T>C in 5'-untranslated regions with the development and progression of gastric cancer. *Biomed Rep* (2015) 3:207–14. doi:10.3892/br.2015.414
- Suzuki Y, Mimura K, Yoshimoto Y, Watanabe M, Ohkubo Y, Izawa S, et al. Immunogenic tumor cell death induced by chemoradiotherapy in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:3967–76. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0851
- Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Vander Heiden MG, Kroemer G. Metabolic targets for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2013) 12:829–46. doi:10.1038/nrd4145
- Schardt JA, Mueller BU, Pabst T. Activation of the unfolded protein response in human acute myeloid leukemia. *Methods Enzymol* (2011) 489:227–43. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-385116-1.00013-3
- Chen X, Iliopoulos D, Zhang Q, Tang Q, Greenblatt MB, Hatziapostolou M, et al. XBP1 promotes triple-negative breast cancer by controlling the HIF1alpha pathway. *Nature* (2014) 508:103–7. doi:10.1038/nature13119
- Vacchelli E, Martins I, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, Sautes-Fridman C, et al. Trial watch: peptide vaccines in cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:1557–76. doi:10.4161/onci.22428
- Aranda F, Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Galon J, Sautes-Fridman C, Tartour E, et al. Trial watch: peptide vaccines in cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e26621. doi:10.4161/onci.26621
- Wood CG, Mulders P. Vitespen: a preclinical and clinical review. *Future Oncol* (2009) 5:763–74. doi:10.2217/fon.09.46
- Belli F, Testori A, Rivoltini L, Maio M, Andreola G, Sertoli MR, et al. Vaccination of metastatic melanoma patients with autologous tumor-derived heat shock protein gp96-peptide complexes: clinical and immunologic findings. J Clin Oncol (2002) 20:4169–80. doi:10.1200/JCO.2002.09.134
- 92. Pilla L, Patuzzo R, Rivoltini L, Maio M, Pennacchioli E, Lamaj E, et al. A phase II trial of vaccination with autologous, tumor-derived heat-shock protein peptide complexes Gp96, in combination with GM-CSF and interferon-alpha in metastatic melanoma patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2006) 55:958–68. doi:10.1007/s00262-005-0084-8
- Testori A, Richards J, Whitman E, Mann GB, Lutzky J, Camacho L, et al. Phase III comparison of vitespen, an autologous tumor-derived heat shock protein gp96 peptide complex vaccine, with physician's choice of treatment for stage IV melanoma: the C-100-21 study group. *J Clin Oncol* (2008) 26:955–62. doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.11.9941
- Eton O, Ross MI, East MJ, Mansfield PF, Papadopoulos N, Ellerhorst JA, et al. Autologous tumor-derived heat-shock protein peptide complex-96 (HSPPC-96) in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Transl Med (2010) 8:9. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-8-9
- Mazzaferro V, Coppa J, Carrabba MG, Rivoltini L, Schiavo M, Regalia E, et al. Vaccination with autologous tumor-derived heat-shock protein gp96 after liver resection for metastatic colorectal cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2003) 9:3235–45.
- Oki Y, McLaughlin P, Fayad LE, Pro B, Mansfield PF, Clayman GL, et al. Experience with heat shock protein-peptide complex 96 vaccine therapy in patients with indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Cancer* (2007) 109:77–83. doi:10.1002/cncr.22389
- 97. Maki RG, Livingston PO, Lewis JJ, Janetzki S, Klimstra D, Desantis D, et al. A phase I pilot study of autologous heat shock protein vaccine HSPPC-96 in patients with resected pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Dig Dis Sci* (2007) 52:1964–72. doi:10.1007/s10620-006-9205-2
- Jonasch E, Wood C, Tamboli P, Pagliaro LC, Tu SM, Kim J, et al. Vaccination of metastatic renal cell carcinoma patients with autologous tumour-derived vitespen vaccine: clinical findings. *Br J Cancer* (2008) **98**:1336–41. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6604266

- 99. Wood C, Srivastava P, Bukowski R, Lacombe L, Gorelov AI, Gorelov S, et al. An adjuvant autologous therapeutic vaccine (HSPPC-96; vitespen) versus observation alone for patients at high risk of recurrence after nephrectomy for renal cell carcinoma: a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase III trial. *Lancet* (2008) **372**:145–54. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60697-2
- 100. Crane CA, Han SJ, Ahn B, Oehlke J, Kivett V, Fedoroff A, et al. Individual patient-specific immunity against high-grade glioma after vaccination with autologous tumor derived peptides bound to the 96 KD chaperone protein. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) **19**:205–14. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-11-3358
- 101. Bloch O, Crane CA, Fuks Y, Kaur R, Aghi MK, Berger MS, et al. Heat-shock protein peptide complex-96 vaccination for recurrent glioblastoma: a phase II, single-arm trial. *Neuro Oncol* (2014) 16:274–9. doi:10.1093/neuonc/ not203
- 102. Janetzki S, Palla D, Rosenhauer V, Lochs H, Lewis JJ, Srivastava PK. Immunization of cancer patients with autologous cancer-derived heat shock protein gp96 preparations: a pilot study. *Int J Cancer* (2000) 88:232–8. doi:10.1002/1097-0215(20001015)88:2<232::AID-IJC14>3.0.CO;2-8
- 103. Papewalis C, Jacobs B, Wuttke M, Ullrich E, Baehring T, Fenk R, et al. IFNalpha skews monocytes into CD56+-expressing dendritic cells with potent functional activities in vitro and in vivo. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:1462–70. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.3.1462
- 104. Guillot B, Portales P, Thanh AD, Merlet S, Dereure O, Clot J, et al. The expression of cytotoxic mediators is altered in mononuclear cells of patients with melanoma and increased by interferon-alpha treatment. *Br J Dermatol* (2005) **152**:690–6. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2005.06512.x
- 105. Ilander M, Kreutzman A, Rohon P, Melo T, Faber E, Porkka K, et al. Enlarged memory T-cell pool and enhanced Th1-type responses in chronic myeloid leukemia patients who have successfully discontinued IFN-alpha monotherapy. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e87794. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0087794
- 106. Crouse J, Bedenikovic G, Wiesel M, Ibberson M, Xenarios I, Von Laer D, et al. Type I interferons protect T cells against NK cell attack mediated by the activating receptor NCR1. *Immunity* (2014) 40:961–73. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2014.05.003
- 107. Xu HC, Grusdat M, Pandyra AA, Polz R, Huang J, Sharma P, et al. Type I interferon protects antiviral CD8+ T cells from NK cell cytotoxicity. *Immunity* (2014) 40:949–60. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.05.004
- Novikov A, Cardone M, Thompson R, Shenderov K, Kirschman KD, Mayer-Barber KD, et al. Mycobacterium tuberculosis triggers host type I IFN signaling to regulate IL-1beta production in human macrophages. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:2540–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100926
- 109. Bacher N, Raker V, Hofmann C, Graulich E, Schwenk M, Baumgrass R, et al. Interferon-alpha suppresses cAMP to disarm human regulatory T cells. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:5647–56. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3788
- 110. Drobits B, Holcmann M, Amberg N, Swiecki M, Grundtner R, Hammer M, et al. Imiquimod clears tumors in mice independent of adaptive immunity by converting pDCs into tumor-killing effector cells. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122:575–85. doi:10.1172/JCI61034
- 111. Chew V, Tow C, Huang C, Bard-Chapeau E, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, et al. Toll-like receptor 3 expressing tumor parenchyma and infiltrating natural killer cells in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2012) 104:1796–807. doi:10.1093/jnci/djs436
- 112. Yuan MM, Xu YY, Chen L, Li XY, Qin J, Shen Y. TLR3 expression correlates with apoptosis, proliferation and angiogenesis in hepatocellular carcinoma and predicts prognosis. *BMC Cancer* (2015) 15:245. doi:10.1186/ s12885-015-1262-5
- 113. Hsu WM, Huang CC, Wu PY, Lee H, Huang MC, Tai MH, et al. Toll-like receptor 3 expression inhibits cell invasion and migration and predicts a favorable prognosis in neuroblastoma. *Cancer Lett* (2013) 336:338–46. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2013.03.024
- 114. Salaun B, Zitvogel L, Asselin-Paturel C, Morel Y, Chemin K, Dubois C, et al. TLR3 as a biomarker for the therapeutic efficacy of double-stranded RNA in breast cancer. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:1607–14. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-10-3490
- 115. Castro FA, Forsti A, Buch S, Kalthoff H, Krauss C, Bauer M, et al. TLR-3 polymorphism is an independent prognostic marker for stage II colorectal cancer. *Eur J Cancer* (2011) 47:1203–10. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2010.12.011

- 116. Dai J, Hu Z, Dong J, Xu L, Pan S, Jiang Y, et al. Host immune gene polymorphisms were associated with the prognosis of non-small-cell lung cancer in Chinese. Int J Cancer (2012) 130:671–6. doi:10.1002/ijc.26067
- 117. Zidi S, Verdi H, Yilmaz-Yalcin Y, Yazici AC, Gazouani E, Mezlini A, et al. Impact of toll-like receptors 2/3/4/9, IL-1-alpha/beta and TNF-alpha polymorphisms in cervical cancer susceptibility in Tunisia : genetic polymorphisms implicated in the occurrence of cervical cancer. *Pathol Oncol Res* (2014). doi:10.1007/s12253-014-9793-7
- 118. Yeyeodu ST, Kidd LR, Oprea-Ilies GM, Burns BG, Vancleave TT, Shim JY, et al. IRAK4 and TLR3 sequence variants may alter breast cancer risk among African-American women. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:338. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00338
- 119. Zeljic K, Supic G, Jovic N, Kozomara R, Brankovic-Magic M, Obrenovic M, et al. Association of TLR2, TLR3, TLR4 and CD14 genes polymorphisms with oral cancer risk and survival. *Oral Dis* (2014) 20:416–24. doi:10.1111/ odi.12144
- Li G, Zheng Z. Toll-like receptor 3 genetic variants and susceptibility to hepatocellular carcinoma and HBV-related hepatocellular carcinoma. *Tumour Biol* (2013) 34:1589–94. doi:10.1007/s13277-013-0689-z
- 121. Slattery ML, Herrick JS, Bondurant KL, Wolff RK. Toll-like receptor genes and their association with colon and rectal cancer development and prognosis. *Int J Cancer* (2012) **130**:2974–80. doi:10.1002/ijc.26314
- 122. Lu S, Pardini B, Cheng B, Naccarati A, Huhn S, Vymetalkova V, et al. Single nucleotide polymorphisms within interferon signaling pathway genes are associated with colorectal cancer susceptibility and survival. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e111061. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0111061
- 123. Fujita M, Scheurer ME, Decker SA, McDonald HA, Kohanbash G, Kastenhuber ER, et al. Role of type 1 IFNs in antiglioma immunosurveillance – using mouse studies to guide examination of novel prognostic markers in humans. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16:3409–19. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-10-0644
- 124. Kim HJ, Bae JS, Chang IH, Kim KD, Lee J, Shin HD, et al. Sequence variants of toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) and the risk of prostate cancer in Korean men. *World J Urol* (2012) **30**:225–32. doi:10.1007/s00345-011-0690-3
- Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, et al. Trial watch: immunostimulatory cytokines. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e24850. doi:10.4161/onci.24850
- 126. Vacchelli E, Aranda F, Obrist F, Eggermont A, Galon J, Cremer I, et al. Trial watch: immunostimulatory cytokines in cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e29030. doi:10.4161/onci.29030
- Martins I, Tesniere A, Kepp O, Michaud M, Schlemmer F, Senovilla L, et al. Chemotherapy induces ATP release from tumor cells. *Cell Cycle* (2009) 8:3723–8. doi:10.4161/cc.8.22.10026
- 128. Martins I, Wang Y, Michaud M, Ma Y, Sukkurwala AQ, Shen S, et al. Molecular mechanisms of ATP secretion during immunogenic cell death. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21:79–91. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.75
- Michaud M, Sukkurwala AQ, Martins I, Shen S, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Subversion of the chemotherapy-induced anticancer immune response by the ecto-ATPase CD39. Oncoimmunology (2012) 1:393–5. doi:10.4161/ onci.19070
- Galluzzi L, Pietrocola F, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Amaravadi RK, Baehrecke EH, Cecconi F, et al. Autophagy in malignant transformation and cancer progression. *EMBO J* (2015) 34:856–80. doi:10.15252/embj.201490784
- 131. Bastid J, Regairaz A, Bonnefoy N, Dejou C, Giustiniani J, Laheurte C, et al. Inhibition of CD39 enzymatic function at the surface of tumor cells alleviates their immunosuppressive activity. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2015) 3:254–65. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0018
- 132. Elliott MR, Chekeni FB, Trampont PC, Lazarowski ER, Kadl A, Walk SF, et al. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. *Nature* (2009) 461:282–6. doi:10.1038/nature08296
- 133. Ma Y, Adjemian S, Mattarollo SR, Yamazaki T, Aymeric L, Yang H, et al. Anticancer chemotherapy-induced intratumoral recruitment and differentiation of antigen-presenting cells. *Immunity* (2013) 38:729–41. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2013.03.003
- 134. Ma Y, Adjemian S, Yang H, Catani JP, Hannani D, Martins I, et al. ATPdependent recruitment, survival and differentiation of dendritic cell precursors in the tumor bed after anticancer chemotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e24568. doi:10.4161/onci.24568

- 135. Aymeric L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Martins I, Kroemer G, et al. Tumor cell death and ATP release prime dendritic cells and efficient anticancer immunity. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**:855–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-09-3566
- Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G. Inflammasomes in carcinogenesis and anticancer immune responses. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:343–51. doi:10.1038/ni.2224
- Beavis PA, Stagg J, Darcy PK, Smyth MJ. CD73: a potent suppressor of antitumor immune responses. *Trends Immunol* (2012) 33:231–7. doi:10.1016/j. it.2012.02.009
- 138. Dardano A, Falzoni S, Caraccio N, Polini A, Tognini S, Solini A, et al. 1513A>C polymorphism in the P2X7 receptor gene in patients with papillary thyroid cancer: correlation with histological variants and clinical parameters. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 94:695–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2008-1322
- 139. Wiley JS, Dao-Ung LP, Gu BJ, Sluyter R, Shemon AN, Li C, et al. A lossof-function polymorphic mutation in the cytolytic P2X7 receptor gene and chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: a molecular study. *Lancet* (2002) 359:1114–9. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08156-4
- 140. Thunberg U, Tobin G, Johnson A, Soderberg O, Padyukov L, Hultdin M, et al. Polymorphism in the P2X7 receptor gene and survival in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Lancet* (2002) 360:1935–9. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11917-9
- 141. Zhang LY, Ibbotson RE, Orchard JA, Gardiner AC, Seear RV, Chase AJ, et al. P2X7 polymorphism and chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: lack of correlation with incidence, survival and abnormalities of chromosome 12. *Leukemia* (2003) 17:2097–100. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2403125
- 142. Starczynski J, Pepper C, Pratt G, Hooper L, Thomas A, Hoy T, et al. The P2X7 receptor gene polymorphism 1513 A >C has no effect on clinical prognostic markers, in vitro sensitivity to fludarabine, Bcl-2 family protein expression or survival in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* (2003) 123:66–71. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2141.2003.04563.x
- 143. Nuckel H, Frey UH, Durig J, Duhrsen U, Siffert W. 1513A/C polymorphism in the P2X7 receptor gene in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: absence of correlation with clinical outcome. *Eur J Haematol* (2004) 72:259–63. doi:10.1111/j.0902-4441.2003.00210.x
- 144. Paneesha S, Starczynski J, Pepper C, Delgado J, Hooper L, Fegan C, et al. The P2X7 receptor gene polymorphism 1513 A – >C has no effect on clinical prognostic markers and survival in multiple myeloma. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2006) 47:281–4. doi:10.1080/10428190500305901
- 145. Galluzzi L, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, Abrams JM, Adam D, et al. Essential versus accessory aspects of cell death: recommendations of the NCCD 2015. Cell Death Differ (2015) 22:58–73. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.137
- 146. Aquea G, Bresky G, Lancellotti D, Madariaga JA, Zaffiri V, Urzua U, et al. Increased expression of P2RY2, CD248 and EphB1 in gastric cancers from Chilean patients. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev (2014) 15:1931–6. doi:10.7314/ APJCP.2014.15.5.1931
- 147. Tang H, Sebti S, Titone R, Zhou Y, Isidoro C, Ross TS, et al. Decreased mRNA expression in human breast cancer is associated with estrogen receptor-negative subtypes and poor prognosis. *EBioMedicine* (2015) 2:255–63. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2015.01.008
- 148. Lee YJ, Hah YJ, Kang YN, Kang KJ, Hwang JS, Chung WJ, et al. The autophagy-related marker LC3 can predict prognosis in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e81540. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0081540
- 149. Ko YH, Cho YS, Won HS, Jeon EK, An HJ, Hong SU, et al. Prognostic significance of autophagy-related protein expression in resected pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Pancreas* (2013) **42**:829–35. doi:10.1097/ MPA.0b013e318279d0dc
- 150. Pulte D, Furman RR, Broekman MJ, Drosopoulos JH, Ballard HS, Olson KE, et al. CD39 expression on T lymphocytes correlates with severity of disease in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk* (2011) 11:367–72. doi:10.1016/j.clml.2011.06.005
- 151. Perry C, Hazan-Halevy I, Kay S, Cipok M, Grisaru D, Deutsch V, et al. Increased CD39 expression on CD4(+) T lymphocytes has clinical and prognostic significance in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Ann Hematol* (2012) 91:1271–9. doi:10.1007/s00277-012-1425-2
- 152. Aliagas E, Vidal A, Texido L, Ponce J, Condom E, Martin-Satue M. High expression of ecto-nucleotidases CD39 and CD73 in human endometrial tumors. *Mediators Inflamm* (2014) 2014:509027. doi:10.1155/2014/509027

- 153. Kunzli BM, Berberat PO, Giese T, Csizmadia E, Kaczmarek E, Baker C, et al. Upregulation of CD39/NTPDases and P2 receptors in human pancreatic disease. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol (2007) 292:G223–30. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00259.2006
- 154. Xu S, Shao QQ, Sun JT, Yang N, Xie Q, Wang DH, et al. Synergy between the ectoenzymes CD39 and CD73 contributes to adenosinergic immunosuppression in human malignant gliomas. *Neuro Oncol* (2013) 15:1160–72. doi:10.1093/neuonc/not067
- 155. Klionsky DJ, Abdalla FC, Abeliovich H, Abraham RT, Acevedo-Arozena A, Adeli K, et al. Guidelines for the use and interpretation of assays for monitoring autophagy. *Autophagy* (2012) 8:445–544. doi:10.4161/auto.19496
- Ma Y, Galluzzi L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Autophagy and cellular immune responses. *Immunity* (2013) 39:211–27. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.017
- 157. Ko A, Kanehisa A, Martins I, Senovilla L, Chargari C, Dugue D, et al. Autophagy inhibition radiosensitizes in vitro, yet reduces radioresponses in vivo due to deficient immunogenic signalling. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21:92–9. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.124
- Ladoire S, Chaba K, Martins I, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Michaud M, et al. Immunohistochemical detection of cytoplasmic LC3 puncta in human cancer specimens. *Autophagy* (2012) 8:1175–84. doi:10.4161/auto.20353
- Scaffidi P, Misteli T, Bianchi ME. Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. *Nature* (2002) 418:191–5. doi:10.1038/ nature00858
- 160. Martins I, Kepp O, Menger L, Michaud M, Adjemian S, Sukkurwala AQ, et al. Fluorescent biosensors for the detection of HMGB1 release. *Methods Mol Biol* (2013) **1004**:43–56. doi:10.1007/978-1-62703-383-1_4
- 161. Liu A, Fang H, Dirsch O, Jin H, Dahmen U. Oxidation of HMGB1 causes attenuation of its pro-inflammatory activity and occurs during liver ischemia and reperfusion. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e35379. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0035379
- 162. Venereau E, Casalgrandi M, Schiraldi M, Antoine DJ, Cattaneo A, De Marchis F, et al. Mutually exclusive redox forms of HMGB1 promote cell recruitment or proinflammatory cytokine release. *J Exp Med* (2012) **209**:1519–28. doi:10.1084/jem.20120189
- 163. Yu Y, Tang D, Kang R. Oxidative stress-mediated HMGB1 biology. Front Physiol (2015) 6:93. doi:10.3389/fphys.2015.00093
- 164. Dumitriu IE, Bianchi ME, Bacci M, Manfredi AA, Rovere-Querini P. The secretion of HMGB1 is required for the migration of maturing dendritic cells. *J Leukoc Biol* (2007) 81:84–91. doi:10.1189/jlb.0306171
- 165. Schiraldi M, Raucci A, Munoz LM, Livoti E, Celona B, Venereau E, et al. HMGB1 promotes recruitment of inflammatory cells to damaged tissues by forming a complex with CXCL12 and signaling via CXCR4. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:551–63. doi:10.1084/jem.20111739
- Rovere-Querini P, Capobianco A, Scaffidi P, Valentinis B, Catalanotti F, Giazzon M, et al. HMGB1 is an endogenous immune adjuvant released by necrotic cells. *EMBO Rep* (2004) 5:825–30. doi:10.1038/sj.embor.7400205
- 167. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Criollo A, Ortiz C, Lidereau R, et al. The interaction between HMGB1 and TLR4 dictates the outcome of anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Immunol Rev* (2007) 220:47–59. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2007.00573.x
- Sims GP, Rowe DC, Rietdijk ST, Herbst R, Coyle AJ. HMGB1 and RAGE in inflammation and cancer. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2010) 28:367–88. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.021908.132603
- 169. Shiratsuchi A, Watanabe I, Takeuchi O, Akira S, Nakanishi Y. Inhibitory effect of toll-like receptor 4 on fusion between phagosomes and endosomes/ lysosomes in macrophages. *J Immunol* (2004) **172**:2039–47. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.172.4.2039
- 170. Tian J, Avalos AM, Mao SY, Chen B, Senthil K, Wu H, et al. Toll-like receptor 9-dependent activation by DNA-containing immune complexes is mediated by HMGB1 and RAGE. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:487–96. doi:10.1038/ni1457
- 171. Chiba S, Baghdadi M, Akiba H, Yoshiyama H, Kinoshita I, Dosaka-Akita H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating DCs suppress nucleic acid-mediated innate immune responses through interactions between the receptor TIM-3 and the alarmin HMGB1. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:832–42. doi:10.1038/ni.2376
- 172. Bao G, Qiao Q, Zhao H, He X. Prognostic value of HMGB1 overexpression in resectable gastric adenocarcinomas. World J Surg Oncol (2010) 8:52. doi:10.1186/1477-7819-8-52

- 173. Yamazaki T, Hannani D, Poirier-Colame V, Ladoire S, Locher C, Sistigu A, et al. Defective immunogenic cell death of HMGB1-deficient tumors: compensatory therapy with TLR4 agonists. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21:69–78. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.72
- 174. Peng RQ, Wu XJ, Ding Y, Li CY, Yu XJ, Zhang X, et al. Co-expression of nuclear and cytoplasmic HMGB1 is inversely associated with infiltration of CD45RO+ T cells and prognosis in patients with stage IIIB colon cancer. BMC Cancer (2010) 10:496. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-10-496
- 175. Yang GL, Zhang LH, Bo JJ, Huo XJ, Chen HG, Cao M, et al. Increased expression of HMGB1 is associated with poor prognosis in human bladder cancer. J Surg Oncol (2012) 106:57–61. doi:10.1002/jso.23040
- 176. Wu D, Ding Y, Wang S, Zhang Q, Liu L. Increased expression of high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) is associated with progression and poor prognosis in human nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *J Pathol* (2008) **216**:167–75. doi:10.1002/ path.2391
- 177. Yao X, Zhao G, Yang H, Hong X, Bie L, Liu G. Overexpression of high-mobility group box 1 correlates with tumor progression and poor prognosis in human colorectal carcinoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol (2010) 136:677–84. doi:10.1007/s00432-009-0706-1
- 178. Liu F, Zhang Y, Peng Z, Gao H, Xu L, Chen M. High expression of high mobility group box 1 (hmgb1) predicts poor prognosis for hepatocellular carcinoma after curative hepatectomy. J Transl Med (2012) 10:135. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-10-135
- 179. Xiao J, Ding Y, Huang J, Li Q, Liu Y, Ni W, et al. The association of HMGB1 gene with the prognosis of HCC. *PLoS One* (2014) **9**:e89097. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0089097
- 180. Liu Y, Xie C, Zhang X, Huang D, Zhou X, Tan P, et al. Elevated expression of HMGB1 in squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck and its clinical significance. *Eur J Cancer* (2010) 46:3007–15. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2010.07.016
- 181. Zhao CB, Bao JM, Lu YJ, Zhao T, Zhou XH, Zheng DY, et al. Co-expression of RAGE and HMGB1 is associated with cancer progression and poor patient outcome of prostate cancer. *Am J Cancer Res* (2014) 4:369–77.
- 182. Xu HL, Xu WH, Cai Q, Feng M, Long J, Zheng W, et al. Polymorphisms and haplotypes in the caspase-3, caspase-7, and caspase-8 genes and risk for endometrial cancer: a population-based, case-control study in a Chinese population. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2009) 18:2114–22. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-0152
- 183. Theodoropoulos GE, Gazouli M, Vaiopoulou A, Leandrou M, Nikouli S, Vassou E, et al. Polymorphisms of caspase 8 and caspase 9 gene and colorectal cancer susceptibility and prognosis. *Int J Colorectal Dis* (2011) 26:1113–8. doi:10.1007/s00384-011-1217-5
- 184. Arnold T, Michlmayr A, Baumann S, Burghuber C, Pluschnig U, Bartsch R, et al. Plasma HMGB-1 after the initial dose of epirubicin/docetaxel in cancer. *Eur J Clin Invest* (2013) 43:286–91. doi:10.1111/eci.12043
- 185. Lee H, Song M, Shin N, Shin CH, Min BS, Kim HS, et al. Diagnostic significance of serum HMGB1 in colorectal carcinomas. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e34318. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034318
- 186. Fahmueller YN, Nagel D, Hoffmann RT, Tatsch K, Jakobs T, Stieber P, et al. Immunogenic cell death biomarkers HMGB1, RAGE, and DNAse indicate response to radioembolization therapy and prognosis in colorectal cancer patients. *Int J Cancer* (2013) **132**:2349–58. doi:10.1002/ijc.27894
- 187. Qiu G, Li Y, Liu Z, Wang M, Ge J, Bai X. Clinical value of serum HMGB1 in diagnosis and prognosis of laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *Med Oncol* (2014) 31:316. doi:10.1007/s12032-014-0316-x
- 188. Tabata C, Shibata E, Tabata R, Kanemura S, Mikami K, Nogi Y, et al. Serum HMGB1 as a prognostic marker for malignant pleural mesothelioma. *BMC Cancer* (2013) 13:205. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-13-205
- 189. Wittwer C, Boeck S, Heinemann V, Haas M, Stieber P, Nagel D, et al. Circulating nucleosomes and immunogenic cell death markers HMGB1, sRAGE and DNAse in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer undergoing chemotherapy. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 133:2619–30. doi:10.1002/ijc.28294
- 190. Chung HW, Lim JB, Jang S, Lee KJ, Park KH, Song SY. Serum high mobility group box-1 is a powerful diagnostic and prognostic biomarker for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Sci* (2012) **103**:1714–21. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.2012.02358.x
- 191. Liikanen I, Ahtiainen L, Hirvinen ML, Bramante S, Cerullo V, Nokisalmi P, et al. Oncolytic adenovirus with temozolomide induces autophagy and

antitumor immune responses in cancer patients. *Mol Ther* (2013) **21**:1212–23. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.51

- 192. Liikanen I, Koski A, Merisalo-Soikkeli M, Hemminki O, Oksanen M, Kairemo K, et al. Serum HMGB1 is a predictive and prognostic biomarker for oncolytic immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2015) 4:e989771. doi:10.41 61/2162402X.2014.989771
- 193. Wang EL, Qian ZR, Nakasono M, Tanahashi T, Yoshimoto K, Bando Y, et al. High expression of toll-like receptor 4/myeloid differentiation factor 88 signals correlates with poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. *Br J Cancer* (2010) 102:908–15. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6605558
- 194. Gonzalez-Aguilar A, Idbaih A, Boisselier B, Habbita N, Rossetto M, Laurenge A, et al. Recurrent mutations of MYD88 and TBL1XR1 in primary central nervous system lymphomas. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18:5203–11. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-0845
- 195. Kim KH, Jo MS, Suh DS, Yoon MS, Shin DH, Lee JH, et al. Expression and significance of the TLR4/MyD88 signaling pathway in ovarian epithelial cancers. World J Surg Oncol (2012) 10:193. doi:10.1186/1477-7819-10-193
- 196. Zhu Y, Huang JM, Zhang GN, Zha X, Deng BF. Prognostic significance of MyD88 expression by human epithelial ovarian carcinoma cells. *J Transl Med* (2012) 10:77. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-10-77
- 197. Pan H, He L, Wang B, Niu W. The relationship between RAGE gene four common polymorphisms and breast cancer risk in northeastern Han Chinese. *Sci Rep* (2014) 4:4355. doi:10.1038/srep04355
- 198. Tesarova P, Kalousova M, Jachymova M, Mestek O, Petruzelka L, Zima T. Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) – soluble form (sRAGE) and gene polymorphisms in patients with breast cancer. *Cancer Invest* (2007) 25:720–5. doi:10.1080/07357900701560521
- 199. Wang D, Li T, Ye G, Shen Z, Hu Y, Mou T, et al. Overexpression of the receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) is associated with poor prognosis in gastric cancer. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0122697. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0122697
- 200. Kohles N, Nagel D, Jungst D, Stieber P, Holdenrieder S. Predictive value of immunogenic cell death biomarkers HMGB1, sRAGE, and DNase in liver cancer patients receiving transarterial chemoembolization therapy. *Tumour Biol* (2012) 33:2401–9. doi:10.1007/s13277-012-0504-2
- 201. Wang X, Cui E, Zeng H, Hua F, Wang B, Mao W, et al. RAGE genetic polymorphisms are associated with risk, chemotherapy response and prognosis in patients with advanced NSCLC. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e43734. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0043734
- 202. Zhang S, Hou X, Zi S, Wang Y, Chen L, Kong B. Polymorphisms of receptor for advanced glycation end products and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer in Chinese patients. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2013) 31:525–31. doi:10.1159/000350073
- 203. Tahara T, Arisawa T, Wang F, Shibata T, Nakamura M, Sakata M, et al. Toll-like receptor 2 -196 to 174del polymorphism influences the susceptibility of Japanese people to gastric cancer. *Cancer Sci* (2007) **98**:1790–4. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.2007.00590.x
- 204. Junjie X, Songyao J, Minmin S, Yanyan S, Baiyong S, Xiaxing D, et al. The association between toll-like receptor 2 single-nucleotide polymorphisms and hepatocellular carcinoma susceptibility. *BMC Cancer* (2012) 12:57. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-12-57
- Nieters A, Beckmann L, Deeg E, Becker N. Gene polymorphisms in toll-like receptors, interleukin-10, and interleukin-10 receptor alpha and lymphoma risk. *Genes Immun* (2006) 7:615–24. doi:10.1038/sj.gene.6364337
- Mandal RK, George GP, Mittal RD. Association of toll-like receptor (TLR)
 3 and 9 genes polymorphism with prostate cancer risk in North Indian population. *Mol Biol Rep* (2012) 39:7263–9. doi:10.1007/s11033-012-1556-5
- 207. Bergmann C, Bachmann HS, Bankfalvi A, Lotfi R, Putter C, Wild CA, et al. Toll-like receptor 4 single-nucleotide polymorphisms Asp299Gly and Thr399Ile in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. *J Transl Med* (2011) 9:139. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-9-139
- 208. Tittarelli A, Gonzalez FE, Pereda C, Mora G, Munoz L, Saffie C, et al. Tolllike receptor 4 gene polymorphism influences dendritic cell in vitro function and clinical outcomes in vaccinated melanoma patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61:2067–77. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1268-7
- 209. Gast A, Bermejo JL, Claus R, Brandt A, Weires M, Weber A, et al. Association of inherited variation in toll-like receptor genes with malignant melanoma

susceptibility and survival. PLoS One (2011) 6:e24370. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0024370

- Chen YC, Giovannucci E, Lazarus R, Kraft P, Ketkar S, Hunter DJ. Sequence variants of toll-like receptor 4 and susceptibility to prostate cancer. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:11771–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2078
- 211. Wang MH, Helzlsouer KJ, Smith MW, Hoffman-Bolton JA, Clipp SL, Grinberg V, et al. Association of IL10 and other immune response- and obesity-related genes with prostate cancer in CLUE II. *Prostate* (2009) 69:874–85. doi:10.1002/pros.20933
- 212. Song J, Kim DY, Kim CS, Kim HJ, Lee DH, Lee HM, et al. The association between toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) polymorphisms and the risk of prostate cancer in Korean men. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* (2009) **190**:88–92. doi:10.1016/j. cancergencyto.2008.12.011
- 213. Kang R, Zhang Q, Zeh HJ III, Lotze MT, Tang D. HMGB1 in cancer: good, bad, or both? *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) **19**:4046–57. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-13-0495
- Galluzzi L, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Kroemer G. Organelle-specific initiation of cell death. Nat Cell Biol (2014) 16:728–36. doi:10.1038/ncb3005
- 215. Oka T, Hikoso S, Yamaguchi O, Taneike M, Takeda T, Tamai T, et al. Mitochondrial DNA that escapes from autophagy causes inflammation and heart failure. *Nature* (2012) **485**:251–5. doi:10.1038/nature10992
- 216. West AP, Khoury-Hanold W, Staron M, Tal MC, Pineda CM, Lang SM, et al. Mitochondrial DNA stress primes the antiviral innate immune response. *Nature* (2015) 520:553–7. doi:10.1038/nature14156
- 217. Cao H, Ye H, Sun Z, Shen X, Song Z, Wu X, et al. Circulatory mitochondrial DNA is a pro-inflammatory agent in maintenance hemodialysis patients. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e113179. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0113179
- 218. Kung CT, Hsiao SY, Tsai TC, Su CM, Chang WN, Huang CR, et al. Plasma nuclear and mitochondrial DNA levels as predictors of outcome in severe sepsis patients in the emergency room. *J Transl Med* (2012) 10:130. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-10-130
- Carp H. Mitochondrial N-formylmethionyl proteins as chemoattractants for neutrophils. J Exp Med (1982) 155:264–75. doi:10.1084/jem.155.1.264
- 220. Rabiet MJ, Huet E, Boulay F. Human mitochondria-derived N-formylated peptides are novel agonists equally active on FPR and FPRL1, while *Listeria*

monocytogenes-derived peptides preferentially activate FPR. Eur J Immunol (2005) 35:2486–95. doi:10.1002/eji.200526338

- 221. Crouser ED, Shao G, Julian MW, Macre JE, Shadel GS, Tridandapani S, et al. Monocyte activation by necrotic cells is promoted by mitochondrial proteins and formyl peptide receptors. *Crit Care Med* (2009) **37**:2000–9. doi:10.1097/ CCM.0b013e3181a001ae
- 222. McDonald B, Pittman K, Menezes GB, Hirota SA, Slaba I, Waterhouse CC, et al. Intravascular danger signals guide neutrophils to sites of sterile inflammation. *Science* (2010) **330**:362–6. doi:10.1126/science.1195491
- 223. Raoof M, Zhang Q, Itagaki K, Hauser CJ. Mitochondrial peptides are potent immune activators that activate human neutrophils via FPR-1. J Trauma (2010) 68:1328–32. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e3181dcd28d
- 224. Dieude M, Striegl H, Tyznik AJ, Wang J, Behar SM, Piccirillo CA, et al. Cardiolipin binds to CD1d and stimulates CD1d-restricted gammadelta T cells in the normal murine repertoire. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:4771–81. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000921
- 225. Bezu L, Gomes-De-Silva LC, Dewitte H, Breckpot K, Fucikova J, Spisek R, et al. Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death. *Front Immunol* (2015) **6**:187. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00187

Conflict of Interest Statement: Jitka Fucikova, Irena Moserova, Linda Urbanova, and Radek Spisek are employees of Sotio (Prague, Czech Republic). The other co-authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. The handling editor, Fabrizio Mattei declares that, despite having co-authored a paper with the manuscript's authors within the past two years, the review process was handled objectively.

Copyright © 2015 Fucikova, Moserova, Urbanova, Bezu, Kepp, Cremer, Salek, Strnad, Kroemer, Galluzzi and Spisek. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Exploiting the Immunogenic Potential of Cancer Cells for Improved Dendritic Cell Vaccines

Lien Vandenberk^{1*}, Jochen Belmans¹, Matthias Van Woensel^{2,3}, Matteo Riva^{1,4} and Stefaan W. Van Gool^{1,5,6*}

¹Laboratory of Pediatric Immunology, Department of Immunology and Microbiology, KU Leuven University of Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, ²Laboratory of Experimental and Neuroanatomy, Department of Neurosciences, KU Leuven University of Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, ³Laboratory of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium, ⁴Department of Neurosurgery, San Gerardo Hospital, University of Milano-Bicocca, Monza, Italy, ⁵Kinderklinik, RWTH, Aachen, Germany, ⁶Immunologic-Oncologic Centre Cologne (IOZK), Köln, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabrizio Mattei, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Italy

Reviewed by:

Zong Sheng Guo, Harvard University, USA Irina Caminschi, Burnet Institute, Australia

*Correspondence:

Lien Vandenberk lien.vandenberk@med.kuleuven.be; Stefaan W. Van Gool vangool@iozk.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 September 2015 Accepted: 26 December 2015 Published: 14 January 2016

Citation:

Vandenberk L, Belmans J, Van Woensel M, Riva M and Van Gool SW (2016) Exploiting the Immunogenic Potential of Cancer Cells for Improved Dendritic Cell Vaccines. Front. Immunol. 6:663. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00663 Cancer immunotherapy is currently the hottest topic in the oncology field, owing predominantly to the discovery of immune checkpoint blockers. These promising antibodies and their attractive combinatorial features have initiated the revival of other effective immunotherapies, such as dendritic cell (DC) vaccinations. Although DC-based immunotherapy can induce objective clinical and immunological responses in several tumor types, the immunogenic potential of this monotherapy is still considered suboptimal. Hence, focus should be directed on potentiating its immunogenicity by making step-by-step protocol innovations to obtain next-generation Th1-driving DC vaccines. We review some of the latest developments in the DC vaccination field, with a special emphasis on strategies that are applied to obtain a highly immunogenic tumor cell cargo to load and to activate the DCs. To this end, we discuss the effects of three immunogenic treatment modalities (ultraviolet light, oxidizing treatments, and heat shock) and five potent inducers of immunogenic cell death [radiotherapy, shikonin, high-hydrostatic pressure, oncolytic viruses, and (hypericin-based) photodynamic therapy] on DC biology and their application in DC-based immunotherapy in preclinical as well as clinical settings.

Keywords: immunotherapy, dendritic cell vaccines, immunogenic cell death, antitumor immunity, tumor lysate, immunogenicity

INTRODUCTION

Cancer immunotherapy has gained considerable momentum over the past 5 years, owing predominantly to the discovery of immune checkpoint inhibitors. These inhibitors are designed to release the brakes of the immune system that under physiological conditions prevent auto-immunity by negatively regulating cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) function. Following the FDA approval of the anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 (CTLA-4) monoclonal antibody (mAb)

Abbreviations: CD, cluster of differentiation; CRT, calreticulin; CVB3, coxsacievirus B3; DAMP, damage-associated molecular pattern; DC, dendritic cell; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; HHP, high-hydrostatic pressure; HMGB1, high-mobility group box 1; HSP, heat shock protein; Hyp, hypericin; ICD, immunogenic cell death; NDV, Newcastle disease virus; OAMP, oxidation-associated molecular pattern; PDT, photodynamic therapy; ROS, reactive oxygen species; TLR, Toll-like receptor; UV, ultraviolet.

ipilimumab (Yervoy) in 2011 for the treatment of metastatic melanoma patients (1), two mAbs targeting programed death (PD)-1 receptor signaling (nivolumab and pembrolizumab) have very recently joined the list of FDA-approved checkpoint blockers (respectively, for the treatment of metastatic squamous non-small cell lung cancer and relapsed/refractory melanoma patients) (2, 3).

However, the primary goal of cancer immunotherapy is to activate the immune system in cancer patients. This requires the induction of tumor-specific T-cell-mediated antitumor immunity. Checkpoint blockers are only able to abrogate the brakes of a functioning antitumoral immune response, implying that only patients who have pre-existing tumor-specific T cells will benefit most from checkpoint blockade. This is evidenced by the observation that ipilimumab may be more effective in patients who have pre-existing, albeit ineffective, antitumor immune responses (4). Hence, combining immune checkpoint blockade with immunotherapeutic strategies that prime tumor-specific T cell responses might be an attractive and even synergistic approach. This relatively new paradigm has lead to the revival of existing, and to date disappointing (as monotherapies), active immunotherapeutic treatment modalities. One promising strategy to induce priming of tumor-specific T cells is dendritic cell (DC)-based immunotherapy.

Dendritic cells are positioned at the crucial interface between the innate and adaptive immune system as powerful antigen-presenting cells capable of inducing antigen-specific T cell responses (5). Therefore, they are the most frequently used cellular adjuvant in clinical trials. Since the publication of the first DC vaccination trial in melanoma patients in 1995, the promise of DC immunotherapy is underlined by numerous clinical trials, frequently showing survival benefit in comparison to non-DC control groups (6-8). Despite the fact that most DC vaccination trials differ in several vaccine parameters (i.e., site and frequency of injection, nature of the DCs, choice of antigen), DC vaccination as a monotherapy is considered safe and rarely associates with immune-related toxicity. This is in sharp contrast with the use of mAbs or cytokine therapies. Ipilumumab has, for instance, been shown to induce immune-related serious adverse events in up to one-third of treated melanoma patients (1). The FDA approval of Sipuleucel-T (Provenge), an autologous DC-enriched vaccine for hormone-resistant metastatic prostate cancer, in 2010 is really considered as a milestone in the vaccination community (9). After 15 years of extensive clinical research, Sipileucel-T became the first cellular immunotherapy ever that received FDA approval, providing compelling evidence for the substantial socio-economic impact of DC-based immunotherapy. DC vaccinations have most often been applied in patients with melanoma, prostate cancer, high-grade glioma, and renal cell cancer. Although promising objective responses and tumor-specific T cell responses have been observed in all these cancer-types (providing proof-of-principle for DC-based immunotherapy), the clinical success of this treatment is still considered suboptimal (6). This poor clinical efficacy can in part be attributed to the severe tumor-induced immune suppression and the selection of patients with advanced disease status and poor survival prognostics (6, 10-12).

There is a consensus in the field that step-by-step optimization and standardization of the production process of DC vaccines, to obtain a Th1-driven immune response, might enhance their clinical efficacy (13). In this review, we address some recent DC vaccine adaptations that impact DC biology. Combining these novel insights might bring us closer to an ideal DC vaccine product that can trigger potent CTL- and Th1-driven antitumor immunity.

One factor requiring more attention in this production process is the immunogenicity of the dying or dead cancer cells used to load the DCs. It has been shown in multiple preclinical cancer models that the methodology used to prepare the tumor cell cargo can influence the in vivo immunogenic potential of loaded DC vaccines (14-19). Different treatment modalities have been described to enhance the immunogenicity of cancer cells in the context of DC vaccines. These treatments can potentiate antitumor immunity by inducing immune responses against tumor neo-antigens and/or by selectively increasing the exposure/release of particular damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) that can trigger the innate immune system (14, 17-19). The emergence of the concept of immunogenic cell death (ICD) might even further improve the immunogenic potential of DC vaccines. Cancer cells undergoing ICD have been shown to exhibit excellent immunostimulatory capacity owing to the spatiotemporally defined emission of a series of critical DAMPs acting as potent danger signals (20, 21). Thus far, three DAMPs have been attributed a crucial role in the immunogenic potential of nearly all ICD inducers: the surface-exposed "eat me" signal calreticulin (ecto-CRT), the "find me" signal ATP and passively released high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) (21). Moreover, ICD-experiencing cancer cells have been shown in various mouse models to act as very potent Th1-driving anticancer vaccines, already in the absence of any adjuvants (21, 22). The ability to reject tumors in syngeneic mice after vaccination with cancer cells (of the same type) undergoing ICD is a crucial hallmark of ICD, in addition to the molecular DAMP signature (21).

Here, we review the effects of three frequently used immunogenic modalities and four potent ICD inducers on DC biology and their application in DC vaccines in preclinical as well as clinical settings (**Tables 1** and **2**). Moreover, we discuss the rationale for combining different cell death-inducing regimens to enhance the immunogenic potential of DC vaccines and to ensure the clinical relevance of the vaccine product.

THE IMPACT OF DC BIOLOGY ON THE EFFICACY OF DC VACCINES

Over the past years, different DC vaccine parameters have been shown to impact the clinical effectiveness of DC vaccinations. In the next section, we will elaborate on some promising adaptations of the DC preparation protocol.

Given the labor-intensive *ex vivo* culturing protocol of monocyte-derived DCs and inspired by the results of the Provenge study, several groups are currently exploiting the use of blood-isolated naturally circulating DCs (76–78). In this context, De Vries et al. evaluated the use of antigen-loaded purified plasmacytoid DCs

Treatment modality	Associated DAMPs	Effect on DC biology
Immunogenic treatment mo	dality	
UV irradiation	Pre-apoptotic ecto-CRT (23); post-apoptotic passive release of HSP70 and HMGB1 (24); mutation-induced neo-antigens (25)	Efficient engulfment; phenotypic maturation; increased IL-12 secretion; stimulate the polarization of T cells toward CTLs (19, 24, 26, 27)
Oxidation-inducing modalities (HOCI/H ₂ O ₂ treatment or freeze-thaw cycles followed by X-ray irradiation)	OAMPs (reactive protein carbonyls, peroxidized phospholipids, oxidized low-density lipoprotein) (14, 18, 28–30); carbonylated protein products presented as neo-antigens (30, 31)	Efficient antigen uptake and presentation; induction of IL-12; increased <i>in vivo</i> induction of tumor-reactive T cells (14); induction of Th1- and CTL-driven antitumor immunity (18)
Heat shock	Passive release of heat shock proteins like HSP60/70/90 (17, 32); passive release of HMGB1 (33); increased expression of tumor-specific antigens (34)	Upregulation of DC maturation markers (CD40, CD80, and CD86) and induction of IL-12 (32); enhanced priming of CTL responses (17, 34)
Inducers of immunogenic co	ell death	
Radiotherapy	Pre-apoptotic exposure of ecto-CRT (23, 24, 35); early/mid-apoptotic exposure of ecto-HSP70 (36); post-apoptotic passive release of HMGB1 (33, 35); mutation-induced neo-antigens (25)	Efficient phagocytosis and enhanced phenotypic maturation (37); increased infiltration in the tumor environment (38, 39); enhanced stimulation of antigen-specific CTL responses (40)
Shikonin	Early/mid-apoptotic induction of ecto-HSP70, ecto- CRT and ecto-GRP78 (an inducer of pro-tumorigenic effects) (41)	Increased phenotypic (CD40 ^{high} , CD80 ^{high} , CD86 ^{high}) and functional maturation (IL-12p70 ^{high} , TGF- β^{high} , IL-6 ^{high} , IL-23 ^{low}) but only in combination with LPS; increased capacity to induce Th1 and Th17 differentiation (41)
High-hydrostatic pressure	Early/mid-apoptotic exposure of ecto-HSP70, ecto- HSP90, ecto-CRT; pre-apoptotic ATP release; post- apoptotic passive release of HMGB1, HSP70/90, and CRT (42)	Efficient phagocytosis; enhanced phenotypic and functional maturation; induction of antigen-specific T cells without inducing Tregs (42)
Oncolytic viruses	CVB3 and oncolytic adenovirus: (early-apoptotic) exposure of ecto-CRT; (early/mid-apoptotic) secretion of ATP and (post-apoptotic) release of HMGB1 (43, 44)	Enhanced expression of CD80/CD86 (44, 46, 47) and CCR7 (44); more efficient priming of tumor-specific CD8 ⁺ CTL responses (43, 46, 47) and Th1 responses (43); increased accumulation in tumor microenvironment
	NDV: early/mid-necroptotic exposure of ecto-CRT and post-necroptotic release of HMGB1 (45)	(43, 44)
Hypericin-based PDT	Pre-apoptotic ecto-CRT, ecto-HSP70 and secreted ATP; late apoptotic passive release of HSP70/90, CRT and HMGB1; accumulation of OAMPs like protein carbonyls (48–50)	Enhanced phagocytosis; phenotypic maturation (CD80 ^{high} CD86 ^{high} CD83 ^{high} MHC-Il ^{high}) and immunogenic functional stimulation (NO ^{high} IL-10 ^{absent} IL-6 ^{high} IL-18 ^{high} IL-12p70 ^{madium}); clonal expansion of human IFN- γ producing CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cells (49, 53, 54)
Photofrin-based PDT	early/mid-apoptotic exposure of CRT, HSP60/70, ceramide and S1P; post-apoptotic release of HMGB1 (51, 52)	Increased phenotypic maturation (CD86 ^{high} , MHC-II ^{high}) and enhanced IL-12 production (55); increased infiltration in tumor draining lymph nodes after peritumoral vaccination (56)

TABLE 1 | A list of prominent enhancers of immunogenicity and ICD inducers applied in DC vaccine setups and their associations with DAMPs and DC biology.

CRT, calreticulin; CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocyte; CVB3, coxsackievirus B3; DAMPs, damage-associated molecular patterns; HMGB1, high-mobility group box-1 protein; HSP, heat shock protein; ICD, immunogenic cell death; IFN, interferon; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; NDV, Newcastle disease virus; NO, nitric oxide; OAMPs, oxidation-associated molecular patterns; PDT, photodynamic therapy; TGF, transforming growth factor; Treg, regulatory T cell.

for intranodal injection in melanoma patients (79). This strategy was feasible and induced only very mild side effects. In addition, the overall survival of vaccinated patients was greatly enhanced as compared to historical control patients. However, it still remains to be determined whether this strategy is more efficacious than monocyte-derived DC vaccine approaches (78). By contrast, experiments in the preclinical GL261 high-grade glioma model recently showed that vaccination with tumor antigen-loaded myeloid DCs resulted in more robust Th1 responses and a stronger survival benefit as compared to mice vaccinated with their plasmacytoid counterparts (80).

In view of their strong potential to stimulate cytotoxic T cell responses, several groups are currently exploring the use of Langerhans cell-like DCs as sources for DC vaccines (81–83). These so-called IL-15 DCs can be derived from CD14⁺ monocytes by culturing them with IL-15 (instead of the standard IL-4). Recently, it has been shown that in comparison to IL-4 DCs, these

cells have an increased capacity to stimulate antitumor natural killer (NK) cell cytotoxicity in a contact- and IL-15-dependent manner (84). NK cells are increasingly being recognized as crucial contributors to antitumor immunity, especially in DC vaccination setups (85, 86). Three clinical trials are currently evaluating these Langerhans cell-type DCs in melanoma patients (NCT00700167, NCT 01456104, and NCT01189383).

Targeting cancer stem cells is another promising development, particularly in the setting of glioma (87). Glioma stem cells can foster tumor growth, radio- and chemotherapy-resistance, and local immunosuppression in the tumor microenvironment (87, 88). Furthermore, glioma stem cells may express higher levels of tumor-associated antigens and MHC complex molecules as compared to non-stem cells (89, 90). A preclinical study in a rodent orthotopic glioblastoma model has shown that DC vaccines loaded with neuropsheres enriched in cancer stem cells could induce more immunoreactivity and survival benefit as compared

Treatment modality	Preclinical experience in DC vaccine settings	Clinical experience in DC vaccine settings
Immunogenic treatment mo	dalities	
UV irradiation	B16 melanoma in C57BL/6 – curative immunizations (19); ID8-ova ovarian carcinoma model in C57BL/6 mice – weekly curative immunizations (14)	Only in combination with $\gamma\text{-irradiation}$ and heat shock in B-cell lymphoma patients (57)
Oxidation-inducing modalities (HOCI/H ₂ O ₂ treatment or freeze-thaw cycles followed	ID8-ova ovarian carcinoma model in C57BL/6 mice – weekly curative immunizations (14); orthotopic GL261 high-grade glioma model in C57BL/6 mice – both	Freeze-thaw cycles in combination with high-dose irradiation: often reported in clinical trials involving high-grade glioma and melanoma patients (8, 58–66)
by X-ray irradiation)	prophylactic and curative vaccination settings induced a pro-inflammatory shift in the brain-infiltrating immune cells and the protein carbonyl content in the tumor lysate positively correlated with tumor rejection (18)	HOCI: pilot study in five recurrent ovarian cancer patients demonstrated potent T cell responses against tumor antigens, decreased circulating Treg levels, and serum IL-10 levels and two patients experienced durable PFS responses of \geq 24 months (14)
Heat shock	PANCO2 pancreatic cancer model in C57BL/6 mice – curative vaccinations (17); in combination with 30 Gy irradiation in B16-ova model in C57BL/6 mice – prophylactic vaccinations (16)	Non-randomized trial in newly diagnosed glioblastoma patients (67): significantly improved tumor control rates and survival rates in DC vaccine group than in control group; increased proportions of peripheral CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cells post vaccination compared to control group; in combination with other cell killing modalities in B-cell lymphoma and melanoma patients (57, 68)
Inducers of immunogenic c	ell death	
Radiotherapy	B16 melanoma in C57BL/6 – prophylactic immunization model with critical involvement of CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cells (15, 37); E.G7 (SCCVII) in C57BL/6 – curative vaccination model (40)	Radiotherapy as a single intervention: multiple clinical trials in melanoma patients (8) and two clinical trials in high-grade glioma patients (69, 70). This study by Cho and colleagues reported a survival advantage of more than 15 months in the vaccinated glioblastoma patients in comparison to the control group (receiving conventional treatment)
		Radiotherapy as part of an ICD-inducing cell death protocol in B-cell lymphoma patients (57)
Shikonin	B16 melanoma in C57BL/6 – curative immunization model with strong induction of CTL responses (41)	Not available
High-hydrostatic pressure	Preclinical experiments are currently ongoing (71)	Multiple clinical trials are initiated involving prostate and ovarian cancer patients (71)
Oncolytic viruses	Not applied as ICD-based DC vaccines yet; curative combination of intratumoral oncolytic virus treatment and peripheral DC vaccination in B16 melanoma (C57BL/6) (72) and in subcutaneous CMT64 or KNL205 tumors (in C57BL/6 mice and DBA/2 DREG mice, respectively) (73)	Case report of breast cancer patient treated with combination of local hyperthermia, intravenously administered NDV and intradermal DC vaccines loaded with NDV-oncolysate (74)
Hypericin-based PDT	Not available	Not available
Photofrin-based PDT	In vivo photofrin-PDT treatment in combination with curative DC vaccination in C-26 colon carcinoma (BALB/c) (75); curative vaccinations with DCs charged with PDT-induced tumor lysate in EMT6, Renca and 4T1 non-orthotopic tumor modes (BALB/c), induction of CTL and Th1 responses	Not available

TABLE 2 | A list of preclinical tumor models and clinical studies for evaluation of the *in vivo* potency of DC vaccines loaded with immunogenically killed tumor cells.

CRT, calreticulin; CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocyte; DC, dendritic cell; ICD, immunogenic cell death; NDV, Newcastle disease virus; PDT, photodynamic therapy; PFS, progression-free survival.

to DCs loaded with GL261 cells grown under standard conditions (91). Currently there are four clinical trials ongoing in highgrade glioma patients evaluating this approach (NCT00890032, NCT00846456, NCT01171469, and NCT01567202).

With regard to the DC maturation status of the vaccine product, a phase I/II clinical trial in metastatic melanoma patients has confirmed the superiority of mature antigen-loaded DCs to elicit immunological responses as compared to their immature counterparts (92). This finding was further substantiated in patients diagnosed with prostate cancer and recurrent high-grade glioma (93, 94). Hence, DCs need to express potent costimulatory molecules and lymph node homing receptors in order to generate a strong T cell response. In view of this finding, the route of administration is another vaccine parameter that can influence the homing of the injected DCs to the lymph nodes. In the context of prostate cancer and renal cell carcinoma it has been shown that vaccination routes with access to the draining lymph nodes (intradermal/intranodal/intralymphatic/subcutaneous) resulted in better clinical response rates as compared to intravenous injection (93). In melanoma patients, a direct comparison between intradermal vaccination and intranodal vaccination concluded that, although more DCs reached the lymph nodes after intranodal vaccination, the melanoma-specific T cells induced by intradermal vaccination were more functional
(95). Furthermore, the frequency of vaccination can also influence the vaccine's immunogenicity. Our group has shown in a cohort-comparison trial involving relapsed high-grade glioma patients that shortening the interval between the four inducer DC vaccines improved the progression-free survival curves (58, 96).

Another variable that has been systematically studied is the cytokine cocktail that is applied to mature the DCs. The current gold standard cocktail for DC maturation contains TNF-a, IL-1 β , IL-6, and PGE₂ (97, 98). Although this cocktail upregulates DC maturation markers and the lymph node homing receptor CCR7, IL-12 production by DCs could not be evoked (97, 98). Nevertheless, IL-12 is a critical Th1-driving cytokine and DC-derived IL-12 has been shown to associate with improved survival in DC vaccinated high-grade glioma and melanoma patients (99, 100). Recently, a novel cytokine cocktail, including TNF- α , IL-1 β , poly-I:C, IFN- α , and IFN- γ , was introduced (101, 102). The type 1-polarized DCs obtained with this cocktail produced high levels of IL-12 and could induce strong tumorantigen-specific CTL responses through enhanced induction of CXCL10 (99). In addition, CD40-ligand (CD40L) stimulation of DCs has been used to mature DCs in clinical trials (100, 103). Binding of CD40 on DCs to CD40L on CD4+ helper T cells licenses DCs and enables them to prime CD8⁺ effector T cells.

A final major determinant of the vaccine immunogenicity is the choice of antigen to load the DCs. Two main approaches can be applied: loading with selected tumor antigens (tumor-associated antigens or tumor-specific antigens) and loading with whole tumor cell preparations (13). The former strategy enables easier immune monitoring, has a lower risk of inducing auto-immunity, and can provide "off-the-shelf" availability of the antigenic cargo. Whole tumor cell-based DC vaccines, on the other hand, are not HLA-type dependent, have a reduced risk of inducing immuneescape variants, and can elicit immunity against multiple tumor antigens. Meta-analytical data provided by Neller et al. have demonstrated enhanced clinical efficacy in several tumor types of DCs loaded with whole tumor lysate as compared to DCs pulsed with defined tumor antigens (104). This finding was recently also substantiated in high-grade glioma patients, although this study was not set-up to compare survival parameters (105).

TOWARD A MORE IMMUNOGENIC TUMOR CELL CARGO

The majority of clinical trials that apply autologous whole tumor lysate to load DC vaccines report the straightforward use of multiple freeze-thaw cycles to induce primary necrosis of cancer cells (8, 93). Freeze-thaw induced necrosis is, however, considered non-immunogenic and has even been shown to inhibit toll-like receptor (TLR)-induced maturation and function of DCs (16). To this end, many research groups have focused on tackling this roadblock by applying immunogenic modalities to induce cell death.

Immunogenic Treatment Modalities

Tables 1 and 2 list some frequently applied treatment methods to enhance the immunogenic potential of the tumor cell cargo that is used to load DC vaccines in an ICD-independent manner (i.e., these treatments do not meet the molecular and/or cellular determinants of ICD). Immunogenic treatment modalities can positively impact DC biology by inducing particular DAMPs in the dying cancer cells (**Table 1**). **Table 2** lists the preclinical and clinical studies that investigated their *in vivo* potential. **Figure 1** schematically represents the application and the putative modes of action of these immunogenic enhancers in the setting of DC vaccines.





Ultraviolet Irradiation

Ultraviolet (UV) light is considered an electromagnetic nonionizing radiation with a wavelength between 100 and 400 nm. Its immunogenic potential was discovered in 1991 when Begovic et al. demonstrated that vaccination of immunocompetent mice (but not immunodeficient nude mice) with UV-irradiated cancer cells could induce resistance to subsequent rechallenge with live tumor cells (23, 106, 107). This antitumor effect was crucially mediated by NK cells and CD8+ T cells. UV-treated cancer cells are efficiently engulfed by DCs, leading to phenotypic maturation and increased IL-12 production (19, 24, 26) (Table 1). Moreover, these matured DCs in turn stimulated the polarization of T cells toward IFN-y producing CD8⁺ T cells (24, 26). Of note, human DCs that had ingested UV-irradiated apoptotic tumor cells were shown to be more effective in generating CD8⁺ CTLs than DCs pulsed with freeze-thaw lysates (27). In addition, immunization with DCs loaded with UV-treated tumor cells could elicit effective antitumor therapeutic efficacy in a B16 mouse melanoma model, albeit nonsuperior to DCs loaded with necrotic freeze-thaw lysate (19) (Table 2). The induction of specific DAMPs, such as ecto-CRT, and the release of heat shock protein 70 (HSP70) and HMGB1 determines the immunogenicity of UV irradiation (23, 24, 33) (Table 1). Moreover, as UV light is known to affect mainly DNA, mutation-induced tumor neo-antigens might also contribute to increasing the host antitumor immune response (108). T cells reactive against mutated neo-antigens are theoretically less susceptible to central and peripheral tolerance. Vaccination with UV-induced tumor neo-antigens might be particularly useful in UV-induced tumors (e.g., cutaneous and uveal melanoma) that might share the ex vivo UV-induced tumor neo-antigens. Besides, it has previously been shown that immunization of tumor-bearing mice with mutated melanoma-derived selfantigens can elicit efficient cross-reactive CD8+ T cell responses against multiple non-mutated epitopes of the tumor protein and against the melanoma cells (109). This led to the rejection of established poorly immunogenic B16 melanoma tumors (109). To the best of our knowledge, there are no reports of clinical trials that used UV irradiation as a single treatment for obtaining an antigen source to pulse DC vaccines (Table 2). This is probably related to the fact that UV light as a single treatment is not able to induce high levels of cancer cell death in the vaccine, an absolute requirement for clinical translation.

Oxidation-Inducing Modalities

In recent years, an increasing number of data were published concerning the ability of oxidative stress to induce oxidationassociate molecular patterns (OAMPs), such as reactive protein carbonyls and peroxidized phospholipids, which can act as DAMPs (28, 29) (**Table 1**). Protein carbonylation, a surrogate indicator of irreversible protein oxidation, has for instance been shown to improve cancer cell immunogenicity and to facilitate the formation of immunogenic neo-antigens (30, 31).

One prototypical enhancer of oxidation-based immunogenicity is radiotherapy (21, 23). In certain tumor types, such as highgrade glioma and melanoma, clinical trials that apply autologous whole tumor lysate to load DC vaccines report the random use of freeze-thaw cycles (to induce necrosis of cancer cells) or a combination of freeze-thaw cycles and subsequent high-dose γ -irradiation (8, 18) (Table 2). However, from the available clinical evidence, it is unclear which of both methodologies has superior immunogenic potential. In light of the oxidation-based immunogenicity that is associated with radiotherapy, we recently demonstrated the superiority of DC vaccines loaded with irradiated freeze-thaw lysate (in comparison to freeze-thaw lysate) in terms of survival advantage in a preclinical high-grade glioma model (18) (Table 2). This survival advantage was associated with an increased tumor infiltration of Th1 cells and CTLs and accompanied by a reduced invasion of regulatory cells (Tregs), macrophages, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Moreover, this study revealed a significant positive correlation between the level of protein carbonylation - as a measure of the total oxidative content - in the tumor lysates used to load the DCs and the percentage of mice able to reject the aggressive intracranial tumors. Treatment of the tumor lysate with hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂, a strong oxidant) even induced higher tumor protection than irradiated freeze-thaw lysate, warranting the preclinical investigation of other strong oxidizing modalities to further potentiate the immunogenicity of whole tumor antigen-pulsed DC vaccinations.

In line with these results and through a series of elegant ex vivo an in vivo mouse experiments, Chiang et al. recently selected hypochlorous acid (HOCl)-based oxidation (to induce primary necrosis of tumor cells) as the method of choice (as compared to UVB irradiation and freeze-thaw cycles) for preparing whole tumor lysate-loaded DC vaccines in the preclinical ID8 ovarian cancer model (14) (Table 2). Interestingly, T cells stimulated by DCs loaded with HOCl-induced oxidatively modified tumor cells were still able to recognize non-modified tumor cells, an essential requirement if the cells are to exert antitumor activity (30). In a pilot study containing five recurrent ovarian cancer patients, these autologous DCs loaded with HOCl-oxidized autologous tumor lysate could produce high levels of IL-12, elicited strong antigen-specific T cell responses and reduced the levels of circulating Tregs and serum IL-10 (14). Moreover, two patients experienced durable progression-free survival intervals of more than 24 months after vaccination (Table 2).

Heat Shock Treatment

Heat shock is a term that is applied when a cell is subjected to a temperature that is higher than that of the ideal body temperature of the organisms of which the cell is derived. Heat shock can induce apoptosis (41–43°C) or necrosis (>43°C) depending on the temperature that is applied (110). The immunogenicity of heat shock treated cancer cells largely resides within their ability to produce HSPs, such as HSP60, HSP70, and HSP90 (17, 32) (**Table 1**). These HSPs can function as chaperones for tumor antigens, facilitating their cross-presentation (17). Moreover, after recognition by their receptors (CD91, TLR2/4), these HSPs can instigate the attraction of neutrophils and monocytes and the activation of NK cells and DCs (111). These events are crucial for the initiation of tumor-specific immune responses. Independent of the induction of HSPs, heat shock treatment

has also been shown to upregulate the transcription of specific tumor-associated antigens (34).

Co-incubation of heat-stressed apoptotic cancer cells with immature DCs resulted in the upregulation of DC maturation markers (CD40, CD80, and CD86) and higher IL-12 levels (32) (**Table 1**). Interestingly, splenocytes from mice immunized with heat-stressed apoptotic cancer cells got polarized toward a Th1 cytokine profile. Furthermore, DCs loaded with heat shock stressed melanoma cells can efficiently cross-prime tumor-antigen-specific CTLs both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (34). Of note, direct comparison of heat shock treated tumor lysate with freeze-thaw tumor lysate in a DC vaccine setup demonstrated a stronger tumor regression in favor of heat shock lysate in a mouse model for pancreatic cancer (**Table 2**). Again, this was associated with a stronger priming of tumor-specific CTL responses (17).

Dendritic cells loaded with heat shocked cancer cells have already been successfully applied in clinical practice in highgrade glioma patients (**Table 2**). Jie et al. recently published an open labeled non-randomized clinical trial in which 12 newly diagnosed glioblastoma patients received conventional therapy and 13 patients received additional DC vaccines loaded with heat shock treated autologous glioblastoma cells (67). The vaccinated patients had a significantly improved overall survival and progression-free survival. Interestingly, the proportions of peripheral CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, and NK cells were significantly higher after DC vaccination in comparison to the control group. Moreover, increased levels of IFN- γ , IL-2, and IL-12 were measured in the sera of DC vaccinated patients.

All together, these data suggest that an immunogenic treatment of cancer cells can positively impact the potency of DCs interacting with them (**Figure 1**). In light of this finding, the relatively new concept of ICD of cancer cells can be considered a promising strategy for loading DC-based anticancer vaccines, potentially giving rise to a next generation of potent Th1-driving DC vaccines (111, 112) (**Figure 2**).

Inducers of Immunogenic Cell Death

Immunogenic cell death is a cell death regimen that is associated with the spatiotemporally defined emission of immunogenic DAMPs that can trigger the immune system (20, 21, 113). ICD has been found to depend on the concomitant induction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and activation of endoplasmatic reticulum (ER) stress (111). Besides the three DAMPs that are most crucial for ICD (ecto-CRT, ATP, and HMGB1), other DAMPs such as surface-exposed or released HSPs (notably HSP70 and HSP90) have also been shown to contribute to the immunogenic capacity of ICD inducers (20, 21). The binding of these DAMPs to their respective immune receptors (CD91 for HSPs/CRT, P2RX7/P2RY2 for ATP, and TLR2/4 for HMGB1/HSP70) leads to the recruitment and/or activation of innate immune cells and facilitates the uptake of tumor antigens by antigen-presenting cells and their cross-presentation to T cells eventually leading to IL-1 β -, IL-17-, and IFN- γ -dependent tumor eradiation (22). This in vivo tumor rejecting capacity induced by dying cancer cells in the absence of any adjuvant, is considered as a prerequisite for an agent to be termed an ICD inducer. Recently, a classification system for ICD inducers was proposed based on whether an ICD inducer triggers apoptotic cell death as a consequence of direct action at the ER (Type II ICD inducer), or whether it initiates both ER stress-dependent danger signaling and apoptosis through divergent mechanisms (Type I ICD inducer) (111).

Although the list of ICD inducers is constantly growing (113), only few of these immunogenic modalities have been tested in order to generate an immunogenic tumor cell cargo to load DC vaccines (**Tables 1** and **2**). **Figure 2** schematically represents the preparation of ICD-based DC vaccines and their putative modes of action.

Radiotherapy

Ionizing X-ray or γ -ray irradiation exerts its anticancer effect predominantly via its capacity to induce DNA double-strand breaks leading to intrinsic cancer cell apoptosis (114). The idea



FIGURE 2 | A schematic representation of immunogenic cell death (ICD)-based DC vaccines. ICD causes cancer cells to emit a spatiotemporally defined pattern of danger signals. Upon loading of these ICD-undergoing cancer cells onto DCs, they induce extensive phagocytosis and antigen uptake. Loaded DCs show enhanced phenotypic and functional maturation and immunization with these ICD-based DC vaccines instigates Th1-, Th17-, and cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL)-driven antitumor immunity *in vivo*.

that radiotherapy could also impact the immune system was derived from the observation that radiotherapy could induce T-cell-mediated delay of tumor growth in a non-irradiated lesion (115). This abscopal (ab-scopus, away from the target) effect of radiotherapy was later explained by the ICD-inducing capacity (116). Together with anthracyclines, γ -irradiation was one of the first treatment modalities identified to induce ICD. Although this type I ICD inducer is known to induce ROS, its ER stress-inducing capability remains largely unexplored (111). The DAMPs that are induced following radiotherapy treatment of cancer cells include the exposure of ecto-CRT (23, 24, 35) and ecto-HSP70 (36), and the release of HMGB1 (33, 35) (Table 1). Irradiated B16 melanoma cells have been shown to be efficiently phagocytosed by DCs and to induce phenotypic DC maturation (15, 37). In addition, human DCs pulsed with irradiated tumor cells could efficiently stimulate antigen-specific CTL responses (40) (Table 1). Furthermore, mice immunized with DCs loaded with irradiated cancer cells could efficiently suppress tumor growth following inoculation with live syngeneic tumor cells in multiple preclinical cancer models (15, 40). In this setting, splenocytes from vaccinated animals could efficiently prime CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and exerted antigen-specific cytolytic activity (15) (Table 2).

Dendritic cell vaccines exposed to irradiated cancer cells have also been successfully implemented in clinical practice in melanoma and HGG patients (8, 69, 70) (Table 2). Cho et al. have shown that the implementation of DC vaccines loaded with irradiated autologous tumor cells in the conventional treatment regimen of newly diagnosed glioblastoma patients could significantly prolong the median overall survival (by more than 15 months) as compared to a control group receiving solely conventional treatment (69). Interestingly, the group of Di Nicola reported that vaccination with DCs loaded with dying autologous tumor cells after exposure to a cell death protocol consisting of heat shock, γ -ray, and UV ray could elicit clinical responses in 6 out of 18 relapsed B-cell lymphoma patients (117). Later, they showed the impaired ability of the neoplastic cells used to vaccinate non-responders to undergo ICD upon exposure to the cell death protocol (57). Importantly, they revealed a positive association between the extent of CRT and HSP90 surface expression in the DC antigenic cargo and the clinical and immunological responses achieved (57).

Shikonin

The phytochemical shikonin, a major component of Chinese herbal medicine, is known to inhibit proteasome activity. It serves multiple biological roles and can be applied as an antibacterial, antiviral, anti-inflammatory, and anticancer treatment. The latter application has been shown to yield responsiveness in late-stage lung cancer patients (118). Apoptotic cell death elicited by this type I ICD inducer can be inhibited by anti-oxidants, suggesting a role of shikonin-induced ROS (119, 120). The link between shikonin treatment and ER stress is not evidenced yet. The ICD that is induced in shikonin-treated cancer cells is characterized by the early induction of HSP70, HSP90, GRP78, and HMGB1 (41) (**Table 1**). Importantly, shikonin treatment could significantly improve the survival of mice bearing P388 leukemia and this antitumor

effect of shikonin was less pronounced in immunodeficient mice (120). Moreover, the tumor lysate from shikonin-treated B16 cells could enhance phenotypic and functional DC maturation and differentiation of Th1 and Th17 cells, two important features of ICD-associated antitumor immunity (41) (**Table 1**). Additionally, curative vaccination of B16 melanoma-inoculated mice with shi-konin-lysate-loaded DCs could delay tumor growth (41). This was associated with increased cytolytic activity of splenocytes on target tumor cells (**Table 2**). Although shikonin is administered to breast cancer patients for observational application (NCT01287468), clinical experience evaluating shikonin-lysate-loaded DC vaccines is unfortunately still lacking (**Table 2**).

High-Hydrostatic Pressure

High-hydrostatic pressure (HHP) is an established method to sterilize pharmaceuticals, human transplants, and food. HHP between 100 and 250 megapascal (MPa) has been shown to induce apoptosis of murine and human (cancer) cells (121–123). While DNA damage does not seem to be induced by HHP <1000 MPa, HHP can inhibit enzymatic functions and the synthesis of cellular proteins (122). Increased ROS production was detected in HHP-treated cancer cell lines and ER stress was evidenced by the rapid phosphorylation of eIF2 α (42).

The anticancer activity of HHP was already demonstrated more than four decades ago in bladder cancer patients (124). Later, preclinical experiments demonstrated in vivo immunogenicity of HHP-treated cancer cells in the B16 melanoma model and the 3LL-D122 lung metastasis model (125, 126). Subsequently, it was shown that HHP-treated mammalian cancer cell lines undergoing apoptosis can release HSP70 and HMGB1, while retaining their immunogenicity in vivo (127). Very recently, Fucikova and colleagues have shown the ability of HHP to induce prototypical ICD in human prostate and ovarian cancer cell lines and in acute leukemia cells (42). HHP treatment induced the rapid expression of ecto-HSP70, ecto-HSP90, and ecto-CRT and the release of HMGB1 and ATP (Table 1). Interestingly, HHP-treated cancer cells were rapidly phagocytosed by DCs and induced the upregulation of CD83, CD86, and HLA-DR, and the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Table 1). This led to the stimulation of high numbers of tumor-specific T cells without inducing Tregs. Hence, all ICD-associated molecular criteria are fulfilled for HHP. This group is currently testing the *in vivo* immunogenicity of HHP killed tumor cells in prophylactic and curative murine vaccination settings (Table 2). Moreover, they have initiated multiple clinical trials to evaluate the potential of DC vaccines loaded with HHP-treated cancer cells in ovarian and prostate cancer patients (71).

Oncolytic Viruses

Oncolytic viruses are self-replicating, tumor selective virus strains that can directly lyse tumor cells. Over the past few years, a new oncolytic paradigm has risen; entailing that, rather than utilizing oncolytic viruses solely for direct tumor eradication, the cell death they induce should be accompanied by the elicitation of antitumor immune responses to maximize their therapeutic efficacy (128). One way in which these oncolytic viruses can fulfill this oncolytic paradigm is by inducing ICD (128).

Thus far, three oncolytic virus strains can meet the molecular requirements of ICD; coxsackievirus B3 (CVB3), oncolytic adenovirus and Newcastle disease virus (NDV) (**Table 1**) (113). Infection of tumor cells with these viruses causes the production of viral envelop proteins that induce ER stress by overloading the ER. Hence, all three virus strains can be considered type II ICD inducers (113). While CVB3 and oncolytic adenoviruses induce the surface expression of CRT, followed by the release of ATP and the passive release of HMGB1 in apoptotic tumor cells (in non-small cell lung carcinoma and adenocarcinoma cells, respectively) (43, 44), NDV induces necroptosis accompanied by the surface exposure of ATP and the post-necroptotic release of HMGB1 in GL261 glioma cells, with no contribution of ATP (**Table 1**) (45). In addition, NDV-infected GL261 cells upregulated the expression of the PMEL17 tumor antigen (45).

Intratumoral administration of CVB3 in nude mice resulted in the marked infiltration of NK cells, macrophages, granulocytes, and mature DCs into the tumor tissue (Table 1) (44). Tumorinfiltrating DCs expressed significantly higher levels of costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86, as well as the lymph node homing receptor CCR7 (44). CD40-ligand encoding oncolytic adenoviruses have also been shown to facilitate the recruitment of DCs to the tumor tissue, this way entailing efficient Th1 and CD8⁺ CTL responses (Table 1) (43). Measles virus is another oncolytic virus that requires further investigation. Although extensive analysis of in vitro ICD determinants is lacking for this virus (only the release of HMGB1 has been documented), DCs exposed in vitro to measles-virus treated melanoma cells showed increased CD80 and CD86 expression levels (Table 1) (46). This resulted in the efficient priming of melanoma-specific cell killing by IFN-γ producing CD8⁺ T cells. Moreover, in terms of priming these melanoma-specific CTL responses, measles virusinfected melanoma cells constituted more effective tumor lysates (also termed oncolysates) for loading of DCs than uninfected melanoma cell lysates (46). The DC stimulatory capacity of NDVderived oncolysates has already been demonstrated more than a decade ago by Schirrmacher et al. (47). DCs derived from breast cancer patients pulsed with NDV-oncolysates showed increased expression of costimulatory molecules in comparison to DCs loaded with tumor lysate from non-infected breast carcinoma cells (Table 1) (47). In addition, NDV-oncolysate-loaded DCs were more effective in stimulating bone-marrow-derived reactive memory T cells in vitro (47).

Oncolytic viruses hold great potential for application in ICD-based DC vaccines given their potential to elicit several ICD-related DAMPs. Furthermore, these viruses might directly affect DC maturation and activation through interaction with pathogen recognition receptors on the tumor cells. This way, biological oncolysates may render the use of an artificial maturation cocktail otiose. Unfortunately, there are no preclinical *in vivo* data available yet to evince the efficacy of DC vaccines loaded with immunogenic oncolysates (**Table 2**). Nevertheless, several studies have documented the beneficial effect of intratumoral application of oncolytic viruses in combination with tumor-directed systemic DC vaccinations (72, 73). Very recently, Schirrmacher et al. disclosed a case report of a breast cancer patient with liver metastasis that was treated with local hyperthermia,

intravenously administered NDV, and subcutaneous vaccination with DCs loaded with NDV-infected breast cancer cells (oncolysate) (74). This combination therapy led to long-lasting tumorspecific memory T cell responses and stable disease for more than 66 months in this particular patient. The use of autologous DCs loaded with NDV-mediated oncolysate is licensed by the Paul Ehrlich Institute to the Immunologic-Oncologic Centre Cologne (IOZK) since May 2015.

Of note, in October 2015, the FDA approved the first oncolytic virus, Imlygic (a genetically modified live oncolytic herpes virus) for the treatment of melanoma lesions in the skin and lymph nodes. This FDA approval should facilitate the approval of other oncolytic viruses as well as the application of oncolysates in DC vaccine settings.

Photodynamic Therapy

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) is an established, minimally invasive anticancer treatment modality. It has a two-step mode of action involving the selective uptake of a photosensitizer by the tumor tissue, followed by its activation by light of a specific wavelength. This activation results in the photochemical production of ROS in the presence of oxygen (129–131). One attractive feature of PDT is that the ROS-based oxidative stress originates in the particular subcellular location where the photosensitizer tends to accumulate, ultimately leading to the destruction of the tumor cell (132). PDT-based antitumor effects are multifactorial and depend on its abilities to damage the tumor vasculature, directly kill tumor cells, exert cytotoxic effects toward tumor-infiltrating immune cells, and recruit and activate immune cells that can initiate adaptive antitumor immune responses (131).

Increasing preclinical information is available regarding the impact of PDT on the immune system. Recent studies have demonstrated that PDT can effectively generate several DAMPs. HSP70, the best studied DAMP associated with PDT, is exposed on the surface of cancer cells treated with photofrin-PDT, 5-Aminolevulinic acid (5-ALA)-PDT, and Foscan-PDT (51, 133, 134). Of note, the uptake of tumor antigens and DC maturation induced by 5-ALA-PDT treated GBM spheroids were inhibited when HSP70 was blocked (133). Later, it was reported that photofrin-PDT also promotes the early/mid-apoptotic surface expression of CRT and the post-apoptotic release of HMGB1 (52) (Table 1). Very recently, the DAMPs profile induced by Rose Bengal Acetate (RBAc)-based PDT was unraveled. RBAcphotosensitized apoptotic/autophagic Hela cells were found to expose and/or release ATP, HSP70/90, HMGB1, and CRT (135). In terms of its immunogenicity, hypericin can be considered the best studied photosensitizer. Recently, hypericin-PDT became the first PDT modality capable of inducing prototypical ICD in cancer cells (20, 48, 49, 111). Hypericin localizes predominantly in the ER and upon irradiation it causes photo-oxidative ER stress, making hypericin-PDT the only known modality able to induce ICD through focused ROS-based ER stress (Type II ICD inducer), eventually culminating in mitochondrial apoptosis (49, 136). In the pre-apoptotic stage, it induces the active emission of three crucial ICD-associated DAMPs, i.e., ecto-CRT, ecto-HSP, and secreted ATP (at a faster rate than what was previously published for these DAMPs), followed by the passive release of HSP70 and HMGB1 (48, 49) (**Table 1**). Interestingly, this ICDsubroutine was more effective in comparison to chemotherapyor radiotherapy-induced ICD (48, 49).

The immunogenic features of Hyp-PDT-treated cancer cells have also been confirmed by ex vivo and in vivo experiments (Tables 1 and 2). Hyp-PDT-treated cancer cells form a productive interface with DCs in terms of phagocytosis (CRTdependent) and maturation (49) (Table 1). More specifically, the interacting DCs exhibit functional stimulation (NOhigh, IL-10^{absent}, IL-6^{high}, IL-1β^{high}, and IL-12p70^{median}) and phenotypic maturation (CD80^{high}, CD83^{high}, CD86^{high}, and MHC-II^{high}) (49, 53). Moreover, these immunogenic and fully mature DCs induce the clonal expansion of human IFN-γ producing CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells (53, 54). Consequently, this *in vitro* antitumor immunity induced by Hyp-PDT-induced ICD led to the efficient rejection of murine tumors in vivo in the absence of any adjuvants (both in prophylactic and curative vaccination models) (49, 137). Besides hypericin-based PDT, photofrin-based PDT is to date the only PDT modality that is capable to fulfill this critical in vivo requirement for ICD characterization. Here, curative immunization with benzoporphyrin-based PDT-treated squamous cell carcinoma cells constituted a potent anticancer vaccine in this poorly immunogenic model (56).

Importantly, inoculation of mature DCs in PDT-treated tumors resulted in the cytolytic activation of T cells and NK cells, leading to effective tumor eradication (75). Moreover, DC vaccines loaded with PDT-induced tumor lysates have been shown to cure fully established solid non-orthotopic tumors. This was associated with enhanced CTL responses and Th1 immunity (138) (**Table 2**). These data already suggest the clinical potential of PDT-based DC vaccines. In this regard, Hyp-PDT-induced ICD-based DC vaccines are currently being tested in a preclinical model for ovarian cancer by Baert et al. (personal communication). Unfortunately, there are no clinical data available yet reporting the use of PDT-based DC vaccines.

Combinatorial Regimens

In DC vaccine settings, cancer cells are often not killed by a single treatment strategy but rather by a combination of treatments. In some cases, the underlying rationale lies within the additive or even synergistic value of combining several moderately immunogenic modalities. The combination of radiotherapy and heat shock has, for instance, been shown to induce higher levels of HSP70 in B16 melanoma cells than either therapy alone (16). In addition, a combination therapy consisting of heat shock, γ -irradiation, and UV irradiation has been shown to induce higher levels of ecto-CRT, ecto-HSP90, HMGB1, and ATP in comparison to either therapy alone or doxorubicin, a well-recognized inducer of ICD (57). Besides, the sequence of the applied methodologies seems to matter. The application of radiotherapy prior to freeze-thaw cycles was recently shown to negatively impacted the survival of high-grade glioma-bearing mice (in comparison to freeze-thaw cycles followed by X-ray irradiation) in the context of DC-based immunotherapy (18). A second rationale for combining several cell killing methodologies is to meet the clinical requirement of reaching 100% cancer cell death (14). Subcutaneous injection of irradiated tumor cells

has, for instance, induced subcutaneous tumor growth in one glioblastoma patient (139). In general, most single treatment modalities discussed in this review cannot meet this requirement, postulating their combination with other (potentially less immunogenic) cell death modalities. In view of this, preclinical testing should always consider the most clinically relevant version of the vaccine.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Triggering antitumor immune responses is an absolute requirement to tackle metastatic and diffusely infiltrating cancer cells that are resistant to standard-of-care therapeutic regimens. ICD-inducing modalities, such as PDT and radiotherapy, have been shown to be able to act as in situ vaccines capable of inducing immune responses that caused regression of distal untreated tumors. Exploiting these ICD inducers and other immunogenic modalities to obtain a highly immunogenic antigenic tumor cell cargo for loading DC vaccines is a highly promising application. In case of the two prominent ICD inducers, Hyp-PDT and HHP, preclinical studies evaluating this relatively new approach are underway and HHP-based DC vaccines are already undergoing clinical testing. In the preclinical testing phase, more attention should be paid to some clinically driven considerations. First, one should consider the requirement of 100% mortality of the tumor cells before in vivo application. A second consideration from clinical practice (especially in multi-center clinical trials) is the fact that most tumor specimens arrive in the lab in a frozen state. This implies that a significant number of cells have already undergone non-immunogenic necrosis before the experimental cell killing strategies are applied. In case of ICD inducers, this could potentially hamper the immunogenicity of the tumor cells as these modalities mainly rely on active danger signaling pathways. Finally, for a more clinically relevant evaluation of the effect of immunogenic DC vaccines on tumor cell stromal interactions, orthotopic tumor inoculation should be applied. As tumor cells are implanted in the anatomically appropriate location, orthotopic tumors reflect the clinical situation (e.g., the tumor microenvironment) much better than conventional subcutaneous non-orthotopic models.

Even the most potent active immunotherapeutic strategies such as (ICD-based) DC vaccines will, however, be hampered by the presence of immunomodulatory immune checkpoint molecules (such as PD-1 and CTLA-4) that inhibit cytotoxic immune responses or even induce immune tolerance. The development of drugs that can unleash these inhibitory molecules has become one of the most active areas in oncology. This creates the opportunity to combine checkpoint inhibitors with DC-based immunotherapy. The synergistic action of a CTLA-4 blocking Ab (tremelimumab) in combination with DC therapy has already been demonstrated in advanced melanoma patients and several other trials evaluating this approach are on the horizon (6, 140, 141).

We believe that the specialty of DC-based immunotherapy is considerably moving forward by focusing on developing more immunogenic Th1-driving vaccines, such as ICD-based DC vaccines. Moreover, the combination of ICD-based DC vaccines with checkpoint inhibitors or other drugs that can inhibit the severe tumor-induced immune suppression might be able to reveal the full efficacy of DC-based immunotherapy for cancer.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LV did the literature study, data collection, and wrote the manuscript. SV provided senior supervision, helped in writing, and critically revised the manuscript. All the other co-authors have substantially contributed to the design of the work. All coauthors critically revised the manuscript and approved the final

REFERENCES

- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363(8):711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, Crino L, Eberhardt WE, Poddubskaya E, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced squamous-cell nonsmall-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med (2015) 373(2):123–35. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1504627
- Robert C, Ribas A, Wolchok JD, Hodi FS, Hamid O, Kefford R, et al. Anti-programmed-death-receptor-1 treatment with pembrolizumab in ipilimumab-refractory advanced melanoma: a randomised dose-comparison cohort of a phase 1 trial. *Lancet* (2014) 384(9948):1109–17. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(14)60958-2
- Ji RR, Chasalow SD, Wang L, Hamid O, Schmidt H, Cogswell J, et al. An immune-active tumor microenvironment favors clinical response to ipilimumab. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61(7):1019–31. doi:10.1007/ s00262-011-1172-6
- Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, et al. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2000) 18:767–811. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.18.1.767
- Anguille S, Smits EL, Lion E, van Tendeloo VF, Berneman ZN. Clinical use of dendritic cells for cancer therapy. *Lancet Oncol* (2014) 15(7):e257–67. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70585-0
- Cao JX, Zhang XY, Liu JL, Li D, Li JL, Liu YS, et al. Clinical efficacy of tumor antigen-pulsed DC treatment for high-grade glioma patients: evidence from a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(9):e107173. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0107173
- Nakai N, Hartmann G, Kishimoto S, Katoh N. Dendritic cell vaccination in human melanoma: relationships between clinical effects and vaccine parameters. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res* (2010) 23(5):607–19. doi:10.1111/j.1755-148X.2010.00736.x
- Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med (2010) 363(5):411–22. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1001294
- Kirkwood JM, Butterfield LH, Tarhini AA, Zarour H, Kalinski P, Ferrone S. Immunotherapy of cancer in 2012. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2012) **62**(5):309–35. doi:10.3322/caac.20132
- 11. Schlom J. Therapeutic cancer vaccines: current status and moving forward. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2012) **104**(8):599–613. doi:10.1093/jnci/djs033
- Widen K, Mozaffari F, Choudhury A, Mellstedt H. Overcoming immunosuppressive mechanisms. Ann Oncol (2008) 19(Suppl 7):vii241–7. doi:10.1093/ annonc/mdn459
- Sabado RL, Bhardwaj N. Directing dendritic cell immunotherapy towards successful cancer treatment. *Immunotherapy* (2010) 2(1):37–56. doi:10.2217/ imt.09.43
- Chiang CL, Kandalaft LE, Tanyi J, Hagemann AR, Motz GT, Svoronos N, et al. A dendritic cell vaccine pulsed with autologous hypochlorous acid-oxidized ovarian cancer lysate primes effective broad antitumor immunity: from bench to bedside. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(17):4801–15. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1185

manuscript. All co-authors can be considered accountable for all aspects of the work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

LV and MW are recipients of a Strategic Basic Research grant from the Agency for Innovation by Science and Technology in Flanders (IWT Vlaanderen). SG is senior clinical investigator at the FWO-Vlaanderen. This work was supported by the Olivia Hendrickx Research fund, the James E. Kearney Foundation, the Herman Memorial Research Fund, the Belgian Brain Tumor Support, individual donors, and the FWO-grant GA01111N (of SG).

- Goldszmid RS, Idoyaga J, Bravo AI, Steinman R, Mordoh J, Wainstok R. Dendritic cells charged with apoptotic tumor cells induce long-lived protective CD4+ and CD8+ T cell immunity against B16 melanoma. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(11):5940–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.11.5940
- Hatfield P, Merrick AE, West E, O'Donnell D, Selby P, Vile R, et al. Optimization of dendritic cell loading with tumor cell lysates for cancer immunotherapy. *J Immunother* (2008) 31(7):620–32. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e31818213df
- Kim HS, Choo YS, Koo T, Bang S, Oh TY, Wen J, et al. Enhancement of antitumor immunity of dendritic cells pulsed with heat-treated tumor lysate in murine pancreatic cancer. *Immunol Lett* (2006) **103**(2):142–8. doi:10.1016/j. imlet.2005.10.021
- Vandenberk L, Garg AD, Verschuere T, Koks C, Belmans J, Beullens M, et al. Irradiation of necrotic cancer cells, employed for pulsing dendritic cells (DCs), potentiates DC vaccine-induced antitumor immunity against high-grade glioma. *Oncoimmunology* (2015). doi:10.1080/2162402X.2015.1083669
- Kotera Y, Shimizu K, Mule JJ. Comparative analysis of necrotic and apoptotic tumor cells as a source of antigen(s) in dendritic cell-based immunization. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61(22):8105–9.
- Garg AD, Martin S, Golab J, Agostinis P. Danger signalling during cancer cell death: origins, plasticity and regulation. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21(1):26–38. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.48
- Kepp O, Senovilla L, Vitale I, Vacchelli E, Adjemian S, Agostinis P, et al. Consensus guidelines for the detection of immunogenic cell death. Oncoimmunology (2014) 3(9):e955691. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.955691
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:51–72. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-032712-100008
- Obeid M, Panaretakis T, Joza N, Tufi R, Tesniere A, van Endert P, et al. Calreticulin exposure is required for the immunogenicity of gamma-irradiation and UVC light-induced apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ* (2007) 14(10):1848–50. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402201
- Brusa D, Garetto S, Chiorino G, Scatolini M, Migliore E, Camussi G, et al. Post-apoptotic tumors are more palatable to dendritic cells and enhance their antigen cross-presentation activity. *Vaccine* (2008) 26(50):6422–32. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.08.063
- Creaney J, Ma S, Sneddon SA, Tourigny MR, Dick IM, Leon JS, et al. Strong spontaneous tumor neoantigen responses induced by a natural human carcinogen. *Oncoimmunology* (2015) 4(7):e1011492. doi:10.1080/21624 02X.2015.1011492
- Di Nicola M, Napoli S, Anichini A, Mortarini R, Romagnoli L, Magni M, et al. Dendritic cell viability is decreased after phagocytosis of apoptotic tumor cells induced by staurosporine or vaccinia virus infection. *Haematologica* (2003) 88(12):1396–404.
- Hoffmann TK, Meidenbauer N, Dworacki G, Kanaya H, Whiteside TL. Generation of tumor-specific T-lymphocytes by cross-priming with human dendritic cells ingesting apoptotic tumor cells. *Cancer Res* (2000) 60(13):3542–9.
- Miller YI, Choi SH, Wiesner P, Fang L, Harkewicz R, Hartvigsen K, et al. Oxidation-specific epitopes are danger-associated molecular patterns recognized by pattern recognition receptors of innate immunity. *Circ Res* (2011) 108(2):235–48. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.223875

- Moghaddam AE, Gartlan KH, Kong L, Sattentau QJ. Reactive carbonyls are a major Th2-inducing damage-associated molecular pattern generated by oxidative stress. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(4):1626–33. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1003906
- Chiang CL, Ledermann JA, Rad AN, Katz DR, Chain BM. Hypochlorous acid enhances immunogenicity and uptake of allogeneic ovarian tumor cells by dendritic cells to cross-prime tumor-specific T cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2006) 55(11):1384–95. doi:10.1007/s00262-006-0127-9
- Carrasco-Marin E, Paz-Miguel JE, Lopez-Mato P, Alvarez-Dominguez C, Leyva-Cobian F. Oxidation of defined antigens allows protein unfolding and increases both proteolytic processing and exposes peptide epitopes which are recognized by specific T cells. *Immunology* (1998) 95(3):314–21. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.1998.00618.x
- Feng H, Zeng Y, Graner MW, Katsanis E. Stressed apoptotic tumor cells stimulate dendritic cells and induce specific cytotoxic T cells. *Blood* (2002) 100(12):4108–15. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-05-1389
- Brusa D, Migliore E, Garetto S, Simone M, Matera L. Immunogenicity of 56 degrees C and UVC-treated prostate cancer is associated with release of HSP70 and HMGB1 from necrotic cells. *Prostate* (2009) 69(12):1343–52. doi:10.1002/pros.20981
- Shi H, Cao T, Connolly JE, Monnet L, Bennett L, Chapel S, et al. Hyperthermia enhances CTL cross-priming. J Immunol (2006) 176(4):2134–41. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.176.4.2134
- 35. Suzuki Y, Mimura K, Yoshimoto Y, Watanabe M, Ohkubo Y, Izawa S, et al. Immunogenic tumor cell death induced by chemoradiotherapy in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(16):3967–76. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0851
- Stangl S, Themelis G, Friedrich L, Ntziachristos V, Sarantopoulos A, Molls M, et al. Detection of irradiation-induced, membrane heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) in mouse tumors using Hsp70 Fab fragment. *Radiother Oncol* (2011) 99(3):313–6. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2011.05.051
- Prasad SJ, Farrand KJ, Matthews SA, Chang JH, McHugh RS, Ronchese F. Dendritic cells loaded with stressed tumor cells elicit long-lasting protective tumor immunity in mice depleted of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 174(1):90–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.1.90
- Gupta A, Probst HC, Vuong V, Landshammer A, Muth S, Yagita H, et al. Radiotherapy promotes tumor-specific effector CD8+ T cells via dendritic cell activation. J Immunol (2012) 189(2):558–66. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200563
- Huang J, Wang Y, Guo J, Lu H, Lin X, Ma L, et al. Radiation-induced apoptosis along with local and systemic cytokine elaboration is associated with DC plus radiotherapy-mediated renal cell tumor regression. *Clin Immunol* (2007) 123(3):298–310. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2007.02.005
- Strome SE, Voss S, Wilcox R, Wakefield TL, Tamada K, Flies D, et al. Strategies for antigen loading of dendritic cells to enhance the antitumor immune response. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62(6):1884–9.
- Chen HM, Wang PH, Chen SS, Wen CC, Chen YH, Yang WC, et al. Shikonin induces immunogenic cell death in tumor cells and enhances dendritic cell-based cancer vaccine. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61(11):1989–2002. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1258-9
- 42. Fucikova J, Moserova I, Truxova I, Hermanova I, Vancurova I, Partlova S, et al. High hydrostatic pressure induces immunogenic cell death in human tumor cells. *Int J Cancer* (2014) **135**(5):1165–77. doi:10.1002/ijc.28766
- Diaconu I, Cerullo V, Hirvinen ML, Escutenaire S, Ugolini M, Pesonen SK, et al. Immune response is an important aspect of the antitumor effect produced by a CD40L-encoding oncolytic adenovirus. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(9):2327–38. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2975
- 44. Miyamoto S, Inoue H, Nakamura T, Yamada M, Sakamoto C, Urata Y, et al. Coxsackievirus B3 is an oncolytic virus with immunostimulatory properties that is active against lung adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(10):2609–21. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3185
- 45. Koks CA, Garg AD, Ehrhardt M, Riva M, Vandenberk L, Boon L, et al. Newcastle disease virotherapy induces long-term survival and tumorspecific immune memory in orthotopic glioma through the induction of immunogenic cell death. *Int J Cancer* (2015) 136(5):E313–25. doi:10.1002/ ijc.29202
- Donnelly OG, Errington-Mais F, Steele L, Hadac E, Jennings V, Scott K, et al. Measles virus causes immunogenic cell death in human melanoma. *Gene Ther* (2013) 20(1):7–15. doi:10.1038/gt.2011.205

- Bai L, Koopmann J, Fiola C, Fournier P, Schirrmacher V. Dendritic cells pulsed with viral oncolysates potently stimulate autologous T cells from cancer patients. *Int J Oncol* (2002) 21(4):685–94. doi:10.3892/ijo.21.4.685
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P. Hypericin-based photodynamic therapy induces surface exposure of damage-associated molecular patterns like HSP70 and calreticulin. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61(2):215–21. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1184-2
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Verfaillie T, Kaczmarek A, Ferreira GB, Marysael T, et al. A novel pathway combining calreticulin exposure and ATP secretion in immunogenic cancer cell death. *EMBO J* (2012) 31(5):1062–79. doi:10.1038/ emboj.2011.497
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Agostinis P. Calreticulin surface exposure is abrogated in cells lacking, chaperone-mediated autophagy-essential gene. LAMP2A. *Cell Death Dis* (2013) 4:e826. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.372
- Korbelik M, Sun J, Cecic I. Photodynamic therapy-induced cell surface expression and release of heat shock proteins: relevance for tumor response. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(3):1018–26.
- Korbelik M, Zhang W, Merchant S. Involvement of damage-associated molecular patterns in tumor response to photodynamic therapy: surface expression of calreticulin and high-mobility group box-1 release. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2011) 60(10):1431–7. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1047-x
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Ferreira GB, Verfaillie T, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV, et al. ROS-induced autophagy in cancer cells assists in evasion from determinants of immunogenic cell death. *Autophagy* (2013) 9(9):1292–307. doi:10.4161/auto.25399
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Agostinis P. Autophagy-dependent suppression of cancer immunogenicity and effector mechanisms of innate and adaptive immunity. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2(10):e26260. doi:10.4161/ onci.26260
- Gollnick SO, Vaughan L, Henderson BW. Generation of effective antitumor vaccines using photodynamic therapy. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62(6):1604–8.
- Korbelik M, Sun J. Photodynamic therapy-generated vaccine for cancer therapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2006) 55(8):900–9. doi:10.1007/ s00262-005-0088-4
- Zappasodi R, Pupa SM, Ghedini GC, Bongarzone I, Magni M, Cabras AD, et al. Improved clinical outcome in indolent B-cell lymphoma patients vaccinated with autologous tumor cells experiencing immunogenic death. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(22):9062–72. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1825
- De Vleeschouwer S, Fieuws S, Rutkowski S, Van Calenbergh F, Van Loon J, Goffin J, et al. Postoperative adjuvant dendritic cell-based immunotherapy in patients with relapsed glioblastoma multiforme. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(10):3098–104. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4875
- Ardon H, De Vleeschouwer S, Van Calenbergh F, Claes L, Kramm CM, Rutkowski S, et al. Adjuvant dendritic cell-based tumour vaccination for children with malignant brain tumours. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* (2010) 54(4):519–25. doi:10.1002/pbc.22319
- Ardon H, Van Gool S, Lopes IS, Maes W, Sciot R, Wilms G, et al. Integration of autologous dendritic cell-based immunotherapy in the primary treatment for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma multiforme: a pilot study. *J Neurooncol* (2010) 99(2):261–72. doi:10.1007/s11060-010-0131-y
- Ardon H, Van Gool SW, Verschuere T, Maes W, Fieuws S, Sciot R, et al. Integration of autologous dendritic cell-based immunotherapy in the standard of care treatment for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma: results of the HGG-2006 phase I/II trial. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61(11):2033–44. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1261-1
- 62. De Vleeschouwer S, Ardon H, Van Calenbergh F, Sciot R, Wilms G, van Loon J, et al. Stratification according to HGG-IMMUNO RPA model predicts outcome in a large group of patients with relapsed malignant glioma treated by adjuvant postoperative dendritic cell vaccination. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) **61**(11):2105–12. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1271-z
- Elens I, De Vleeschouwer S, Pauwels F, Van Gool S. Resection and immunotherapy for recurrent grade III glioma. *Neuro Oncol* (2012) 14:61. doi:10.5402/2012/530179
- Fadul CE, Fisher JL, Hampton TH, Lallana EC, Li Z, Gui J, et al. Immune response in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma multiforme treated with intranodal autologous tumor lysate-dendritic cell vaccination after radiation chemotherapy. J Immunother (2011) 34(4):382–9. doi:10.1097/ CJI.0b013e318215e300

- Rutkowski S, De Vleeschouwer S, Kaempgen E, Wolff JE, Kuhl J, Demaerel P, et al. Surgery and adjuvant dendritic cell-based tumour vaccination for patients with relapsed malignant glioma, a feasibility study. *Br J Cancer* (2004) **91**(9):1656–62. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6602195
- Valle RD, de Cerio AL, Inoges S, Tejada S, Pastor F, Villanueva H, et al. Dendritic cell vaccination in glioblastoma after fluorescence-guided resection. World J Clin Oncol (2012) 3(11):142–9. doi:10.5306/wjco.v3.i11.142
- Jie X, Hua L, Jiang W, Feng F, Feng G, Hua Z. Clinical application of a dendritic cell vaccine raised against heat-shocked glioblastoma. *Cell Biochem Biophys* (2012) 62(1):91–9. doi:10.1007/s12013-011-9265-6
- Aguilera R, Saffie C, Tittarelli A, Gonzalez FE, Ramirez M, Reyes D, et al. Heat-shock induction of tumor-derived danger signals mediates rapid monocyte differentiation into clinically effective dendritic cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17(8):2474–83. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2384
- Cho DY, Yang WK, Lee HC, Hsu DM, Lin HL, Lin SZ, et al. Adjuvant immunotherapy with whole-cell lysate dendritic cells vaccine for glioblastoma multiforme: a phase II clinical trial. *World Neurosurg* (2012) 77(5–6):736–44. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2011.08.020
- Walker DG, Laherty R, Tomlinson FH, Chuah T, Schmidt C. Results of a phase I dendritic cell vaccine trial for malignant astrocytoma: potential interaction with adjuvant chemotherapy. *J Clin Neurosci* (2008) 15(2):114–21. doi:10.1016/j.jocn.2007.08.007
- Adkins I, Fucikova J, Garg AD, Agostinis P, Spisek R. Physical modalities inducing immunogenic tumor cell death for cancer immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3(12):e968434. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.9 68434
- Zhang SN, Choi IK, Huang JH, Yoo JY, Choi KJ, Yun CO. Optimizing DC vaccination by combination with oncolytic adenovirus coexpressing IL-12 and GM-CSF. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(8):1558–68. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.29
- Woller N, Knocke S, Mundt B, Gurlevik E, Struver N, Kloos A, et al. Virusinduced tumor inflammation facilitates effective DC cancer immunotherapy in a Treg-dependent manner in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2011) 121(7):2570–82. doi:10.1172/JCI45585
- Schirrmacher V, Stucker W, Lulei M, Bihari AS, Sprenger T. Long-term survival of a breast cancer patient with extensive liver metastases upon immune and virotherapy: a case report. *Immunotherapy* (2015) 7(8):855–60. doi:10.2217/imt.15.48
- Jalili A, Makowski M, Switaj T, Nowis D, Wilczynski GM, Wilczek E, et al. Effective photoimmunotherapy of murine colon carcinoma induced by the combination of photodynamic therapy and dendritic cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10(13):4498–508. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0367
- Jongbloed SL, Kassianos AJ, McDonald KJ, Clark GJ, Ju X, Angel CE, et al. Human CD141+ (BDCA-3)+ dendritic cells (DCs) represent a unique myeloid DC subset that cross-presents necrotic cell antigens. J Exp Med (2010) 207(6):1247–60. doi:10.1084/jem.20092140
- 77. Schreibelt G, Benitez-Ribas D, Schuurhuis D, Lambeck AJ, van Hout-Kuijer M, Schaft N, et al. Commonly used prophylactic vaccines as an alternative for synthetically produced TLR ligands to mature monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Blood* (2010) **116**(4):564–74. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-11-251884
- Wimmers F, Schreibelt G, Skold AE, Figdor CG, De Vries IJ. Paradigm shift in dendritic cell-based immunotherapy: from in vitro generated monocyte-derived DCs to naturally circulating DC subsets. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:165. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00165
- Tel J, Aarntzen EH, Baba T, Schreibelt G, Schulte BM, Benitez-Ribas D, et al. Natural human plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce antigen-specific T-cell responses in melanoma patients. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**(3):1063–75. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2583
- Dey M, Chang AL, Miska J, Wainwright DA, Ahmed AU, Balyasnikova IV, et al. Dendritic cell-based vaccines that utilize myeloid rather than plasmacytoid cells offer a superior survival advantage in malignant glioma. *J Immunol* (2015) 195(1):367–76. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1401607
- Anguille S, Lion E, Van den Bergh J, Van Acker HH, Willemen Y, Smits EL, et al. Interleukin-15 dendritic cells as vaccine candidates for cancer immunotherapy. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* (2013) 9(9):1956–61. doi:10.4161/ hv.25373
- Romano E, Rossi M, Ratzinger G, de Cos MA, Chung DJ, Panageas KS, et al. Peptide-loaded langerhans cells, despite increased IL15 secretion and T-cell activation in vitro, elicit antitumor T-cell responses comparable to

peptide-loaded monocyte-derived dendritic cells in vivo. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) **17**(7):1984–97. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3421

- Ueno H, Schmitt N, Klechevsky E, Pedroza-Gonzalez A, Matsui T, Zurawski G, et al. Harnessing human dendritic cell subsets for medicine. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 234(1):199–212. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00884.x
- Anguille S, Van Acker HH, Van den Bergh J, Willemen Y, Goossens H, Van Tendeloo VF, et al. Interleukin-15 dendritic cells harness NK cell cytotoxic effector function in a contact- and IL-15-dependent manner. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(5):e0123340. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0123340
- Boudreau JE, Bridle BW, Stephenson KB, Jenkins KM, Brunelliere J, Bramson JL, et al. Recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus transduction of dendritic cells enhances their ability to prime innate and adaptive antitumor immunity. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17(8):1465–72. doi:10.1038/mt.2009.95
- Lion E, Smits EL, Berneman ZN, Van Tendeloo VF. NK cells: key to success of DC-based cancer vaccines? *Oncologist* (2012) 17(10):1256–70. doi:10.1634/ theoncologist.2011-0122
- Reardon DA, Freeman G, Wu C, Chiocca EA, Wucherpfennig KW, Wen PY, et al. Immunotherapy advances for glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol* (2014) 16(11):1441–58. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nou212
- Wu A, Wei J, Kong LY, Wang Y, Priebe W, Qiao W, et al. Glioma cancer stem cells induce immunosuppressive macrophages/microglia. *Neuro Oncol* (2010) 12(11):1113–25. doi:10.1093/neuonc/noq082
- Di Tomaso T, Mazzoleni S, Wang E, Sovena G, Clavenna D, Franzin A, et al. Immunobiological characterization of cancer stem cells isolated from glioblastoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16(3):800–13. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-2730
- Xu Q, Liu G, Yuan X, Xu M, Wang H, Ji J, et al. Antigen-specific T-cell response from dendritic cell vaccination using cancer stem-like cell-associated antigens. *Stem Cells* (2009) 27(8):1734–40. doi:10.1002/stem.102
- Pellegatta S, Poliani PL, Corno D, Menghi F, Ghielmetti F, Suarez-Merino B, et al. Neurospheres enriched in cancer stem-like cells are highly effective in eliciting a dendritic cell-mediated immune response against malignant gliomas. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(21):10247–52. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2048
- de Vries IJ, Lesterhuis WJ, Scharenborg NM, Engelen LP, Ruiter DJ, Gerritsen MJ, et al. Maturation of dendritic cells is a prerequisite for inducing immune responses in advanced melanoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2003) 9(14):5091–100.
- Draube A, Klein-Gonzalez N, Mattheus S, Brillant C, Hellmich M, Engert A, et al. Dendritic cell based tumor vaccination in prostate and renal cell cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(4):e18801. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0018801
- 94. Yamanaka R, Homma J, Yajima N, Tsuchiya N, Sano M, Kobayashi T, et al. Clinical evaluation of dendritic cell vaccination for patients with recurrent glioma: results of a clinical phase I/II trial. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11(11):4160–7. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0120
- Lesterhuis WJ, de Vries IJ, Schreibelt G, Lambeck AJ, Aarntzen EH, Jacobs JF, et al. Route of administration modulates the induction of dendritic cell vaccine-induced antigen-specific T cells in advanced melanoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17(17):5725–35. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1261
- Van Gool S, Maes W, Ardon H, Verschuere T, Van Cauter S, De Vleeschouwer S. Dendritic cell therapy of high-grade gliomas. *Brain Pathol* (2009) 19(4):694–712. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2009.00316.x
- Jonuleit H, Kuhn U, Muller G, Steinbrink K, Paragnik L, Schmitt E, et al. Pro-inflammatory cytokines and prostaglandins induce maturation of potent immunostimulatory dendritic cells under fetal calf serum-free conditions. *Eur J Immunol* (1997) 27(12):3135–42. doi:10.1002/eji.1830271209
- Lee AW, Truong T, Bickham K, Fonteneau JF, Larsson M, Da Silva I, et al. A clinical grade cocktail of cytokines and PGE2 results in uniform maturation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells: implications for immunotherapy. *Vaccine* (2002) 20(Suppl 4):A8–22. doi:10.1016/S0264-410X(02)00382-1
- 99. Okada H, Kalinski P, Ueda R, Hoji A, Kohanbash G, Donegan TE, et al. Induction of CD8+ T-cell responses against novel glioma-associated antigen peptides and clinical activity by vaccinations with {alpha}-type 1 polarized dendritic cells and polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid stabilized by lysine and carboxymethylcellulose in patients with recurrent malignant glioma. *J Clin Oncol* (2011) **29**(3):330–6. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.30.7744
- 100. Carreno BM, Becker-Hapak M, Huang A, Chan M, Alyasiry A, Lie WR, et al. IL-12p70-producing patient DC vaccine elicits Tc1-polarized immunity. *J Clin Invest* (2013) 123(8):3383–94. doi:10.1172/JCI68395

- 101. Lee JJ, Foon KA, Mailliard RB, Muthuswamy R, Kalinski P. Type 1-polarized dendritic cells loaded with autologous tumor are a potent immunogen against chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Leukoc Biol (2008) 84(1):319–25. doi:10.1189/jlb.1107737
- 102. Mailliard RB, Wankowicz-Kalinska A, Cai Q, Wesa A, Hilkens CM, Kapsenberg ML, et al. alpha-type-1 polarized dendritic cells: a novel immunization tool with optimized CTL-inducing activity. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(17):5934–7. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1261
- 103. Palucka AK, Ueno H, Connolly J, Kerneis-Norvell F, Blanck JP, Johnston DA, et al. Dendritic cells loaded with killed allogeneic melanoma cells can induce objective clinical responses and MART-1 specific CD8+ T-cell immunity. *J Immunother* (2006) **29**(5):545–57. doi:10.1097/01. cji.0000211309.90621.8b
- Neller MA, Lopez JA, Schmidt CW. Antigens for cancer immunotherapy. Semin Immunol (2008) 20(5):286–95. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2008.09.006
- 105. Prins RM, Wang X, Soto H, Young E, Lisiero DN, Fong B, et al. Comparison of glioma-associated antigen peptide-loaded versus autologous tumor lysateloaded dendritic cell vaccination in malignant glioma patients. *J Immunother* (2013) 36(2):152–7. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3182811ae4
- 106. Begovic M, Herberman RB, Gorelik E. Ultraviolet light-induced increase in tumor cell susceptibility to TNF-dependent and TNF-independent natural cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Cell Immunol* (1991) **138**(2):349–59. doi:10.1016/0008-8749(91)90159-9
- Begovic M, Herberman RB, Gorelik E. Effect of UV light on tumor cell sensitivity to NK and NC cell-mediated lysis. *Nat Immun* (1993) 12(4–5):250–66.
- 108. Mar VJ, Wong SQ, Li J, Scolyer RA, McLean C, Papenfuss AT, et al. BRAF/ NRAS wild-type melanomas have a high mutation load correlating with histologic and molecular signatures of UV damage. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(17):4589–98. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0398
- 109. Guevara-Patino JA, Engelhorn ME, Turk MJ, Liu C, Duan F, Rizzuto G, et al. Optimization of a self antigen for presentation of multiple epitopes in cancer immunity. J Clin Invest (2006) 116(5):1382–90. doi:10.1172/JCI25591
- 110. Harmon BV, Corder AM, Collins RJ, Gobe GC, Allen J, Allan DJ, et al. Cell death induced in a murine mastocytoma by 42-47 degrees C heating in vitro: evidence that the form of death changes from apoptosis to necrosis above a critical heat load. *Int J Radiat Biol* (1990) 58(5):845–58. doi:10.1080/09553009014552221
- 111. Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) **12**(12):860–75. doi:10.1038/nrc3380
- Dudek AM, Garg AD, Krysko DV, De Ruysscher D, Agostinis P. Inducers of immunogenic cancer cell death. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2013) 24(4):319–33. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2013.01.005
- 113. Garg AD, Galluzzi L, Apetoh L, Baert T, Birge RB, Bravo-San Pedro JM, et al. Molecular and translational classifications of DAMPs in immunogenic cell death. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:588. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00588
- 114. Selzer E, Hebar A. Basic principles of molecular effects of irradiation. Wien Med Wochenschr (2012) 162(3-4):47–54. doi:10.1007/s10354-012-0052-9
- 115. Demaria S, Ng B, Devitt ML, Babb JS, Kawashima N, Liebes L, et al. Ionizing radiation inhibition of distant untreated tumors (abscopal effect) is immune mediated. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2004) 58(3):862–70. doi:10.1016/j. ijrobp.2003.09.012
- 116. Hodge JW, Ardiani A, Farsaci B, Kwilas AR, Gameiro SR. The tipping point for combination therapy: cancer vaccines with radiation, chemotherapy, or targeted small molecule inhibitors. *Semin Oncol* (2012) **39**(3):323–39. doi:10.1053/j.seminoncol.2012.02.006
- 117. Di Nicola M, Zappasodi R, Carlo-Stella C, Mortarini R, Pupa SM, Magni M, et al. Vaccination with autologous tumor-loaded dendritic cells induces clinical and immunologic responses in indolent B-cell lymphoma patients with relapsed and measurable disease: a pilot study. *Blood* (2009) **113**(1):18–27. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-06-165654
- 118. Guo XP, Zhang XY, Zhang SD. [Clinical trial on the effects of shikonin mixture on later stage lung cancer]. *Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi* (1991) **11**(10):598–9.
- 119. Chen CH, Chern CL, Lin CC, Lu FJ, Shih MK, Hsieh PY, et al. Involvement of reactive oxygen species, but not mitochondrial permeability transition in the apoptotic induction of human SK-Hep-1 hepatoma cells by shikonin. *Planta Med* (2003) 69(12):1119–24. doi:10.1055/s-2003-45193

- 120. Yang H, Zhou P, Huang H, Chen D, Ma N, Cui QC, et al. Shikonin exerts antitumor activity via proteasome inhibition and cell death induction in vitro and in vivo. *Int J Cancer* (2009) **124**(10):2450–9. doi:10.1002/ijc.24195
- 121. Frey B, Franz S, Sheriff A, Korn A, Bluemelhuber G, Gaipl US, et al. Hydrostatic pressure induced death of mammalian cells engages pathways related to apoptosis or necrosis. *Cell Mol Biol* (2004) **50**(4):459–67.
- 122. Frey B, Janko C, Ebel N, Meister S, Schlucker E, Meyer-Pittroff R, et al. Cells under pressure – treatment of eukaryotic cells with high hydrostatic pressure, from physiologic aspects to pressure induced cell death. *Curr Med Chem* (2008) 15(23):2329–36. doi:10.2174/092986708785909166
- 123. Korn A, Frey B, Sheriff A, Gaipl US, Franz S, Meyer-Pittroff R, et al. High hydrostatic pressure inactivated human tumour cells preserve their immunogenicity. *Cell Mol Biol* (2004) **50**(4):469–77.
- 124. Helmstein K. Treatment of bladder carcinoma by a hydrostatic pressure technique. Report on 43 cases. *Br J Urol* (1972) **44**(4):434–50. doi:10.1111/j.1464-410X.1972.tb10103.x
- 125. Eisenthal A, Ramakrishna V, Skornick Y, Shinitzky M. Induction of cell-mediated immunity against B16-BL6 melanoma in mice vaccinated with cells modified by hydrostatic pressure and chemical crosslinking. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (1993) 36(5):300–6. doi:10.1007/BF01741168
- Goldman Y, Peled A, Shinitzky M. Effective elimination of lung metastases induced by tumor cells treated with hydrostatic pressure and N-acetyl-Lcysteine. *Cancer Res* (2000) **60**(2):350–8.
- 127. Weiss EM, Meister S, Janko C, Ebel N, Schlucker E, Meyer-Pittroff R, et al. High hydrostatic pressure treatment generates inactivated mammalian tumor cells with immunogeneic features. *J Immunotoxicol* (2010) 7(3):194–204. doi:10.3109/15476911003657414
- Koks CA, De Vleeschouwer S, Graf N, Van Gool SW. Immune suppression during oncolytic virotherapy for high-grade glioma. Yes or No? J Cancer (2015) 6(3):203–17. doi:10.7150/jca.10640
- 129. Agostinis P, Berg K, Cengel KA, Foster TH, Girotti AW, Gollnick SO, et al. Photodynamic therapy of cancer: an update. CA Cancer J Clin (2011) 61(4):250–81. doi:10.3322/caac.20114
- 130. Garg AD, Bose M, Ahmed MI, Bonass WA, Wood SR. In vitro studies on erythrosine-based photodynamic therapy of malignant and pre-malignant oral epithelial cells. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(4):e34475. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0034475
- Garg AD, Nowis D, Golab J, Agostinis P. Photodynamic therapy: illuminating the road from cell death towards anti-tumour immunity. *Apoptosis* (2010) 15(9):1050–71. doi:10.1007/s10495-010-0479-7
- Garg AD, Agostinis P. ER stress, autophagy and immunogenic cell death in photodynamic therapy-induced anti-cancer immune responses. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* (2014) 13(3):474–87. doi:10.1039/c3pp50333j
- 133. Etminan N, Peters C, Lakbir D, Bunemann E, Borger V, Sabel MC, et al. Heatshock protein 70-dependent dendritic cell activation by 5-aminolevulinic acid-mediated photodynamic treatment of human glioblastoma spheroids in vitro. Br J Cancer (2011) 105(7):961–9. doi:10.1038/bjc.2011.327
- 134. Mitra S, Giesselman BR, De Jesus-Andino FJ, Foster TH. Tumor response to mTHPC-mediated photodynamic therapy exhibits strong correlation with extracellular release of HSP70. *Lasers Surg Med* (2011) **43**(7):632–43. doi:10.1002/lsm.21108
- Panzarini E, Inguscio V, Fimia GM, Dini L. Rose Bengal acetate photodynamic therapy (RBAc-PDT) induces exposure and release of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) in human HeLa cells. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(8):e105778. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0105778
- 136. Verfaillie T, Rubio N, Garg AD, Bultynck G, Rizzuto R, Decuypere JP, et al. PERK is required at the ER-mitochondrial contact sites to convey apoptosis after ROS-based ER stress. *Cell Death Differ* (2012) **19**(11):1880–91. doi:10.1038/cdd.2012.74
- 137. Sanovic R, Verwanger T, Hartl A, Krammer B. Low dose hypericin-PDT induces complete tumor regression in BALB/c mice bearing CT26 colon carcinoma. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther* (2011) 8(4):291–6. doi:10.1016/j. pdpdt.2011.04.003
- Jung NC, Kim HJ, Kang MS, Lee JH, Song JY, Seo HG, et al. Photodynamic therapy-mediated DC immunotherapy is highly effective for the inhibition of established solid tumors. *Cancer Lett* (2012) **324**(1):58–65. doi:10.1016/j. canlet.2012.04.024

- Wheeler CJ, Black KL, Liu G, Mazer M, Zhang XX, Pepkowitz S, et al. Vaccination elicits correlated immune and clinical responses in glioblastoma multiforme patients. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68(14):5955–64. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5973
- 140. Ribas A, Comin-Anduix B, Chmielowski B, Jalil J, de la Rocha P, McCannel TA, et al. Dendritic cell vaccination combined with CTLA4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(19):6267–76. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1254
- Datta J, Berk E, Cintolo JA, Xu S, Roses RE, Czerniecki BJ. Rationale for a multimodality strategy to enhance the efficacy of dendritic cell-based cancer immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:271. doi:10.3389/ fmmu.2015.00271

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Vandenberk, Belmans, Van Woensel, Riva and Van Gool. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Lymphoma immunotherapy: current status

Roberta Zappasodi¹, Filippo de Braud² and Massimo Di Nicola^{2,3*}

¹Ludwig Collaborative and Swim Across America Laboratory, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA, ²Unit of Medical Oncology, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy, ³Unit of Immunotherapy and Anticancer Innovative Therapeutics, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy

The rationale to treat lymphomas with immunotherapy comes from long-standing evidence on their distinctive immune responsiveness. Indolent B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphomas, in particular, establish key interactions with the immune microenvironment to ensure prosurvival signals and prevent antitumor immune activation. However, reports of spontaneous regressions indicate that, under certain circumstances, patients develop therapeutic antitumor immunity. Several immunotherapeutic approaches have been thus developed to boost these effects in all patients. To date, targeting CD20 on malignant B cells with the antibody rituximab has been the most clinically effective strategy. However, relapse and resistance prevent to cure approximately half of B-NHL patients, underscoring the need of more effective therapies. The recognition of B-cell receptor variable regions as B-NHL unique antigens promoted the development of specific vaccines to immunize patients against their own tumor. Despite initial promising results, this strategy has not yet demonstrated a sufficient clinical benefit to reach the regulatory approval. Several novel agents are now available to stimulate immune effector functions or counteract immunosuppressive mechanisms, such as engineered antitumor T cells, co-stimulatory receptor agonist, and immune checkpoint-blocking antibodies. Thus, multiple elements can now be exploited in more effective combinations to break the barriers for the induction of anti-lymphoma immunity.

Keywords: B-cell lymphoma, immunotherapy, anticancer vaccines, tumor-associated antigens, dendritic cells, adaptive immune response

Introduction

Lymphomas are a clinically and biologically heterogeneous group of malignancies that arise from mature T- or B-lymphocytes in secondary lymphoid organs. Hodgkin's lymphomas (HLs) account for ~10% of all lymphomas and comprise two major disease categories based on their clinical and histological characteristics: classical HLs, which represent the majority of the cases, and nodular lymphocyte predominant HLs. Non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHLs) instead are much more frequent diseases, representing the fifth most common cancer in the United States. Their incidence has progressively increased in the past three decades for non-completely certain reasons (1). About 85% of NHLs are of B-cell origin (B-NHLs) and includes a wide spectrum of malignancies with different clinical and biological courses, ranging from indolent [such as chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma (CLL), follicular lymphoma (DLBCL), Burkitt's lymphoma (BL), and mantle cell lymphoma (MCL)].

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Patrizia Agostinis, University of Leuven, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Viktor Umansky, German Cancer Research Center, Germany Pedro Berraondo, Centro de Investigación Médica Aplicada, Spain

*Correspondence:

Massimo Di Nicola, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy massimo.dinicola@istitutotumori.mi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 25 July 2015 Accepted: 17 August 2015 Published: 01 September 2015

Citation:

Zappasodi R, de Braud F and Di Nicola M (2015) Lymphoma immunotherapy: current status. Front. Immunol. 6:448. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00448

83

These tumors, in particular the aggressive forms, are highly sensitive to both chemotherapy and radiotherapy (2); however, relapse and resistance prevent the ultimate goal of achieving a cure in all patients. In the last few decades, the introduction of improved chemotherapy regimens, monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), radioimmunotherapy, and targeted therapies against pro-lymphoma pathways have provided significant advances in the management of these patients, in particular those with B-NHLs. The chimeric anti-CD20 mAb rituximab has been the most valuable addition to the B-NHL treatment armamentarium. Its combination with poly-chemotherapy still represents the standard therapy for both indolent and aggressive B-cell lymphomas (3, 4). However, difficulties in the management of relapse and resistance to rituximab (5, 6) and the late toxicities associated with its administration (7) still pose significant challenges. Alternative approaches are thus continuously sought to ameliorate the management and the clinical outcome of the many patients that become resistant to rituximab.

In the past 20 years, the understanding of the molecular basis of B-cell lymphomagenesis and the role of the lymphoma microenvironment has significantly progressed, thus underscoring multiple novel rational therapeutic modalities for B-cell malignancies.

B-cell maturation is dictated by a series of steps that drive the development of a functional B-cell receptor (BCR) with the same antigen specificity as the secreted Abs that B cells will eventually produce. A BCR is composed of two clonally variable antigenbinding chains (heavy and light chains) codified by several different gene segments (V, variable; D, diversity; J, joining; C, constant), which need to be properly rearranged to produce a functional antigen-binding receptor. This occurs via an error-prone process involving the combinatorial rearrangement of the V, D, and J gene segments in the heavy (H) chain locus and the V and J gene segments in the light (L) chain loci. Mature (naïve) B cells carry a BCR composed of two identical heavy chain and two identical light-chain immunoglobulin (Ig) polypeptides covalently linked (8). Antigen recognition by naïve B cells favors their recruitment into lymphoid follicles where they undergo somatic hypermutation of V genes, to increase the affinity for the targeted antigenic epitopes, and class switch recombination at the IgH locus, for the production of different classes of Ab (from IgM to IgG, IgA, or IgE). These processes form the germinal center (GC) reactions, whereby new B-cell clones expressing Abs with improved antigen specificity and suitable class are positively selected by receiving the proper survival signals from follicular dendritic cells (DCs) presenting the pathogenic antigens and helper T cells (9). If, on one hand, these events are required to increase the probability of generating a specific B-cell response able to clear infecting pathogens, on the other, they pose at risk of developing oncogenic mutations. DNA rearrangement, induction of somatic mutation, and provision of anti-apoptotic/pro-survival signals from the microenvironment during the B-cell maturation process may all favor the generation of a malignant B-cell clone if not tightly regulated. Reciprocal chromosomal translocations involving one of the Ig loci and a proto-oncogene, which may occur as by-products of the extensive DNA rearrangement during the GC

reactions, constitute the hallmarks, and thus diagnostic markers, of many types of B-cell lymphoma (10, 11) (**Table 1**).

Mutations in pro-apoptotic genes (CD95), tumor-suppressor genes (TP53, PTEN), BCR downstream signaling pathways (CD79B/A, I κ B α , CARD11, API2–MALT1 translocation) and other oncogenes (EZH2, Jak2, genomic amplifications REL) are associated to specific subtypes of B-cell lymphomas, indicating a role of these events in their pathogenesis (**Table 1**).

Finally, viruses may also be involved in lymphoma transformation, in particular Epstein–Barr virus (EBV), Kaposi's sarcoma herpesvirus (KSHV), human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), and human hepatitis C virus (HCV). They can directly infect and transform B or T cells (EBV and KSHV), or induce lymphocyte transformation as a consequence of chronic inflammation (HIV, EBV, and hepatitis viruses), or, more indirectly, promote the onset of neoplastic clones by causing immunodeficiency (HIV-1) (12). The most obvious example in this regard is EBV, which is found in nearly all the endemic BLs and in many post-transplant and primary effusion lymphomas (13, 14).

The possibility to interfere with ongenic pathways activated in the different subtypes of B-cell lymphomas has been an area of intense investigation, with two molecular inhibitors targeting bruton tyrosine kinase (ibrutininb) (15–17) or PI3K (idelalisib) (18) receiving the FDA approval for the treatment of relapsed/resistant B-NHLs in the last 2 years. However, since these therapies target oncogenic events associated to specific molecular lymphoma subtypes, they are unlikely to be available for all rituximab-resistant patients, and imply the requirement of an up-front extensive molecular characterization. In addition, being directed against a single molecular target, these drugs may induce the selection of resistant clones. This indicates the need to integrate anti-lymphoma treatments in multicombinatorial therapeutic approaches, which employ different strategies to reach the desired improvement in clinical benefit.

Immunotherapy seems one of the best candidates because of the easy accessibility of lymphomas by the immune system as they grow in secondary lymphoid organs and the availability of unique targetable tumor-specific antigens. The major advantage of immunotherapy is the possibility to induce an adaptive immune response against the tumor, with the potential to generate a longlasting immunological memory able to prevent further relapses. Carrying the same BCR on the surface, B-cell lymphomas are distinguished by the unique antigenic determinants of BCR hypervariable regions, termed idiotype (Id), which constitutes a prototype immunotherapeutic target to specifically redirect immune responses against the malignant clone. The clonotypic Id of B-cell malignancies was indeed the first identified tumorspecific antigen able to elicit a T-cell response (19, 20). The crucial interactions between lymphoma cells and the immune microenvironment for their maintenance and progression, in particular in the case of HL and indolent B-NHLs (21), have underscored other potential immunotherapeutic targets. Tumor-infiltrating immune cells, including T lymphocytes, macrophages and DCs, can provide survival signals for malignant B cells (22, 23). As an example, FL growth strictly depends on stromal cells, such as follicular DCs, which provide anti-apoptotic signals through CD40 (24, 25). On the other hand, T regulatory cells (Tregs) (26-28)

TABLE 1 | B-cell lymphoma classification.

Lymphoma	Frequency among lymphoma (%)	Proposed cellular origin	Chromosome translocation (frequency)	Tumor-suppressor gene mutation (frequency)	Viruses (frequency)	Other alterations (frequency)
cHL	9	GC B cells	-	SOCS1 (40), NFKBIA and NFKBIE (10–20), A20 (40)	EBV (40)	Mutation of multiple oncogenes, including REL (30), JAK2 (20), NIK (25)
NLPHL	1	GC B cells	-		EBV	
B-CLL	7	CD5+ small memory, naive, or marginal- zone B cells	-	ATM (30), TP53 (15)	-	Deletion on 13q14 (60)
MCL	5	CD5+ mantle-zone B cells	CCND1-lgH (95)	ATM (40)	-	Deletion on 13q14 (50–70)
FL	20	GC B cells	BCL2-IgH (90)	-	-	-
MALT	7	Marginal-zone B cells	API2-MALT1 (30), BCL10-IgH (5), MALT1- IgH (15–20), FOXP1-IgH (10)	CD95 (5–80)	Indirect role of Helicobacter Pylori in gastric MALT lymphomas	-
MZL	2	Marginal-zone or monocytoid B cells	-	-	-	-
Splenic MZL	1	Small IgD+ naive marginal-zone B cells	-	-	-	Deletion on 7q22–36 (40)
BL	2	GC B cells	MYC-lgH or MYC-lgL (100)	TP53 (40), RB (20–80)	EBV (endemic, 95; sporadic, 30)	-
DLBCL	30–40	Post-GC B cells	BCL6–various (35) BCL2- IgH (15–30) MYC-IgH or MYC-IgL (15)	CD95 (10–20), ATM (15), TP53 (25)	-	Aberrant hypermutation of multiple proto-oncogenes (50)
Primary mediastinal B-cell lymphoma	2	Thymic B cells	-	SOCS1 (40)	-	Mutation of multiple proto-oncogenes (40)
Post-transplant lymphoma	<1	GC B cells	-	-	EBV (90)	-
Primary effusion lymphoma	<0.5	(Post) GC B cells	-	-	HHV8 (95), EBV (70)	-
LPL; Waldenstrom's disease	1	(Post) GC B cells	PAX5-IgH (50)	-	-	-

cHL, classical Hodgkin's lymphoma; NLPHL, nodular lymphocyte predominant Hodgkin's lymphoma; B-CLL, B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia; MCL, mantle-cell lymphoma; FL, follicular lymphoma; MALT, mucosa associated lymphatic tissue lymphoma; MZL, marginal zone lymphoma; BL, Burkitt's lymphoma; DLBCL, diffuse large B-cell lymphoma; LPL, lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma; GC, germinal center.

and immunosuppressive lymphoma-associated macrophages (29–31) can contribute to lymphoma growth by dampening the immune system attack. Therefore, acting on the immune micro-environment can also be exploited as a rational anti-lymphoma immunotherapeutic treatment.

The following sections review the most important and recent advances in anti-lymphoma immunotherapy, with a particular focus on strategies exploiting the T-cell arm of the immune response against B-NHLs.

Anti-Lymphoma Immunotherapy

Anticancer immunotherapy is aimed at eradicating tumor cells by conferring either a passive or an active specific immunity with less toxic effects than using conventional anticancer agents. Passive immunotherapy is meant to supply the immune response through the infusion of tumor-specific mAbs or cytotoxic T cells (CTLs), with the major limitation that it may be short-lived. Active immunotherapy instead is thought to stimulate an endogenous immune response to clear neoplastic cells and induce a specific immunological memory that controls disease recurrence, and thus represents an ideal immunotherapeutic modality. More recently, thanks to the development of immunomodulatory agents, a new area of immunotherapy has started to be explored with the aim to induce and/or sustain endogenous antitumor immune responses, providing substantial clinical results.

B-NHLs, in particular the indolent forms, represent one of the most suitable settings for immunotherapeutic interventions. They have long been regarded as highly immune sensitive diseases, based on the detection of lymphoma-specific CTLs in B-NHL patients (32) and reports of spontaneous regressions in 10–20% of the low-grade cases. Moreover, the course of indolent lymphomas leaves an optimal therapeutic window to study immunotherapy without affecting the standard of care of these patients, given that immunotherapy, relying on endogenous immune system functions, may require longer periods of time to induce a therapeutic effect.

In the last two decades, a number of immune-based treatments have been developed and tested in B-NHL patients. To date, the use of mAbs directed against B-NHL antigens has produced the most convincing results, with rituximab being the prototype example in this treatment category. The introduction of rituximab-based chemoimmunotherapy has improved the overall survival (OS) of indolent lymphoma patients, providing a change in the natural history of these diseases (33, 34). However, resistance to rituximab remains a problem (35) and more effective regimens are still needed. MAbs for new lymphoma targets as well as new generation Abs are thus being developed with the aim to further ameliorate patients' outcome.

Patient-specific vaccines targeting the clonally derived Ig-Id protein or the whole antigenic tumor repertoires have been largely tested against B-NHLs, with certain degrees of success also in severely pretreated patients (36). Furthermore, on the basis of the high sensitivity of these diseases to graft-versus-tumor effects after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation/donor lymphocytes infusions (DLIs), adoptive transfer of tumor-specific CTLs has been also used in lymphoma patients (37, 38). Building upon these findings, lymphoma-specific chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)engineered T cells are now being explored for the treatment of lymphoma patients with very promising results (39). Finally, the availability of immune checkpoint-blocking agents (40, 41) now allows the opportunity to counteract immune tolerant mechanisms, which are considered the major obstacle to the efficacy of anticancer immunotherapy, and to explore potentially more effective immunotherapeutic combinations against B-NHLs.

Active Immunotherapy for B-Cell Lymphomas

The availability of a tumor-specific antigen in B-NHLs enabled the development of specific vaccines. Id immunodominant peptides or the whole Id determinants have been extensively used to vaccinate patients as protein- or DNA-based vaccines or loaded into DCs (Figure 1) (36). Different types of carriers and immune adjuvants have been combined with these vaccines to potentiate the activation of an immune response against a self-antigen. As an alternative strategy to reduce the complexity of the production of patient-specific Id and widen the spectrum of targeted tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), vaccines based on the whole lymphoma proteome have been investigated. Whereas proteinand DNA-based vaccines are designed to target DCs in vivo, whole tumor cell antigens have been usually loaded into DCs ex vivo, with the advantage to select/generate the most suitable source of DCs able to efficiently present TAAs and activate an immune response in vivo upon injection (Figure 1).

Protein-Based Vaccines

Anti-Id vaccines have used Id proteins produced by either somatic hybridization of tumor cells with a myeloma cell line (hybridoma), or recombinant technology, by cloning Ig genes into stable cell lines (36). The latter strategy is faster, taking 1 month, but in contrast to the hybridoma technology, the Id glycosylation pattern, and in turn immunogenicity, is strictly dependent on the origin of the cell line used (42). The capability of the Id vaccination to induce tumor protection was extensively demonstrated in plasmacytoma, myeloma, B-cell lymphoma, and leukemia preclinical models (36). Being *per se* a weakly immunogenic protein, the Id was conjugated to the carrier protein keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) and co-administrated with low-dose granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF). This strategy demonstrated to promote anti-Id B- and T-cell responses associated with therapeutic effects in animals with low tumor burden (36), and paved the way for the clinical evaluation of anti-Id vaccination.

Early-phase clinical studies were performed in indolent B-NHL patients in clinical remission after standard chemotherapy regimens, using Id proteins produced either by hybridoma or recombinant technology, conjugated with KLH and co-administered with low-dose GM-CFS or Syntex adjuvant formulation (43). These studies demonstrated the feasibility of producing patientspecific Id-vaccines, and the safety and efficacy of this strategy to induce anti-lymphoma immune responses, eventually associated with an improved clinical outcome (43). In line with the preclinical results, the co-administration of low-dose GM-CSF with Id-KLH showed to promote anti-Id T-cell responses and molecular remissions in patients with minimal residual disease after prednisone, doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide, and etoposide (PACE) induction therapy (44). In a following trial, anti-Id vaccination after cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisone (CHOP)-like second-line induction therapy resulted in longer clinical remissions compared to those achieved in the same patients by the front-line standard therapy (45). Interestingly, patients mounting either an Ab or a T-cell anti-Id response after vaccination experienced the longest second complete remission, providing the first in-human evidence of the association between vaccine-specific immune responses and clinical efficacy. A more recent retrospective study demonstrated that achieving a complete response/complete response unconfirmed (CR/CRu) to induction chemotherapy and developing anti-Id Abs were two independent factors that each correlated with longer OS at 10 years after vaccination (46). This study included FL patients who received vaccines produced by either the hybridoma or recombinant technology in both mammalian cells and in tobacco plants. Interestingly, the probability of developing an anti-Id immunity was not influenced by the method of vaccine generation, although in patients vaccinated with hybridoma-derived Id, the rate of specific T-cell responses trended to be higher and the correlation between anti-Id Ab responses and OS resulted particularly significant (46). This is probably due to the presence of a more physiological glycosylation pattern in the hybridoma-derived Id, which may improve the immunogenicity of the Id. Given the critical role of the induction of anti-Id immune responses for the therapeutic efficacy of Id vaccination, two clinical trials with Id-KLH + GM-CSF explored the impact of B-cell depletion by rituximab as part of the induction therapy before vaccination. Importantly, they showed that, even if delayed, Id-specific Ab responses could be equally achieved, whereas the induction of antitumor T-cell immunity was not affected (47, 48). Remarkably,



FIGURE 1 | Immunotherapeutic strategies under investigation against B-cell lymphomas. Several approaches have been developed to induce therapeutic anti-lymphoma T-cell responses, by either targeting dendritic cells (DCs) *in vivo* or *ex vivo*, or adoptive transfer of specific cytotoxic T cells (CTLs), and/or appropriate modulation of T-cell functions *in vivo*. Active immunization with patient-specific Id proteins or DNA plasmids encoding for the Id have been exploited to target DCs *in vivo* and activate T cell against B-cell lymphomas. DCs optimally pulsed *ex vivo* with lymphoma antigens (Id or whole tumor antigens) have been employed as vaccines to improve the stimulation of specific T cells *in vivo*. To bypass *in vitro* manipulation, the strategy to induce *in vivo* immunogenic lymphoma cell death (with radiation

an improved time to progression (TTP) was reported for patients receiving vaccination after rituximab compared to the historical controls treated with rituximab alone, suggesting a potential clinical benefit of active immunotherapy also in the setting of B-cell recovery after rituximab therapy.

The feasibility, tolerability, and efficacy of Id vaccines demonstrated in early-stage clinical trials led to the initiation of three large-scale randomized phase-III studies aimed at demonstrating a clear-cut survival improvement in vaccinated patients. They tested either recombinant Id (MyVax, Genitope Corporation (49); FavId, Favrille) (50) or hybridoma-derived Id (BiovaxId, Biovest International Inc.) (51) in grades 1–3 FL patients that achieved at least disease stabilization (50), partial (49) or complete (51) remission after induction with a standard course of rituximab or cyclophosphamide, vincristine and prednisone (CVP) or PACE, respectively (**Table 2**).

The Genitope trial enrolled 287 previously untreated patients with the aim to show a significant increase in disease-free survival (DFS) in the vaccinated cohort as its principal endpoint. Even though this was not achieved, among the vaccinated patients, those who mounted an anti-Id immune response experienced a significantly improved PFS, further strengthening the correlation between the induction of vaccine-specific immune effects and the clinical benefit (49). The Favrille study compared TTP between the vaccine and control cohorts, who included 349 patients in total, with ~80% being treatment-naïve, but failed to

therapy) and activation of DCs (with the TLR agonist CpG) has been studied to favor the occurrence of a vaccinal effect *in vivo (in situ* vaccination). To overcome the difficulties of generating endogenous T-cell responses able to eradicate tumors in pluritreated lymphoma patients, adoptive transfer of activated tumor-specific T cells (such as anti-lymphoma CAR-engineered T cells) has been also investigated. Finally, the availability of several immunomodulatory agents offers the opportunity to target the tumor immune microenvironment from multiple sides. Blocking Abs against the immune checkpoints PD-1 and CTLA-4 are among the first therapies in the pipeline to be tested with the aim to boost T-cell functions and counteract immunosuppression in lymphoma patients.

demonstrate any clinical improvement in the experimental arm (50). Unfortunately, immune responses were not monitored in these patients and the association between immunological and clinical effects could not be verified. The Biovest trial enrolled 234 previously untreated patients: 177 achieved a CR/CRu after induction chemotherapy and were thus randomized, but 60 of these patients did not receive the vaccine because of relapse or other reasons, thus missing the expected intention to treat (ITT) endpoint. However, among the treated patients, those who received the vaccine (n = 76) experienced a prolongation of the DFS by 13.6 months compared to those treated with the placebo (n = 41) (44.2 versus 30.6, p = 0.045), but without any increase in OS (51). In particular, treatment with Id of the IgM class, but not IgG, showed to significantly improve DFS compared to the isotype-matched control (52.9 versus 28.7 months; p = 0.001). Although results from the Biovest study are not definitive because of the non-met ITT and the low statistical significance level of the difference in DFS between the two cohorts, they granted BiovaxId the orphan drug status by the FDA. For a proper interpretation of this study, it is important to consider that patients who received the vaccine had to remain in remission during the period of the vaccine preparation. Since the average time of vaccine production was 8 months, it is possible that vaccinated patients had less aggressive and/or less chemoresistant diseases, thus explaining a longer-lasting complete response. Alternatively, these results may simply reflect the concept that complete tumor

	Genitope	Favrille	NCI/Biovest
Vaccine	MyVax	Favld	Biovaxld
Patients	FL, untreated	FL, 80% untreated	FL, untreated
Source of tumor	FNA/core biopsy	FNA/core biopsy	Excisional biopsy
diotype	Recombinant	Recombinant	Hybridoma
Induction therapy	CVP (8 cycles every 3 weeks)	Rituximab (weekly ×4)	PACE/R-CHOP (6–8 cycles every 4 weeks)
Type of comparison experimental/control)	2/1 randomization	1/1 randomization	2/1 randomization
Patient status before vaccination	First CR or PR	First CR, PR, or SD	First CR or CRu
/accination	ld-KLH + GM-CFSE or KLH + GM-CSF (sc, 7 doses)	ld-KLH + GM-CFSE or placebo + GM-CSF (sc, until PD)	ld-KLH + GM-CFSE or KLH + GM-CSF (sc, 5 doses)
Number of patients (actual/ expected)	Vaccine: 192/240; control: 95/120	Vaccine: 174/171; control: 175/171	Vaccine: 76/250; control: 41/125
□rimary end point	PFS (p < 0.01)	TTP (p < 0.01)	DFS (p < 0.01)
Results	Median PFS, 19.1 (experimental) versus 23.3 (control) mos ($\rho = 0.297$)	Median TTP, 9 (experimental) versus 12.6 (control) mos ($p = 0.019$)	Median DFS, 44.2 (experimental) versus 30.6 (control) mos ($\rho = 0.045$)
Reference	(49)	(50)	(51)

CHOP, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisone; CNOP, cyclophosphamide, mitoxantrone, vincristine, and prednisone; RTX, Rituximab; CRu, complete response unconfirmed; CVP, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and prednisone; DFS, disease-free survival; GM-CSF, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor; ITT, intent to treat; KLH, keyhole limpet hemocyanin; n.s. not significant; PACE, prednisone, doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide, and etoposide; PFS, progression-free survival; pts, patients; CR, complete response; PR, partial response; SD, stable disease; TTP, time to progression; mos, months.

eradication predisposes to the achievement of a clinical benefit after vaccination.

Although the outcome of these phase-III clinical studies did not meet the high expectation, they have provided important information to improve the design of future trials. They indeed confirmed in significantly larger cohorts of patients (1) the safety and tolerability of Id-KLH produced either by recombinant or hybridoma technology; (2) the potential advantage of the latter method for the generation of more immunogenic and effective Id vaccines; and (3) the importance of inducing complete remission before vaccination in order to increase the probability of a clinical success. Moreover, results from these studies point to patients' selection and vaccine formulation as the areas with the highest room for potential improvement, in particular in view of the better definition of the molecular prerequisites to achieve an effective antitumor immune response. Importantly, these findings may be useful to optimize the design of anti-lymphoma active immunotherapy across different types of vaccines.

DNA-Based Vaccines

As an additional option to target DC *in vivo* and immunize cancer patients, viral vectors and plasmid DNA encoding TAAs have been exploited. This strategy requires *in vivo* transfection and antigen production. The optimized gene sequence is delivered intradermally, subcutaneously, or to the muscle, which allows, respectively, the *in vivo* transfection of professional APCs (epidermal keratinocytes and Langherans DCs) or myocytes and secondary cross-presentation of tumor antigens by the recruited DCs. The advantages of DNA-based vaccines over other immunization strategies include (1) the possibility of incorporating multiple epitope-encoding DNA regions to target several antigens in a single vaccine formulation, (2) no need to know the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) type because the protein products are processed *in vivo* by host APCs, (3) low production costs, and (4) the easy procedure required for their generation. However, as a drawback, it is possible that antigen expression, processing, and presentation take place in the improper cell subsets without the adequate stimuli, thus resulting in tolerance or an unwanted type of immunity rather than in the priming of an antitumor adaptive immune response (52).

Initial clinical trials demonstrated the feasibility and safety of vaccination with Id-encoding plasmid DNA, with no relevant levels of integration into host cellular DNA, or development of autoimmune reactions. However, due to the limited biological efficacy and no clinical benefit of Id-encoding naked DNA plasmid (53), more potent Id-DNA vaccines were generated by fusing the Id sequence to virus-derived immune stimulatory sequences (such as the fragment C of the tetanus toxin) (54) or cytokine-encoding genes (55), to favor DC chemotaxis, antigen uptake and presentation. In in vivo lymphoma models, these formulations showed prophylactic and therapeutic antitumor effects that relied on the induction of a specific T-cell response. As an additional strategy, pretreatment of the vaccination sites with low-dose cardiotoxin was found to generate a favorable immune microenvironment, which facilitated antigen-specific T-cell priming toward a longterm antitumor immunological memory (43).

The availability of more and more accurate mathematical algorithms for a better prediction of the most immunogenic peptides within TAAs will probably favor improving the design of DNA-based vaccines in the near future (56).

DC-Based Vaccines

To overcome the limitation of producing a custom-made protein for each patient, targeting a single antigen, and relying on the host's antigen processing machinery, presentation, and T-cell costimulation, loading DCs *ex vivo* with TAAs in the presence of the proper activation stimuli has also been exploited. In this case, DCs are properly differentiated from CD34⁺ hematopoietic progenitors or, more commonly, from peripheral blood monocytes in the presence of the proper DC differentiation and maturation cytokine cocktails, and pulsed with TAAs as to recapitulate *ex vivo* the early phase of DC activation. The source of DCs, TAAs, the antigenengulfing strategy, cytokine cocktails, and the route of vaccine administration can be multiple and require precise consideration to optimize the therapeutic efficacy of DC-based vaccines (52).

Clinical efficacy of DC-based vaccines seems to be superior compared to that achieved by Id-protein vaccines against lymphoma (57), confirming observations in different tumor settings of the advantages of this strategy over protein-based vaccines (58). Interestingly, when a DC-vaccine was used to immunize against the single antigenic Id protein, FL patients with relapsed or residual diseases after induction therapy developed anti-Id T-cell and Ab responses associated with durable tumor regressions, in particular when Id was conjugated with KLH (59). DCs loaded with tumor cell lysates showed to elicit significant anti-lymphoma immunity in preclinical models (60) and in small clinical trials (61). In a pilot study, we showed that vaccination with autologous DCs loaded with apoptotic and necrotic autologous tumor cells increased natural killer (NK) cell activation, reduced Treg frequency and induced both T- and B-cell antitumor responses associated with clinical efficacy in 6 of 18 heavily pretreated indolent B-NHL patients with measurable disease (61). Interestingly, in responder patients, the humoral responses induced by vaccination were directed against common lymphoma antigens (62). Of note, we showed that the levels of immunogenic stimuli in dying lymphoma cells used to pulse DCs positively correlated with the probability of a clinical success of the vaccine (63). Therefore, favoring the occurrence of this process, namely immunogenic cell death (64), by exogenously supplying antigenic/proinflammatory signals to boost DC engulfing, cross-presentation, and maturation, may increase the efficacy of DC-based vaccines.

As additional modalities to load DCs *ex vivo* with the full lymphoma antigenic repertoire, fusion of DCs with tumor cells (65) and transduction of DCs with tumor-derived mRNA have started to be investigated in the preclinical setting (66–68). The latter is a promising technique in light of the minimal sample size required for the amplification of total tumor RNA, which considerably decreases the cost of vaccine production. However, it has to be considered that DC transduction channels TAAs primarily into the MHC-I presentation pathway, thus limiting the activation CD4⁺ T cells (69), which are crucial to sustain both Ab and CTL responses.

In Situ Vaccination

The understanding that certain anticancer treatments, including antracyclines and radiation, can favor the induction of an immunogenic tumor cell death (64), supported the possibility to combine them with proper immune adjuvants to achieve in vivo a vaccinal antitumor effect (Figure 1). To facilitate in vivo TAA processing and T-cell cross-priming, toll-like receptor (TLR) agonists are particularly suitable as they can activate and bridge the innate and adaptive immunity (70). The preclinical observation that intratumoral injection of the TLR9 agonist CpG oligodeoxynucleotides plus systemic chemotherapy eradicated large tumors inspired the clinical evaluation of low-dose locoregional radiation plus intratumor CpG injection in low-grade B-NHL patients (71). This approach achieved clinical responses at distal tumor sites (abscopal effect) in association with the induction of tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells and reduction of intratumor Tregs (71). This study underscored the feasibility, safety, and efficacy to provide the conditions for the in vivo generation of an antitumor vaccine, thus overcoming the limitations for the manufacture of patient-specific products. Following these promising results, in situ vaccination with GpC and local radiation therapy was evaluated in resistant/refractory cutaneous-T-cell-lymphoma patients in a phase I/II study (72). Also in this case, treatment resulted safe and achieved systemic clinical responses, somehow associated with a positive immune modulation, in one-third of the patients. These findings point to the availability in the near future of a non-customized vaccine approach widely applicable with no requirement of any ex vivo cellular manipulation.

As a complementary modality to *in situ* vaccination, adoptive transfer of vaccine-primed autologous T cells after in vitro expansion, namely immunotransplant, has been exploited. Upon the achievement of the proof-of-concept in preclinical models (73), patients with newly diagnosed MCL were subjected to this procedure. In this case, the vaccine was made of autologous tumor cells that were treated in vitro with CpG and irradiated before administration into patients previously exposed to cytoreductive standard chemotherapy (74). Vaccine-primed T cells were then harvested, expanded in vitro, and reinfused after standard autologous stem cell transplantation. Preliminary results showed the feasibility of this approach in aggressive lymphoma patients and its efficacy in boosting antitumor T-cell responses. This provides the proof-of-principle for further investigations of the sequential combination of active and adoptive immunotherapy in cancer patients.

T-Cell Therapies

The ultimate objective of active immunotherapy is to induce an endogenous immune response able to activate T cells against the tumor. The clinical experience with anti-lymphoma vaccines has clearly shown a limited efficacy of this strategy to consistently expand a sufficient number of activated antitumor T cells able to clear established tumors in pluritreated patients. With the same rationale of the use of immunotransplant, lymphoma patients can be adoptively transferred with an adequate amount of tumor-specific T cells optimized *ex vivo* to recognize and kill cancer cells, in order to maximize the probability to achieve a therapeutic effect (**Figure 1**). Two main T-cell therapeutic strategies have shown considerable success against B-cell lymphomas: transfer of EBV-specific T cells for the treatment of EBV-associated lymphomas

and CAR T cells engineered to target B-cell lineage markers that continue to be expressed in the malignant clones.

Post-transplant lymphoproliferative diseases (PTLDs), caused by the reactivation of EBV infection in B cells of donor or recipient origin after allogeneic hematopietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) or solid organ transplants (SOTs) respectively, continue to be a significant clinical problem (75). Management of heavily immunosuppressed patients with anticancer treatment poses several limitations, and standard treatment with rituximab eventually associated with less-intensive chemotherapy regimens often fail to cure PTLDs (76). EBV-infected B-cells do not actively produce virus, and, as such, are not sensitive to antiviral agents (77), but express viral latency-associated proteins, which may represent effective targets for immunotherapy. Depending on the type of latency of EBV, malignant B cells express more or less immunogenic EBV antigens. Tumors that arise in severely immunocompromised patients, such as in the early phases after allogenic HSCT or in SOT recipients, are usually highly immunogenic and express all the 10 EBV latency-associated proteins. Expressing the same 10 viral antigens and high levels of class-I and class-II HLA as well as co-stimulatory molecules, EBV-transformed B cells are optimal APCs for the activation of HLA-matched EBV-specific T cells to be used in this setting. With this strategy, polyclonal anti-EBV CTLs have been rapidly and abundantly generated from healthy EBV-seropositive donors, and proved safe and effective in preventing or treating PTLDs in recipients of allogenic HSCT (78, 79). Based on these encouraging results, a similar strategy has been attempted to treat post-SOT PTLDs. In this case, anti-EBV CTLs have been generated from the organ recipients and demonstrated some success in patients with either elevated EBV viral load or active disease (80-82). The constant immunosuppression status and the fact that SOT patients do not receive any lymphodepleting pre-conditioning treatment, which instead favors T-cell expansion in HSCT recipients, may account for the reduced persistence and efficacy of the transferred anti-EBV CTLs in this setting. However, these results have been crucial to demonstrate the feasibility of anti-EBV T-cell therapy in SOT recipients and the absence of any risk to induce rejection of the transplanted organ.

Interestingly, efficient control of PTLD was also achieved when "off-the-shelf" EBV-specific T cells derived from partially matched third-party donors were used in the context of both SOT and HSCT (79, 83, 84). This represented a dramatic improvement in the management of PTLD patients as anti-EBV CTLs of different HLA specificities may be generated and banked in advance in order to be readily available when needed. Very recently, anti-EBV CTLs derived from either patient's transplant or third-party donors have shown similar substantial efficacy in producing long-lasting remissions in patients with aggressive rituximabresistant post-HSCT PTLDs [(85), AACR Annual Meeting 2015, abstract CT107]. These results granted breakthrough therapy designation to anti-EBV CTLs generated from third-party donors for the treatment of patients with rituximab-refractory PTDLs.

Since EBV-related HLs and B-NHLs express only the weakly immunogenic EBV latency proteins (type II EBV latency proteins, LMP1, LMP2, and EBNA-1) (86), T cells specific for these antigens rather than polyclonal anti-EBV T cells need to be infused in order to achieve a clinical effect. However, the time required for their generation makes the procedure not suitable for the treatment of patients with active disease (87). For the same reason, T-cell therapy has not been developed for the treatment of the type-I EBV latency BL, which express only the poorly immunogenic protein EBNA1.

To broaden the specificity of T cells against multiple TAAs, transduction of high-affinity TCRs or CARs into mature or precursor T cells have been accomplished to make adoptive immunotherapy more easily available for patients with different tumor types (88). This latter option has found relatively wide application for the treatment of B-cell malignancies. CARs contain an extracellular domain with the Ab variable regions recognizing the target TAA genetically fused to the intracellular CD3Cchain (89). T cells transduced with CARs are therefore redirected toward the target antigen via the Ab regions, which, once engaged, trigger the CD3Cchain-downstream signaling cascade for T-cell activation. The activity of CAR-T cells thus becomes independent from HLA recognition, and this constitutes a major advantage of this strategy. The consistent expression of the B-cell lineage markers CD19 and CD20 across most B-cell malignancies and the reported safety/efficacy of anti-CD19/-CD20 mAbs in these diseases made them the preferred targets for CAR-T cells. In the preclinical setting, first generation CAR-T cells against CD19 or CD20 (CD19-/CD20-ζ) showed adequate engraftment and anti-lymphoma activity in either mice xenografted with patients' tumors and autologous CAR-T cells or in syngeneic murine models following lymphodepletion with cyclophosphamide or radiation (90-93). However, the limited persistence of these CAR T-cells, partially driven by the presence of endogenous normal B cells expressing the target antigens (92, 94), led to the development of second-generation CARs, where the CD3^{\(\zeta\)} region was fused to the intracellular signaling domains of T-cell co-stimulatory molecules, such as CD28 or CD137 (4-1BB). CD19·CD28-ζ and CD19·CD137-ζCAR-T cells demonstrated enhanced functions, proliferation and survival, and resistance to Treg suppression, which resulted in increased persistence and antitumor activity in xenografted mice (95-99). This strategy seemed to be particularly effective when the tumor cells expressed low levels of ligands for co-stimulatory molecules (95, 97), because, being transduced with co-stimulatory domains, second-generation CAR-T cells did not depend anymore on physiologic co-stimulation signals. Third generation CAR-T cells with all the three T-cell signaling domains fused together (CD3ζ, CD28, and 4-1BB) have not definitely proven to exert a better antitumor activity (98, 100). Another approach studied with the aim to increase CAR-T cell in vivo persistence has been to engineer T cells specific for common viruses, such as EBV. Transduced virus-specific lymphocytes maintain the capability to become physiologically activated in vivo through their natural T-cell receptor and to persist in the memory compartment, offering the advantage to control their expansion by vaccination with the cognate viral antigens (101, 102).

Based on these preclinical findings, clinical studies mainly investigated second-generation CARs, either with CD28 or 4-1BB signaling domains, alone or in combination with lymphodepleting conditioning regimens. Experience accumulated so far in patients with B-cell malignancies indicates (1) the feasibility of generating and using CARs in the clinical setting, (2) the advantage of retro/lentiviral gene transduction methods over plasmid transfection technology to generate more functional CAR-T cells (no resistance selection genes, shorter culture periods), and (3) the importance of lymphodepleting pre-conditioning treatments to facilitate engraftment and in turn the therapeutic effects of CAR-T cells, with no specific restriction to the regimen to be applied. These observations, made initially in early small clinical trials with refractory/resistant B-NHL and acute lymphoid leukemia patients, are being confirmed in larger studies (39, 103-106). Persistent clinical responses and relatively manageable toxicities were induced by autologous CD19 CAR-T cells in patients relapsing after multiple lines of treatments. Interestingly, this approach proved effective also when donor-derived allogeneic CAR-T cells were administered in B-NHL patients who relapsed or were at high risk to relapse after allogeneic HSCT (107). Redirecting allogenic T cells against a TAA with CARs appeared an effective strategy to uncouple graft-versus-host-disease (GVHD) and graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) effect in patients who failed HSCT and DLI. In this context, the use of virus-specific T cells for the generation of donor-derived CD19 CAR-T cells showed promising results in controlling both the disease and viremia in patients with viral reactivation after allogeneic HSCT (108).

Altogether these findings indicate the substantial therapeutic potential of CAR-T cells against B-cell malignancies; however, this approach has still a wide margin for improvement, which mainly relies on the need for a better understanding of the biology of CAR-T cells, more robust biomarkers of clinical response and methods to reduce toxicity. Cytokine release syndrome and neurologic toxicities are not uncommon side effects of CAR-T cells. Therefore, there is a huge effort toward the understanding of how to control the functions of these T cells. Preclinical studies have investigated the potential to eliminate CAR-T cells in case of toxicity by co-transducing chemically inducible apoptosispromoting fusion proteins, such as Fas and Caspase 9 (109), or targets of cell-depleting antibodies, such as CD20 or truncated epidermal growth factor receptor (110, 111). By eliminating CAR-T cells themselves, however, such strategies abolish both their side effects and therapeutic potential. As an alternative option, already tested in patients, blocking IL-6 receptor with the specific mAb tocilizumab has shown promising results in reversing cytokine release syndrome while sparing expansion and therapeutic effects of CAR-T cells (112, 113).

Finally, in light of the potential ability of tumor cells to escape CAR-T cell therapy, for example, by downregulating the expression of the targeted antigen (112), it is important to study strategies for counteracting such mechanisms. Toward this goal, CAR-T cells engineered to target multiple and/or alternative (114, 115) lymphoma antigens or their combination with other immunotherapeutic modalities are under investigation.

Targeting the Immune Microenvironment in Lymphoma

In order to grow and progress in lymphoid organs, lymphomas need to subvert immunosurveillance while preserving the prolymphomagenic functions of nearby immune cells, thus becoming real parasites of the immune system. The prototype example of the role of the crosstalk with immune cells in the lymphoma microenvironment is HL, where the Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg (HRS) tumor cells account only for 1% of the affected tissue, being the rest all inflammatory cells, which provide crucial interactions through CD80 and CD40/CD40L for HRS cell survival. In this case, mechanisms of immune evasion include polarization of infiltrating T cells toward a T helper 2/Treg phenotype through the release of IL-10 and TGF-beta, and inhibition of NK cells and CTLs via overexpression of FAS ligand and the ligands of the immune checkpoint receptor programed-death 1 (PD-1) (116). As an additional demonstration of the importance of the immune infiltrate in lymphoma development and progression, genetic and immunohistochemical signatures of non-tumor cells in the neoplastic tissue currently represent the best predictors for B-NHL patients' prognosis (29, 117-120). These studies showed that a reduced survival and the risk of transformation of indolent B-NHLs are associated with the infiltration of specific immune cell subsets. In particular, lymphoma-associated macrophages (29), CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ Tregs (121) monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells (bearing a CD14⁺HLA-DR^{low/-} phenotype) (122, 123), and exhausted T cells expressing intermediate levels of PD-1 (124) have been all associated with a negative clinical impact in FL patients. The fact that immune cells are not usually targeted by conventional treatments may explain why, despite major therapeutic advances, indolent B-NHLs still remain incurable, underscoring the importance of modulating the microenvironment as a part of the lymphoma treatment.

Lately, several strategies able to modulate T-cell functions have become available, allowing preclinical and in some cases clinical evaluation of the anti-lymphoma effects of Tregs inhibition, promotion of T-cell co-stimulation, and inhibition of immune checkpoints. The IL-2-diptheria toxin fusion protein denileukin diftitox (ontak), the anti-CD25 mAb daclizumab, and anti-folate receptor 4 (FR4) mAbs have been studied to deplete Tregs. Agonist mAbs directed against the co-stimulatory molecules, OX40 (CD134), glucocorticoid-induced TNF-related protein (GITR), and 4-1BB (CD137), have been used to boost antitumor T-cell functions, whereas blocking mAbs for the co-inhibitory molecules cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and PD-1 have been employed to prevent a negative regulation of tumor-specific T cells (Figure 1). In lymphoma preclinical models, T-cell modulation by anti-OX40, -GITR, -CD137, -CTLA-4, or -FR4 mAbs has shown to significantly improve the therapeutic efficacy of several immunotherapeutic modalities, including antitumor vaccination and mAb therapy (125-127). This evidence has led to the clinical evaluation of T-cell modulating agents for the treatment of these diseases. CTLA-4 or PD-1 blockade with the mAbs ipilimumab or pidilizumab, respectively resulted in safe and induced modest but occasionally long-lasting clinical responses in replapsed/refractory B-NHL patients evaluated in early-phase trials (128-130). Interestingly the combination of pidilizumab and rituximab was well tolerated and active in patients with rituximab-sensitive FL relapsed after 1-4 previous therapies (131), underscoring the importance of further investigating this strategy in B-NHL patients. An unexpected therapeutic activity of single-agent anti-PD-1 mAb nivolumab was

instead found in heavily pretreated HL patients (40), which may thus provide a real therapeutic option for this patient category with an otherwise very unfavorable prognosis. The basis for the substantial clinical effects observed in this study probably relies on the high frequency of copy-number gain in PD-1 ligand loci in the enrolled patients (40). This points to a genetically defined sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in this disease. Given that genetic alterations of PD-1 ligands were not reported to be as frequent in newly diagnosed HL patients, it is possible that they define a subset of HLs with a particularly adverse prognosis.

Another straightforward way to redirect immune cells against lymphoma clones within the tumor microenvironment has been to modulate NK cell activity to enhance the effector functions of mAb therapy. As one of the major mechanisms of action of therapeutic mAbs is Ab-dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), whereby NK cells and phagocytes are redirected to the targeted tumor cells through Ab Fc receptors, the possibility to further co-stimulate ADCC cellular mediators via immunomodulatory mAbs was hypothesized to synergize with antitumor mAbs. Since the co-stimulatory molecule 4-1BB is upregulated on NK cells upon Fc receptor engagement (132), agonist anti-4-1BB mAbs have been investigated in combination with anti-lymphoma mAbs with the aim to increase antitumor ADCC. According to this hypothesis, agonist anti-4-1BB mAbs significantly improved the anti-lymphoma effects of anti-CD20 mAbs in preclinical models (127). In addition, human NK cells were found to consistently up-regulate 4-1BB when exposed to rituximab-coated autologous lymphoma cells (127), providing the rationale to explore the combination of anti-4-1BB and -CD20 mAbs in the clinical setting. Based on these findings, a phase-Ib study of the anti-4-1BB mAb urelumab and rituximab in relapsed/refractory B-NHL patients has recently started (NCT01775631).

Finally, because of their immunomodulatory properties, thalidomide and its derivatives have been also exploited to target the microenvironment in B-NHLs. Besides their potential to directly interfere with tumor growth and induce apoptosis in tumor cells, these agents promote antitumor immunity, including mAbmediated ADCC, and antiangiogenic effects. Lenalidomide has been the most widely investigated drug in this category, showing significant single-agent anti-lymphoma activity in phase-II trials (133–136), in particular against aggressive B-NHLs. Building upon these results, a larger phase-II study was initiated to test safety and efficacy of lenalidomide in MCL patients relapsed after a second-line therapy with bortezomib, for whom no therapeutic options were available (137). Based on the tolerability and durable

References

- Chao MP. Treatment challenges in the management of relapsed or refractory non-Hodgkin's lymphoma – novel and emerging therapies. *Cancer Manag Res* (2013) 5:251–69. doi:10.2147/CMAR.S34273
- Multani P, White CA, Grillo-Lopez A. Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: review of conventional treatments. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol* (2001) 2:279–91. doi:10.2174/1389201013378581
- Leget GA, Czuczman MS. Use of rituximab, the new FDA-approved antibody. *Curr Opin Oncol* (1998) 10:548–51. doi:10.1097/00001622-199811000-00012
- Cheson BD, Leonard JP. Monoclonal antibody therapy for B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2008) 359:613–26. doi:10.1056/ NEJMra0708875

clinical responses induced by lenalidomide in this patient population, in June 2013, the FDA approved this drug for the treatment of MCL patients relapsed or progressed after two prior therapies including bortezomib. Lenalidomide has also been explored in combination with rituximab in relapsed/refractory indolent and aggressive B-NHLs showing significant and consistent clinical efficacy across different phase-II trials (138, 139). Interestingly, this combination compared favorably with single-agent rituximab in historical controls (5, 140). In light of the activity of lenalidomide against aggressive B-NHL, its combination with rituximabbased chemotherapy (CHOP, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisone) has been investigated as front-line therapy for these diseases in phase-II studies, proving to be highly effective and safe also in this contest (141-143). A phase-III randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled, and multicenter study to compare the efficacy and safety of lenalidomide with R-CHOP versus placebo with R-CHOP in patients with previously untreated DLBCL is underway (NCT02285062).

Conclusion

New curative treatments are needed for B-cell lymphomas. The availability of specific antigens and the easy accessibility of the immune system to these diseases have supported the extensive study of immunotherapy in the attempt of improving the management of B-cell lymphoma patients. Even though active immunotherapy through antitumor vaccination theoretically represents the ideal immunotherapeutic modality to induce antitumor immunity and control disease recurrences, the possibility to activate effective endogenous immune responses has proven challenging even in lymphoma patients. Alternative approaches to promote tumor targeting by T cells have more recently been investigated with promising results, with T-cell therapy regaining considerable attention thanks to the recent clinical successes of CAR-T cells. However, with the increasing use of anticancer immunotherapy, we are becoming aware of the advantages and limitations of the different strategies now available to activate/ modulate antitumor immunity. It seems clear that if active and adoptive immunotherapy as well as immunomodulatory mAbs may not reach the desired activity as single agents, they can be exploited in rational combinations to maximize the probability of a clinical benefit (57). In conclusion, the significant advancements in the development and application of immunotherapy against B-cell lymphomas hold promise for a better definition of curative options for these diseases in the near future.

- McLaughlin P, Grillo-Lopez AJ, Link BK, Levy R, Czuczman MS, Williams ME, et al. Rituximab chimeric anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody therapy for relapsed indolent lymphoma: half of patients respond to a four-dose treatment program. J Clin Oncol (1998) 16:2825–33.
- Davis TA, Grillo-Lopez AJ, White CA, Mclaughlin P, Czuczman MS, Link BK, et al. Rituximab anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody therapy in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: safety and efficacy of re-treatment. *J Clin Oncol* (2000) 18:3135–43.
- Tarella C, Passera R, Magni M, Benedetti F, Rossi A, Gueli A, et al. Risk factors for the development of secondary malignancy after high-dose chemotherapy and autograft, with or without rituximab: a 20-year retrospective follow-up study in patients with lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2011) 29:814–24. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2010.28.9777

- Rajewsky K. Clonal selection and learning in the antibody system. *Nature* (1996) 381:751–8. doi:10.1038/381751a0
- LeBien TW, Tedder TF. B lymphocytes: how they develop and function. *Blood* (2008) 112:1570–80. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-02-078071
- Willis TG, Dyer MJ. The role of immunoglobulin translocations in the pathogenesis of B-cell malignancies. *Blood* (2000) 96:808–22.
- Küppers R, Dalla-Favera R. Mechanisms of chromosomal translocations in B cell lymphomas. Oncogene (2001) 20:5580–94. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1204640
- De Paoli P, Carbone A. Microenvironmental abnormalities induced by viral cooperation: impact on lymphomagenesis. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2015). doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.03.009
- Thorley-Lawson DA, Gross A. Persistence of the Epstein–Barr virus and the origins of associated lymphomas. N Engl J Med (2004) 350:1328–37. doi:10.1056/NEJMra032015
- Young LS, Rickinson AB. Epstein-Barr virus: 40 years on. Nat Rev Cancer (2004) 4:757–68. doi:10.1038/nrc1452
- Byrd JC, Furman RR, Coutre SE, Flinn IW, Burger JA, Blum KA, et al. Targeting BTK with ibrutinib in relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med (2013) 369:32–42. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1215637
- Wang ML, Rule S, Martin P, Goy A, Auer R, Kahl BS, et al. Targeting BTK with ibrutinib in relapsed or refractory mantle-cell lymphoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369:507–16. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1306220
- Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, Warren D, Varma G, Green R, et al. Ibrutinib in previously treated Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372:1430–40. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1501548
- Gopal AK, Kahl BS, De Vos S, Wagner-Johnston ND, Schuster SJ, Jurczak WJ, et al. PI3Kdelta inhibition by idelalisib in patients with relapsed indolent lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2014) 370:1008–18. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1314583
- Eisen HN, Sakato N, Hall SJ. Myeloma proteins as tumor-specific antigens. Transplant Proc (1975) 7:209–14.
- Janeway CA Jr, Sakato N, Eisen HN. Recognition of immunoglobulin idiotypes by thymus-derived lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1975) 72:2357–60. doi:10.1073/pnas.72.6.2357
- Herreros B, Sanchez-Aguilera A, Piris MA. Lymphoma microenvironment: culprit or innocent? *Leukemia* (2008) 22:49–58. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2404970
- 22. de Jong D. Molecular pathogenesis of follicular lymphoma: a cross talk of genetic and immunologic factors. *J Clin Oncol* (2005) **23**:6358–63. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.26.856
- 23. Dave SS. Follicular lymphoma and the microenvironment. *Blood* (2008) 111:4427-8. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-01-134643
- 24. Eray M, Postila V, Eeva J, Ripatti A, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Knuutila S, et al. Follicular lymphoma cell lines, an in vitro model for antigenic selection and cytokine-mediated growth regulation of germinal centre B cells. *Scand J Immunol* (2003) **57**:545–55. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3083.2003.01264.x
- 25. Goval JJ, Thielen C, Bourguignon C, Greimers R, Dejardin E, Choi YS, et al. The prevention of spontaneous apoptosis of follicular lymphoma B cells by a follicular dendritic cell line: involvement of caspase-3, caspase-8 and c-FLIP. *Haematologica* (2008) **93**:1169–77. doi:10.3324/haematol.12127
- Yang ZZ, Novak AJ, Stenson MJ, Witzig TE, Ansell SM. Intratumoral CD4+CD25+ regulatory T-cell-mediated suppression of infiltrating CD4+ T cells in B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2006) 107:3639–46. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-08-3376
- Yang ZZ, Novak AJ, Ziesmer SC, Witzig TE, Ansell SM. CD70+ non-Hodgkin lymphoma B cells induce Foxp3 expression and regulatory function in intratumoral CD4+CD25-T cells. *Blood* (2007) 110:2537–44. doi:10.1182/ blood-2007-03-082578
- Ai WZ, Hou JZ, Zeiser R, Czerwinski D, Negrin RS, Levy R. Follicular lymphoma B cells induce the conversion of conventional CD4+ T cells to T-regulatory cells. *Int J Cancer* (2009) 124:239–44. doi:10.1002/ijc.23881
- Farinha P, Masoudi H, Skinnider BF, Shumansky K, Spinelli JJ, Gill K, et al. Analysis of multiple biomarkers shows that lymphoma-associated macrophage (LAM) content is an independent predictor of survival in follicular lymphoma (FL). *Blood* (2005) **106**:2169–74. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-04-1565
- Alvaro T, Lejeune M, Camacho FI, Salvadó MT, Sánchez L, García JF, et al. The presence of STAT1-positive tumor-associated macrophages and their relation to outcome in patients with follicular lymphoma. *Haematologica* (2006) **91**:1605–12.
- Tiemessen MM, Jagger AL, Evans HG, Van Herwijnen MJC, John S, Taams LS. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce alternative activation

of human monocytes/macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2007) 104:19446-51. doi:10.1073/pnas.0706832104

- 32. Grube M, Rezvani K, Wiestner A, Fujiwara H, Sconocchia G, Melenhorst JJ, et al. Autoreactive, cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for peptides derived from normal B-cell differentiation antigens in healthy individuals and patients with B-cell malignancies. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10:1047–56. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-03-0075
- Fisher RI, Leblanc M, Press OW, Maloney DG, Unger JM, Miller TP. New treatment options have changed the survival of patients with follicular lymphoma. J Clin Oncol (2005) 23:8447–52. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.03.1674
- Friedberg JW. Treatment of follicular non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: the old and the new. Semin Hematol (2008) 45:S2-6. doi:10.1053/j. seminhematol.2008.07.003
- 35. Hainsworth JD, Litchy S, Shaffer DW, Lackey VL, Grimaldi M, Greco FA. Maximizing therapeutic benefit of rituximab: maintenance therapy versus re-treatment at progression in patients with indolent non-Hodgkin's lymphoma – a randomized phase II trial of the Minnie Pearl Cancer Research Network. J Clin Oncol (2005) 23:1088–95. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.05.004
- Park HJ, Neelapu SS. Developing idiotype vaccines for lymphoma: from preclinical studies to phase III clinical trials. *Br J Haematol* (2008) 142:179–91. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07143.x
- Khouri IF, Mclaughlin P, Saliba RM, Hosing C, Korbling M, Lee MS, et al. Eight-year experience with allogeneic stem cell transplantation for relapsed follicular lymphoma after nonmyeloablative conditioning with fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab. *Blood* (2008) 111:5530–6. doi:10.1182/ blood-2008-01-136242
- Rezvani AR, Storer B, Maris M, Sorror ML, Agura E, Maziarz RT, et al. Nonmyeloablative allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation in relapsed, refractory, and transformed indolent non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2008) 26:211–7. doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.11.5477
- Kochenderfer JN, Dudley ME, Kassim SH, Somerville RP, Carpenter RO, Stetler-Stevenson M, et al. Chemotherapy-refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and indolent B-cell malignancies can be effectively treated with autologous T cells expressing an anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor. J Clin Oncol (2015) 33:540–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2014.56.2025
- Ansell SM, Lesokhin AM, Borrello I, Halwani A, Scott EC, Gutierrez M, et al. PD-1 blockade with nivolumab in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2015) 372:311–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1411087
- Postow MA, Chesney J, Pavlick AC, Robert C, Grossmann K, Mcdermott D, et al. Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372:2006–17. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1414428
- Hawkins RE, Russell SJ, Marcus R, Ashworth LJ, Brissnik J, Zhang J, et al. A pilot study of idiotypic vaccination for follicular B-cell lymphoma using a genetic approach. CRC NO: 92/33. Protocol NO: PH1/027. *Hum Gene Ther* (1997) 8:1287–99.
- Sakamaki I, Qin H, Kwak LW. Translational development of vaccination strategies in follicular NHL. *Best Pract Res Clin Haematol* (2011) 24:295–304. doi:10.1016/j.beha.2011.03.007
- Bendandi M, Gocke CD, Kobrin CB, Benko FA, Sternas LA, Pennington R, et al. Complete molecular remissions induced by patient-specific vaccination plus granulocyte-monocyte colony-stimulating factor against lymphoma. *Nat Med* (1999) 5:1171–7. doi:10.1038/13928
- Inoges S, Rodriguez-Calvillo M, Zabalegui N, Lopez-Diaz De Cerio A, Villanueva H, Soria E, et al. Clinical benefit associated with idiotypic vaccination in patients with follicular lymphoma. J Natl Cancer Inst (2006) 98:1292–301. doi:10.1093/jnci/djj358
- Ai WZ, Tibshirani R, Taidi B, Czerwinski D, Levy R. Anti-idiotype antibody response after vaccination correlates with better overall survival in follicular lymphoma. *Blood* (2009) 113:5743–6. doi:10.1182/ blood-2009-01-201988
- Neelapu SS, Kwak LW, Kobrin CB, Reynolds CW, Janik JE, Dunleavy K, et al. Vaccine-induced tumor-specific immunity despite severe B-cell depletion in mantle cell lymphoma. *Nat Med* (2005) 11:986–91. doi:10.1038/nm1290
- Koc O, Redfern C, Wiernik P, Rosenfelt F, Winter J, Guthrie T, et al. Extended follow-up and analysis with central radiological review of patients receiving FavId[®] (Id/KLH) vaccine following rituximab. *Blood* (2005) 106(11):abstr 772.
- Levy R, Robertson M, Ganjoo K, Leonard J, Vose J, Denney D. Results of a Phase 3 trial evaluating safety and efficacy of specific immunotherapy,

recombinant idiotype (Id) conjugated to KLH (Id-KLH) with GM-CSF, compared to non-specific immunotherapy, KLH with GM-CSF, in patients with follicular non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (fNHL). *Cancer Res* (2008) **68**:LB-204.

- Freedman A, Neelapu SS, Nichols C, Robertson MJ, Djulbegovic B, Winter JN, et al. Placebo-controlled phase III trial of patient-specific immunotherapy with mitumprotimut-T and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor after rituximab in patients with follicular lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2009) 27:3036–43. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.19.8903
- Schuster SJ, Neelapu SS, Gause BL, Janik JE, Muggia FM, Gockerman JP, et al. Vaccination with patient-specific tumor-derived antigen in first remission improves disease-free survival in follicular lymphoma. J Clin Oncol (2011) 29:2787–94. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.33.3005
- Palucka AK, Ueno H, Fay JW, Banchereau J. Taming cancer by inducing immunity via dendritic cells. *Immunol Rev* (2007) 220:129–50. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2007.00575.x
- 53. Timmerman JM, Singh G, Hermanson G, Hobart P, Czerwinski DK, Taidi B, et al. Immunogenicity of a plasmid DNA vaccine encoding chimeric idiotype in patients with B-cell lymphoma. *Cancer Res* (2002) **62**:5845–52.
- 54. King CA, Spellerberg MB, Zhu D, Rice J, Sahota SS, Thompsett AR, et al. DNA vaccines with single-chain Fv fused to fragment C of tetanus toxin induce protective immunity against lymphoma and myeloma. *Nat Med* (1998) 4:1281–6. doi:10.1038/3266
- 55. Stevenson FK, Zhu D, King CA, Ashworth LJ, Kumar S, Thompsett A, et al. A genetic approach to idiotypic vaccination for B cell lymphoma. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (1995) 772:212–26. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1995.tb44747.x
- Iurescia S, Fioretti D, Fazio VM, Rinaldi M. Epitope-driven DNA vaccine design employing immunoinformatics against B-cell lymphoma: a biotech's challenge. *Biotechnol Adv* (2012) **30**:372–83. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv. 2011.06.020
- Brody J, Kohrt H, Marabelle A, Levy R. Active and passive immunotherapy for lymphoma: proving principles and improving results. *J Clin Oncol* (2011) 29:1864–75. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.33.4623
- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Restifo NP. Cancer immunotherapy: moving beyond current vaccines. Nat Med (2004) 10:909–15. doi:10.1038/nm1100
- Timmerman JM. Idiotype-pulsed dendritic cell vaccination for B-cell lymphoma: clinical and immune responses in 35 patients. *Blood* (2002) 99:1517–26. doi:10.1182/blood.V99.5.1517
- Franki SN, Steward KK, Betting DJ, Kafi K, Yamada RE, Timmerman JM. Dendritic cells loaded with apoptotic antibody-coated tumor cells provide protective immunity against B-cell lymphoma in vivo. *Blood* (2008) 111:1504–11. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-03-080507
- 61. Di Nicola M, Zappasodi R, Carlo-Stella C, Mortarini R, Pupa SM, Magni M, et al. Vaccination with autologous tumor-loaded dendritic cells induces clinical and immunologic responses in indolent B-cell lymphoma patients with relapsed and measurable disease: a pilot study. *Blood* (2009) 113:18–27. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-06-165654
- Zappasodi R, Bongarzone I, Ghedini GC, Castagnoli L, Cabras AD, Messina A, et al. Serological identification of HSP105 as a novel non-Hodgkin lymphoma therapeutic target. *Blood* (2011) **118**:4421–30. doi:10.1182/ blood-2011-06-364570
- Zappasodi R, Pupa SM, Ghedini GC, Bongarzone I, Magni M, Cabras AD, et al. Improved clinical outcome in indolent B-cell lymphoma patients vaccinated with autologous tumor cells experiencing immunogenic death. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**:9062–72. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1825
- Zitvogel L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli FS, Kroemer G. Immunological aspects of cancer chemotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8:59–73. doi:10.1038/nri2216
- Wang J, Saffold S, Cao X, Krauss J, Chen W. Eliciting T cell immunity against poorly immunogenic tumors by immunization with dendritic cell-tumor fusion vaccines. *J Immunol* (1998) 161:5516–24.
- Van Meirvenne S, Straetman L, Heirman C, Dullaers M, De Greef C, Van Tendeloo V, et al. Efficient genetic modification of murine dendritic cells by electroporation with mRNA. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2002) 9:787–97. doi:10.1038/ sj.cgt.7700499
- Ni X, Richmond HM, Liao XM, Decker WK, Shiue LH, Shpall EJ, et al. Induction of T-cell responses against cutaneous T-cell lymphomas ex vivo by autologous dendritic cells transfected with amplified tumor mRNA. J Invest Dermatol (2008) 128:2631–9. doi:10.1038/jid.2008.125

- Winkler C, Steingrube DS, Altermann W, Schlaf G, Max D, Kewitz S, et al. Hodgkin's lymphoma RNA-transfected dendritic cells induce cancer/testis antigen-specific immune responses. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61:1769–79. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1239-z
- Yewdell JW, Norbury CC, Bennink JR. Mechanisms of exogenous antigen presentation by MHC class I molecules in vitro and in vivo: implications for generating CD8+ T cell responses to infectious agents, tumors, transplants, and vaccines. *Adv Immunol* (1999) 73:1–77. doi:10.1016/ S0065-2776(08)60785-3
- Krieg AM. Development of TLR9 agonists for cancer therapy. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:1184–94. doi:10.1172/JCI31414
- Brody JD, Ai WZ, Czerwinski DK, Torchia JA, Levy M, Advani RH, et al. In situ vaccination with a TLR9 agonist induces systemic lymphoma regression: a phase I/II study. J Clin Oncol (2010) 28:4324–32. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2010.28.9793
- Kim YH, Gratzinger D, Harrison C, Brody JD, Czerwinski DK, Ai WZ, et al. In situ vaccination against mycosis fungoides by intratumoral injection of a TLR9 agonist combined with radiation: a phase 1/2 study. *Blood* (2012) 119:355–63. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-05-355222
- 73. Goldstein MJ, Varghese B, Brody JD, Rajapaksa R, Kohrt H, Czerwinski DK, et al. A CpG-loaded tumor cell vaccine induces antitumor CD4+ T cells that are effective in adoptive therapy for large and established tumors. *Blood* (2011) 117:118–27. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-06-288456
- Brody JD, Advani R, Weng W, Czerwinski D, Alizadeh AA, Kohrt HE, et al. Immunotransplant for mantle cell lymphoma: phase I/II study preliminary results. J Clin Oncol (2011) 29(Suppl):abstr 2509.
- Gottschalk S, Rooney CM, Heslop HE. Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders. Annu Rev Med (2005) 56:29–44. doi:10.1146/annurev. med.56.082103.104727
- Heslop HE. How I treat EBV lymphoproliferation. *Blood* (2009) 114:4002–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-07-143545
- Thorley-Lawson DA, Gross A. Persistence of the Epstein-Barr virus and the origins of associated lymphomas. N Engl J Med (2004) 350:1328–37. doi:10.1056/NEJMra032015
- Heslop HE, Slobod KS, Pule MA, Hale GA, Rousseau A, Smith CA, et al. Long-term outcome of EBV-specific T-cell infusions to prevent or treat EBVrelated lymphoproliferative disease in transplant recipients. *Blood* (2010) 115:925–35. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-08-239186
- Doubrovina E, Oflaz-Sozmen B, Prockop SE, Kernan NA, Abramson S, Teruya-Feldstein J, et al. Adoptive immunotherapy with unselected or EBV-specific T cells for biopsy-proven EBV+ lymphomas after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. *Blood* (2012) 119:2644–56. doi:10.1182/ blood-2011-08-371971
- Khanna R, Bell S, Sherritt M, Galbraith A, Burrows SR, Rafter L, et al. Activation and adoptive transfer of Epstein-Barr virus-specific cytotoxic T cells in solid organ transplant patients with posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) **96**:10391–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.96.18.10391
- Comoli P, Labirio M, Basso S, Baldanti F, Grossi P, Furione M, et al. Infusion of autologous Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-specific cytotoxic T cells for prevention of EBV-related lymphoproliferative disorder in solid organ transplant recipients with evidence of active virus replication. *Blood* (2002) **99**:2592–8. doi:10.1182/blood.V99.7.2592
- Savoldo B, Goss JA, Hammer MM, Zhang L, Lopez T, Gee AP, et al. Treatment of solid organ transplant recipients with autologous Epstein Barr virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs). *Blood* (2006) 108:2942–9. doi:10.1182/ blood-2006-05-021782
- Haque T, Wilkie GM, Jones MM, Higgins CD, Urquhart G, Wingate P, et al. Allogeneic cytotoxic T-cell therapy for EBV-positive posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disease: results of a phase 2 multicenter clinical trial. *Blood* (2007) 110:1123–31. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-12-063008
- Barker JN, Doubrovina E, Sauter C, Jaroscak JJ, Perales MA, Doubrovin M, et al. Successful treatment of EBV-associated posttransplantation lymphoma after cord blood transplantation using third-party EBV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Blood* (2010) 116:5045–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-04-281873
- 85. Prockop SE, Doubrovina E, Baroudy K, Boulad F, Khalaf R, Papadopoulos EB, et al. Epstein-Barr virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes for treatment of

rituximab-refractory Epstein-Barr virus-associated lymphoproliferative disorder. *Cancer Res* (2015) **75**:CT107. doi:10.1158/1538-7445.AM2015-CT107

- Bollard CM, Cooper LJ, Heslop HE. Immunotherapy targeting EBVexpressing lymphoproliferative diseases. *Best Pract Res Clin Haematol* (2008) 21:405–20. doi:10.1016/j.beha.2008.06.002
- Bollard CM, Gottschalk S, Leen AM, Weiss H, Straathof KC, Carrum G, et al. Complete responses of relapsed lymphoma following genetic modification of tumor-antigen presenting cells and T-lymphocyte transfer. *Blood* (2007) 110:2838–45. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-05-091280
- Restifo NP, Dudley ME, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: harnessing the T cell response. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12:269–81. doi:10.1038/nri3191
- Eshhar Z, Waks T, Gross G, Schindler DG. Specific activation and targeting of cytotoxic lymphocytes through chimeric single chains consisting of antibody-binding domains and the gamma or zeta subunits of the immunoglobulin and T-cell receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1993) **90**:720–4. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.2.720
- Brentjens RJ, Latouche JB, Santos E, Marti F, Gong MC, Lyddane C, et al. Eradication of systemic B-cell tumors by genetically targeted human T lymphocytes co-stimulated by CD80 and interleukin-15. *Nat Med* (2003) 9:279–86. doi:10.1038/nm827
- Cheadle EJ, Hawkins RE, Batha H, Rothwell DG, Ashton G, Gilham DE. Eradication of established B-cell lymphoma by CD19-specific murine T cells is dependent on host lymphopenic environment and can be mediated by CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *J Immunother* (2009) 32:207–18. doi:10.1097/ CJI.0b013e318194a921
- James SE, Orgun NN, Tedder TF, Shlomchik MJ, Jensen MC, Lin Y, et al. Antibody-mediated B-cell depletion before adoptive immunotherapy with T cells expressing CD20-specific chimeric T-cell receptors facilitates eradication of leukemia in immunocompetent mice. *Blood* (2009) 114:5454–63. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-08-232967
- Kochenderfer JN, Yu Z, Frasheri D, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive transfer of syngeneic T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor that recognizes murine CD19 can eradicate lymphoma and normal B cells. *Blood* (2010) 116:3875–86. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-01-265041
- Cheadle EJ, Hawkins RE, Batha H, O'neill AL, Dovedi SJ, Gilham DE. Natural expression of the CD19 antigen impacts the long-term engraftment but not antitumor activity of CD19-specific engineered T cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:1885–96. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901440
- Kowolik CM, Topp MS, Gonzalez S, Pfeiffer T, Olivares S, Gonzalez N, et al. CD28 costimulation provided through a CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptor enhances in vivo persistence and antitumor efficacy of adoptively transferred T cells. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:10995–1004. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-0160
- Loskog A, Giandomenico V, Rossig C, Pule M, Dotti G, Brenner MK. Addition of the CD28 signaling domain to chimeric T-cell receptors enhances chimeric T-cell resistance to T regulatory cells. *Leukemia* (2006) 20:1819–28. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2404366
- Brentjens RJ, Santos E, Nikhamin Y, Yeh R, Matsushita M, La Perle K, et al. Genetically targeted T cells eradicate systemic acute lymphoblastic leukemia xenografts. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13:5426–35. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-07-0674
- Milone MC, Fish JD, Carpenito C, Carroll RG, Binder GK, Teachey D, et al. Chimeric receptors containing CD137 signal transduction domains mediate enhanced survival of T cells and increased antileukemic efficacy in vivo. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17:1453–64. doi:10.1038/mt.2009.83
- 99. Song DG, Ye Q, Carpenito C, Poussin M, Wang LP, Ji C, et al. In vivo persistence, tumor localization, and antitumor activity of CAR-engineered T cells is enhanced by costimulatory signaling through CD137 (4-1BB). *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:4617–27. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0422
- 100. Tammana S, Huang X, Wong M, Milone MC, Ma L, Levine BL, et al. 4-1BB and CD28 signaling plays a synergistic role in redirecting umbilical cord blood T cells against B-cell malignancies. *Hum Gene Ther* (2010) 21:75–86. doi:10.1089/hum.2009.122
- 101. Micklethwaite KP, Savoldo B, Hanley PJ, Leen AM, Demmler-Harrison GJ, Cooper LJ, et al. Derivation of human T lymphocytes from cord blood and peripheral blood with antiviral and antileukemic specificity from a single culture as protection against infection and relapse after stem cell transplantation. *Blood* (2010) **115**:2695–703. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-09-242263

- 102. Terakura S, Yamamoto TN, Gardner RA, Turtle CJ, Jensen MC, Riddell SR. Generation of CD19-chimeric antigen receptor modified CD8+ T cells derived from virus-specific central memory T cells. *Blood* (2012) 119:72–82. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-07-366419
- 103. Kochenderfer JN, Wilson WH, Janik JE, Dudley ME, Stetler-Stevenson M, Feldman SA, et al. Eradication of B-lineage cells and regression of lymphoma in a patient treated with autologous T cells genetically engineered to recognize CD19. *Blood* (2010) 116:4099–102. doi:10.1182/ blood-2010-04-281931
- Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med (2011) 365:725–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1103849
- 105. Kochenderfer JN, Dudley ME, Feldman SA, Wilson WH, Spaner DE, Maric I, et al. B-cell depletion and remissions of malignancy along with cytokine-associated toxicity in a clinical trial of anti-CD19 chimeric-antigen-receptor-transduced T cells. *Blood* (2012) **119**:2709–20. doi:10.1182/ blood-2011-10-384388
- 106. Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia. N Engl J Med (2014) 371:1507–17. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1407222
- 107. Kochenderfer JN, Dudley ME, Carpenter RO, Kassim SH, Rose JJ, Telford WG, et al. Donor-derived CD19-targeted T cells cause regression of malignancy persisting after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Blood* (2013) **122**:4129–39. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-08-519413
- 108. Cruz CR, Micklethwaite KP, Savoldo B, Ramos CA, Lam S, Ku S, et al. Infusion of donor-derived CD19-redirected virus-specific T cells for B-cell malignancies relapsed after allogeneic stem cell transplant: a phase 1 study. *Blood* (2013) 122:2965–73. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-06-506741
- 109. Straathof KC, Pule MA, Yotnda P, Dotti G, Vanin EF, Brenner MK, et al. An inducible caspase 9 safety switch for T-cell therapy. *Blood* (2005) 105:4247–54. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-11-4564
- 110. Vogler I, Newrzela S, Hartmann S, Schneider N, Von Laer D, Koehl U, et al. An improved bicistronic CD20/tCD34 vector for efficient purification and in vivo depletion of gene-modified T cells for adoptive immunotherapy. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:1330–8. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.83
- 111. Wang X, Chang WC, Wong CW, Colcher D, Sherman M, Ostberg JR, et al. A transgene-encoded cell surface polypeptide for selection, in vivo tracking, and ablation of engineered cells. *Blood* (2011) **118**:1255–63. doi:10.1182/ blood-2011-02-337360
- 112. Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med (2013) 368:1509–18. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1215134
- 113. Davila ML, Riviere I, Wang X, Bartido S, Park J, Curran K, et al. Efficacy and toxicity management of 19-28z CAR T cell therapy in B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:224ra225. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008226
- 114. Hudecek M, Schmitt TM, Baskar S, Lupo-Stanghellini MT, Nishida T, Yamamoto TN, et al. The B-cell tumor-associated antigen ROR1 can be targeted with T cells modified to express a ROR1-specific chimeric antigen receptor. *Blood* (2010) 116:4532–41. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-05-283309
- 115. Giordano Attianese GM, Marin V, Hoyos V, Savoldo B, Pizzitola I, Tettamanti S, et al. In vitro and in vivo model of a novel immunotherapy approach for chronic lymphocytic leukemia by anti-CD23 chimeric antigen receptor. *Blood* (2011) **117**:4736–45. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-10-311845
- Matsuki E, Younes A. Lymphomagenesis in Hodgkin lymphoma. Semin Cancer Biol (2015). doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.02.002
- 117. Dave SS, Wright G, Tan B, Rosenwald A, Gascoyne RD, Chan WC, et al. Prediction of survival in follicular lymphoma based on molecular features of tumor-infiltrating immune cells. N Engl J Med (2004) 351:2159–69. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa041869
- 118. Lee AM, Clear AJ, Calaminici M, Davies AJ, Jordan S, Macdougall F, et al. Number of CD4+ cells and location of forkhead box protein P3-positive cells in diagnostic follicular lymphoma tissue microarrays correlates with outcome. J Clin Oncol (2006) 24:5052–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2006.06.4642
- 119. Glas AM, Knoops L, Delahaye L, Kersten MJ, Kibbelaar RE, Wessels LA, et al. Gene-expression and immunohistochemical study of specific T-cell subsets and accessory cell types in the transformation and prognosis of follicular lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2007) 25:390–8. doi:10.1200/JCO.2006.06.1648

- Lenz G, Wright G, Dave SS, Xiao W, Powell J, Zhao H, et al. Stromal gene signatures in large-B-cell lymphomas. N Engl J Med (2008) 359:2313–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0802885
- 121. Farinha P, Al-Tourah A, Gill K, Klasa R, Connors JM, Gascoyne RD. The architectural pattern of FOXP3-positive T cells in follicular lymphoma is an independent predictor of survival and histologic transformation. *Blood* (2010) 115:289–95. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-07-235598
- 122. Lin Y, Gustafson MP, Bulur PA, Gastineau DA, Witzig TE, Dietz AB. Immunosuppressive CD14+HLA-DR(low)/-monocytes in B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2011) 117:872–81. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-05-283820
- 123. Khalifa KA, Badawy HM, Radwan WM, Shehata MA, Bassuoni MA. CD14(+) HLA-DR low/(-) monocytes as indicator of disease aggressiveness in B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Int J Lab Hematol* (2014) 36:650–5. doi:10.1111/ ijlh.12203
- 124. Yang ZZ, Grote DM, Ziesmer SC, Xiu B, Novak AJ, Ansell SM. PD-1 expression defines two distinct T-cell sub-populations in follicular lymphoma that differentially impact patient survival. *Blood Cancer J* (2015) 5:e281. doi:10.1038/bcj.2015.1
- 125. Met O, Wang M, Pedersen AE, Nissen MH, Buus S, Claesson MH. The effect of a therapeutic dendritic cell-based cancer vaccination depends on the blockage of CTLA-4 signaling. *Cancer Lett* (2006) 231:247–56. doi:10.1016/j. canlet.2005.02.005
- 126. Houot R, Levy R. T-cell modulation combined with intratumoral CpG cures lymphoma in a mouse model without the need for chemotherapy. *Blood* (2009) 113:3546–52. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-07-170274
- 127. Kohrt HE, Houot R, Goldstein MJ, Weiskopf K, Alizadeh AA, Brody J, et al. CD137 stimulation enhances the antilymphoma activity of anti-CD20 antibodies. *Blood* (2011) 117:2423–32. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-08-301945
- 128. Berger R, Rotem-Yehudar R, Slama G, Landes S, Kneller A, Leiba M, et al. Phase I safety and pharmacokinetic study of CT-011, a humanized antibody interacting with PD-1, in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:3044–51. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4079
- 129. Ansell SM, Hurvitz SA, Koenig PA, Laplant BR, Kabat BF, Fernando D, et al. Phase I study of ipilimumab, an anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibody, in patients with relapsed and refractory B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:6446–53. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1339
- 130. Bashey A, Medina B, Corringham S, Pasek M, Carrier E, Vrooman L, et al. CTLA4 blockade with ipilimumab to treat relapse of malignancy after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. *Blood* (2009) 113:1581–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-07-168468
- 131. Westin JR, Chu F, Zhang M, Fayad LE, Kwak LW, Fowler N, et al. Safety and activity of PD1 blockade by pidilizumab in combination with rituximab in patients with relapsed follicular lymphoma: a single group, open-label, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2014) **15**:69–77. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70551-5
- 132. Lin W, Voskens CJ, Zhang X, Schindler DG, Wood A, Burch E, et al. Fc-dependent expression of CD137 on human NK cells: insights into "agonistic" effects of anti-CD137 monoclonal antibodies. *Blood* (2008) 112:699–707. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-11-122465
- 133. Wiernik PH, Lossos IS, Tuscano JM, Justice G, Vose JM, Cole CE, et al. Lenalidomide monotherapy in relapsed or refractory aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol (2008) 26:4952–7. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2007.15.3429

- Habermann TM, Lossos IS, Justice G, Vose JM, Wiernik PH, Mcbride K, et al. Lenalidomide oral monotherapy produces a high response rate in patients with relapsed or refractory mantle cell lymphoma. *Br J Haematol* (2009) 145:344–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2009.07626.x
- 135. Witzig TE, Wiernik PH, Moore T, Reeder C, Cole C, Justice G, et al. Lenalidomide oral monotherapy produces durable responses in relapsed or refractory indolent non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol (2009) 27:5404–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.21.1169
- 136. Witzig TE, Vose JM, Zinzani PL, Reeder CB, Buckstein R, Polikoff JA, et al. An international phase II trial of single-agent lenalidomide for relapsed or refractory aggressive B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Ann Oncol* (2011) 22:1622–7. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdq626
- 137. Goy A, Sinha R, Williams ME, Kalayoglu Besisik S, Drach J, Ramchandren R, et al. Single-agent lenalidomide in patients with mantle-cell lymphoma who relapsed or progressed after or were refractory to bortezomib: phase II MCL-001 (EMERGE) study. J Clin Oncol (2013) 31:3688–95. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2013.49.2835
- 138. Zinzani PL, Pellegrini C, Gandolfi L, Stefoni V, Quirini F, Derenzini E, et al. Combination of lenalidomide and rituximab in elderly patients with relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: a phase 2 trial. *Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk* (2011) 11:462–6. doi:10.1016/j.clml.2011.02.001
- 139. Tuscano JM, Dutia M, Chee K, Brunson A, Reed-Pease C, Abedi M, et al. Lenalidomide plus rituximab can produce durable clinical responses in patients with relapsed or refractory, indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Br J Haematol (2014) 165:375–81. doi:10.1111/bjh.12755
- Plosker GL, Figgitt DP. Rituximab: a review of its use in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Drugs* (2003) 63:803–43. doi:10.2165/00003495-200363080-00005
- 141. Nowakowski GS, Laplant B, Habermann TM, Rivera CE, Macon WR, Inwards DJ, et al. Lenalidomide can be safely combined with R-CHOP (R2CHOP) in the initial chemotherapy for aggressive B-cell lymphomas: phase I study. *Leukemia* (2011) 25:1877–81. doi:10.1038/leu.2011.165
- 142. Vitolo U, Chiappella A, Franceschetti S, Carella AM, Baldi I, Inghirami G, et al. Lenalidomide plus R-CHOP21 in elderly patients with untreated diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: results of the REAL07 open-label, multicentre, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2014) 15:730–7. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70191-3
- 143. Nowakowski GS, Laplant B, Macon WR, Reeder CB, Foran JM, Nelson GD, et al. Lenalidomide combined with R-CHOP overcomes negative prognostic impact of non-germinal center B-cell phenotype in newly diagnosed diffuse large B-Cell lymphoma: a phase II study. J Clin Oncol (2015) 33:251–7. doi:10.1200/JCO.2014.55.5714

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Zappasodi, de Braud and Di Nicola. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Exploiting the immunomodulatory properties of chemotherapeutic drugs to improve the success of cancer immunotherapy

Kelly Kersten[†], Camilla Salvagno[†] and Karin E. de Visser^{*}

Division of Immunology, Netherlands Cancer Institute, Amsterdam, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Abhishek D. Garg, KU Leuven – University of Leuven, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Marie-Lise Gougeon, Institut Pasteur, France Shubhada Vivek Chiplunkar, Advanced Centre for Treatment, Research & Education in Cancer, India

*Correspondence:

Karin E. de Visser, Division of Immunology, Netherlands Cancer Institute, Plesmanlaan 121, Amsterdam 1066 CX, Netherlands k.d.visser@nki.nl

[†]Kelly Kersten and Camilla Salvagno have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 July 2015 Accepted: 22 September 2015 Published: 07 October 2015

Citation:

Kersten K, Salvagno C and de Visser KE (2015) Exploiting the immunomodulatory properties of chemotherapeutic drugs to improve the success of cancer immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 6:516. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00516 Cancer immunotherapy is gaining momentum in the clinic. The current challenge is to understand why a proportion of cancer patients do not respond to cancer immunotherapy, and how this can be translated into the rational design of combinatorial cancer immunotherapy strategies aimed at maximizing success of immunotherapy. Here, we discuss how tumors orchestrate an immunosuppressive microenvironment, which contributes to their escape from immune attack. Relieving the immunosuppressive networks in cancer patients is an attractive strategy to extend the clinical success of cancer immunotherapy. Since the clinical availability of drugs specifically targeting immunosuppressive cells or mediators is still limited, an alternative strategy is to use conventional chemotherapy drugs with immunomodulatory properties to improve cancer immunotherapy. We summarize the preclinical and clinical studies that illustrate how the anti-tumor T cell response can be enhanced by chemotherapy-induced relief of immunosuppressive networks. Treatment strategies aimed at combining chemotherapy-induced relief of immunosuppression and T cell-boosting checkpoint inhibitors provide an attractive and clinically feasible approach to overcome intrinsic and acquired resistance to cancer immunotherapy, and to extend the clinical success of cancer immunotherapy.

Keywords: cancer immunotherapy, immune checkpoint blockade, chemotherapy, tumor microenvironment, immunosuppression, anti-tumor immunity

Introduction

Cancer immunotherapy – harnessing the patient's immune system against cancer – is currently gaining momentum in the clinic. Clinical trials with immune checkpoint inhibitors show remarkable success in patients with advanced metastatic melanoma, non-small cell lung cancer, renal cancer, bladder cancer, and Hodgkin's lymphoma (1–6). As a result, the journal *Science* proclaimed cancer immuno-therapy as the breakthrough of 2013 (7). Furthermore, these encouraging results led to FDA approval of the immune checkpoint inhibitors ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4), nivolumab, and pembrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in the past few years. Although cancer immunotherapy was proclaimed a breakthrough, a significant proportion of cancer patients do not show clinical benefit. There are various cancer cell-intrinsic and cancer cell-extrinsic processes that regulate intrinsic or acquired resistance to cancer immunotherapy. Cancer cell-intrinsic characteristics like the mutational load have been reported to affect responsiveness to immunotherapy (8, 9). In terms of cancer cell-extrinsic processes, tumors exploit different strategies to induce immune escape by hampering the recruitment and activation

of effector T cells, and by creating a local immunosuppressive environment through recruitment of suppressive myeloid and regulatory T cells that dampen T cell effector functions. Which of these immune escape mechanisms are active in a certain tumor depends on the tumor type, tumor stage, and therapy history. A deeper understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying these processes will contribute to the identification of biomarkers that can predict therapeutic efficacy of immunotherapy and to the design of combinatorial strategies aimed at maximizing the success of immunotherapy.

In this review, we discuss how tumor-induced immunosuppressive networks counteract efficacious anti-tumor immune responses, and how disruption of these networks can increase the anti-cancer efficacy of cancer immunotherapy with immune checkpoint inhibitors. Development and clinical testing of novel drugs specifically targeting immunosuppressive networks are ongoing and preliminary results are promising (10). An alternative strategy to relieve tumor-induced immunosuppressive states is to use conventional, and more easily accessible, anti-cancer treatment strategies with known immunomodulatory properties, such as chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and targeted therapy (11–15). Here, we focus on the immunomodulatory properties of conventional chemotherapy, and how these properties can be exploited to improve the anti-cancer efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors.

Cancer Immunotherapy: Opportunities and Challenges

Tumor-Induced Mechanisms of Immune Escape

Cancers do not merely consist of tumor cells, but comprise a variety of cell types that together form the tumor microenvironment (TME) (Figures 1 and 2). Infiltrating immune cells are of special interest because of their paradoxical role in cancer progression. While some immune cell populations have pro-tumorigenic properties, others counteract tumorigenesis (16-18). Many tumors are characterized by an immunosuppressive TME, which makes it unfavorable for anti-tumor immunity. To mount effective anti-tumor immunity, tumor-associated antigens need to be sampled and processed by antigen-presenting cells (APCs). After receiving specific maturation signals, these APCs migrate to tumor-draining lymphoid organs where antigens are presented to T cells. Upon activation and proliferation, tumor antigen-specific T cells migrate to the tumor bed where they exert their cytotoxic function. At every step of this T cell priming and effector process, tumors employ strategies to hamper anti-cancer immunity.

Tumors often show dysfunctional recruitment and activation of dendritic cells (DCs), which are the most potent APCs for initiating immune responses. Several studies show that tumorinfiltrating DCs display an immature phenotype (20, 21). Tumorderived factors like IL10, IL6, CSF1, and VEGF interfere with DC maturation, causing failure to migrate to the tumor-draining lymphoid organs, and to provide the appropriate co-stimulatory signals required to stimulate T cells (21). Although a thorough analysis of the antigen-presenting myeloid immune cell compartment in the *MMTV-PyMT* mammary tumor model showed that intratumoral DCs are able to ingest and present tumor antigens to T cells, they fail to activate them (22). Nevertheless, even in these immunoevasive tumors, a rare population of IL12-expressing CD103⁺ DCs exists that is able to prime tumor antigen-specific T cells (23). Besides hampered T cell priming, the recruitment of activated T cells and their access into the tumor bed is often disrupted by the disorganized tumor vasculature and impaired expression of adhesion molecules on endothelial cells (24, 25). Some studies suggest that tumor-derived chemokines may cause selective trapping of T cells in the tumor stroma preventing access into the tumor bed (26). When tumor-specific T cells do succeed to reach the tumor, downregulation of MHC class I expression on tumor cells renders them invisible to T cell attack (27). Additionally, T cells face systemic and local tumor-induced immunosuppression, which limits their activation and function (28). Tumor-associated immunosuppression can be caused by tumor-infiltrating or systemically expanded myeloid cells or regulatory T cells (T_{regs}) that - directly or indirectly via secretion of soluble mediators - hamper T cell priming and effector function or even induce T cell death (28). These mechanisms will be discussed in more detail later.

Enhancing Anti-Tumor Immunity by Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

To improve anti-tumor T cell immunity, different types of cancer immunotherapy approaches exist. While passive immunotherapy is based on adoptive transfer of (genetically engineered) autologous T cells, active immunotherapy boosts the endogenous immune response via cancer vaccines or inhibitors of immune checkpoints. The therapeutic effect of the latter is aimed at inhibition of negative immune regulatory pathways including cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein-4 (CTLA-4) and the programed cell death protein-1 (PD-1) receptor and one of its ligands, PD-L1 (B7-H1; CD274) (29). CTLA-4 is a member of the CD28 immunoglobulin superfamily and is expressed mainly on the surface of activated CD4⁺ T cells and T_{regs}, while absent on naïve T cells (30). CTLA-4 plays a central role in maintaining immune tolerance by competing with CD28 to bind the ligands CD80 and CD86 present on activated APCs to inhibit T cell costimulation. The PD-1/PD-L1 axis shows similarities to that of CTLA-4. PD-1 is mainly expressed on activated T cells upon T cell receptor (TCR) engagement and on Tregs, while naïve and memory T cells do not usually express this surface marker. Recent studies suggest that PD-1, rather than being a marker of activated T cells, identifies exhausted T cells (31). PD-L1 is expressed on multiple cell types, whereas expression of PD-L2 (B7-DC; CD273) seems to be restricted to APCs (32, 33). Like CTLA-4, binding of PD-L1/ PD-L2 to its receptor results in an inhibitory signal that prevents T cell activation. While CTLA-4 blockade is hypothesized to act mainly in secondary lymphoid organs during the T cell priming phase, it is believed that blockade of PD-1 or PD-L1 targets the TME during the T cell effector phase (34). However, PD-1 can also play a role in the early T cell response as a regulator of CD8+ T cell expansion upon antigen recognition (35). In addition to its role in T cell priming, CTLA-4 also regulates the suppressive function of tumor-infiltrating T_{regs} (36, 37). In line with this, blockade of CTLA-4 in the B16 melanoma model acts locally



FIGURE 1 [Establishment of the immune microenvironment during breast cancer progression in a conditional mouse model for mammary tumorigenesis. Female *K14Cre;Cdh1^{FIF};Trp53^{FIF}* mice develop *de novo* invasive mammary tumors that closely resemble human invasive lobular carcinoma (19). Immunohistochemical staining on mammary tissue from *K14Cre;Cdh1^{FIF};Trp53^{FIF}* mice obtained during different stages of mammary tumor progression. From top to bottom are represented wild-type mammary gland (top), early lesion (middle), established mammary tumor (bottom). From left to right, identification of different immune cell populations by H&E, F4/80 (macrophages), Ly6G (neutrophils), CD3 (total T cells), and FOXP3 (regulatory T cells) staining showing the dynamics of the tumor microenvironment. Arrowheads indicate FOXP3⁺ nuclei. Scale bar 100 μm.

in the TME by inactivating T_{regs} in an Fc-dependent manner resulting in a favorable shift in the effector T cell/ T_{reg} ratio (38). The exact mechanisms of action of anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1/ PD-L1 are not completely clear. Just recently, the combination of anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 was reported to significantly increase the fraction of melanoma patients responding to immunotherapy compared to anti-CTLA-4 monotherapy-treated patients (39), emphasizing the different modes of action of CTLA-4 and PD-1.

The rational of using CTLA-4 blockade in cancer therapy is to release the brake on pre-existing tumor-reactive T cells and to generate new T cell responses. Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4) was the first immune checkpoint inhibitor that yielded a significant increase in survival of patients with metastatic melanoma, for which all conventional therapeutic options had failed (1). Interestingly, a broadening of the tumor-reactive T cell repertoire was reported upon ipilimumab treatment (40). In a second clinical study, ipilimumab was combined with dacarbazine in metastatic melanoma patients resulting in prolonged survival compared to dacarbazine alone (41). In both studies, a fraction of patients showed long-term durable responses (42). Similarly, clinical trials with anti-PD-1 have shown tumor regression in a substantial fraction of cancer patients (3). These initial results lead to an immense increase in clinical trials with drugs targeting the PD-1/PD-L1 axis in different cancer types, and many report anti-tumor efficacy (3-6, 43). Recent clinical observations show that the combination of anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 is more effective than either monotherapy (39). Although very successful and promising, a significant proportion of cancer patients do not show long-term benefit of immune checkpoint inhibitors. Therefore, it is of utmost importance to mechanistically understand intrinsic and acquired resistance to cancer immune checkpoint inhibitors, in order to identify biomarkers that can be

used to pre-select those patients that will or will not benefit from cancer immunotherapy and to develop therapeutic strategies to overcome or bypass resistance mechanisms.

What are the Requirements for Therapeutic Response to Checkpoint Inhibitors?

To predict the response to immunotherapy per patient and tumor type, several variables should be taken into account. For successful activation of a T cell-mediated anti-tumor immune response, T cells need to "see" the cancer cells with their TCR. In general, there are three classes of tumor antigens that can potentially be recognized by T cells: viral antigens, self-antigens, and neo-antigens. Our T cell repertoire is basically built to recognize and respond to viral antigens because these antigens are perceived as foreign or non-self. However, only a subset of established human cancers expresses viral antigens. During the T cell maturation process, thymic selection eliminates maturing lymphocytes that display a high avidity for self-antigens. As a consequence, only low-avidity self-specific T cells can be found in the peripheral T cell repertoire, which may not be ideal for cancer immunotherapy. Non-synonymous somatic mutations can give rise to neo-antigens toward which no central T cell tolerance is present. Recently, neo-antigen-specific T cell responses have been reported in melanoma patients (44-46), indicating that these mutations can be recognized by T cells and induce tumor-specific T cell responses. In line with this, the number of predicted neoantigens is linked with a metric for immune cytolytic activity based on gene expression in a large panel of cancer types (47). Thus, the extent of the mutational load of a certain tumor would serve - albeit at a low resolution - as a predictor of response to cancer immunotherapy. Indeed, a growing body of data supports this hypothesis (48). Whole-exome sequencing analyses revealed



FIGURE 2 | Combination strategies aimed at relieving the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment with chemotherapy and

potentiating cytotoxic T cells with immune checkpoint inhibitors. The tumor microenvironment is characterized by the presence of various immune cell types, including different subsets of adaptive immune cells and TAMs, MDSCs, and T_{regs}. The latter dampens the anti-cancer activity of T cells through several mechanisms. Moreover, cancer cells and myeloid cells express PD-L1/PD-L2 and APCs express CD80/CD86. Binding of these molecules to PD-1 and CTLA-4 respectively, expressed on T cells, results in inhibitory signals that counteract T cell activation and function. The immunomodulatory properties of different types of chemotherapeutic drugs can be exploited to enhance anti-tumor immunity. By optimally matching the immunomodulatory features of specific chemotherapeutic drugs with the T cell-boosting effect of immune checkpoint inhibitors, the efficacy of immunotherapy might be improved.

that melanoma and lung cancer – the two cancer types that show promising responses to immunotherapy – bear relatively high mutational loads compared to other types of cancer due to their exposure to DNA damaging insults like UV radiation and tobacco smoke, respectively (49). Recent studies uncovered that a high mutational load is associated with long-term clinical benefit to checkpoint inhibitors (8, 9). However, not all cancer patients with tumors bearing a high mutational load respond to checkpoint inhibitors, and some patients bearing tumors with low mutational load do (8, 9). Together, these results suggest that the mutational load of tumors is correlated with response to immune checkpoint inhibitors, but it cannot solely be used to predict response.

A growing body of clinical observations suggests that the intratumoral presence of pre-existing T cells is required for clinical benefit of immunotherapy (50). PD-1 expression on tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells has been suggested to identify the repertoire of clonally expanded tumor-reactive T cells (51). In addition, T cell infiltration correlates with PD-L1 expression in tumors and is associated with increased responsiveness to drugs targeting the PD-1/PD-L1 axis in melanoma patients (50, 52, 53). Expression of PD-L1 in tumors is one of the main characteristics pursued as a potential biomarker for response to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. However, there are examples of tumors with high expression of PD-L1 that do not respond to PD-1 blockade, and PD-L1 negative tumors that do respond (53). Why certain tumors express PD-L1 and others do not remains to be elucidated.

Interestingly, expression of PD-L1 and responsiveness to immune checkpoint blockade is associated with genomic instability in different tumor types (54). Patients bearing mismatchrepair-deficient colorectal cancer (CRC) respond better to anti-PD-1 therapy than mismatch-repair-proficient CRC patients (54). In line with this, a microsatellite instable (MSI) subset of CRC patients shows high T cell influx (55). However, this is counterbalanced by simultaneous upregulation of checkpoint molecules including PD-1, PD-L1, and CTLA-4 leaving T cells dysfunctional (55). Moreover, in breast cancer, the expression of PD-L1 is correlated with TIL infiltration, and is mostly prevalent in basal-like, hormone-receptor-negative, and triple-negative tumors (56, 57). Furthermore, in glioma patients increased expression of PD-L1 in tumors was correlated with PTEN loss (58), suggesting that patients bearing genetically unstable cancer types might benefit from treatment with checkpoint inhibitors. Intriguingly, not only cancer cells, but also tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells express PD-L1, and counteract anti-tumor immunity in ovarian carcinoma and MSI-CRC (55, 59). Actually, PD-L1 expression on tumor-infiltrating immune cells has been suggested to be a better predictor of clinical response to anti-PD-L1 therapy than PD-L1 expression on cancer cells (52). It will be interesting to explore, which other cancer types are characterized by the influx of PD-L1-expressing myeloid cells.

In conclusion, to increase the efficacy of immunotherapy in different types of cancer, we could consider manipulating the many variables that determine intrinsic and acquired resistance. While altering cancer cell-intrinsic characteristics, such as mutational load or genomic instability, might be challenging, cancer cell-extrinsic characteristics, like an immunosuppressive TME, are easier to manipulate.

Evasion from Cancer Immunotherapy: Relieving Immunosuppression as an Attractive Strategy to Improve the Efficacy of Immune Checkpoint Blockade

Established tumors are characterized by an abundant influx of a variety of immune cells with immunosuppressive activity, including T_{regs} , myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) (**Figures 1** and **2**). There is accumulating evidence that interference with these immunosuppressive networks can improve anti-tumor immunity. Here, we discuss the different types of immunosuppressive immune cells present in the TME, and how blockade or reprograming of these cells or their downstream effects can enhance anti-tumor immunity and the efficacy of immune checkpoint blockade.

Regulatory T Cells

Regulatory T cells play an important role in maintaining homeostasis during infections and in preventing the development of autoimmune diseases by blocking proliferation and cytotoxic activity of effector T cells. The history of T_{regs} goes back to the 1970s, when it was discovered that a subpopulation of thymocytes induced tolerance to certain antigens in mice (60). A turning point in the research of these "suppressor cells" came in 1995. Tregs, phenotyped as CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells, were shown to be important for self-tolerance in mice, as inoculation of CD4+ cells depleted of CD4+CD25+ cells resulted in autoimmunity in nude mice (61). Another big step forward in the characterization of T_{regs} was the identification of FOXP3, a member of the fork-head/ winged-helix family of transcription factors and a key regulator of T_{reg} development and function (62). In the following years, the knowledge of T_{regs} expanded enormously. Two subpopulations of Tregs were identified: natural Tregs and induced Tregs (or adaptive Tregs), which are formed in the thymus and in the periphery, respectively. Regardless of their origin, both natural and induced T_{regs} inhibit effector T cells (63).

In 1980, it was hypothesized that a T cell population in tumors suppresses anti-tumor immune responses (64). Indeed, many experimental studies support the notion that tumor-associated T_{regs} contribute to immune escape via suppression of anti-tumor CD8⁺ T cells. For example, elimination of T_{regs} in MO4 melanoma cell line-bearing mice results in T cell-dependent tumor rejection (65). Moreover, in a xenotransplant model for HER2⁺ ovarian cancer, adoptive transfer of autologous CD3+CD25- T cells and DCs loaded with HER2+ antigen results in T cell-mediated tumor regression, whereas concomitant transfer of T_{regs} blocks this antigen-specific immune response (66). Tregs not only suppress CD8+ T cells, but also CD4+ T cells, NK, NKT, and B cells (67). T_{regs} exert their immunosuppressive function either by direct suppression of effector cells, or indirectly by affecting the activation state of APCs. Importantly, in order to exert their functions, Tregs need to be activated via their TCR, but once activated their suppressive function is non-specific (68, 69). The direct T cellsuppressive functions are mediated by release of cytokines, serine proteases and the expression of enzymes that catabolize ATP. For example, T_{regs} inhibit T cells via secretion of cytokines like TGF β , IL10, and IL35 (70–72) or even induce T cell apoptosis by the release of granzyme B (GRZMB) or perforin (73–75). In addition, T_{regs} express CD39 and CD73, two ectoenzymes that generate the immunosuppressive molecule adenosine from extracellular ATP (76). It has been shown that T_{regs} from CD39 knock-out mice fail to inhibit CD4⁺CD25⁻ cell proliferation (76). Finally, CTLA-4⁺ T_{regs} can indirectly impair T cells by reducing the CD80/CD86 levels on APCs (36).

Supporting these data, increased numbers of intratumoral T_{ress} correlate with worse overall survival in patients with ovarian cancer, breast cancer, gastric cancer, and hepatocellular carcinoma (66, 77–81). Interestingly, this is not true for CRC in which a high number of CD8⁺ cells and FOXP3⁺ cells correlates with a good prognosis (82). This may be explained by the fact that T_{regs} in CRC attenuate inflammation against gut microbiota that would otherwise enhance tumor growth (82). These findings illustrate that the tumor context dictates the function of associated immune cells. Although strategies targeting CD25 (like the neutralizing monoclonal antibody daclizumab and the recombinant interleukin 2/ diphtheria toxin conjugate Ontak) showed transient depletion of peripheral Tregs and increased activity of CD8+ T cells, these approaches only result in a modest clinical benefit in cancer patients (83, 84). This might be explained by the fact that CD25 is also expressed on active effector T cells, so the lack of specificity for T_{regs} might complicate their clinical applicability. Therefore, a mechanistic understanding of the role of T_{regs} in different tumor contexts will be important for the design of therapeutic strategies aimed at suppressing the downstream effects of Trees.

Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells

The first report describing the existence of MDSCs showed that bone marrow-derived cells were able to suppress the killing activity of splenocytes in vitro (85). These cells were called "natural suppressor cells" or "null cells" because they did not express markers of B, T, or NK cells or macrophages (86). Subsequently, these cells were found to expand in inflammatory conditions and in tumor-bearing hosts (85, 87). In tumor-bearing mice, tumor-derived growth factors trigger the accumulation of T cell suppressive myeloid cells in the bone marrow and spleen (87, 88). The identification of these cells was hampered by the lack of clear markers, which caused variation in terminology and ambiguity among researchers. In order to bring some clarity into the field, Gabrilovich and colleagues published a consensus paper in 2007 in which they coined the term "MDSC" to refer to a heterogeneous population of myeloid cells with the ability to suppress T cell activity (89). MDSCs consist of a group of immature and mature myeloid cells that are defined by their immunosuppressive function. Within the MDSC population, two subpopulations can be distinguished based on the expression of Ly6G and Ly6C: Ly6ChighLy6G- monocytic-MDSC and Ly6C^{low}Ly6G⁺ granulocytic-MDSC. In humans, MDSCs are defined as CD11b+CD33+HLA-DR-Lin- cells with the addition of CD14 or CD15 to discriminate between monocytic- or granulocytic-MDSCs, respectively (90).

In patients with various cancer types, including melanoma, gastric, breast, and CRC, increased numbers of MDSCs in the circulation correlate with poor survival (91–93). Numerous

cytokines have been implicated in the expansion of MDSCs during cancer progression, including G-CSF, GM-CSF, and stem-cell factor (SCF or KIT ligand) (94–96).

Myeloid-derived suppressor cells exert their immunosuppressive function by different mechanisms, one of which is the consumption of essential amino acids from the environment. MDSCs frequently express high levels of arginase I, which catabolizes arginine, thereby depriving T cells from arginine, which is essential for their metabolism and function (97, 98). L-Arginine is also the substrate of another enzyme highly expressed in MDSCs, called iNOS. The release of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and nitric oxide (NO) by iNOS can lead to the inhibition of MHC class II expression on APCs causing impaired antigen presentation to CD4⁺ T cells (99). Moreover, NO can cause apoptosis of CD8⁺ T cells (100). Another amino acid is tryptophan, whose breakdown by the enzyme IDO suppresses T cell proliferation. MDSCs isolated from human breast cancer tissues inhibit T cell proliferation and induce T cell apoptosis in an IDO-dependent manner (101). Moreover, IDO inhibitors enhance the therapeutic efficacy of anti-CTLA-4 treatment leading to intratumoral accumulation of T cells and improved survival in the B16 melanoma model (102). Additionally, the amino acid cysteine is also important for T cell activation and function. T cells depend on other cells (macrophages and DCs) for cysteine metabolism. MDSCs internalize cystine (formed of two cysteines linked via a disulfide bond), catabolize it to cysteine and, unlike macrophages and DCs, do not release it into the environment. Therefore, MDSCs limit the amount of cystine that macrophages and DCs can metabolize to activate T cells (103). Finally, MDSCs contribute to an immunosuppressive TME by inducing the development of Trees in tumor-bearing mice, as adoptive transfer of MDSCs and CD4+ T cells in MCA26 colon carcinoma cell line-bearing irradiated mice, induces expression of FOXP3 in transferred T cells (104). Thus, these data suggest that MDSCs play an important role in creating an immunosuppressive network in tumors, supporting the idea that reprograming or depletion of MDSCs could benefit immunotherapy strategies. Strategies to inhibit MDSCs include blocking their development or recruitment, targeting their immunosuppressive molecules or depleting them.

Tumor-Induced Neutrophils

In various cancer patients, a high neutrophil to T lymphocyte ratio in blood is associated with poor disease outcome (105, 106). Recent studies have reported that neutrophils also expand in experimental mouse tumor models, and that they exert immunosuppressive activity. A distinguishing feature of murine neutrophils is the expression of Ly6G, a surface marker shared with granulocytic-MDSC. When the T cell suppressive ability of neutrophils is confirmed, they can be categorized into the granulocytic-MDSC population (107). We recently showed in a mouse model for *de novo* breast cancer metastasis that neutrophils have a pro-metastatic phenotype and exert their function through suppression of CD8⁺ T cells. While depletion of Ly6G⁺ neutrophils results in decreased multi-organ metastasis, double depletion of neutrophils and CD8⁺ T cells reverses this phenotype (108). In line with this, chemotherapy-induced neutropenia correlates with improved overall survival in breast cancer patients (109). The metastasis-promoting role of neutrophils has also been demonstrated in UV-induced melanoma and in tumor inoculation models (110, 111). It would be interesting to study whether – as in the experimental tumor models – T cells in neutropenic cancer patients are more active. Interestingly, in 4T1-tumor-bearing mice, neutrophils inhibit the seeding of metastatic cells in the lung by the release of hydrogen peroxide (112). These data indicate a controversial role of neutrophils in metastasis that might be explained by the differences in tumor subtype or tumor model.

We and others have shown that T cell-suppressive neutrophils accumulate systemically during cancer progression in a G-CSFdependent fashion (108, 113). In the transgenic MMTV-PyMT mammary tumor mouse model, tumor-derived G-CSF skews hematopoietic cell differentiation toward the granulocytic lineage in the bone marrow, resulting in increased numbers of immunosuppressive neutrophils in the circulation (113). In 4T1 mammary tumor-bearing mice, TGFβ polarizes mature neutrophils from cytotoxic anti-tumor activity toward pro-tumor immature immunosuppressive neutrophils (114). This is in line with previous findings identifying TGF β as one of the drivers of pro-tumor polarized neutrophils (115). As such, it is tempting to speculate that for those tumors characterized by pro-metastatic neutrophils, inhibition of these cells - either by targeting upstream or downstream molecules - may be an interesting strategy for therapeutic intervention, in particular when combined with cancer immunotherapy.

Tumor-Associated Macrophages

Macrophages are frequently the most predominant immune cell type in tumors. In the past, macrophages were subdivided into classically activated macrophages (M1) exerting microbicidal and anti-tumor activity, or alternatively activated macrophages (M2) exerting pro-tumoral, immunosuppressive, and tissue repair functions (116, 117). TAMs are frequently classified as M2 macrophages. However, there is a growing realization that this black and white distinction of macrophage subsets is too simplistic and does not accurately reflect the heterogeneity, plasticity, and versatility of macrophages (118). Transcriptome and bioinformatic analyses of cultured macrophages exposed to different stimuli revealed a spectrum of activation programs for each stimulus that goes beyond the M1 and M2 model (119). Based on these data, it is to be expected that TAMs will also change their phenotype and function according to the cytokine milieu present in a specific tumor type. In the vast majority of cancers, high intratumoral macrophage density correlates with poor prognosis (120, 121). However, macrophages in CRC are associated with good prognosis, and in other types of cancers, like prostate and lung cancer, their role is still controversial (122). Depletion of macrophages by genetic ablation of CSF-1 in the MMTV-PyMT mammary tumor model reduces metastasis formation without affecting primary tumor growth (123). Likewise, several other experimental studies have reported a pro-metastatic role of macrophages (124, 125). TAMs produce a variety of factors that foster tumor growth and invasiveness, angiogenesis, and immunosuppression (120, 124, 126).

Tumor-associated macrophages exert their immunosuppressive activity in a similar fashion as that of MDSCs. TAMs can

express various enzymes like arginase 1, IDO (127-129), and cytokines like IL10 (130). Another mechanism by which TAMs suppress T cells is the upregulation of PD-L1. In hepatocellular carcinoma, high density of peritumoral macrophages that express PD-L1 correlates with worse overall survival (131). Co-culture experiments showed that PD-L1⁺ macrophages suppress T cell activity unless anti-PD-L1 antibody is added in the culture (131). Based on these immunosuppressive properties, it is tempting to speculate that interference with TAMs will unleash anti-tumor immunity. Indeed, this idea has recently been supported by experimental studies in mouse models for glioblastoma and pancreatic cancer showing that CSF-1/CSF-1R pathway blockade can shift TAM polarization toward an anti-tumor phenotype, resulting in enhanced CD8⁺ T cell-mediated anti-tumor immunity (132, 133). Similarly, targeting the CCL2/CCR2 chemokine pathway - involved in recruitment of monocytes and macrophages - relieves the immunosuppressive phenotype of TAMs and enhances anti-tumor CD8+ T cell responses (134, 135). Based on these encouraging results, clinical trials are ongoing in which compounds targeting TAMs are being tested in cancer patients. Preliminary results of a clinical trial with anti-CSF-1R in patients with various types of solid malignancies showed a decrease in TAMs and an increase in intratumoral CD8/CD4 ratio (10).

Blocking the Suppressors to Release Anti-Tumor T Cells

As discussed above, many immunosuppressive cells and mediators can be identified in the TME that dampen anti-tumor T cell responses and may contribute to immune escape upon cancer immunotherapy. The combination of compounds that relieve immunosuppression with T cell-boosting therapy seems attractive to overcome immune tolerance toward the tumor.

Regulatory T cells seem to be interesting targets, since, as discussed earlier in this review, these cells suppress the functionality of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ effector cells. In line with this, in the transgenic TRAMP prostate cancer model - engineered to express prostatespecific antigen (PSA) – T_{reg}-depletion enhances IFNy production by PSA-specific CD8⁺ T cells (136). This augmented effect of anti-tumor immunity is further enhanced by CTLA-4 blockade, and results in delayed tumor growth. Interestingly, the same experiments performed in the parental TRAMP model show only a modest activation of PSA-specific T cells upon anti-CD25 and anti-CTLA-4, and no survival benefit, suggesting the requirement of a tumor-specific antigen for this anti-tumor response (136). In the ID8 ovarian cancer model, tumor-infiltrating T_{regs} – which express both CTLA-4 and PD-1 - are reduced upon CTLA-4 and PD-1 dual blockade coinciding with increased tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells (137). However, additional depletion of T_{regs} does not further enhance this effect. In the same model, blockade of PD-L1, expressed on tumor cells and tumor-infiltrating immune cells, reduces the number of MDSCs and T_{regs} and enhances the frequency of effector T cells, resulting in prolonged survival (138). Furthermore, in a mouse model for rhabdomyosarcoma, PD-1 blockade increases the number of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells, but does not change their activation status. Upon interference with the chemokine receptor CXCR2, which prevents MDSC trafficking into the tumor, enhanced activation of CD8⁺ T cells

is observed (139). Blockade of CXCR2 improves the therapeutic efficacy of anti-PD-1 treatment resulting in a significant survival benefit (139). Moreover, in a mouse model of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, blockade of CSF-1/CSF-1R signaling results in macrophage reprograming to support anti-tumor immune function and modestly delays tumor growth (133). TAMs obtained from anti-CSF1 treated mice are impaired in suppressing CD8+ T cell proliferation compared to control TAMs. The induction of CTLA-4 expression on CD8⁺ T cells and PD-L1 expression on tumor cells suggests the onset of acquired resistance to effective anti-tumor immune responses. Combining anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 with a CSF-1R inhibitor shows profound synergy with a significant reduction in tumor burden (133). Thus, together these results indicate that alleviation of immunosuppression reactivates anti-tumor immunity, which can be further enhanced by checkpoint inhibition.

Immunomodulatory Properties of Chemotherapeutic Drugs

Although various novel compounds targeting tumor-associated myeloid cells and their immunosuppressive mediators are being developed and tested, their clinical availability is still limited. An alternative and clinically available strategy is to relieve immunosuppression by exploiting the immunomodulatory effects of conventional anti-cancer strategies like chemotherapy (**Figure 2**). The impact of chemotherapeutic drugs on the proportion and phenotypic and functional characteristics of immune cells is to a great extent dictated by the type of drug and the dosing scheme: while high-dose chemotherapy usually results in lympho- or myelodepletion, low-dose (metronomic) treatment has more subtle anti-angiogenic and immunomodulatory effects (140, 141). In this section, we discuss the effects of chemotherapy on the immunosuppressive TME.

The Impact of Chemotherapy on T Cell Priming

Optimal T cell priming is dependent on antigen processing, presentation, and co-stimulation by properly matured and activated DCs. As discussed, impaired DC function and T cell priming are important mechanisms of immune escape by tumors. Certain chemotherapeutics induce anti-cancer immune responses by improving the recruitment and functionality of intratumoral DCs (142, 143). For example, low-dose cyclophosphamide promotes DC maturation (144). Besides the enhanced release of tumor antigens through induction of cancer cell death, chemotherapeutics, including oxaliplatin, doxorubicin, mitoxantrone, and melphalan, induce HMGB1 release and calreticulin translocation in cancer cells, facilitating antigen uptake by DCs and subsequent T cell stimulation (145-147). In addition, in the MCA205 fibrosarcoma model, anthracyclins induce the differentiation of myeloid cells in the tumor bed toward a DC-like phenotype in an ATP-dependent manner (142). In these relatively high immunogenic tumor models, the activated T cells subsequently enhance the anti-cancer efficacy of chemotherapy (142, 143, 145).

In less immunogenic models, such as *de novo* tumorigenesis models, an important role for T cells in chemotherapy efficacy is lacking (120, 148, 149). One possible explanation is that

spontaneously arising tumors are characterized by local and systemic immunosuppression, which may overrule any chemotherapy-induced T cell responses. Indeed, in the MMTV-PyMT mammary tumor model, TAM-derived IL10 indirectly blocks anti-tumor CD8+ T cell activity by suppressing IL12 expression by intratumoral DCs upon paclitaxel treatment (149). These results apply to human breast cancer patients since low CD68⁺ macrophage over CD8⁺ T cell ratio prior to neo-adjuvant chemotherapy correlates with a better pathologic response (120). Moreover, high levels of IL12A mRNA in human breast cancer samples correlates with expression of DC-related transcription factors and GRZMB, CD8A, and IFNy expression, suggesting an active anti-tumor T cell response (149). However, the role of TAMs and their potential suppressive function in cancer patients was not evaluated. Together, these results suggest that therapeutic targeting of TAMs could enhance the functionality of intratumoral DCs and anti-tumor T cell responses in chemotherapy treatment.

Impact of Chemotherapy on T_{regs}

With the knowledge that T_{regs} play an important role in suppressing effector T cell responses, a lot of effort has been put into the identification of chemotherapeutic drugs that target these cells. The best studied is cyclophosphamide, an alkylating agent, which crosslinks DNA, thus interfering with replication. Cyclophosphamide is known for its dose-dependent effect on the immune system. High doses of cyclophosphamide result in immunosuppression by reducing T cell proliferation and inducing apoptosis, thus making it useful for the prevention of graft-versus-host disease or rejection of transplanted organs (150, 151). In contrast, low doses selectively ablate $T_{\mbox{\tiny regs}}$ and dampen their T cell suppressive ability (152). While the anti-tumor effect of high-dose cyclophosphamide is mainly due to its cytotoxic activity against cancer cells, the anti-tumor effect of low-dose cyclophosphamide depends on its immune-modulatory effects (153). Indeed, studies in T cell-deficient mice bearing inoculated tumors show loss of the anti-cancer activity of low-dose cyclophosphamide (153, 154). Moreover, reinfusion of CD4+CD25+ T cells in tumor-bearing mice, pre-treated with low-dose cyclophosphamide, abrogated the anti-tumor effect of the drug, emphasizing that T_{regs} counteract the therapeutic efficacy of the drug (153). In line with this, patients with different types of metastasized solid tumors receiving low-dose metronomic cyclophosphamide show a specific decrease of T_{regs} in the periphery with concomitant enhancement of NK lytic activity and T cell proliferation (155). In cancer patients receiving higher doses of metronomic cyclophosphamide, all lymphocyte populations were depleted, emphasizing the importance of accurate drug dosing to achieve selective T_{reg} depletion (155). It has been proposed that the increased sensitivity of T_{regs} for cyclophosphamide is linked to their low ATP levels. Low levels of ATP result in decreased synthesis of glutathione, which is important for cyclophosphamide detoxification (156).

Another chemotherapeutic drug affecting $T_{\rm regs}$ is gemcitabine, a nucleoside analog interfering with DNA replication. In an orthotopic pancreatic cancer model, gemcitabine reduces the percentage of $T_{\rm regs}$ in the tumor resulting in a small but significant survival benefit (157). Whether this also results in improved CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cell activity remains unknown. A study performed in

cancer patients showed that the percentage of T_{regs} in blood was decreased after gencitabine treatment (158). Among the CD4⁺ cells, T_{regs} were identified as the most proliferative cells, which may explain the selectivity of gencitabine for these cells. However, the effect of gencitabine on other T cell populations was not assessed in this study (158). Also, other (combinations of) chemotherapy drugs have been reported to influence the presence or function of T_{regs} (159, 160).

Chemotherapeutics with Inhibitory Activity Toward Tumor-Associated Myeloid Cells

Several chemotherapy drugs have been implicated in the selective reduction of MDSCs in the tumor and spleen of tumorbearing mice (161, 162). In an EL4 inoculation tumor model, a set of chemotherapy drugs was tested for their influence on the number of splenic and intratumoral MDSCs (161). This study showed that high-dose gemcitabine and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), two anti-metabolite drugs that interfere with DNA replication, reduce MDSC accumulation (161). Consequently, 5-FU-mediated MDSC depletion results in increased IFNyproducing intratumoral CD8⁺ T cells. This effect is reverted by adoptive transfer of MDSCs, suggesting that the effect of 5-FU is exerted through MDSCs (161). Similar results were obtained in the MCA203 cell line inoculation sarcoma model combined with cytotoxic T cell transfer (163), highlighting the critical role of MDSCs in dampening T cell activity upon 5-FU treatment. While the exact mechanisms underlying the selectivity of 5-FU for MDSCs are unknown, it has been proposed that 5-FU inhibits the enzyme thymidylate synthase and that the resistance to 5-FU is due to insufficient inhibition of this enzyme (164). Indeed, low levels of thymidylate synthase are found in MDSCs compared to splenocytes and EL4 tumor cells, suggesting that 5-FU selectivity for MDSCs could be due to this low enzymatic expression (161).

High-dose gemcitabine induces similar effects on MDSCs as 5-FU (162). In vitro analyses of splenocytes from TC-1 lung cancer-bearing mice showed the cytotoxic specificity of gemcitabine for MDSCs, while CD4+, CD8+ T cells, and B cells are unaffected (162). Although the exact mechanism underlying this specificity has not been identified, it has been hypothesized that gemcitabine induces apoptosis in MDSCs (162). Yet, a thorough mechanistic analysis of gemcitabine-induced apoptotic cell death in various immune cell populations has not been performed. In the 4T1 breast cancer mouse model, gemcitabine treatment also reduces splenic MDSC accumulation, which results in increased proliferation and IFNy production by splenic lymphocytes upon antigen stimulation compared to untreated mice (165). However, no difference in anti-cancer efficacy of gemcitabine was observed between immunocompetent and nude mice, indicating a T cellindependent mechanism of 4T1 tumor control by gemcitabine (165). Perhaps, this observation might be explained by the presence of other immunosuppressive cells in the TME, like T_{regs} or macrophages.

The beneficial effect of chemotherapeutic drugs on the immunosuppressive TME is not only a direct result of reduced MDSC numbers, but also a result of a more favorable phenotype of the remaining MDSCs. For example, in the 4T1-Neu mammary tumor model, docetaxel reduces splenic granulocytic-MDSCs and enhances CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ cytotoxic activity (166). The remaining MDSCs exhibit a different phenotypic profile compared to MDSCs from untreated mice. In line with these *in vivo* findings, MDSCs pre-treated with docetaxel induce the proliferation of OVA-exposed OT-II CD4+ T cells compared to untreated MDSCs in vitro, suggesting that docetaxel treatment induces a phenotypical switch to a more favorable state (166). Likewise, doxorubicin selectively decreases the proportion of MDSCs in the 4T1 breast tumor model via apoptosis and subdues the immunosuppressive phenotype of the remaining MDSCs. The remaining MDSCs have a lower expression of immunosuppressive molecules like ROS, ARG-1, and IDO (167). This less suppressive environment caused by doxorubicin enhanced the activity of adoptively transferred T helper cells (167). Interestingly, some subpopulations of MDSCs may be more susceptible to chemotherapy than others. Whether chemotherapy selectively depletes pro-tumorigenic MDSCs or skews them toward an anti-tumor phenotype is unknown. Future studies using lineage tracing methodologies would provide more insight into this topic.

Besides the favorable immunomodulatory "off-target" effects of various chemotherapeutic drugs, these drugs can at the same time exert less desirable functions. For instance, in addition to its inhibitory effect on Tregs, cyclophosphamide increases the number of CD11b+Gr1+ MDSCs. In a transgenic mouse model for melanoma, a single injection of low-dose cyclophosphamide increases the accumulation of MDSCs in the tumor and spleen, stimulates their immunosuppressive ability by inducing NO and ROS production, and reduces splenocyte proliferation (168). In line with these findings, MDSCs accumulate in the blood of breast cancer patients after treatment with doxorubicin or cyclophosphamide (169). This may be due to IFN γ release by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells that promotes survival of MDSCs (170). Based on these data, a combination of cyclophosphamide and cancer immunotherapy might not work; however, additional studies in other tumor models should be performed to test this.

Another study underscoring the complex impact of chemotherapy on myeloid cells shows that in EL4-tumor-bearing mice 5-FU induces IL1 β secretion in MDSCs in an Nlrp3 inflammasome-dependent manner (171). Using depletion experiments and knock-out mice, it was shown that the MDSC-derived IL1 β triggers IL17 production by CD4⁺ T cells, which limits the anticancer efficacy of 5-FU (171). These data highlight that the effect of certain chemotherapy drugs is not simply limited to depletion of immunosuppressive cells but these drugs also change the functionality of cells that may impair their efficacy. These results suggest that the combination of chemotherapeutic and immunomodulatory compounds must be chosen carefully to increase their anti-cancer efficacy (172).

While several chemotherapy drugs have been reported to target MDSCs, thus far only one drug seems to strongly affect TAMs. Trabectedin, a drug that binds DNA and affects transcription and DNA repair pathways, depletes macrophages, and suppresses the differentiation of monocytes in the tumor bed in the transplantable MN/MCA1 fibrosarcoma tumor model through a TRAIL-dependent mechanism (173). Importantly, this macrophage selectivity is also observed in sarcoma patients after

trabectedin neo-adjuvant treatment (173). It would be interesting to assess whether the anti-cancer activity of trabectedin is CD8⁺ T cell mediated. The macrophage-depleting effect of trabectedin makes it an interesting candidate for combination strategies with immunotherapy.

As discussed before, many studies illustrate the complexity of immunomodulation by conventional chemotherapeutics, which is highly context-dependent. The differential effect on specific immune cells of different types of chemotherapeutics is to a large extent dependent on the timing and dosing schedule. While highdose chemotherapy often depletes immune cell subsets, low-dose metronomic chemotherapy exerts a more subtle anti-angiogenic and immunomodulatory mode of action (140, 141). It will be interesting to perform a side-by-side comparison of various types of chemotherapies administered at high versus low (metronomic) dose and evaluate their immunomodulatory effects, followed by more mechanistic studies. Ideally, these types of experiments would be performed in clinically relevant mouse models that faithfully recapitulate human cancer (**Box 1**) to facilitate clinical translation.

Future Perspectives: Exploiting the Immunomodulatory Properties of Chemotherapeutic Drugs to Improve Cancer Immunotherapy

Given their immunomodulatory properties, conventional chemotherapy drugs are interesting candidates to combine with T cell-boosting immunotherapy - a concept termed chemoimmunotherapy (174). Clinical trials report enhanced anti-tumor T cell responses in cancer patients treated with chemotherapy in combination with cancer vaccines (13). Moreover, clinical testing of chemotherapy combined with other immunotherapy approaches like adoptive transfer of (genetically engineered) autologous T cells or toll-like receptor (TLR) agonists are likely to be explored in the near future. Indeed, various experimental studies support the concept that chemotherapy-induced relief of immunosuppression could improve cancer immunotherapy. In a passive immunotherapy setting, in the MC203 fibrosarcoma and TC-1 lung cancer cell line inoculation models, low-dose gemcitabine and 5-FU reduced the splenic population of CD11b+Gr1+ MDSCs, resulting in enhanced anti-tumor activity of adoptively transferred tumor-specific CTL (163).

The results obtained in preclinical models combining chemotherapeutics with immune checkpoint inhibitors are promising. The immunomodulatory effects of melphalan – administered in a subtherapeutic dose – synergizes with CTLA-4 blockade in a plasmacytoma model (175). *In vitro* assays revealed that splenocytes obtained from melphalan-treated mice co-cultured with anti-CTLA-4 induced tumor cell cytotoxicity, while splenocytes from non-treated mice – irrespective of CTLA-4 blockade – did not (175). Furthermore, in the poorly immunogenic AB-1 malignant mesothelioma and Lewis lung cancer (LLC) inoculation tumor models, a combination therapy of gemcitabine and CTLA-4 blockade synergizes, inducing potent anti-tumor immune responses and subsequent regression of tumors in a CD4- and

$\ensuremath{\mathsf{BOX}}$ 1 | Experimental mouse models to study the anti-tumor immune response.

Understanding the complex crosstalk between innate and adaptive immune cells and (disseminated) cancer cells requires the use of preclinical mouse models that faithfully recapitulate human cancer. The most widely used experimental mouse models are carcinogen-induced cancer models and cell line inoculation models. The latter is based on inoculation of large numbers of (genetically modified) homogenous cancer cells grown in 2D conditions. Implantation of these cells often results in massive cell death, thereby priming an effective anti-tumor immune response. Shaping of the tumor immune microenvironment during cancer progression in these models can hardly take place in the short amount of time that it takes for transplanted human cancer cells, either patient-derived tumor material or established human cancer cell lines, immunocompromised mice are used, thereby excluding the important role of the adaptive immune system.

While cell line inoculation models proved useful to decipher some aspects of the anti-tumor immune response, we should keep in mind that these models do not reflect physiological processes as they occur in human patients. Genetically engineered mouse (GEM) models, which develop de novo cancers, generally mimic human cancer genetically - because of the introduction of specific driver mutations - and histopathologically (180). In addition, tumor progression occurs in a multi-step nature in their natural microenvironment shaping the local immune responses (Figure 1), therefore mimicking the human setting. In contrast to inoculation models expressing known tumor antigens, the anti-tumor immune response in GEM models can be considered a black box. Due to their cellular and genetic heterogeneity, GEM models induce a variety of T cell responses directed against multiple unknown tumor neo-antigens, which faithfully reflects human cancer. Interestingly, comparative studies have shown that inoculation models greatly differ from GEM models in terms of response to anti-cancer therapies and endogenous T cell responses (181, 182). The advantages and disadvantages of different experimental mouse models in studying responsiveness to anticancer therapy have been recently discussed (14, 183).

CD8-dependent manner (176). In addition, in a subcutaneous murine mesothelioma model, synergy is observed between cisplatin and CTLA-4 blockade, resulting in a profound anti-tumor effect that is characterized by increased influx and activation of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in the tumor (177). Moreover, preclinical studies in mice show that doxorubicin, cisplatin, and paclitaxel in addition to their immunomodulatory role, can sensitize tumor cells for CTL attack in a direct manner (178). Here, chemotherapy causes increased permeability of tumor cell membranes to GRZMB, which sensitizes cancer cells to the cytotoxic effects of T cells and improved different cancer immunotherapy strategies (178). Together, these preclinical studies – albeit limited numbers – show the potential to exploit immunomodulatory chemotherapeutic drugs to improve the efficacy of checkpoint blockade.

Clinical trials that evaluate the combination of chemotherapeutic drugs and checkpoint inhibitors in cancer patients are still limited. Some studies in melanoma and lung cancer have used chemotherapeutics in combination with checkpoint blockade resulting in improved survival compared to chemotherapy alone (41, 179). However, the rational of these studies was not to evaluate the effect of treatment on the immunosuppressive microenvironment. Moreover, the design of clinical trials makes it impossible to perform a structural comparison in patients to study the effect of the immunosuppressive microenvironment on immunotherapy efficacy and whether this efficacy can be enhanced by adding chemotherapeutics to the treatment regimen. Therefore, we need to rely on preclinical research in mouse tumor models that faithfully recapitulate human cancer in terms of the genetic composition, anti-tumor immunity, and the immunosuppressive TME (Box 1). Results obtained in mouse models that mimic human cancer might shape the design of clinical trials and guide toward interesting treatment strategies. There are still various important questions that need to be addressed to maximally exploit the therapeutic efficacy of chemotherapy and immunotherapy combinations, like the determination of the most optimal combinations. Based on preclinical findings, different cancer types will likely require different combinations of therapy. In addition, despite the devastating effects of metastatic disease, mechanistic insights into the site-specific therapeutic response profiles and resistance mechanisms of cancer immunotherapy are completely lacking. Moreover, it is critical to gain insights into the mechanisms underlying intrinsic and acquired resistance to cancer immunotherapy. To answer these questions within the next decade, it is critical that basic researchers and clinicians intensify their efforts to join forces, so that results from preclinical research

References

- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 363(8):711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Powles T, Eder JP, Fine GD, Braiteh FS, Loriot Y, Cruz C, et al. MPDL3280A (anti-PD-L1) treatment leads to clinical activity in metastatic bladder cancer. *Nature* (2014) 515(7528):558–62. doi:10.1038/nature13904
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366(26):2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med (2013) 369(2):122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369
- Ansell SM, Lesokhin AM, Borrello I, Halwani A, Scott EC, Gutierrez M, et al. PD-1 blockade with nivolumab in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2015) 372(4):311–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1411087
- Motzer RJ, Rini BI, McDermott DF, Redman BG, Kuzel TM, Harrison MR, et al. Nivolumab for metastatic renal cell carcinoma: results of a randomized phase II trial. J Clin Oncol (2015) 33(13):1430–7. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2014.59.0703
- 7. Couzin-Frankel J. Cancer immunotherapy. *Science* (2013) **342**(6165):1432–3. doi:10.1126/science.342.6165.1432
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2014) 371(23):2189–99. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1406498
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. *Science* (2015) 348(6230):124–8. doi:10.1126/science.aaa1348
- Ries CH, Cannarile MA, Hoves S, Benz J, Wartha K, Runza V, et al. Targeting tumor-associated macrophages with anti-CSF-1R antibody reveals a strategy for cancer therapy. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 25(6):846–59. doi:10.1016/j. ccr.2014.05.016
- Vanneman M, Dranoff G. Combining immunotherapy and targeted therapies in cancer treatment. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12(4):237–51. doi:10.1038/ nrc3237
- Verbrugge I, Hagekyriakou J, Sharp LL, Galli M, West A, McLaughlin NM, et al. Radiotherapy increases the permissiveness of established mammary tumors to rejection by immunomodulatory antibodies. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(13):3163–74. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0210

can guide the design of clinical trials, and the results from clinical trials, in turn, can guide mechanistic studies in mouse models. Together, these efforts will improve treatment strategies using chemotherapeutics to alleviate immunosuppression and enhance cancer immunotherapy.

Author Contributions

KK, CS, and KV reviewed relevant literature and drafted the manuscript. KV revised the manuscript and supervised KK and CS. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgments

We thank Seth Coffelt for insightful comments on the manuscript. Work in the lab is supported by grants from the European Union (FP7 MCA-ITN 317445 TIMCC), the European Research Council (ERC consolidator award INFLAMET 615300), the Beug Foundation for Metastasis Research, the Dutch Cancer Society (2011-5004), and the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO VIDI 917.96.307).

- Chen G, Emens LA. Chemoimmunotherapy: reengineering tumor immunity. Cancer Immunol Immunother (2013) 62(2):203–16. doi:10.1007/ s00262-012-1388-0
- Coffelt SB, de Visser KE. Immune-mediated mechanisms influencing the efficacy of anticancer therapies. *Trends Immunol* (2015) 36(4):198–216. doi:10.1016/j.it.2015.02.006
- Wargo JA, Reuben A, Cooper ZA, Oh KS, Sullivan RJ. Immune effects of chemotherapy, radiation, and targeted therapy and opportunities for combination with immunotherapy. *Semin Oncol* (2015) 42(4):601–16. doi:10.1053/j.seminoncol.2015.05.007
- DeNardo DG, Coussens LM. Inflammation and breast cancer. Balancing immune response: crosstalk between adaptive and innate immune cells during breast cancer progression. *Breast Cancer Res* (2007) 9(4):212. doi:10.1186/bcr1746
- Hanahan D, Coussens LM. Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Cell* (2012) 21(3):309–22. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2012.02.022
- de Visser KE, Eichten A, Coussens LM. Paradoxical roles of the immune system during cancer development. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2006) 6(1):24–37. doi:10.1038/nrc1782
- Derksen PW, Liu X, Saridin F, van der Gulden H, Zevenhoven J, Evers B, et al. Somatic inactivation of E-Cadherin and p53 in mice leads to metastatic lobular mammary carcinoma through induction of anoikis resistance and angiogenesis. *Cancer Cell* (2006) 10(5):437–49. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2006.09.013
- Bell D, Chomarat P, Broyles D, Netto G, Harb GM, Lebecque S, et al. In breast carcinoma tissue, immature dendritic cells reside within the tumor, whereas mature dendritic cells are located in peritumoral areas. *J Exp Med* (1999) 190(10):1417–26. doi:10.1084/jem.190.10.1417
- Pinzon-Charry A, Maxwell T, López JA. Dendritic cell dysfunction in cancer: a mechanism for immunosuppression. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2005) 83(5):451–61. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1711.2005.01371.x
- Engelhardt JJ, Boldajipour B, Beemiller P, Pandurangi P, Sorensen C, Werb Z. Marginating dendritic cells of the tumor microenvironment cross-present tumor antigens and stably engage tumor-specific T cells. *Cancer Cell* (2012) 21(3):402–17. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2012.01.008
- Broz ML, Binnewies M, Boldajipour B, Nelson AE, Pollack JL, Erle DJ, et al. Dissecting the tumor myeloid compartment reveals rare activating antigen-presenting cells critical for T Cell immunity. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 26(5):638–52. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.007
- 24. Shrimali RK, Yu Z, Theoret MR, Chinnasamy D, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Antiangiogenic agents can increase lymphocyte infiltration into tumor and
enhance the effectiveness of adoptive immunotherapy of cancer. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(15):6171-80. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0153

- Buckanovich RJ, Facciabene A, Kim S, Benencia F, Sasaroli D, Balint K. Endothelin B receptor mediates the endothelial barrier to T cell homing to tumors and disables immune therapy. *Nat Med* (2008) 14(1):28–36. doi:10.1038/nm1699
- Molon B, Ugel S, Del Pozzo F, Soldani C, Zilio S, Avella D, et al. Chemokine nitration prevents intratumoral infiltration of antigen-specific T cells. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208(10):1949–62. doi:10.1084/jem.20101956
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):252–64. doi:10.1038/nrc3239
- Joyce JA, Fearon DT. T cell exclusion, immune privilege, and the tumor microenvironment. *Science* (2015) 348(6230):74–80. doi:10.1126/science. aaa6204
- Sharma P, Allison JP. The future of immune checkpoint therapy. Science (2015) 348(6230):56–61. doi:10.1126/science.aaa8172
- Walunas TL, Lenschow DJ, Bakker CY, Linsley PS, Freeman GJ, Green JM, et al. CTLA-4 can function as a negative regulator of T cell activation. *Immunity* (1994) 1(5):405–13. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(94)90071-X
- Barber DL, Wherry EJ, Masopust D, Zhu B, Allison JP, Sharpe AH, et al. Restoring function in exhausted cd8 t cells during chronic viral infection. *Nature* (2006) 439(7077):682–7. doi:10.1038/nature04444
- Okazaki T, Honjo T. PD-1 and PD-1 ligands: from discovery to clinical application. Int Immunol (2007) 19(7):813–24. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxm057
- Shin DS, Ribas A. The evolution of checkpoint blockade as a cancer therapy: what's here, what's next? *Curr Opin Immunol* (2015) 33(April):23–35. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2015.01.006
- Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy. *Cancer Cell* (2015) 27(4):450–61. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2015.03.001
- Goldberg MV, Maris CH, Hipkiss EL, Flies AS, Zhen L, Tuder RM, et al. Role of PD-1 and its ligand, B7-H1, in early fate decisions of CD8 T cells. *Blood* (2007) 110(1):186–92. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-12-062422
- Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P, Yamaguchi T, Miyara M, Fehervari Z, et al. CTLA-4 control over Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function. *Science* (2008) 322(5899):271–5. doi:10.1126/science.1160062
- Peggs KS, Quezada SA, Chambers CA, Korman AJ, Allison JP. Blockade of CTLA-4 on both effector and regulatory T cell compartments contributes to the antitumor activity of anti-CTLA-4 antibodies. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(8):1717–25. doi:10.1084/jem.20082492
- Simpson TR, Li F, Montalvo-Ortiz W, Sepulveda MA, Bergerhoff K, Arce F, et al. Fc-dependent depletion of tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells Co-defines the efficacy of anti-CTLA-4 therapy against melanoma. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(9):1695–710. doi:10.1084/jem.20130579
- Postow MA, Chesney J, Pavlick AC, Robert C, Grossmann K, McDermott D, et al. Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372(21):2006–17. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1414428
- Kvistborg P, Philips D, Kelderman S, Hageman L, Ottensmeier C, Joseph-Pietras D, et al. Anti-CTLA-4 therapy broadens the melanoma-reactive CD8+ T cell response. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(254):254ra128. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008918
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, Weber J, Garbe C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2011) 364(26):2517–26. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1104621
- Schadendorf D, Hodi FS, Robert C, Weber JS, Margolin K, Hamid O, et al. Pooled analysis of long-term survival data from phase II and phase III trials of ipilimumab in unresectable or metastatic melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2015) 33(17):1889–94. doi:10.1200/JCO.2014.56.2736
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(26):2455–65. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- Gubin MM, Zhang X, Schuster H, Caron E, Ward JP, Noguchi T, et al. Checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy targets tumour-specific mutant antigens. *Nature* (2014) 515(7528):577–81. doi:10.1038/nature13988
- Linnemann C, van Buuren MM, Bies L, Verdegaal EM, Schotte R, Calis JJ, et al. High-throughput epitope discovery reveals frequent recognition of neo-antigens by CD4+ T cells in human melanoma. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(1):81–5. doi:10.1038/nm.3773

- 46. van Rooij N, van Buuren MM, Philips D, Velds A, Toebes M, Heemskerk B, et al. Tumor exome analysis reveals neoantigen-specific T-cell reactivity in an ipilimumab-responsive melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) **31**(32):e439–42. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.47.7521
- Rooney MS, Shukla SA, Wu CJ, Getz G, Hacohen N. Molecular and genetic properties of tumors associated with local immune cytolytic activity. *Cell* (2015) 160(1–2):48–61. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.12.033
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science (2015) 348(6230):69–74. doi:10.1126/science.aaa4971
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. *Nature* (2013) 500(7463):415–21. doi:10.1038/nature12477
- Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. *Nature* (2014) 515(7528):568–71. doi:10.1038/nature13954
- Gros A, Robbins PF, Yao X, Li YF, Turcotte S, Tran E, et al. PD-1 identifies the patient-specific CD8⁺ tumor-reactive repertoire infiltrating human tumors. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124(5):2246–59. doi:10.1172/JCI73639
- Herbst RS, Soria JC, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. *Nature* (2014) 515(7528):563–7. doi:10.1038/nature14011
- Taube JM, Klein A, Brahmer JR, Xu H, Pan X, Kim JH, et al. Association of PD-1, PD-1 ligands, and other features of the tumor immune microenvironment with response to anti-PD-1 therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20(19):5064–74. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-3271
- Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Kemberling H, Eyring AD, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372(26):2509–20. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1500596
- Llosa NJ, Cruise M, Tam A, Wicks EC, Hechenbleikner EM, Taube JM, et al. The vigorous immune microenvironment of microsatellite instable colon cancer is balanced by multiple counter-inhibitory checkpoints. *Cancer Discov* (2015) 5(1):43–51. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0863
- Wimberly H, Brown JR, Schalper K, Haack H, Silver MR, Nixon C, et al. PD-L1 expression correlates with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2015) 3(4):326–32. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0133
- Ali HR, Glont S-E, Blows FM, Provenzano E, Dawson S-J, Liu B, et al. PD-L1 protein Expression in breast cancer is rare, enriched in basal-like tumours and associated with infiltrating lymphocytes. *Ann Oncol* (2015) 26(7):1488–93. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdv192
- Parsa AT, Waldron JS, Panner A, Crane CA, Parney IF, Barry JJ, et al. Loss of tumor suppressor PTEN function increases B7-H1 expression and immunoresistance in glioma. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(1):84–8. doi:10.1038/nm1517
- Curiel TJ, Wei S, Dong H, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Blockade of B7-H1 improves myeloid dendritic cell-mediated antitumor immunity. *Nat Med* (2003) 9(5):562–7. doi:10.1038/nm863
- Gershon RK, Kondo K. Cell interactions in the induction of tolerance: the role of thymic lymphocytes. *Immunology* (1970) 18(5):723–37.
- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, Toda M. Immunologic selftolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alphachains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. *J Immunol* (1995) 155(3):1151–64.
- Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(4):330–6. doi:10.1038/ni904
- 63. Adeegbe DO, Nishikawa H. Natural and induced T regulatory cells in cancer. Front Immunol (2013) 4:190. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00190
- Berendt MJ, North RJ. T-cell-mediated suppression of anti-tumor immunity. An explanation for progressive growth of an immunogenic tumor. *J Exp Med* (1980) 151(1):69–80. doi:10.1084/jem.151.1.69
- Li X, Kostareli E, Suffner J, Garbi N, Hämmerling GJ. Efficient Treg depletion induces T-cell infiltration and rejection of large tumors. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(12):3325–35. doi:10.1002/eji.201041093
- Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. *Nat Med* (2004) 10(9):942–9. doi:10.1038/nm1093
- Shevach EM. Mechanisms of foxp3+ T regulatory cell-mediated suppression. *Immunity* (2009) 30(5):636–45. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.04.010

- Thornton AM, Shevach EM. Suppressor effector function of CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells is antigen nonspecific. *J Immunol* (2000) 164(1):183–90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.1.183
- Thornton AM, Shevach EM. CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells suppress polyclonal T cell activation in vitro by inhibiting interleukin 2 production. J Exp Med (1998) 188(2):287–96. doi:10.1084/jem.188.2.287
- Chen W, Jin W, Hardegen N, Lei KJ, Li L, Marinos N, et al. Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. *J Exp Med* (2003) 198(12):1875–86. doi:10.1084/jem.20030152
- Groux H, O'Garra A, Bigler M, Rouleau M, Antonenko S, de Vries JE, et al. A CD4+ T-cell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis. *Nature* (1997) 389(6652):737–42. doi:10.1038/39614
- Collison LW, Workman CJ, Kuo TT, Boyd K, Wang Y, Vignali KM. The inhibitory cytokine IL-35 contributes to regulatory T-cell function. *Nature* (2007) 450(7169):566–9. doi:10.1038/nature06306
- Cao X, Cai SF, Fehniger TA, Song J, Collins LI, Piwnica-Worms DR. Granzyme B and perforin are important for regulatory T cell-mediated suppression of tumor clearance. *Immunity* (2007) 27(4):635–46. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2007.08.014
- Grossman WJ, Verbsky JW, Barchet W, Colonna M, Atkinson JP, Ley TJ. Human T regulatory cells can use the perforin pathway to cause autologous target cell death. *Immunity* (2004) 21(4):589–601. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.09.002
- Gondek DC, Lu LF, Quezada SA, Sakaguchi S, Noelle RJ. Cutting edge: contact-mediated suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory cells involves a granzyme B-dependent, perforin-independent mechanism. *J Immunol* (2005) 174(4):1783–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.4.1783
- 76. Deaglio S, Dwyer KM, Gao W, Friedman D, Usheva A, Erat A, et al. Adenosine generation catalyzed by CD39 and CD73 expressed on regulatory T cells mediates immune suppression. *J Exp Med* (2007) **204**(6):1257–65. doi:10.1084/jem.20062512
- 77. Bates GJ, Fox SB, Han C, Leek RD, Garcia JF, Harris AL, et al. Quantification of regulatory T cells enables the identification of high-risk breast cancer patients and those at risk of late relapse. *J Clin Oncol* (2006) 24(34):5373–80. doi:10.1200/JCO.2006.05.9584
- Sasada T, Kimura M, Yoshida Y, Kanai M, Takabayashi A. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with gastrointestinal malignancies: possible involvement of regulatory T cells in disease progression. *Cancer* (2003) 98(5):1089-99. doi:10.1002/cncr.11618
- Gao Q, Qiu SJ, Fan J, Zhou J, Wang XY, Xiao YS. Intratumoral balance of regulatory and cytotoxic T cells is associated with prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma after resection. *J Clin Oncol* (2007) 25(18):2586–93. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2006.09.4565
- Li YQ, Liu FF, Zhang XM, Guo XJ, Ren MJ, Fu L. Tumor secretion of CCL22 activates intratumoral Treg infiltration and is independent prognostic predictor of breast cancer. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(10):e76379. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0076379
- Huang Y, Liao H, Zhang Y, Yuan R, Wang F, Gao Y, et al. Prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating FoxP3+ T cells in gastrointestinal cancers: a meta analysis. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(5):e94376. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0094376
- Ladoire S, Martin F, Ghiringhelli F. Prognostic role of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells infiltrating human carcinomas: the paradox of colorectal cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2011) 60(7):909–18. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1046-y
- Rasku MA, Clem AL, Telang S, Taft B, Gettings K, Gragg H, et al. Transient T cell depletion causes regression of melanoma metastases. *J Transl Med* (2008) 6:12. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-6-12
- Rech AJ, Mick R, Martin S, Recio A, Aqui NA, Powell DJ Jr, et al. CD25 blockade depletes and selectively reprograms regulatory T cells in concert with immunotherapy in cancer patients. *Sci Transl Med* (2012) 4(134):134ra62. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3003330
- Bennett JA, Rao VS, Mitchell MS. Systemic Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) activates natural suppressor cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1978) 75(10):5142–4. doi:10.1073/pnas.75.10.5142
- Oseroff A, Okada S, Strober S. Natural suppressor (NS) cells found in the spleen of neonatal mice and adult mice given total lymphoid irradiation (TLI) express the null surface phenotype. *J Immunol* (1984) 132(1):101–10.
- Tsuchiya Y, Igarashi M, Suzuki R, Kumagai K. Production of colony-stimulating factor by tumor cells and the factor-mediated induction of suppressor cells. *J Immunol* (1988) 141(2):699–708.

- Lee MY, Rosse C. Depletion of lymphocyte subpopulations in primary and secondary lymphoid organs of mice by a transplanted granulocytosis-inducing mammary carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (1982) 42(4):1255–60.
- Gabrilovich DI, Bronte V, Chen SH, Colombo MP, Ochoa A, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. The terminology issue for myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(1):425. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3037
- Dumitru CA, Moses K, Trellakis S, Lang S, Brandau S. Neutrophils and granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells: immunophenotyping, cell biology and clinical relevance in human oncology. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61(8):1155–67. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1294-5
- Chevolet I, Speeckaert R, Schreuer M, Neyns B, Krysko O, Bachert C. Clinical significance of plasmacytoid dendritic cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells in melanoma. *J Transl Med* (2015) 13(1):9. doi:10.1186/ s12967-014-0376-x
- Wang L, Chang EW, Wong SC, Ong SM, Chong DQ, Ling KL. Increased myeloid-derived suppressor cells in gastric cancer correlate with cancer stage and plasma S100A8/A9 proinflammatory proteins. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(2):794–804. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202088
- Solito S, Falisi E, Diaz-Montero CM, Doni A, Pinton L, Rosato A, et al. A human promyelocytic-like population is responsible for the immune suppression mediated by myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Blood* (2011) 118(8):2254–65. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-12-325753
- Waight JD, Hu Q, Miller A, Liu S, Abrams SI. Tumor-derived G-CSF facilitates neoplastic growth through a granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cell-dependent mechanism. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(11):e27690. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0027690
- Serafini P, Carbley R, Noonan KA, Tan G, Bronte V, Borrello I. High-dose granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor-producing vaccines impair the immune response through the recruitment of myeloid suppressor cells. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(17):6337–43. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-04-0757
- Pan PY, Wang GX, Yin B, Ozao J, Ku T, Divino CM, et al. Reversion of immune tolerance in advanced malignancy: modulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cell development by blockade of stem-cell factor function. *Blood* (2008) 111(1):219–28. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-04-086835
- Rodriguez PC, Hernandez CP, Quiceno D, Dubinett SM, Zabaleta J, Ochoa JB, et al. Arginase I in myeloid suppressor cells is induced by COX-2 in lung carcinoma. J Exp Med (2005) 202(7):931–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20050715
- Rodriguez PC, Ernstoff MS, Hernandez C, Atkins M, Zabaleta J, Sierra R, et al. Arginase I-producing myeloid-derived suppressor cells in renal cell carcinoma are a subpopulation of activated granulocytes. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(4):1553–60. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1921
- Harari O, Liao JK. Inhibition of MHC II gene transcription by nitric oxide and antioxidants. *Curr Pharm Des* (2004) 10(8):893–8. doi:10.2174/1381612043452893
- 100. Saio M, Radoja S, Marino M, Frey AB. Tumor-infiltrating macrophages induce apoptosis in activated CD8(+) T cells by a mechanism requiring cell contact and mediated by both the cell-associated form of TNF and nitric oxide. *J Immunol* (2001) 167(10):5583–93. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.167.10.5583
- 101. Yu J, Du W, Yan F, Wang Y, Li H, Cao S, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells suppress antitumor immune responses through IDO expression and correlate with lymph node metastasis in patients with breast cancer. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(7):3783–97. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201449
- 102. Holmgaard RB, Zamarin D, Munn DH, Wolchok JD, Allison JP. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase is a critical resistance mechanism in antitumor T cell immunotherapy targeting CTLA-4. J Exp Med (2013) 210(7):1389–402. doi:10.1084/jem.20130066
- Srivastava MK, Sinha P, Clements VK, Rodriguez P, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells inhibit T-cell activation by depleting cystine and cysteine. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(1):68–77. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-09-2587
- 104. Huang B, Pan PY, Li Q, Sato AI, Levy DE, Bromberg J, et al. Gr-1+CD115+ immature myeloid suppressor cells mediate the development of tumor-induced T regulatory cells and T-cell anergy in tumor-bearing host. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(2):1123–31. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1299
- 105. Noh H, Eomm M, Han A. Usefulness of pretreatment neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio in predicting disease-specific survival in breast cancer patients. J Breast Cancer (2013) 16(1):55–9. doi:10.4048/jbc.2013.16.1.55

- Tomita M, Shimizu T, Ayabe T, Yonei A, Onitsuka T. Preoperative neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio as a prognostic predictor after curative resection for non-small cell lung cancer. *Anticancer Res* (2011) 31(9):2995–8.
- 107. Pillay J, Tak T, Kamp VM, Koenderman L. Immune suppression by neutrophils and granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells: similarities and differences. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2013) **70**(20):3813–27. doi:10.1007/s00018-013-1286-4
- Coffelt SB, Kersten K, Doornebal CW, Weiden J, Vrijland K, Hau CS, et al. IL-17-producing γδ T cells and neutrophils conspire to promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* (2015) 522(7556):345–8. doi:10.1038/nature14282
- Han Y, Yu Z, Wen S, Zhang B, Cao X, Wang X. Prognostic value of chemotherapy-induced neutropenia in early-stage breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2012) 131(2):483–90. doi:10.1007/s10549-011-1799-1
- 110. Bald T, Quast T, Landsberg J, Rogava M, Glodde N, Lopez-Ramos D, et al. Ultraviolet-radiation-induced inflammation promotes angiotropism and metastasis in melanoma. *Nature* (2014) 507(7490):109–13. doi:10.1038/ nature13111
- 111. Kowanetz M, Wu X, Lee J, Tan M, Hagenbeek T, Qu X, et al. Granulocytecolony stimulating factor promotes lung metastasis through mobilization of Ly6G+Ly6C+ granulocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**(50):21248– 55. doi:10.1073/pnas.1015855107
- Granot Z, Henke E, Comen EA, King TA, Norton L, Benezra R. Tumor entrained neutrophils inhibit seeding in the premetastatic lung. *Cancer Cell* (2011) 20(3):300–14. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.08.012
- 113. Casbon AJ, Reynaud D, Park C, Khuc E, Gan DD, Schepers K. Invasive breast cancer reprograms early myeloid differentiation in the bone marrow to generate immunosuppressive neutrophils. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112(6):E566–75. doi:10.1073/pnas.1424927112
- 114. Sagiv JY, Michaeli J, Assi S, Mishalian I, Kisos H, Levy L, et al. Phenotypic diversity and plasticity in circulating neutrophil subpopulations in cancer. *Cell Rep* (2015) **10**(4):562–73. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014.12.039
- 115. Fridlender ZG, Sun J, Kim S, Kapoor V, Cheng G, Ling L. Polarization of tumor-associated neutrophil phenotype by TGF-beta: 'N1' versus 'N2' TAN. *Cancer Cell* (2009) 16(3):183–94. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.06.017
- Mantovani A, Sica A, Sozzani S, Allavena P, Vecchi A, Locati M. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends Immunol* (2004) 25(12):677–86. doi:10.1016/j.it.2004.09.015
- 117. Murray PJ, Allen JE, Biswas SK, Fisher EA, Gilroy DW, Goerdt S, et al. Macrophage activation and polarization: nomenclature and experimental guidelines. *Immunity* (2014) 41(1):14–20. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.008
- Schultze JL. Transcriptional programming of human macrophages: on the way to systems immunology. J Mol Med (Berl) (2015) 93(6):589–97. doi:10.1007/s00109-015-1286-y
- 119. Xue J, Schmidt SV, Sander J, Draffehn A, Krebs W, Quester I, et al. Transcriptome-based network analysis reveals a spectrum model of human macrophage activation. *Immunity* (2014) 40(2):274–88. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2014.01.006
- DeNardo DG, Brennan DJ, Rexhepaj E, Ruffell B, Shiao SL, Madden SF, et al. Leukocyte complexity predicts breast cancer survival and functionally regulates response to chemotherapy. *Cancer Discov* (2011) 1:54–67. doi:10.1158/2159-8274.CD-10-0028
- 121. Leek RD, Lewis CE, Whitehouse R, Greenall M, Clarke J, Harris AL. Association of macrophage infiltration with angiogenesis and prognosis in invasive breast carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (1996) 56(20):4625–9.
- Ruffell B, Coussens LM. Macrophages and therapeutic resistance in cancer. Cancer Cell (2015) 27(4):462–72. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2015.02.015
- Lin EY, Nguyen AV, Russell RG, Pollard JW. Colony-stimulating factor 1 promotes progression of mammary tumors to malignancy. J Exp Med (2001) 193(6):727–40. doi:10.1084/jem.193.6.727
- 124. DeNardo DG, Barreto JB, Andreu P, Vasquez L, Tawfik D, Kolhatkar N. CD4(+) T cells regulate pulmonary metastasis of mammary carcinomas by enhancing protumor properties of macrophages. *Cancer Cell* (2009) 16(2):91-102. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.06.018
- 125. Qian BZ, Li J, Zhang H, Kitamura T, Zhang J, Campion LR, et al. CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis. *Nature* (2011) 475(7355):222–5. doi:10.1038/nature10138
- 126. Lin EY, Li JF, Gnatovskiy L, Deng Y, Zhu L, Grzesik DA, et al. Macrophages regulate the angiogenic switch in a mouse model of breast cancer. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(23):11238–46. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1278

- 127. Sharda DR, Yu S, Ray M, Squadrito ML, De Palma M, Wynn TA, et al. Regulation of macrophage arginase expression and tumor growth by the ron receptor tyrosine kinase. *J Immunol* (2011) **187**(5):2181–92. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1003460
- 128. Rodriguez PC, Zea AH, DeSalvo J, Culotta KS, Zabaleta J, Quiceno DG, et al. L-arginine consumption by macrophages modulates the expression of CD3 zeta chain in T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* (2003) **171**(3):1232–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.171.3.1232
- 129. Munn DH, Shafizadeh E, Attwood JT, Bondarev I, Pashine A, Mellor AL. Inhibition of T cell proliferation by macrophage tryptophan catabolism. *J Exp Med* (1999) 189(9):1363–72. doi:10.1084/jem.189.9.1363
- Sica A, Saccani A, Bottazzi B, Polentarutti N, Vecchi A, van Damme J, et al. Autocrine production of IL-10 mediates defective IL-12 production and NF-kappa B activation in tumor-associated macrophages. *J Immunol* (2000) 164(2):762–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.2.762
- 131. Kuang DM, Zhao Q, Peng C, Xu J, Zhang JP, Wu C, et al. Activated monocytes in peritumoral stroma of hepatocellular carcinoma foster immune privilege and disease progression through PD-L1. *J Exp Med* (2009) **206**(6):1327–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20082173
- 132. Pyonteck SM, Akkari L, Schuhmacher AJ, Bowman RL, Sevenich L, Quail DF, et al. CSF-1R inhibition alters macrophage polarization and blocks glioma progression. *Nat Med* (2013) **19**(10):1264–72. doi:10.1038/nm.3337
- 133. Zhu Y, Knolhoff BL, Meyer MA, Nywening TM, West BL, Luo J, et al. CSF1/ CSF1R blockade reprograms tumor-infiltrating macrophages and improves response to T-cell checkpoint immunotherapy in pancreatic cancer models. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74(18):5057–69. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-3723
- Fridlender ZG, Buchlis G, Kapoor V, Cheng G, Sun J, Singhal S, et al. CCL2 blockade augments cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70(1):109–18. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2326
- 135. Fridlender ZG, Kapoor V, Buchlis G, Cheng G, Sun J, Wang LC. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 blockade inhibits lung cancer tumor growth by altering macrophage phenotype and activating CD8+ cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2011) 44(2):230–7. doi:10.1165/rcmb.2010-0080OC
- 136. Klyushnenkova EN, Riabov VB, Kouiavskaia DV, Wietsma A, Zhan M, Alexander RB. Breaking immune tolerance by targeting CD25+ regulatory T cells is essential for the anti-tumor effect of the CTLA-4 blockade in an HLA-DR transgenic mouse model of prostate cancer. *Prostate* (2014) 74(14):1423–32. doi:10.1002/pros.22858
- 137. Duraiswamy J, Kaluza KM, Freeman GJ, Coukos G. Dual blockade of PD-1 and CTLA-4 combined with tumor vaccine effectively restores T-cell rejection function in tumors. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**(12):3591–603. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4100
- Duraiswamy J, Freeman GJ, Coukos G. Therapeutic PD-1 pathway blockade augments with other modalities of immunotherapy T-cell function to prevent immune decline in ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(23):6900–12. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1550
- 139. Highfill SL, Cui Y, Giles AJ, Smith JP, Zhang H, Morse E, et al. Disruption of CXCR2-mediated MDSC tumor trafficking enhances anti-PD1 efficacy. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(237):237ra67. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3007974
- Nars MS, Kaneno R. Immunomodulatory effects of low dose chemotherapy and perspectives of its combination with immunotherapy. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 132(11):2471–8. doi:10.1002/ijc.27801
- 141. Kerbel RS, Kamen BA. The anti-angiogenic basis of metronomic chemotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2004) 4(6):423–36. doi:10.1038/nrc1369
- 142. Ma Y, Adjemian S, Mattarollo SR, Yamazaki T, Aymeric L, Yang H, et al. Anticancer chemotherapy-induced intratumoral recruitment and differentiation of antigen-presenting cells. *Immunity* (2013) 38(4):729–41. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.03.003
- 143. Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(10):1170–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2028
- 144. Wada S, Yoshimura K, Hipkiss EL, Harris TJ, Yen HR, Goldberg MV, et al. Cyclophosphamide augments antitumor immunity: studies in an autochthonous prostate cancer model. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(10):4309–18. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4102
- 145. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, et al. Tolllike receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer

chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Nat Med* (2007) **13**(9):1050–9. doi:10.1038/ nm1622

- 146. Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(1):54–61. doi:10.1038/nm1523
- 147. Bezu L, Gomes-de-Silva LC, Dewitte H, Breckpot K, Fucikova J, Spisek R. Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:187. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00187
- 148. Ciampricotti M, Hau CS, Doornebal CW, Jonkers J, de Visser KE. Chemotherapy response of spontaneous mammary tumors is independent of the adaptive immune system. *Nat Med* (2012) 18(3):344–6. doi:10.1038/ nm.2652
- 149. Ruffell B, Chang-Strachan D, Chan V, Rosenbusch A, Ho CM, Pryer N, et al. Macrophage IL-10 blocks CD8+ T cell-dependent responses to chemotherapy by suppressing IL-12 expression in intratumoral dendritic cells. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 26(5):623–37. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.006
- Luznik L, Jones RJ, Fuchs EJ. High-dose cyclophosphamide for graft-versushost disease prevention. *Curr Opin Hematol* (2010) 17(6):493–9. doi:10.1097/ MOH.0b013e32833eaf1b
- 151. Luznik L, O'Donnell PV, Symons HJ, Chen AR, Leffell MS, Zahurak M, et al. HLA-haploidentical bone marrow transplantation for hematologic malignancies using nonmyeloablative conditioning and high-dose, posttransplantation cyclophosphamide. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2008) 14(6):641–50. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2008.03.005
- Lutsiak ME, Semnani RT, De Pascalis R, Kashmiri SV, Schlom J, Sabzevari H. Inhibition of CD4(+)25+ T regulatory cell function implicated in enhanced immune response by low-dose cyclophosphamide. *Blood* (2005) 105(7):2862–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-06-2410
- 153. Motoyoshi Y, Kaminoda K, Saitoh O, Hamasaki K, Nakao K, Ishii N, et al. Different mechanisms for anti-tumor effects of low- and high-dose cyclophosphamide. Oncol Rep (2006) 16(1):141–6. doi:10.3892/or.16.1.141
- 154. Ghiringhelli F, Larmonier N, Schmitt E, Parcellier A, Cathelin D, Garrido C. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress tumor immunity but are sensitive to cyclophosphamide which allows immunotherapy of established tumors to be curative. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) 34(2):336–44. doi:10.1002/eji.200324181
- 155. Ghiringhelli F, Menard C, Puig PE, Ladoire S, Roux S, Martin F, et al. Metronomic cyclophosphamide regimen selectively depletes CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells and restores T and NK effector functions in end stage cancer patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2007) 56(5):641–8. doi:10.1007/ s00262-006-0225-8
- 156. Zhao J, Cao Y, Lei Z, Yang Z, Zhang B, Huang B. Selective depletion of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells by low-dose cyclophosphamide is explained by reduced intracellular ATP levels. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70(12):4850–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0283
- 157. Shevchenko I, Karakhanova S, Soltek S, Link J, Bayry J, Werner J, et al. Low-dose gemcitabine depletes regulatory T cells and improves survival in the orthotopic panc02 model of pancreatic cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 133(1):98–107. doi:10.1002/ijc.27990
- 158. Rettig L, Seidenberg S, Parvanova I, Samaras P, Curioni A, Knuth A, et al. Gemcitabine depletes regulatory T-cells in human and mice and enhances triggering of vaccine-specific cytotoxic T-cells. *Int J Cancer* (2011) 129(4):832–8. doi:10.1002/ijc.25756
- 159. Beyer M, Kochanek M, Darabi K, Popov A, Jensen M, Endl E, et al. Reduced frequencies and suppressive function of CD4+CD25hi regulatory T cells in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia after therapy with fludarabine. *Blood* (2005) **106**(6):2018–25. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-02-0642
- 160. Chen C, Chen Z, Chen D, Zhang B, Wang Z, Le H. Suppressive effects of gemcitabine plus cisplatin chemotherapy on regulatory T cells in nonsmall-cell lung cancer. J Int Med Res (2015) 43(2):180–7. doi:10.1177/0300060514561504
- 161. Vincent J, Mignot G, Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Bruchard M, Chevriaux A, et al. 5-fluorouracil selectively kills tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(8):3052–61. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3690
- Suzuki E, Kapoor V, Jassar AS, Kaiser LR, Albelda SM. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells

in tumor-bearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. Clin Cancer Res (2005) 11(18):6713-21. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0883

- 163. Ugel S, Peranzoni E, Desantis G, Chioda M, Walter S, Weinschenk T, et al. Immune tolerance to tumor antigens occurs in a specialized environment of the spleen. *Cell Rep* (2012) 2(3):628–39. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.08.006
- 164. Peters GJ, van der Wilt CL, van Triest B, Codacci-Pisanelli G, Johnston PG, van Groeningen CJ, et al. Thymidylate synthase and drug resistance. *Eur J Cancer* (1995) **31A**(7–8):1299–305. doi:10.1016/0959-8049(95)00172-F
- 165. Le HK, Graham L, Cha E, Morales JK, Manjili MH, Bear HD. Gemcitabine directly inhibits myeloid derived suppressor cells in BALB/c mice bearing 4T1 mammary carcinoma and augments expansion of T cells from tumor-bearing mice. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2009) 9(7–8):900–9. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2009.03.015
- 166. Kodumudi KN, Woan K, Gilvary DL, Sahakian E, Wei S, Djeu JY. A novel chemoimmunomodulating property of docetaxel: suppression of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor bearers. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16(18):4583–94. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0733
- 167. Alizadeh D, Trad M, Hanke NT, Larmonier CB, Janikashvili N, Bonnotte B. Doxorubicin eliminates myeloid-derived suppressor cells and enhances the efficacy of adoptive T-cell transfer in breast cancer. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74(1):104–18. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1545
- 168. Sevko A, Sade-Feldman M, Kanterman J, Michels T, Falk CS, Umansky L, et al. Cyclophosphamide promotes chronic inflammation-dependent immunosuppression and prevents antitumor response in melanoma. *J Invest Dermatol* (2013) 133(6):1610–9. doi:10.1038/jid.2012.444
- 169. Diaz-Montero CM, Salem ML, Nishimura MI, Garrett-Mayer E, Cole DJ, Montero AJ. Increased circulating myeloid-derived suppressor cells correlate with clinical cancer stage, metastatic tumor burden, and doxorubicincyclophosphamide chemotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58(1):49–59. doi:10.1007/s00262-008-0523-4
- 170. Guo Q, Lv Z, Fu Q, Jiang C, Liu Y, Lai L, et al. IFN-γ producing T cells contribute to the increase of myeloid derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice after cyclophosphamide treatment. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2012) 12(2):425–32. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2011.12.016
- 171. Bruchard M, Mignot G, Derangère V, Chalmin F, Chevriaux A, Végran F, et al. Chemotherapy-triggered cathepsin B release in myeloid-derived suppressor cells activates the Nlrp3 inflammasome and promotes tumor growth. *Nat Med* (2013) **19**(1):57–64. doi:10.1038/nm.2999
- 172. Shurin MR. Dual role of immunomodulation by anticancer chemotherapy. *Nat Med* (2013) **19**(1):20–2. doi:10.1038/nm.3045
- 173. Germano G, Frapolli R, Belgiovine C, Anselmo A, Pesce S, Liguori M, et al. Role of macrophage targeting in the antitumor activity of trabectedin. *Cancer Cell* (2013) 23(2):249–62. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2013.01.008
- 174. Lake RA, Robinson BW. Immunotherapy and chemotherapy a practical partnership. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2005) 5(5):397–405. doi:10.1038/nrc1613
- 175. Mokyr MB, Kalinichenko T, Gorelik L, Bluestone JA. Realization of the therapeutic potential of CTLA-4 blockade in low-dose chemotherapy-treated tumor-bearing mice. *Cancer Res* (1998) 58(23):5301–4.
- 176. Lesterhuis WJ, Salmons J, Nowak AK, Rozali EN, Khong A, Dick IM, et al. Synergistic effect of CTLA-4 blockade and cancer chemotherapy in the induction of anti-tumor immunity. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(4):e61895. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0061895
- 177. Wu L, Yun Z, Tagawa T, Rey-McIntyre K, de Perrot M. CTLA-4 blockade expands infiltrating T cells and inhibits cancer cell repopulation during the intervals of chemotherapy in murine mesothelioma. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2012) 11(8):1809–19. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-11-1014
- 178. Ramakrishnan R, Assudani D, Nagaraj S, Hunter T, Cho HI, Antonia S, et al. Chemotherapy enhances tumor cell susceptibility to CTL-mediated killing during cancer immunotherapy in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2010) **120**(4):1111–24. doi:10.1172/JCI40269
- 179. Lynch TJ, Bondarenko I, Luft A, Serwatowski P, Barlesi F, Chacko R, et al. Ipilimumab in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin as first-line treatment in stage IIIB/IV non-small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase II study. *J Clin Oncol* (2012) **30**(17):2046–54. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.38.4032
- Singh M, Murriel CL, Johnson L. Genetically engineered mouse models: closing the gap between preclinical data and trial outcomes. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(11):2695–700. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2786

- 181. DuPage M, Cheung AF, Mazumdar C, Winslow MM, Bronson R, Schmidt LM, et al. Endogenous T cell responses to antigens expressed in lung adenocarcinomas delay malignant tumor progression. *Cancer Cell* (2011) 19(1):72–85. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2010.11.011
- 182. Olive KP, Jacobetz MA, Davidson CJ, Gopinathan A, McIntyre D, Honess D, et al. Inhibition of hedgehog signaling enhances delivery of chemotherapy in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer. *Science* (2009) **324**(5933):1457–61. doi:10.1126/science.1171362
- DuPage M, Jacks T. Genetically engineered mouse models of cancer reveal new insights about the antitumor immune response. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2013) 25(2):192–9. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2013.02.005

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Kersten, Salvagno and de Visser. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Targeting epigenetic processes in photodynamic therapy-induced anticancer immunity

Malgorzata Wachowska, Angelika Muchowicz and Jakub Golab*

Department of Immunology, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) of cancer is an approved therapeutic procedure that generates oxidative stress leading to cell death of tumor and stromal cells. Cell death resulting from oxidative damage to intracellular components leads to the release of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) that trigger robust inflammatory response and creates local conditions for effective sampling of tumor-associated antigens (TAA) by antigen-presenting cells. The latter can trigger development of TAA-specific adaptive immune response. However, due to a number of mechanisms, including epigenetic regulation of TAA expression, tumor cells evade immune recognition. Therefore, numerous approaches are being developed to combine PDT with immunotherapies to allow development of systemic immunity. In this review, we describe immunoregulatory mechanisms of epigenetic treatments that were shown to restore the expression of epigenetically silenced or down-regulated major histocompatibility complex molecules as well as TAA. We also discuss the results of our recent studies showing that epigenetic treatments based on administration of methyltransferase inhibitors in combination with PDT can release effective mechanisms leading to development of antitumor immunity and potentiated antitumor effects.

Keywords: photodynamic therapy, cancer, immunotherapy, epigenetic mechanisms, histone deacetylase, methyltransferase

Introduction

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) is a light-based therapeutic approach used for the treatment of various solid tumors and non-malignant diseases. Its mechanism of action involves three non-toxic and harmless components: photosensitizer (PS), light, and oxygen. Their spatiotemporal encounter triggers photochemical reaction leading to formation of singlet oxygen and ensuing photodamage in tumor tissue (1). PS can be applied topically or administered systemically. After a period allowing for PS accumulation within the tumor, light of appropriate wavelength is precisely delivered to tumor site, usually from laser sources. Light activates PS from its ground state to the excited triplet state. Activated PS transfers its energy to molecular oxygen, leading to generation of highly reactive singlet oxygen, or reacts directly with biomolecules forming free radicals such as superoxide ion, hydroxyl radical, or hydrogen peroxide. These reactive oxygen species (ROS) mediate oxidative damage of intracellular macromolecules causing tumor cell death (2, 3).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabrizio Mattei, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Italy

Reviewed by: Antonella Sistigu,

Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Italy Jonathan P. Celli, University of Massachusetts, USA

*Correspondence:

Jakub Golab, Department of Immunology, Center of Biostructure Research, Medical University of Warsaw, 1A Banacha Street, F Building, Warsaw 02-097, Poland jakub.golab@wum.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> **Received:** 01 June 2015 **Accepted:** 16 July 2015 **Published:** 30 July 2015

Citation:

Wachowska M, Muchowicz A and Golab J (2015) Targeting epigenetic processes in photodynamic therapy-induced anticancer immunity. Front. Oncol. 5:176. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00176

Photodynamic Therapy and Anticancer Immunity

Direct cytotoxic effects induced by PDT do not explain strong antitumor activity of this treatment observed in experimental animals. For example, cells from the tumors excised immediately after curative PDT are still clonogenic indicating that there must be other, indirect mechanisms triggered by PDT that contribute to the efficacy of the treatment (4). These indirect mechanisms include disruption of tumor vasculature, leading to oxygen and nutrient deprivation, and induction of robust inflammatory reaction, which can further stimulate development of antitumor immune responses (5, 6). A critical role in the therapeutic outcome of PDT is played by the immune system. Studies in immunodeficient mice or in mice inoculated with lymphocyte-depleting antibodies revealed that the presence of effector immune cells is necessary for maximum therapeutic response (7–9).

Innate Immune Response in PDT

Massive PDT-induced photooxidative damage occurs mainly in the membranes and cytoplasm of tumor cells, tumor vasculature, and other stromal elements. This substantial PDT-mediated local injury threatens the host tissue integrity and homeostasis. Therefore, a host response develops as acute local inflammation in order to eliminate dead and injured cells, heal lesion, and restore tissue function as well as maintain its homeostasis (8). This response is induced almost instantaneously following PDT. Triggered by massive cell death, release of cytoplasmic components, vasoactive substances, as well as activation of the complement cascade, it leads to the secretion of leukocyte chemoattractants, cytokines, growth factors, and other immunoregulators that lead to a robust infiltration of the tissue with neutrophils, mast cells, macrophages, and NK cells (10).

A number of cytokines have been detected both within the tumor and in the plasma of mice undergoing PDT. Among a wide range of cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, TNF, and G-CSF) and chemokines (KC and MIP2) induced after PDT, a very important role is assigned to IL-1 β and IL-6 (11). Neutralization of IL-1 β reduces the cure rates of PDT-treated tumors, whereas no significant effects are observed with anti-TNF-alpha and anti-IL-6 antibodies (12). Also, recombinant cytokines such as G-CSF, GM-CSF, and TNF combined with PDT enhance anti-tumor response (13–15), whereas blocking anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) improves the cure rates of PDT-treated tumors (8).

Neutrophils are the first cells invading PDT-treated tumor sites showing remarkable impact on PDT-mediated tumor damage. It was shown that neutrophils depletion in tumor bearing mice and rats attenuates the efficacy of antitumor PDT (16, 17). Monocytes/ macrophages infiltrating tumor bed also seem to participate in regulating the outcomes of PDT. Inactivation of macrophages with silica particles decreases cure rates in mice, whereas treatment with macrophage-activating factor Vitamin D3-binding protein or GM-CSF potentiates antitumor effects of PDT (13, 18). Role of innate immune response in antitumor PDT is also associated with activity of NK cells. Depletion of NK cells significantly inhibits the response to PDT at suboptimal dose (19).

Innate immune cells encounter released tumor antigens (including oxidatively modified ones) together with molecules known as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) or cell death-associated molecular patterns (CDAMPs) (9). DAMPs play an analogous role to pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), serving as warning signals. Recognition of PAMPs leads to initiation of the pathogen-induced responses, whereas DAMPs promote inflammatory responses to cell stress, injury, or death. DAMPs bind to pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) on the surface of infiltrating leukocytes and activate antigenpresenting cells (APCs) to stimulate innate and adaptive immunity. Therefore, DAMPs released from PDT-treated tumor cells are believed to be the key players in the immunogenicity of tumor cells (20, 21). The best known and frequently reported examples of PDT-induced DAMPs include heat-shock protein (HSP) family (HSP70 and HSP90), high mobility group box-1 (HMGB-1), adenosine triphosphate (ATP), and calreticulin (CRT).

Adaptive Immune Response in PDT

It was demonstrated that the degree of PDT-mediated inflammation influences adaptive immune response and generation of antitumor immunity (22). The link between innate and adaptive immune response is dendritic cells (DCs), the most potent APCs, capable of migrating to secondary lymphoid tissues to prime T cells (23). PDT that triggers necrotic and apoptotic tumor cell death, accompanied by oxidative stress and induction of HSPs, is believed to shape a unique environment with tumor antigens and "danger" signals activating DC maturation (24, 25). It was shown that PDT-elicited local and systemic inflammation results in attraction of DCs to the tumor site, their activation, and maturation (24, 26, 27). DCs that have captured tumor-derived proteins and encounter DAMPs undergo activation and functional maturation, migrate to the tumor-draining lymph nodes, where they present tumor-associated antigens (TAA) in association with major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and II molecules to T lymphocytes. This allows selection, proliferation, and differentiation of the rare antigen-specific T lymphocytes into effector T cells (28). During effective adaptive antitumor immune response, activated T cells return to the circulation in order to home to the tumor site to carry out their effector functions (29). There are several independent studies underscoring the role of effector CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) in PDT outcome. Long-term tumor control after PDT treatment is possible only in immunocompetent mice, whereas in immunodeficient SCID or nude mice the long-term effects are abrogated. However, adoptive transfer of T cells from normal mice that underwent successful PDT restores antitumor PDT efficacy in immunodeficient animals. Importantly, T-cell depletion studies revealed that the CD8+ T-cell population is critical for a successful PDT response whereas CD4⁺ T cell population plays only a supportive role (19).

Several reports describe the essential role of CD8⁺ T cells also in clinical PDT efficacy. Tumors lacking MHC class I on their surface are resistant to specific antitumor immune response since recognition of MHC I is necessary for CD8⁺ T cell activation (30). Moreover, PDT of multifocal angiosarcoma resulted in spontaneous regression of untreated distant tumors accompanied by increased infiltration with CD8⁺ T cells (31).

Tumor Escape Mechanisms from Immune Surveillance

There is a strong evidence from mouse and human studies for the existence of antitumor immune response. However, tumor cells engage diverse mechanisms to modulate the immune response and to evade recognition and elimination by effector lymphocytes (32). "Cancer immunoediting" concept was proposed to describe the interactions between tumors and the immune system. According to this paradigm tumors are kept under surveillance of the immune system that either eliminates nascent tumor cells or keeps them at check in the so called equilibrium. But this protective response also shapes transformed cells in the "immunoediting" process to select for variants that develop escape mechanisms mitigating development of an effective antitumor immune response (33). A variety of mechanisms develop in tumors to avoid recognition by cells of the immune system. These mechanisms can be either inherent to tumor cells themselves or develop in stromal compartment.

Defective Antigen Presentation

Presentation of TAA to lymphocytes is critically dependent on the multiple components of the antigen processing machinery (APM). It consists of four major steps: (1) peptide processing, (2) peptide transport, (3) MHC class I assembly, and (4) antigen presentation (34). A fundamental mechanism resulting from immunoediting and allowing tumor cells to evade immune surveillance is associated with down-modulation of APM. The loss of MHC class I antigens is one of the most frequent way to evade immune recognition (35, 36). Total loss of MHC I may be a result of structural changes in the β2-microglobulin gene resulting from mutations, deletion or loss of heterozygosity. Whereas decreased expression of these molecules largely depends on the regulation of transcriptional processes, involving epigenetic modulation (see below). Impaired APM can also be caused by decreased expression of proteasome subunits LMP-2 LMP-7, and LMP-10 down-regulation of proteasome activator PA28, peptide transporters TAP-1, and TAP-2 as well as chaperones tapasin and calnexin. These phenomena are observed in various types of tumors both in mice and humans, often in metastases (35, 37–39).

Another mechanism of insufficient antigen presentation involves loss or down-regulation of potentially immunogenic TAA expression. In melanoma, tumor development is frequently related to low level of TAA (32). Similarly, reduced expression of MUC-1 antigen is observed in human breast cancer cells. CD8+ T lymphocytes isolated from patients with low expression of MUC1 do not react to autologous tumors (40). Molecular mechanisms responsible for changes in MHC expression on tumor cells include several types of gene modifications. However, in vitro studies show that loss of one allele or haplotype occurs very rarely (41). Therefore, it is suggested that tumor cells engage different strategies affecting antigen presentation in order to escape from immune recognition. Recent studies emphasize the role of epigenetic changes not only in tumor development and progression but also in tumor evasion (42, 43). It seems that epigenetic modifications play a key role in regulation of MHC, APM, and TAA expression level in tumor cells.

Tolerance, Deviation, and Adaptation

Although tumor cells, with rare exception of hematologic malignancies, do not express co-stimulatory molecules, they can express inhibitory molecules, such as PD-L1, PD-L2, LAG-3, TIM3, BTLA-4, or VISTA that induce deletion or anergy of tumor-reactive T cells. Some of these molecules as well as tumor-expressed FasL (CD95L/Apo1L) can also induce cell death in both T and NK cells. Another related mechanism is associated with surface expression of non-classical MHC class I molecules HLA-G and HLA-E that inhibit cytotoxic activity of effector CTLs and NK cells (44–46). Circulating MICA and MICB molecules, ligands for NKG2D receptor attenuate effector capacity of T lymphocytes and NK cells (47).

Suppressed antitumor immune response may be a result of tumor-induced changes in the function of DCs. Human and mouse tumors release cholesterol metabolites down-regulating the expression of CCR7 receptor on maturing DCs. This inhibits CCR7-dependent DC migration to lymphoid organs (48). Moreover, tumor cells produce vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) responsible not only for tumor angiogenesis, but also for impairment of DC maturation. Treatment with monoclonal antibodies against VEGF improves DC function *in vivo* and the efficacy of cancer immunotherapies (49). TGF- β negatively influences the activity of T lymphocytes and NK cells, inhibits maturation of DCs, and facilitates the recruitment of regulatory T cells (50). Likewise, immunosuppressive IL-10 is known to inhibit the function of APCs and generation of CTLs as well as suppress the activity and/or migration of CTLs (51).

Moreover, tumor cells can release enzymes that metabolize amino acids regulating activity of immune cells. One of such enzymes is indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), responsible for tryptophan catabolism. Enhanced expression of IDO in some types of tumors causes local shortage of tryptophan, leading to disturbances in proliferation of alloreactive T lymphocytes and their cell cycle arrest (52). Additionally, some tryptophan metabolites induce apoptosis in CD4⁺ T lymphocytes whereas kynurenine, a product of IDO-mediated tryptophan catabolism, leads to their differentiation into T regulatory cells (Tregs) that down-regulate immune response (53, 54).

Tumor cells that are unable to escape from immune recognition using the above mechanisms develop adaptation mechanisms to evade effector CTL-induced death. They can up-regulate expression of antiapoptotic molecules such as FLIP or BCL- X_L (55, 56). Otherwise, in order to avoid cell death, tumors can express inactive death receptors such as TRAIL-R1, TRAIL-R2, or FAS (57, 58).

Immunosuppressive Cells

Together with tumor-intrinsic immune escape mechanisms described above, tumors may also highjack parts of the immune system to evade immune attack. To achieve this goal, they induce or recruit immune-suppressive Tregs as well as myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), which under normal conditions serve as safeguards against overwhelming inflammation. In this way, tumors turn the immune system against itself, and exercise a powerful arsenal of mechanisms unavailable to tumor cells themselves to mitigate anti-tumor immune activity. Tregs inhibit activation and expansion of antigen-specific CD8⁺ T lymphocytes, through high expression of immune-inhibitory receptors cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 (CTLA-4) and PD-L1, secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF- β , and by consuming IL-2 (59). There are also other regulatory populations of lymphocytes that can be found among subsets of B cells and NKT cells inhibiting antitumor effector cell responses (60). MDSCs are heterogeneous population of cells originating from bone marrow including progenitor and immature myeloid cells of granulocytic or monocytic lineages (61). MDSCs engage several diverse strategies to suppress tumor growth by inhibiting tumor cell cytotoxicity mediated by NK cells and by blocking the activation of tumor-reactive CD4+ and CD8⁺ T cells (62, 63). These mechanisms include production of immunosuppressive cytokines such as TGF- β and IL-10, production of reactive nitrogen and oxygen species, interference with T cell homing, and contribution to tumor angiogenesis (61, 63, 64). Moreover, MDSCs prevent antigen/MHC peptide recognition by nitrosylation of T cell receptor (TCR) and deplete amino acids such as tryptophan (IDO) or arginine (arginase-1) that are required for activation and proliferation of T cells (65). Additionally, MDSCs induce accumulation of Tregs, which in turn down-regulate cell-mediated immunity and promote a Th2 type response that favors tumor progression (66).

The Role of Epigenetic Changes in Immune Escape

Epigenetic mechanisms include post-translational modifications of histone proteins affecting chromatin remodeling, DNA methylation, and regulation of gene expression by non-coding RNAs. A number of epigenetic events seem to play a pivotal role both in tumor progression and in avoiding immune recognition (67, 68). The most widely studied and best understood in terms of modulating immunity are DNA methylation and histone modifications (**Figure 1**).

Methylation occurs predominantly in CpG-rich regions called "CpG islands." A characteristic feature of tumor cells is global hypomethylation of their genome, and hypermethylation of CpG island in promoter regions of various genes (69). Methylation of DNA involves covalent addition of methyl group to C5 of cytosine ring leading to generation of 5-methylcytosine (70). Methylation of promoter regions leads to recruitment of methyl-CpG-binding proteins that form chromatin-remodeling co-repressor complexes resulting in gene silencing (67). Methylation pattern in every cell is established and maintained by a family of proteins called DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs).

Histones acetylation is a reversible process of adding an acetyl moiety to lysine residues on histone proteins resulting in neutralization of their positive charge and impairing their interaction with negatively charged DNA. Therefore, acetylation increases the accessibility of regulatory proteins to DNA, enabling activation of various genes expression (71). This process may be reversed by the opposite activities of histones deacetylases (HDACs) that remove acetyl groups from histone proteins leading to recovery of N-terminal tail affinity to DNA strand. This results in chromatin condensation and suppression of transcription process.

Influence of Epigenetic Therapy on Tumor Antigen Expression

DNA methylation is one of the most important epigenetic mechanism regulating expression of genes responsible for recognition of tumor cells by host immune system. Particularly, this is relevant to methylation of gene promoters, which leads to silencing of TAA and APM proteins, enabling escape from tumor immune-surveillance (72).

The presence of TAA in cancer cells is a mandatory requirement for activation of effector CTLs. TAA can be divided into four different groups: (i) differentiation antigens, which are lineage-specific and expressed in tumor as well as in normal cells from which the tumors arise; (ii) overexpressed antigens, which are broadly expressed in many normal tissues, but present in tumor cells at higher levels; (iii) tumor-specific antigens, usually typical for individual tumors, resulting from genetic alterations; (iv) cancer-testis antigens (CTA) that are expressed in various types of malignant human tumors and are restricted in normal tissues to germ cells of the testis, with occasional expression in female reproductive organs (73). CTA are particularly susceptible to epigenetic regulation. They include melanoma-associated antigen (MAGE), NY-ESO-1, and SSX gene families as well as the GAGE/PAGE/XAGE superfamily. MAGE, GAGE, BAGE, SSX, and LAGE-1/NY-ESO-1 are frequently methvlated and down-regulated in tumor cells. The CTA family also includes P1A antigen, one of the best known murine TAA, which is a homolog of human MAGE (74). P1A is an endogenous protein, initially identified in chemically induced mast cell-mastocytoma 815 (75). As a classical CTA, P1A is not expressed in normal tissues, but expressed only in placenta and testis. P1A epitopes are presented to T lymphocytes through MHC H2-k2d and may induce strong specific response of CTLs (76). Similar to human MAGE gene family, in several murine tumors P1A is not expressed as a result of methylation of the promoter regions (77).

Immunoregulatory Effects of Drugs Targeting Epigenetic Mechanisms

Drugs targeting epigenetic mechanisms can modulate expression of multiple genes including tumor suppressor genes, oncogenes, tumor associated antigens, as well as molecules involved in antigen presentation, co-stimulatory signaling and cytokines. Among different classes of genes described as epigenetically regulated, these encoding TAA are undoubtedly essential for T cell activation and tumor recognition by immune response. The expression of CTA can be restored by a number of hypomethylating agents (78, 79). Over 20 years ago, it was demonstrated that 5-aza-2'-deoxicitidyne (5-aza-dC) up-regulates MAGE-1 expression in tumor, but not in normal cells, and leads to HLA-A1-restricted lysis of tumor cells by CTLs (78). Further studies revealed that a variety of other CTA can be induced by either 5-aza-dC or other inhibitors of DNMTs (80-82). Methyltransferase inhibitors can also induce expression of MHC class I molecules. These effects result from the impact on both MHC genes as well as from regulation of virtually all components of the APM, including TAP1 and 2, proteasome subunits (81, 83). Moreover, antigen presentation can be augmented by up-regulation of type I and II interferons, their receptors, and components of the IFN-signaling pathways (84). Importantly, the effects of methyltransferase inhibitors are long-lasting as CTA are



detectable for next several weeks after treatment and they are recognized by antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells (77, 85, 86). Also histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACi) may affect expression of TAA, but mostly by increasing or restoring expression level of proteins involved in antigen presentation. For example, trichostatin A (TCA) was shown to up-regulate or induce expression of TAP-1, TAP-2, tapasin, and LMP-2 in murine tumor cell lines (87, 88). Moreover, the TCA-mediated increase in MHC levels results in activation of adaptive immune response and inhibition of tumor growth in mice (88). Additionally, HDACi increase the expression of MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecules in human and mouse melanoma and trophoblast cell lines (89, 90). TCA, by means of activation of the pIII-CIITA promoter in neoplastic cells and induction of MHC class II expression, was also found to augment CD4+ T cells proliferation (91). However, the result of their action is complex, since they down-regulate one antigen, Muc1, and up-regulate another, NY-ESO-1, at the same time (92). Based on these findings, a great deal of interest has been generated in investigation of epigenetic therapy influence on antitumor immune response.

It was also demonstrated that HDACi can affect polarization of naive CD4⁺ T cells toward Th1 and Th2 subsets. Vorinostat by inhibiting STAT6 and TARC may impair the functions of CD4⁺ T cells, shifting the balance toward Th1 response (93). Also hypomethylating agents increase production of cytokines, including IL-2, TNF, and IFN- γ (94, 95). Epigenetic treatment facilitates

killing of tumor cells by NK cells or CTLs through up-regulation of TRAIL-R2 and FAS in transformed cells (96, 97). Furthermore, enhancement of NK-mediated tumor cell death was also induced by TCA by up-regulation of UL-16-binding protein expression (a ligand for cytotoxicity NKG2D receptor) (98).

Tumor Cell Recognition by Immune System After Photodynamic Therapy Enhanced by Epigenetic Treatment

The still elusive goal for effective cancer immunotherapy is to overcome tumor escape mechanisms and to trigger development of systemic adaptive antitumor immune response allowing for the control of distant metastases. As described above, PDT is an effective local treatment that induces acute local inflammatory response. However, development of systemic adaptive immune response after PDT strongly depends on the efficacy of presentation and recognition of tumor antigens by the immune cells (1). Various approaches have been examined to accelerate the priming phase of immune response after PDT. Induction of antitumor activity depends on activation of CD8⁺T cells and administration of immature DCs into the PDT-treated tumors resulted in effective activation of T and NK cells (24). Also, the PDT effectiveness was improved by administration of adjuvants, such as glycated chitosan (99). Additionally, the

role of expression level of MHC class I in PDT was evaluated in the treatment of patients with vulval intraepithelial neoplasia (VIN). In VIN lesions that respond to PDT, significant increase of CD8+ infiltration after treatment was observed when compared to nonresponders. Interestingly, none of responding VIN patients showed any evidence of MHC class I down-regulation, whereas all of the cases of VIN lacking of MHC I failed to respond to PDT (100).

One of the approaches to increase immunogenicity of tumor cells focused on their genetic modification to enhance activation of CTLs by DCs. Introduction of foreign antigen, such as green fluorescence protein (GFP) to radiation-induced fibrosarcoma cells was observed to induce strong tumor-specific immune response allowing for long-term tumor control. Re-challenge experiments revealed that survived mice developed resistance to GFP-positive cells (101). These data are in line with another study demonstrating that the presence of β -galactosidase antigen in tumor cells is able to increase immunogenicity allowing PDT to elicit strong antitumor effects and long-term immunity to reinoculated tumor cells (102). In this vein, the same authors have transfected tumor cells with a gene encoding P1A, a model CTA in the mouse. The presence of this antigen led to effective antitumor immune response that only developed when PDT was used and was found sufficient to prevent tumor growth when tumor cells were re-inoculated (74). Moreover, PDT was shown to enhance systemic immune responses to tumors in patients with Basal cell carcinoma. The immune recognition of cancer cell antigen - Hip 1 - was improved by PDT treatment (103).

Considering that 5-aza-dC restores expression of CTA including P1A as well as MHC class I molecules (77), we sought to evaluate the antitumor effects of the combined treatment involving PDT and administration of 5-aza-dC. We have observed that treatment with 5-aza-dC alone restores expression of MHC class I molecules as well as induces expression of P1A antigen in four different murine tumor models and two strains of mice (104). Antitumor effects of 5-aza-dC were rather insignificant when used alone. However, when we combined 5-aza-dC with PDT, we observed prolonged complete antitumor responses in mice with EMT6 mammary tumors and CT26 colon adenocarcinomas and significant prolongation of survival in mice bearing 4T1 mammary tumors and LLC lung carcinomas. The antitumor effects of the combination treatment were strongly dependent on the presence of CD8⁺ CTLs as their depletion with monoclonal antibodies almost completely abrogated antitumor effects. On the other hand, CD4⁺ T cells played only a supportive role. We have also observed that the combined treatment led to expansion of IL-17-producing CD4+ T cells, which are known to stimulate CD8⁺. Intriguingly, pentamer staining for P1A-specific CD8⁺ T cell population revealed no significant changes in draining LNs and spleens between experimental groups. Moreover, all mice treated with PDT and 5-aza-dC that remained long-term tumor-free have rejected re-inoculated tumor cells even if the cells were P1A-negative. These findings suggest that the presence of P1A is not essential for the maintenance of long-lasting antitumor immunity. It is possible that 5-aza-dC combined with PDT may lead to increased expression and release of TAA in the PDT-treated microenvironment. Together with PDT-induced inflammation and the release of DAMPs, the combination treatment would confer better antigen presentation of P1A. Improved tumor recognition by immune cells can further expand the repertoire of antigen-specific T cells thereby increasing the



up-regulates expression of silenced tumor-associated antigens (TAA). PDT leads to the release of TAA that are further phagocytosed by attracted to the tumor

T lymphocytes. T cells are activated and subsequently differentiate into effector cells homing to the tumor site in order to destroy residual tumor cells.

immunogenic outcome of PDT. Thus, it can be hypothesized that PDT of tumors with TAAs up-regulated by 5-aza-dC can induce concomitant immunity to other subdominant and possibly weakly immunogenic antigens and facilitate epitope spreading. Immunity to the latter can sustain antitumor activity in mice. To summarize, our findings demonstrate that treatment combining 5-aza-dC with PDT leads to local cytotoxic effects accompanied by the release of induced TAAs allowing for development of antitumor immune response and long-term survival (**Figure 2**). Based on these findings, we hypothesize that inhibition of DNA methylation could unleash stronger immune response against TAA in tumor-bearing mice undergoing PDT.

References

- Agostinis P, Berg K, Cengel KA, Foster TH, Girotti AW, Gollnick SO, et al. Photodynamic therapy of cancer: an update. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2011) 61:250–81. doi:10.3322/caac.20114
- Castano AP, Demidovaa TN, Hamblin MR. Mechanisms in photodynamic therapy: part one-photosensitizers, photochemistry and cellular localization. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther* (2004) 1:279–93. doi:10.1016/ S1572-1000(05)00007-4
- Nowis D, Makowski M, Stoklosa T, Legat M, Issat T, Golab J. Direct tumor damage mechanisms of photodynamic therapy. *Acta Biochim Pol* (2005) 52:339–52.
- Henderson BW, Waldow SM, Mang TS, Potter WR, Malone PB, Dougherty TJ. Tumor destruction and kinetics of tumor cell death in two experimental mouse tumors following photodynamic therapy. *Cancer Res* (1985) 45:572–6.
- Castano AP, Demidova TN, Hamblin MR. Mechanisms in photodynamic therapy: part three-photosensitizer pharmacokinetics, biodistribution, tumor localization and modes of tumor destruction. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther* (2005) 2:91–106. doi:10.1016/S1572-1000(05)00060-8
- Castano AP, Mroz P, Hamblin MR. Photodynamic therapy and anti-tumour immunity. Nat Rev Cancer (2006) 6:535–45. doi:10.1038/nrc1894
- Nowis D, Stokłosa T, Legat M, Issat T, Jakobisiak M, Gołab J. The influence of photodynamic therapy on the immune response. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther* (2005) 2:283–98. doi:10.1016/S1572-1000(05)00098-0
- Korbelik M. PDT-associated host response and its role in the therapy outcome. Lasers Surg Med (2006) 38:500–8. doi:10.1002/lsm.20337
- 9. Firczuk M, Nowis D, Golab J. PDT-induced inflammatory and host responses. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* (2011) **10**:653–63. doi:10.1039/c0pp00308e
- Dolmans DE, Fukumura D, Jain RK. Photodynamic therapy for cancer. Nat Rev Cancer (2003) 3:380–7. doi:10.1038/nrc1071
- Gollnick SO, Evans SS, Baumann H, Owczarczak B, Maier P, Vaughan L, et al. Role of cytokines in photodynamic therapy-induced local and systemic inflammation. *Br J Cancer* (2003) 88:1772–9. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6600864
- Sun J, Cecic I, Parkins CS, Korbelik M. Neutrophils as inflammatory and immune effectors in photodynamic therapy-treated mouse SCCVII tumours. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* (2002) 1:690–5. doi:10.1039/b204254a
- Krosl G, Korbelik M, Krosl J, Dougherty GJ. Potentiation of photodynamic therapy-elicited antitumor response by localized treatment with granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Cancer Res* (1996) 56:3281–6.
- 14. De Vree WJ, Essers MC, Koster JF, Sluiter W. Role of interleukin 1 and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in photofrin-based photodynamic therapy of rat rhabdomyosarcoma tumors. *Cancer Res* (1997) **57**:2555–8.
- Golab J, Wilczynski G, Zagozdzon R, Stoklosa T, Dabrowska A, Rybczynska J, et al. Potentiation of the anti-tumour effects of photofrin-based photodynamic therapy by localized treatment with G-CSF. *Br J Cancer* (2000) 82:1485–91. doi:10.1054/bjoc.1999.1078
- De Vree WJ, Essers MC, De Bruijn HS, Star WM, Koster JF, Sluiter W. Evidence for an important role of neutrophils in the efficacy of photodynamic therapy in vivo. *Cancer Res* (1996) 56:2908–11.
- Korbelik M, Cecic I. Contribution of myeloid and lymphoid host cells to the curative outcome of mouse sarcoma treatment by photodynamic therapy. *Cancer Lett* (1999) 137:91–8. doi:10.1016/S0304-3835(98)00349-8

Author Contributions

MW, AM, and JG reviewed relevant literature. MW, AM, and JG drafted the manuscript. JG revised the manuscript and supervised MW and AM. MW and AM designed the figure. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a grant from the European Commission 7th Framework Program: fp7-regpot-2012-ct2012-316254-bastion (JG).

- Korbelik M, Naraparaju VR, Yamamoto N. Macrophage-directed immunotherapy as adjuvant to photodynamic therapy of cancer. *Br J Cancer* (1997) 75:202–7. doi:10.1038/bjc.1997.34
- Hendrzak-Henion JA, Knisely TL, Cincotta L, Cincotta E, Cincotta AH. Role of the immune system in mediating the antitumor effect of benzophenothiazine photodynamic therapy. *Photochem Photobiol* (1999) 69:575–81. doi:10 .1111/j.1751-1097.1999.tb03330.x
- Garg AD, Nowis D, Golab J, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV, Agostinis P. Immunogenic cell death, DAMPs and anticancer therapeutics: an emerging amalgamation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2010) 1805:53–71. doi:10.1016/j. bbcan.2009.08.003
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P. DAMPs and PDTmediated photo-oxidative stress: exploring the unknown. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* (2011) 10:670–80. doi:10.1039/c0pp00294a
- Brackett CM, Gollnick SO. Photodynamic therapy enhancement of anti-tumor immunity. Photochem Photobiol Sci (2011) 10:649–52. doi:10.1039/c0pp00354a
- Schraml BU, Reis E, Sousa C. Defining dendritic cells. Curr Opin Immunol (2015) 32:13–20. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2014.11.001
- Jalili A, Makowski M, Switaj T, Nowis D, Wilczynski GM, Wilczek E, et al. Effective photoimmunotherapy of murine colon carcinoma induced by the combination of photodynamic therapy and dendritic cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10:4498–508. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0367
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Verfaillie T, Kaczmarek A, Ferreira GB, Marysael T, et al. A novel pathway combining calreticulin exposure and ATP secretion in immunogenic cancer cell death. *EMBO J* (2012) 31:1062–79. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.497
- Gollnick SO, Owczarczak B, Maier P. Photodynamic therapy and anti-tumor immunity. Lasers Surg Med (2006) 38:509–15. doi:10.1002/lsm.20362
- 27. Kushibiki T, Tajiri T, Tomioka Y, Awazu K. Photodynamic therapy induces interleukin secretion from dendritic cells. *Int J Clin Exp Med* (2010) **3**:110–4.
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12:265–77. doi:10.1038/nrc3258
- Mroz P, Hashmi JT, Huang YY, Lange N, Hamblin MR. Stimulation of anti-tumor immunity by photodynamic therapy. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2011) 7:75–91. doi:10.1586/eci.10.81
- Daniels MA, Jameson SC. Critical role for CD8 in T cell receptor binding and activation by peptide/major histocompatibility complex multimers. *J Exp Med* (2000) 191:335–46. doi:10.1084/jem.191.2.335
- Thong PS, Ong KW, Goh NS, Kho KW, Manivasager V, Bhuvaneswari R, et al. Photodynamic-therapy-activated immune response against distant untreated tumours in recurrent angiosarcoma. *Lancet Oncol* (2007) 8:950–2. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(07)70318-2
- Gabrilovich D, Pisarev V. Tumor escape from immune response: mechanisms and targets of activity. *Curr Drug Targets* (2003) 4:525–36. doi:10.2174/1389450033490849
- Manjili MH. Revisiting cancer immunoediting by understanding cancer immune complexity. J Pathol (2011) 224:5–9. doi:10.1002/path.2865
- Seliger B. Different regulation of MHC class I antigen processing components in human tumors. J Immunotoxicol (2008) 5:361–7. doi:10.1080/15476910802482870
- Garcia-Lora A, Algarra I, Garrido F. MHC class I antigens, immune surveillance, and tumor immune escape. J Cell Physiol (2003) 195:346–55. doi:10.1002/jcp.10290

- Algarra I, Garcia-Lora A, Cabrera T, Ruiz-Cabello F, Garrido F. The selection of tumor variants with altered expression of classical and nonclassical MHC class I molecules: implications for tumor immune escape. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2004) 53:904–10. doi:10.1007/s00262-004-0517-9
- Valmori D, Lienard D, Waanders G, Rimoldi D, Cerottini JC, Romero P. Analysis of MAGE-3-specific cytolytic T lymphocytes in human leukocyte antigen-A2 melanoma patients. *Cancer Res* (1997) 57:735–41.
- Ayyoub M, Migliaccio M, Guillaume P, Lienard D, Cerottini JC, Romero P, et al. Lack of tumor recognition by hTERT peptide 540-548-specific CD8(+) T cells from melanoma patients reveals inefficient antigen processing. *Eur J Immunol* (2001) **31**:2642–51. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200109)31:9<2642:: AID-IMMU2642>3.0.CO;2-6
- Sun Y, Sijts AJ, Song M, Janek K, Nussbaum AK, Kral S, et al. Expression of the proteasome activator PA28 rescues the presentation of a cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope on melanoma cells. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62:2875–82.
- Kontani K, Taguchi O, Narita T, Izawa M, Hiraiwa N, Zenita K, et al. Modulation of MUC1 mucin as an escape mechanism of breast cancer cells from autologous cytotoxic T-lymphocytes. *Br J Cancer* (2001) 84:1258–64. doi:10.1054/bjoc.2000.1744
- 41. Propper DJ, Chao D, Braybrooke JP, Bahl P, Thavasu P, Balkwill F, et al. Lowdose IFN-gamma induces tumor MHC expression in metastatic malignant melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2003) **9**:84–92.
- Tomasi TB, Magner WJ, Khan AN. Epigenetic regulation of immune escape genes in cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2006) 55:1159–84. doi:10.1007/s00262-006-0164-4
- Lettini AA, Guidoboni M, Fonsatti E, Anzalone L, Cortini E, Maio M. Epigenetic remodelling of DNA in cancer. *Histol Histopathol* (2007) 22:1413–24.
- Derre L, Corvaisier M, Charreau B, Moreau A, Godefroy E, Moreau-Aubry A, et al. Expression and release of HLA-E by melanoma cells and melanocytes: potential impact on the response of cytotoxic effector cells. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:3100–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.5.3100
- Tripathi P, Agrawal S. Non-classical HLA-G antigen and its role in the cancer progression. *Cancer Invest* (2006) 24:178–86. doi:10.1080/07357900500524579
- Wischhusen J, Waschbisch A, Wiendl H. Immune-refractory cancers and their little helpers – an extended role for immunetolerogenic MHC molecules HLA-G and HLA-E? *Semin Cancer Biol* (2007) 17:459–68. doi:10.1016/j. semcancer.2007.07.005
- Groh V, Wu J, Yee C, Spies T. Tumour-derived soluble MIC ligands impair expression of NKG2D and T-cell activation. *Nature* (2002) 419:734–8. doi:10.1038/nature01112
- Villablanca EJ, Raccosta L, Zhou D, Fontana R, Maggioni D, Negro A, et al. Tumor-mediated liver X receptor-alpha activation inhibits CC chemokine receptor-7 expression on dendritic cells and dampens antitumor responses. *Nat Med* (2010) 16:98–105. doi:10.1038/nm.2074
- Gabrilovich DI, Ishida T, Nadaf S, Ohm JE, Carbone DP. Antibodies to vascular endothelial growth factor enhance the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy by improving endogenous dendritic cell function. *Clin Cancer Res* (1999) 5:2963–70.
- Wrzesinski SH, Wan YY, Flavell RA. Transforming growth factor-beta and the immune response: implications for anticancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13:5262–70. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1157
- Kawamura K, Bahar R, Natsume W, Sakiyama S, Tagawa M. Secretion of interleukin-10 from murine colon carcinoma cells suppresses systemic antitumor immunity and impairs protective immunity induced against the tumors. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2002) 9:109–15. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7700418
- Munn DH, Shafizadeh E, Attwood JT, Bondarev I, Pashine A, Mellor AL. Inhibition of T cell proliferation by macrophage tryptophan catabolism. *J Exp Med* (1999) 189:1363–72. doi:10.1084/jem.189.9.1363
- Fallarino F, Grohmann U, Vacca C, Bianchi R, Orabona C, Spreca A, et al. T cell apoptosis by tryptophan catabolism. *Cell Death Differ* (2002) 9:1069–77. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4401073
- Mezrich JD, Fechner JH, Zhang X, Johnson BP, Burlingham WJ, Bradfield CA. An interaction between kynurenine and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor can generate regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:3190–8. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0903670
- 55. Kataoka T, Schroter M, Hahne M, Schneider P, Irmler M, Thome M, et al. FLIP prevents apoptosis induced by death receptors but not by perforin/

granzyme B, chemotherapeutic drugs, and gamma irradiation. *J Immunol* (1998) **161**:3936–42.

- Hinz S, Trauzold A, Boenicke L, Sandberg C, Beckmann S, Bayer E, et al. Bcl-XL protects pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells against CD95- and TRAILreceptor-mediated apoptosis. *Oncogene* (2000) 19:5477–86. doi:10.1038/ sj.onc.1203936
- Shin MS, Kim HS, Lee SH, Park WS, Kim SY, Park JY, et al. Mutations of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand receptor 1 (TRAIL-R1) and receptor 2 (TRAIL-R2) genes in metastatic breast cancers. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61:4942–6.
- 58. Takahashi H, Feuerhake F, Kutok JL, Monti S, Dal Cin P, Neuberg D, et al. FAS death domain deletions and cellular FADD-like interleukin 1beta converting enzyme inhibitory protein (long) overexpression: alternative mechanisms for deregulating the extrinsic apoptotic pathway in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma subtypes. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12:3265–71. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-0076
- Terabe M, Berzofsky JA. Immunoregulatory T cells in tumor immunity. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2004) 16:157–62. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2004.01.010
- Vesely MD, Kershaw MH, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. Natural innate and adaptive immunity to cancer. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:235–71. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-031210-101324
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9:162–74. doi:10.1038/nri2506
- Kusmartsev SA, Li Y, Chen SH. Gr-1+ myeloid cells derived from tumorbearing mice inhibit primary T cell activation induced through CD3/CD28 costimulation. *J Immunol* (2000) 165:779–85. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.2.779
- Li H, Han Y, Guo Q, Zhang M, Cao X. Cancer-expanded myeloid-derived suppressor cells induce anergy of NK cells through membrane-bound TGFbeta 1. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:240–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.182.1.240
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: more mechanisms for inhibiting antitumor immunity. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2010) 59:1593–600. doi:10.1007/s00262-010-0855-8
- Rodriguez PC, Quiceno DG, Zabaleta J, Ortiz B, Zea AH, Piazuelo MB, et al. Arginase I production in the tumor microenvironment by mature myeloid cells inhibits T-cell receptor expression and antigen-specific T-cell responses. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:5839–49. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0465
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Sinha P. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:4499–506. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0802740
- Momparler RL. Cancer epigenetics. Oncogene (2003) 22:6479–83. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1206774
- Sandoval J, Esteller M. Cancer epigenomics: beyond genomics. Curr Opin Genet Dev (2012) 22:50–5. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2012.02.008
- Feinberg AP, Vogelstein B. Hypomethylation distinguishes genes of some human cancers from their normal counterparts. *Nature* (1983) 301:89–92. doi:10.1038/301089a0
- Kulis M, Esteller M. DNA methylation and cancer. Adv Genet (2010) 70:27-56. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-380866-0.60002-2
- Wanczyk M, Roszczenko K, Marcinkiewicz K, Bojarczuk K, Kowara M, Winiarska M. HDACi – going through the mechanisms. *Front Biosci* (*Landmark Ed*) (2011) 16:340–59. doi:10.2741/3691
- Jaenisch R, Bird A. Epigenetic regulation of gene expression: how the genome integrates intrinsic and environmental signals. *Nat Genet* (2003) 33(Suppl):245–54. doi:10.1038/ng1089
- Zendman AJ, Ruiter DJ, Van Muijen GN. Cancer/testis-associated genes: identification, expression profile, and putative function. *J Cell Physiol* (2003) 194:272–88. doi:10.1002/jcp.10215
- Mroz P, Vatansever F, Muchowicz A, Hamblin MR. Photodynamic therapy of murine mastocytoma induces specific immune responses against the cancer/ testis antigen P1A. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:6462–70. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-11-2572
- 75. Van Den Eynde B, Lethe B, Van Pel A, De Plaen E, Boon T. The gene coding for a major tumor rejection antigen of tumor P815 is identical to the normal gene of syngeneic DBA/2 mice. *J Exp Med* (1991) 173:1373–84. doi:10.1084/ jem.173.6.1373
- 76. Brandle D, Bilsborough J, Rulicke T, Uyttenhove C, Boon T, Van Den Eynde BJ. The shared tumor-specific antigen encoded by mouse gene P1A is a target not only for cytolytic T lymphocytes but also for tumor rejection.

Eur J Immunol (1998) **28**:4010–9. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199812)28: 12<4010::AID-IMMU4010>3.0.CO;2-5

- 77. Guo ZS, Hong JA, Irvine KR, Chen GA, Spiess PJ, Liu Y, et al. De novo induction of a cancer/testis antigen by 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine augments adoptive immunotherapy in a murine tumor model. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:1105–13. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3020
- Weber J, Salgaller M, Samid D, Johnson B, Herlyn M, Lassam N, et al. Expression of the MAGE-1 tumor antigen is up-regulated by the demethylating agent 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. *Cancer Res* (1994) 54:1766–71.
- Coral S, Sigalotti L, Altomonte M, Engelsberg A, Colizzi F, Cattarossi I, et al. 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine-induced expression of functional cancer testis antigens in human renal cell carcinoma: immunotherapeutic implications. *Clin Cancer Res* (2002) 8:2690–5.
- Dubovsky JA, McNeel DG. Inducible expression of a prostate cancer-testis antigen, SSX-2, following treatment with a DNA methylation inhibitor. *Prostate* (2007) 67:1781–90. doi:10.1002/pros.20665
- Li H, Chiappinelli KB, Guzzetta AA, Easwaran H, Yen RW, Vatapalli R, et al. Immune regulation by low doses of the DNA methyltransferase inhibitor 5-azacitidine in common human epithelial cancers. Oncotarget (2014) 5:587–98.
- Heninger E, Krueger TE, Lang JM. Augmenting antitumor immune responses with epigenetic modifying agents. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:29. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2015.00029
- Sigalotti L, Fratta E, Coral S, Maio M. Epigenetic drugs as immunomodulators for combination therapies in solid tumors. *Pharmacol Ther* (2014) 142:339–50. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2013.12.015
- Simova J, Pollakova V, Indrova M, Mikyskova R, Bieblova J, Stepanek I, et al. Immunotherapy augments the effect of 5-azacytidine on HPV16-associated tumours with different MHC class I-expression status. *Br J Cancer* (2011) 105:1533–41. doi:10.1038/bjc.2011.428
- Almstedt M, Blagitko-Dorfs N, Duque-Afonso J, Karbach J, Pfeifer D, Jager E, et al. The DNA demethylating agent 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine induces expression of NY-ESO-1 and other cancer/testis antigens in myeloid leukemia cells. *Leuk Res* (2010) 34:899–905. doi:10.1016/j.leukres.2010.02.004
- Atanackovic D, Luetkens T, Kloth B, Fuchs G, Cao Y, Hildebrandt Y, et al. Cancer-testis antigen expression and its epigenetic modulation in acute myeloid leukemia. *Am J Hematol* (2011) 86:918–22. doi:10.1002/ajh.22141
- Manning J, Indrova M, Lubyova B, Pribylova H, Bieblova J, Hejnar J, et al. Induction of MHC class I molecule cell surface expression and epigenetic activation of antigen-processing machinery components in a murine model for human papilloma virus 16-associated tumours. *Immunology* (2008) 123:218–27. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02689.x
- Setiadi AF, Omilusik K, David MD, Seipp RP, Hartikainen J, Gopaul R, et al. Epigenetic enhancement of antigen processing and presentation promotes immune recognition of tumors. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68:9601–7. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5270
- Gregorie CJ, Wiesen JL, Magner WJ, Lin AW, Tomasi TB. Restoration of immune response gene induction in trophoblast tumor cells associated with cellular senescence. J Reprod Immunol (2009) 81:25–33. doi:10.1016/j. jri.2009.02.009
- Woods DM, Woan K, Cheng F, Wang H, Perez-Villarroel P, Lee C, et al. The antimelanoma activity of the histone deacetylase inhibitor panobinostat (LBH589) is mediated by direct tumor cytotoxicity and increased tumor immunogenicity. *Melanoma Res* (2013) 23(5):341–8. doi:10.1097/ CMR.0b013e328364c0ed
- Chou SD, Khan AN, Magner WJ, Tomasi TB. Histone acetylation regulates the cell type specific CIITA promoters, MHC class II expression and antigen presentation in tumor cells. *Int Immunol* (2005) 17:1483–94. doi:10.1093/ intimm/dxh326

- Roulois D, Blanquart C, Panterne C, Gueugnon F, Gregoire M, Fonteneau JF. Downregulation of MUC1 expression and its recognition by CD8(+) T cells on the surface of malignant pleural mesothelioma cells treated with HDACi. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42:783–9. doi:10.1002/eji.201141800
- Buglio D, Georgakis GV, Hanabuchi S, Arima K, Khaskhely NM, Liu YJ, et al. Vorinostat inhibits STAT6-mediated TH2 cytokine and TARC production and induces cell death in Hodgkin lymphoma cell lines. *Blood* (2008) 112:1424–33. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-01-133769
- 94. Ballas ZK. The use of 5-azacytidine to establish constitutive interleukin 2-producing clones of the EL4 thymoma. *J Immunol* (1984) **133**:7–9.
- Buglio D, Khaskhely NM, Voo KS, Martinez-Valdez H, Liu YJ, Younes A. HDAC11 plays an essential role in regulating OX40 ligand expression in Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2011) 117:2910–7. doi:10.1182/ blood-2010-08-303701
- Yamanegi K, Yamane J, Kobayashi K, Kato-Kogoe N, Ohyama H, Nakasho K, et al. Valproic acid cooperates with hydralazine to augment the susceptibility of human osteosarcoma cells to Fas- and NK cell-mediated cell death. *Int J Oncol* (2012) 41:83–91. doi:10.3892/ijo.2012.1438
- Yang D, Torres CM, Bardhan K, Zimmerman M, McGaha TL, Liu K. Decitabine and vorinostat cooperate to sensitize colon carcinoma cells to Fas ligand-induced apoptosis in vitro and tumor suppression in vivo. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:4441–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103035
- Lopez-Soto A, Folgueras AR, Seto E, Gonzalez S. HDAC3 represses the expression of NKG2D ligands ULBPs in epithelial tumour cells: potential implications for the immunosurveillance of cancer. *Oncogene* (2009) 28:2370–82. doi:10.1038/onc.2009.117
- Chen WR, Liu H, Carubelli R, Nordquist RE. Synergistic effect of photothermal and photoimmunological reactions in treatment of metastatic tumors. *J Xray Sci Technol* (2002) 10:225–35.
- Abdel-Hady ES, Martin-Hirsch P, Duggan-Keen M, Stern PL, Moore JV, Corbitt G, et al. Immunological and viral factors associated with the response of vulval intraepithelial neoplasia to photodynamic therapy. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61:192–6.
- 101. Castano AP, Liu Q, Hamblin MR. A green fluorescent protein-expressing murine tumour but not its wild-type counterpart is cured by photodynamic therapy. Br J Cancer (2006) 94:391–7. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6602953
- 102. Mroz P, Szokalska A, Wu MX, Hamblin MR. Photodynamic therapy of tumors can lead to development of systemic antigen-specific immune response. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e15194. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015194
- 103. Kabingu E, Oseroff AR, Wilding GE, Gollnick SO. Enhanced systemic immune reactivity to a basal cell carcinoma associated antigen following photodynamic therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:4460–6. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0400
- 104. Wachowska M, Gabrysiak M, Muchowicz A, Bednarek W, Barankiewicz J, Rygiel T, et al. 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine potentiates antitumour immune response induced by photodynamic therapy. *Eur J Cancer* (2014) **50**:1370–81. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2014.01.017

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Wachowska, Muchowicz and Golab. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabrizio Mattei, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Italy

Reviewed by:

Luis De La Cruz-Merino, Hospital Universitario Virgen Macarena, Spain Carlos Alfaro, Clínica Universidad de Navarra, Spain

*Correspondence:

Abhishek D. Garg abhishek.garg@med.kuleuven.be, abhishekdgarg@gmail.com; Patrizia Agostinis patrizia.agostinis@med.kuleuven.be

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 September 2015 Accepted: 02 November 2015 Published: 20 November 2015

Citation:

Garg AD, Galluzzi L, Apetoh L, Baert T, Birge RB, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Breckpot K, Brough D, Chaurio R, Cirone M, Coosemans A, Coulie PG, De Ruvsscher D. Dini L. de Witte P. Dudek-Peric AM, Faggioni A. Fucikova J, Gaipl US, Golab J, Gougeon M-L, Hamblin MR, Hemminki A, Herrmann M, Hodge JW, Kepp O, Kroemer G, Krysko DV, Land WG, Madeo F, Manfredi AA, Mattarollo SR, Maueroder C, Merendino N, Multhoff G, Pabst T, Ricci J-E, Riganti C, Romano E, Rufo N, Smyth MJ, Sonnemann J, Spisek R, Stagg J, Vacchelli E, Vandenabeele P, Vandenberk L, Van den Eynde BJ, Van Gool S, Velotti F, Zitvogel L and Agostinis P (2015) Molecular and Translational Classifications of DAMPs in Immunogenic Cell Death. Front. Immunol. 6:588. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00588

Molecular and Translational Classifications of DAMPs in Immunogenic Cell Death

Abhishek D. Garg^{1*}, Lorenzo Galluzzi^{2,3,4,5,6}, Lionel Apetoh^{7,8,9}, Thais Baert^{10,11}, Raymond B. Birge¹², José Manuel Bravo-San Pedro^{2,3,4,5,6}, Karine Breckpot¹³, David Brough¹⁴, Ricardo Chaurio¹⁵, Mara Cirone¹⁶, An Coosemans^{10,11}, Pierre G. Coulie¹⁷, Dirk De Ruysscher¹⁸, Luciana Dini¹⁹, Peter de Witte²⁰, Aleksandra M. Dudek-Peric¹, Alberto Faggioni²¹, Jitka Fucikova^{22,23}, Udo S. Gaipl²⁴, Jakub Golab²⁵, Marie-Lise Gougeon²⁶, Michael R. Hamblin²⁷, Akseli Hemminki^{28,29,30}, Martin Herrmann¹⁵, James W. Hodge³¹, Oliver Kepp^{2,3,4,5,32}, Guido Kroemer^{2,3,4,5,32,33,34}, Dmitri V. Krysko^{35,36}, Walter G. Land³⁷, Frank Madeo^{38,39}, Angelo A. Manfredi⁴⁰, Stephen R. Mattarollo⁴¹, Christian Maueroder¹⁵, Nicolò Merendino⁴², Gabriele Multhoff⁴³, Thomas Pabst⁴⁴, Jean-Ehrland Ricci⁴⁵, Chiara Riganti⁴⁶, Erminia Romano¹, Nicole Rufo¹, Mark J. Smyth^{47,48}, Jürgen Sonnemann⁴⁹, Radek Spisek^{22,23}, John Stagg⁵⁰, Erika Vacchelli^{2,3,4,5,6}, Peter Vandenabeele^{35,36}, Lien Vandenberk⁵¹, Benoit J. Van den Eynde⁵², Stefaan Van Gool⁵¹, Francesca Velotti⁵³, Laurence Zitvogel^{6,54,55,56} and Patrizia Agostinis^{1*}

¹ Cell Death Research and Therapy Laboratory, Department of Cellular Molecular Medicine, KU Leuven – University of Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, ² Equipe 11 Labellisée Ligue Contre le Cancer, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, Paris, France, ³U1138, INSERM, Paris, France, ⁴Université Paris Descartes, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France, ⁵Université Pierre et Marie Curie, Paris, France, ⁶Gustave Roussy Comprehensive Cancer Institute, Villejuif, France, ⁷U866, INSERM, Dijon, France, ⁸ Faculté de Médecine, Université de Bourgogne, Dijon, France, ⁹ Centre Georges François Leclerc, Dijon, France, ¹⁰Department of Gynaecology and Obstetrics, UZ Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, ¹¹Laboratory of Gynaecologic Oncology, Department of Oncology, Leuven Cancer Institute, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, ¹²Department of Microbiology, Biochemistry, and Molecular Genetics, University Hospital Cancer Center, Rutgers Cancer Institute of New Jersey, New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, USA, 13 Laboratory of Molecular and Cellular Therapy, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Jette, Belgium, ¹⁴ Faculty of Life Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK, ¹⁵ Department of Internal Medicine 3 – Rheumatology and Immunology, Friedrich-Alexander-University Erlangen-Nurnberg, Erlangen, Germany, ¹⁶ Department of Experimental Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ¹⁷ de Duve Institute, Université Catholique de Louvain, Brussels, Belgium, ¹⁸ Department of Radiation Oncology, University Hospitals Leuven, KU Leuven – University of Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, ¹⁹Department of Biological and Environmental Science and Technology, University of Salento, Salento, Italy, ²⁰Laboratory for Molecular Biodiscovery, Department of Pharmaceutical and Pharmacological Sciences, KU Leuven – University of Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, 21 Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, 22 SOTIO, Prague, Czech Republic, 23 Department of Immunology, 2nd Faculty of Medicine, University Hospital Motol, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic, ²⁴ Department of Radiation Oncology, Universitätsklinikum Erlangen, Erlangen, Germany, ²⁵ Department of Immunology, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland, 26 Biotherapy and Vaccine Unit, Institut Pasteur, Paris, France, ²⁷ Wellman Center for Photomedicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA, ²⁸ Cancer Gene Therapy Group, Transplantation Laboratory, Haartman Institute, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland, 29 Helsinki University Hospital Comprehensive Cancer Center, Helsinki, Finland, ³⁰ TILT Biotherapeutics Ltd., Helsinki, Finland, ³¹ Recombinant Vaccine Group, Laboratory of Tumor Immunology and Biology, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA, 32 Metabolomics and Cell Biology Platforms, Gustave Roussy Comprehensive Cancer Institute, Villejuif, France, 33 Pôle de Biologie, Hôpital Européen Georges Pompidou, AP-HP, Paris, France, ³⁴ Department of Women's and Children's Health, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden, ³⁵Molecular Signaling and Cell Death Unit, Inflammation Research Center, VIB, Ghent, Belgium, ³⁶Department of Biomedical Molecular Biology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, ³⁷Molecular ImmunoRheumatology, INSERM UMRS1109, Laboratory of Excellence Transplantex, University of Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France, ³⁸Institute of Molecular Biosciences, NAWI Graz, University of Graz, Graz, Austria, ³⁹BioTechMed Graz, Graz, Austria,

Abbreviations: DAMP, damage-associated molecular pattern; DC, dendritic cell; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; GEMM, genetically engineered murine model; HSP, heat shock protein; Hyp, hypericin; ICD, immunogenic cell death; NDV, Newcastle disease virotherapy; PDT, photodynamic therapy; ROS, reactive oxygen species.

⁴⁰ IRRCS Istituto Scientifico San Raffaele, Università Vita-Salute San Raffaele, Milan, Italy, ⁴¹ Translational Research Institute, University of Queensland, Wooloongabba, QLD, Australia, ⁴² Laboratory of Cellular and Molecular Nutrition, Department of Ecological and Biological Sciences, Tuscia University, Viterbo, Italy, ⁴³ Department of Radiation Oncology, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technische Universitä München, Munich, Germany, ⁴⁴ Department of Medical Oncology, University Hospital, Bern, Switzerland, ⁴⁵ INSERM, U1065, Université de Nice-Sophia-Antipolis, Centre Méditerranéen de Médecine Moléculaire (C3M), Équipe "Contrôle Métabolique des Morts Cellulaires", Nice, France, ⁴⁶ Department of Oncology, University of Turin, Turin, Italy, ⁴⁷ Immunology in Cancer and Infection Laboratory, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Herston, QLD, Australia, ⁴⁸ School of Medicine, University of Queensland, Herston, QLD, Australia, ⁴⁰ Department of Paediatric Haematology and Oncology, Children's Clinic, Jena University Hospital, Jena, Germany, ⁵⁰ Centre de Recherche du Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal, Institut du Cancer de Montréal, Faculté de Pharmacie, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada, ⁵¹ Laboratory of Pediatric Immunology, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, KU Leuven – University of Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, ⁵² Department of Ecological and Biological Sciences, Tuscia University, Viterbo, Italy, ⁵⁴ University of Paris Sud, Le Kremlin-Bicêtre, France, ⁵⁵ U1015, INSERM, Villejuif, France, ⁵⁶ Center of Clinical Investigations in Biotherapies of Cancer (CICBT) 507, Villejuif, France

The immunogenicity of malignant cells has recently been acknowledged as a critical determinant of efficacy in cancer therapy. Thus, besides developing direct immunostimulatory regimens, including dendritic cell-based vaccines, checkpoint-blocking therapies, and adoptive T-cell transfer, researchers have started to focus on the overall immunobiology of neoplastic cells. It is now clear that cancer cells can succumb to some anticancer therapies by undergoing a peculiar form of cell death that is characterized by an increased immunogenic potential, owing to the emission of the so-called "damage-associated molecular patterns" (DAMPs). The emission of DAMPs and other immunostimulatory factors by cells succumbing to immunogenic cell death (ICD) favors the establishment of a productive interface with the immune system. This results in the elicitation of tumor-targeting immune responses associated with the elimination of residual, treatment-resistant cancer cells, as well as with the establishment of immunological memory. Although ICD has been characterized with increased precision since its discovery, several questions remain to be addressed. Here, we summarize and tabulate the main molecular, immunological, preclinical, and clinical aspects of ICD, in an attempt to capture the essence of this phenomenon, and identify future challenges for this rapidly expanding field of investigation.

Keywords: anti-tumor immunity, immunogenicity, immunotherapy, molecular medicine, oncoimmunology, patient prognosis, translational medicine

INTRODUCTION AND HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Augmenting the immunogenicity of cancer cells to improve the efficacy of cancer therapy is a paradigm that has gained significant momentum over the past 5 years (1–5). Researchers have realized that besides therapeutically exploiting innate or adaptive immune cells directly (e.g., through dendritic cell (DC)-based vaccines or adoptive T-cell transfer) and/or improving the effector functions of T cells (through checkpoint-blocking therapies), cancer cells also need to be made immunogenic (1, 4, 6, 7). This has diverted attention toward studying the interface between stressed or dying cancer cells and the immune system, in the hope of efficiently exploiting it for therapeutic purposes (1).

Early indications regarding immune system-driven tumor control emerged in the eighteenth century, when feverish

infections in cancer patients were circumstantially associated with tumor remission (8). The first evidence that immunotherapy can be applied to achieve tumor regression emerged from the work of William Coley, who in the 1890s achieved tumor regression in some sarcoma/lymphoma patients upon the intra-tumoral injection of streptococcal cultures (provided by Robert Koch) (8, 9). In the following 43 years, Coley injected nearly 900 (mostly sarcoma) patients with his bacterial preparation (achieving a cure rate >10%), which later became known as "Coley's toxin" (8, 10). However, the Coley's toxin came under intense scrutiny owing to an elevated toxicity and some difficulties in reproducing remission rates (8). Eventually, the first experimental evidence that virus-unrelated tumors can indeed be recognized by the host immune system emerged in the 1940s, and by the 1960s, coupled with the discovery of T cells, it was proposed that the human immune system may also react against tumors (11). The ability

of anticancer therapies to enhance the immunogenic potential of malignant cells gained some appreciation by the 1970s (12-14). It was recognized that if specific treatments are applied (e.g., radiotherapy, the bacillus Calmette-Guerin, or some chemotherapeutics), the immunogenicity of malignant cells increases enough to induce durable anti-tumor immunity (12-14). By the 1980s, researchers started to report more specific observations regarding the therapeutic impact of cancer cell immunogenicity, e.g., the ability of curative hyperthermia to cause the (heat-shock based) generation of circumstantial anti-tumor immunity (15), the fact that the immunogenicity of cancer cells influences patient prognosis after radiotherapy (16), and the increase in tumor immunogenicity due to hydrostatic pressure (17). However, these early studies (especially those published before the 1980s) had several issues linked to a lack in consensus. For instance, due to early controversies on the existence of tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) (11), the target of tumor-specific immune responses was unclear, and the mechanism of action of some therapies came under scrutiny. Moreover, such therapies could operate by directly modulating immune effector cells rather than improving the immunogenic potential of tumors (18). In particular, the death of cancer cells exposed to therapy was never suspected to drive anti-tumor immunity, since it was considered to be a relatively "silent" process in terms of immunogenicity (19). Moreover, the classical "self/non-self" theory was unable to explain the possibility that dying cancer cells could elicit an immune response (20).

By the early 1990s, the molecular characterization of mice and human TAAs clarified the entities targeted by anti-tumor immune responses (11). Similarly, the so-called "danger theory" started to emerge, challenging the classical model of "self/nonself" immune recognition, especially in a diseased or damaged tissue (20, 21). This model proposed that the immune recognition is not restricted to "non-self" entities, but rather discriminates between "dangerous" and "safe" entities, irrespective of source (20-22). Indeed, "dangerous" entities include pathogens as well as injured, infected, diseased and necrotic tissues, or cells undergoing non-physiological cell death which emit danger signals (or alarmins) with pro-inflammatory activity (21, 22). These danger signals are now collectively referred to as "damage-associated molecular patterns" (DAMPs) (23). DAMPs are endogenous molecules that are concealed intracellularly in normal conditions, but are exposed or released upon stress, injury, cell death, thereby becoming able to bind cognate receptors on immune cells (3, 24-27). Table 1 summarizes the most prominent DAMPs characterized to date and their mode of emission, the cell death pathway they are associated with, and their known cognate receptors. It is important to consider that not all DAMPs may act as immunogenic danger signals. Several DAMPs exist that are crucial for the maintenance of tissue homeostasis, and the avoidance of auto-immune responses, as they exert immunosuppressive effects, including phosphatidylserine (PS), annexin A1 (ANXA1), death domain 1a (DD1a), B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2 (BCL2) and some extracellular matrix-derived molecules (Table 1). Accordingly, the blockade of these anti-inflammatory DAMPs accentuates the immunogenic potential of dying cells, or renders immunogenic otherwise tolerogenic forms of cell death (28, 29). Moreover, some danger signals are not always involved in the immunogenicity of cell death, but act as "bystanders." This is the case for heat shock protein 90 kDa alpha (cytosolic), class A member 1 (HSP90AA1, best known as HSP90) exposed on the cell surface after melphalan treatment (30). Last (but not least), several DAMPs may be subjected to post-translational modifications (e.g., oxidation, reduction, citrullination) that may potentially neutralize, increase, or change their immunogenic properties (31, 32) – a process that is still incompletely understood.

Despite these advances, the overall role of regulated cell death (RCD) (97) in augmenting cancer immunogenicity remained obscure. Initial observations involving the immunogenicity of cell death in the efficacy of cancer therapy were published between 1998 and 2004, when it was proposed that the non-apoptotic demise of malignant cells (within the context of the so-called "immunogenic death") could be associated with the emission of the danger signal heat shock 70 kDa protein 1A (HSPA1A, best known as HSP70) (Table 1), enhancing the immunogenic potential of dying cancer cells in vivo (98, 99). The dogmatic view that only necrotic or non-apoptotic (as postulated by the "immunogenic death" concept) cancer cells are characterized by an elevated immunogenic potential started to be questioned by a series of studies published between 2005 and 2007 (41, 70, 100, 101). These publications outlined that cancer cells undergoing apoptosis in response to specific anticancer therapies are immunogenic [a subroutine termed immunogenic cell death (ICD)], as long as they emit precise DAMPs in a spatiotemporally defined fashion (26, 102, 103). Cells succumbing to ICD are sufficient for the elicitation of durable anti-tumor immune responses (1, 26, 53, 102, 104). ICD is indeed paralleled by the redirection and emission of DAMPs, owing to the stimulation of distinct danger signaling pathways occurring in synchrony with cell death signaling (103). Table 2 summarizes the main signaling pathways that play a role in the trafficking and emission of DAMPs. ICD-associated DAMPs and other immunostimulatory factors released by cells destined to undergo ICD favor the establishment of a productive interface between dying cancer cells and innate immune cells (like DCs or macrophages), thereby leading to the initiation of a therapeutically relevant adaptive immune response (Figure 1) (102, 105). In some contexts, DAMPs may regulate the function of specific innate immune cell subsets, e.g., following anthracycline treatment, extracellular adenosine triphosphate (ATP) assists in recruitment and differentiation of CD11c+Cd11b+Ly6Chigh cells into CD11c+CD86+MHCII+ DCs (106); similarly, necrosis associated F-actin exposure activates an immune response by directing the dead cell debris to specifically CD8α⁺ DCs (59, 107). Indeed, DCs and other antigen-presenting cells exposed to cancer cells succumbing to ICD can then prime CD4⁺ T cells (and polarize them into T_H1 , T_H17 , or T_H1/T_H17 like phenotype), CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) and $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes against one or several TAAs (Figure 1) (102). Of note, residual cancer cells that survive ICD inducers can also show some enduring immunogenic characteristics that make them susceptible to immunological control by CTLs (108–110).



FIGURE 1 | The molecular complexity of immunogenic cell death in cancer. Cancer cells undergoing immunogenic cell death (ICD) emit danger signals for establishing a productive interface with components of the host immune system, including dendritic cells (DCs). DCs exposed to cancer cells succumbing to ICD "prime" the adaptive arm of the immune system, consisting of various effector T-cell populations, which in turn targets therapy-resistant cancer cells. Various molecules are critical for the execution of these processes. The molecular network of ICD-relevant proteins was build using the STRING modeling database (http:// string-db.org/) (126).

IMMUNOGENIC CELL DEATH INDUCERS

Over the past few years, a number of single-agent ICD inducers have been discovered, encompassing conventional chemotherapeutics, targeted anticancer agents and various other biological and physicochemical therapies (18, 102, 104, 127). Table 3 summarizes single-agent ICD inducers characterized so far, as per consensus guidelines (104), and the spectra of DAMPs and other immunostimulatory signals associated with them. For combinatorial therapeutic strategies capable of achieving ICD, readers may want to refer to other recent publications (18, 128, 129). It is clear that a general structure-function relationship capable of clustering all existing ICD inducers and predicting new ones does not exist (130), an issue that makes discovering new ICD-inducing therapies based on cheminformatic analyses challenging, if not impossible. A peculiar characteristic of most, if not all, ICD inducers is their ability to induce reactive oxygen species (ROS)-based/ associated endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, as first delineated for anthracyclines (30, 34, 35, 42, 123, 131-133). This peculiarity was exploited for the targeted discovery of hypericin-based photodynamic therapy (Hyp-PDT) - a therapeutic modality that can trigger ICD through the induction of ROS that target the ER (35, 116, 134). Along with an ever more precise characterization of the links between ROS, ER stress, and ICD induction (135, 136), it became clear that the more "focused" ER stress is, the higher the probability of inducing ICD (3, 26, 53, 137). These observations paved way for a classification system based on how ICD inducers engage ER stress for cell death and danger signaling (3, 26, 53, 138). Based on this classification, Type I ICD inducers are defined as anticancer agents that act on non-ER proteins for the induction of cell death, but promote collateral ER stress for danger signaling, thereby operating on multiple targets (3, 26, 53), while Type II ICD inducers are anticancer agents that target the ER for both cell death induction and danger signaling (3, 26, 53). Table 4 summarizes the classification of current ICD inducers into Type I and Type II, and their cell death/danger signaling targets. Such a classification suggest that while Type I ICD inducers can be discovered through various approaches (e.g., DAMP-based drug screening platforms) (130, 139), putative Type II ICD inducers can be characterized rapidly on the basis of their ability to selectively or predominantly target the ER. Recent findings comforted the purpose and usefulness of this classification system, as two novel Type II ICD inducers [i.e., Pt^{II} N-heterocyclic carbene complex (140) and Newcastle disease virotherapy (NDV) (43)] were identified based on the notion that they induce predominant ROS-based ER stress (138). Nevertheless, as more ICD inducers and features are discovered, this classification system is expected to evolve or be substituted by a more refined one.

Since its discovery, a plethora of molecular and immunological components responsible for ICD have been discovered (Figure 1) (26, 102, 188). Table 5 summarizes the molecular and immunological determinants of ICD characterized so far, as well as the models of ICD in which they operate (in a positive, negative or dispensable manner). Anthracyclines and oxaliplatin are the most common ICD inducers employed in experimental settings, followed by Hyp-PDT. According to current understanding, cancer cell-associated determinants of ICD can be subdivided into those that are common to all ICD inducers (i.e., "core" signaling components), and those that operate in an ICD inducer-dependent manner (i.e., "private" signaling components) (26, 189). Thus, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2-alpha kinase 3 (EIF2AK3, best known as PERK) and the ER-to-Golgi secretory machinery are considered "core" signaling components on the cancer cell side (26, 102). Similarly, from the immune system side, a general role for (IFNy-producing) CD4+ and CD8+ T cells has been confirmed for most, if not all, ICD inducers (Table 5). Interestingly, some components that are required for ICD induction by some agents (like autophagy for anthracyclines and oxaliplatin) (190) might be either dispensable for ICD induction by other agents, e.g., autophagy for NDV (43) and phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2α (eIF2α), caspase-8 (CASP8) activation or cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels for Hyp-PDT (35); or even negatively regulate ICD in some settings, e.g., autophagy in case of Hyp-PDT (34) (Table 5). Thus, it will be important to expand our molecular knowledge of ICD to as many experimental settings as possible.

IMMUNOGENIC CELL DEATH FROM BENCH TO BEDSIDE

The relevance of ICD has been verified in a number of rodent models, with a variety of chemical and physicochemical ICD inducers (26, 102). **Table 6** summarizes the most prominent mouse or rat models used so far for the characterization and study of ICD. For the moment, ICD has been mostly investigated in heterotopic syngeneic subcutaneous models (195). Within such models, inter-species differences (mouse *versus* rats), inter-strain differences (among BALB/c, C57BL/6, C3H and KMF mice), and inter-cell line differences, as well as differences in therapeutic setups (prophylactic *versus* curative) have been amply accounted for (**Table 6**). Nevertheless, there is predominance in the use of cancer cells derived from carcinogen-induced tumors and transplanted subcutaneously (**Table 6**). In very few cases, ICD has been characterized in either orthotopic (for NDV) or spontaneous (for anthracyclines) tumor murine models (**Table 6**). This has been

questioned as a prominent Achilles' heel of ICD research (195). While this criticism is valid, it has to be recognized that no rodent model is perfect at all immunological levels (196).

As a recent systematic review summarized (196), heterotopic murine models suffer from a number of caveats, including the inability to recapitulate the early interaction between transformed cells and the immune system and the incompatibility between the cancer type and the site-of-transplantation (196). Orthotopic murine models are useful as they overcome the cancer cell-tissue type incompatibility issue (196). While genetically engineered tumor murine models (GEMMs) overcome most of the issues mentioned above, they come with their own set of shortcomings, including a limited genetic mosaicism, a low tumor heterogeneity, a lack of well-defined immunogenic TAAs, the presence of unintended "passenger" genetic modifications, and a reduced mutational spectrum (196). Many of these parameters are critical for responses to immunotherapy/ICD. For instance, the lack of well-defined immunogenic TAAs was the reason why preliminary results obtained in spontaneously developing murine tumors disputed the very existence of TAAs (11). Similarly, a high mutational spectrum (which produces considerable amounts of neo-antigens) has been found to be mandatory for the clinical efficacy of checkpoint blockers (209). Last (but not least), laboratory rodent models in general are associated with some critical issues, including the fact that a high level of inbreeding (which produces a number of shortcomings e.g., homozygous recessive defects) reduces the general immunological fitness, responsiveness and diversity in these models (196, 210, 211). Moreover, numerous immunological differences between mouse and humans tend to affect the translational relevance of the findings obtained (26, 211, 212). Also, the time frames of tumor growth rates between rodent models and humans are relatively divergent (196, 213, 214). This further complicates clinical translation of immunotherapeutic paradigms since the level of immunosurveillance and immunoediting experienced by human tumors can be much higher than any rodent tumor model.

In summary, it would be ideal to test ICD across as many different rodent models as possible, in order to determine the features that can be exploited for therapeutic purposes in humans. Moreover, if ICD fails in a specific experimental model, active effort should be made to characterize the mechanisms behind such failure, since resistance phenotypes can have profound clinical implications. This emerges from various studies summarized in **Table 7**. Indeed, several ICD resistance mechanisms exist operating at both the cancer cell and the immune system level, which have been characterized in different experimental models. Several of these resistance mechanisms have also been identified in cancer patients, thereby justifying further studies along these lines **Table 7**.

A considerable amounts of clinical findings support the relevance of ICD or ICD-related signatures in (at least subsets of) cancer patients. As summarized in **Table 8**, various ICD-linked (specific) parameters have been associated with the prognosis of cancer patients treated with clinically relevant ICD inducers (like anthracyclines, oxaliplatin, paclitaxel, or radiotherapy). Moreover, it is becoming clear that ICD-related or ICD-derived (immunological) genetic signatures (e.g., a *MX1*-centered metagene, a CXCR3-PRF1-CASP1-centered metagene, an ASAH1-centered metagene) can be positively associated with good prognosis in patients affected by various neoplasms, including breast, lung, and ovarian malignancies (141, 188, 220). These observations indicate that ICD or ICD-relevant parameters may have prognostic or predictive relevance in at least a subset of cancer patients. It will be important to characterize new and more specific ICD-associated parameters linked to patient prognosis as well as biomarkers that may predict improved disease outcome in cancer patient treated with ICD inducers. Of note, considering the current clinical experience with immunotherapies (209, 221), the patients with an increased likelihood to benefit from ICD inducers are probably those that display pre-existing (baseline) immune reactivity against cancer cells (220, 222, 223). This may depend on the ability of ICD to reboot and/or revive pre-existing TAA-directed immunity rather to prime de novo immune reactivity (5, 191, 224). In future, it would be crucial to characterize biomarkers that allow clinicians to delineate patients with reduced baseline immune reactivity against malignant cells so that proper combinatorial therapies involving ICD inducers can be implemented.

CONFRONTING THE CLINICAL REALITIES OF ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNITY

It is well-established that the response of cancer patients to immunotherapy relies on the activity of effector T cells [that employ their T-cell receptors (TCRs) for recognizing TAAs]. However, these TAA-targeting T cells may also constitute obstacles for effective anti-tumor immunity (234). As opposed to T lymphocytes recognizing pathogen-associated antigens (PAAs) (Figure 2), indeed, T cells directed against some TAAs (derived from nonmutated proteins that are source of self or near-to-self antigens) are developmentally subjected to negative selection in the thymus and peripheral lymphoid organs (234, 235) (Figure 2). As a result, T cells bearing TCRs with high affinity for self antigens (including some TAAs) are clonally deleted to avoid auto-immunity (234-237) (Figure 2). However, some "leakiness" in this process allows TAA-specific T cells possessing TCRs with low affinity to escape deletion (234, 236, 237) and persist, although at low precursor frequencies (238) (Figure 2). Unfortunately, as compared to PAA-specific T cells, which bear high-affinity TCRs (Figure 2), TAA-specific T cells exhibit limited effector and memory functions (234, 239). Coupled with the tendency of progressing tumors to generate a highly immunosuppressive microenvironment, this renders the insurgence of lifelong protective immunity nearly impossible (234). Of note, central and peripheral tolerance may not affect T cells reactive toward neo-tumor-specific antigens (neo-TSAs) e.g., tumor-specific neo-antigens that are generated *de novo* in the course of tumor progression because of mutational events (240, 241). However, the extent to which such neo-TSAs can elicit consistent "immunodominant" T cell reactivity is still a matter of investigation (240, 241). Nevertheless, in this context, inefficient T-cell stimulation can be overcome through the ICDbased improvement of effector T-cell functions (102). ICD can be further combined with checkpoint-blocking therapies, which



FIGURE 2 | Population dynamics of antigen-specific T cells during an immune response to infection or cancer. (A) T cells capable of putatively recognizing non-self, pathogen-associated antigens (PAAs) are not exposed to negative selection in the thymus or peripheral organs like lymph nodes. This allows for the constitutive presence of T lymphocytes bearing high-affinity T-cell receptor (TCR) in naïve conditions. Upon infection, these cells undergo robust expansion and acquire potent effector functions, hence driving an immune response that clears the pathogen and PAAs. Finally, PAA-specific T cells undergo contraction along with the establishment of immunological memory. To a limited extent, T cells reacting against PAAs expressed by virus-induced tumors may exhibit similar (although not identical) responses. (B) T cells that may recognize self or close-to-self antigens expressed by virus-unrelated malignancies undergo robust negative selection in the thymus and lymph nodes. Thus, all putative T lymphocytes bearing a high-affinity TCR against tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) are eliminated. However, some leakiness in this process allows for the persistence of TAA-specific T lymphocytes with low-affinity TCR, although at very low precursor frequencies. This is one of the reasons why in some individuals immunosurveillance at some stage fails to impede tumor progression. As malignant lesions progress, the amount of TAAs increases, causing a weak rise in TAA-specific T cells. However, tumor progression is generally coupled with the establishment of robust immunosuppressive networks that potently inhibit such TAA-targeting T cells. In this context, the administration of immunogenic cell death (ICD) according to a schedule that does not lead to lymphodepletion can favor the stimulation of TAA-targeting T cells and (re) instate immunosurveillance. Combining ICD inducers with checkpointblocking agents may further boost TAA-targeting immune responses. However, these treatments may not ensure the lifelong persistence of TAA-recognizing T cells, some of which are susceptible to elimination through tolerance mechanisms. Anticancer vaccines may counteract, at least to some extent, such loss. The figure was partly inspired from Baitsch et al. (234).

potently reverse immunosuppression (209, 242). However, the lifelong maintenance of anti-tumor T cells remains a particularly hard challenge.

In the clinical reality, anticancer agents are administered to patients in a limited number of cycles. Even if these therapeutic regimens may attain optimal efficacy in terms of ICD induction, they are unlikely to ensure the lifelong persistence of TAAdirected T cells with low-affinity TCR (234, 243). This probably reflects the contraction of TAA-targeting T cells occurring once the immunostimulatory stimulus provided by ICD ceases, owing to peripheral tolerance mechanisms (234). Clinically, it may not be feasible to administer ICD inducers repeatedly over time, since many of them can cause lymphopenia (which negatively affects disease outcome), or are associated with other side effects (244). It has been proposed that active immunization with ICDbased anticancer vaccines (which are associated with robust immunogenicity) given in a repetitive manner may achieve this goal (Figure 2) (234, 243, 245). Thus, it will be important to test whether the long-term administration of ICD-based anticancer vaccines can sustain the effector function of TAA-specific T cells bearing low-affinity TCRs, hence, ensuring lifelong disease-free survival. Of note, in the case of hematological malignancies, this issue could be overcome upon the adoptive transfer of CTLs expressing chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) (1). However, whether CAR-expressing CTLs generate protective immunological memory in the absence of considerable side effects remains to be determined. Moreover, the use of this therapeutic strategy against solid malignancies is relatively challenging owing to lack of well-defined "unique" TAAs (1, 246).

CONCLUSION

The model of ICD has been considerably refined since the initial identification of a cell death modality manifesting apoptotic features but able to induce an adaptive immune response. This model strives to integrate several phenomena observed throughout the second half of the twentieth century in one therapeutically relevant platform. However, as discussed above, several challenges still need to be addressed. First, comprehensive testing should be performed in advanced experimental settings like GEMMs or orthotopic tumor models. Second, ICD resistance mechanisms should be characterized with precision. Third, various issues linked to the successful translation of ICD to cancer therapy will have to be resolved, including (but not limited to) treatment

REFERENCES

- Galluzzi L, Vacchelli E, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Buque A, Senovilla L, Baracco EE, et al. Classification of current anticancer immunotherapies. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5(24):12472-508. doi:10.18632/ oncotarget.2998
- Kepp O, Tesniere A, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. The immunogenicity of tumor cell death. *Curr Opin Oncol* (2009) 21(1):71–6. doi:10.1097/ CCO.0b013e32831bc375
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Agostinis P. Cancer immunogenicity, danger signals, and DAMPs: what, when, and how? *Biofactors* (2013) 39(4):355–67. doi:10.1002/biof.1125

schedules, dosages, and combinatorial strategies. This translational drive also needs to be coupled with effective strategies for the discovery of new and effective ICD inducers. Drug screening programs are often complicated by the possibility of false-positive (due to bystander presence of DAMPs) (30) or false-negative (due to limited number of biomarkers used for screening) hits. This issue can only be ironed out by discovering new and common regulators of ICD, and integrating them into existing screening platforms. Last, but not least, it will be important to identify new ICD-related/derived biomarkers that can be used to improve current protocols of patient stratification and clinical decision making. We are positive that all these objectives are at reach.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ADG did the literature study, data collection, as well as conceived and wrote the manuscript. PA provided senior supervision and guidance, conceived the paper, helped in writing, and critically revised the manuscript. LG improved and edited the manuscript. JMBSP helped with the preparation of figures. All authors participated in the critical reading of the manuscript (wherever applicable), approved content and conclusions, as well as helped in ensuring the accuracy of cited literature.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to explicitly declare that this manuscript does not aim to describe guidelines for the fields of ICD and DAMP research. Rather, it is meant to be a comprehensive classification and review of relevant literature expressing consensus discussions, opinions, and conclusions endorsed and/or supported by a number of researchers and clinicians investigating ICD and DAMPs. We would also like to acknowledge the following colleagues for their support, reading and/or positive appraisal of this manuscript: Wee Han Ang, Vincenzo Barnaba, Marco E. Bianchi, Karin de Visser, Sandra O. Gollnick, Peter Henson, Polly Matzinger, Marek Michalak, Kodi Ravichandran, and Andrew Thorburn. ADG is a recipient of the FWO postdoctoral fellowship 2013. This work was supported by grants from the Fund for Scientific Research Flanders (FWO-Vlaanderen; G.0661.09, G.0728.10 and G.0584.12N) and KU Leuven (GOA/11/009) to PA; This paper presents research results of the IAP7/32, funded by the Interuniversity Attraction Poles Programme, initiated by the Belgian State, Science Policy Office.

- Blankenstein T, Coulie PG, Gilboa E, Jaffee EM. The determinants of tumour immunogenicity. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):307–13. doi:10.1038/nrc3246
- Garg AD, Nowis D, Golab J, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV, Agostinis P. Immunogenic cell death, DAMPs and anticancer therapeutics: an emerging amalgamation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2010) 1805(1):53–71. doi:10.1016/j. bbcan.2009.08.003
- Anguille S, Smits EL, Lion E, van Tendeloo VF, Berneman ZN. Clinical use of dendritic cells for cancer therapy. *Lancet Oncol* (2014) 15(7):e257–67. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70585-0
- Chiang CL, Kandalaft LE, Coukos G. Adjuvants for enhancing the immunogenicity of whole tumor cell vaccines. *Int Rev Immunol* (2011) 30(2–3):150–82. doi:10.3109/08830185.2011.572210

- Parish CR. Cancer immunotherapy: the past, the present and the future. ImmunolCellBiol(2003)81(2):106–13.doi:10.1046/j.0818-9641.2003.01151.x
- Coley WB. The treatment of malignant tumors by repeated inoculations of erysipelas: with a report of ten original cases. *Am J Med Sci* (1893) 105:487–511. doi:10.1097/00000441-189305000-00001
- Tsung K, Norton JA. Lessons from Coley's toxin. Surg Oncol (2006) 15(1):25–8. doi:10.1016/j.suronc.2006.05.002
- Coulie PG, Van den Eynde BJ, van der Bruggen P, Boon T. Tumour antigens recognized by T lymphocytes: at the core of cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2014) 14(2):135–46. doi:10.1038/nrc3670
- Liao SK, Carr DH. Comparative immunogenicity of irradiated, neuraminidase treated, and fused cells of a strain-restricted sarcoma. Z Krebsforsch klin Onkol Cancer Res Clin Oncol (1974) 82(2):133–42.
- Milas L, Withers HR. Nonspecific immunotherapy of malignant tumors. Radiology (1976) 118(1):211–8. doi:10.1148/118.1.211
- Bogden AE, Esber HJ. Influence of surgery, irradiation, chemotherapy, and immunotherapy on growth of a metastasizing rat mammary adenocarcinoma. *Natl Cancer Inst Monogr* (1978) (49):97–100.
- Dickson JA, Shah SA. Hyperthermia: the immune response and tumor metastasis. *Natl Cancer Inst Monogr* (1982) 61:183–92.
- Suit HD, Walker AM. Assessment of the response of tumours to radiation: clinical and experimental studies. Br J Cancer Suppl (1980) 4:1–10.
- Richert L, Or A, Shinitzky M. Promotion of tumor antigenicity in EL-4 leukemia cells by hydrostatic pressure. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (1986) 22(2):119–24. doi:10.1007/BF00199125
- Galluzzi L, Senovilla L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. The secret ally: immunostimulation by anticancer drugs. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2012) 11(3):215–33. doi:10.1038/nrd3626
- Green DR, Ferguson T, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic and tolerogenic cell death. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(5):353–63. doi:10.1038/nri2545
- Matzinger P. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol (1994) 12:991–1045. doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.005015
- Matzinger P. The danger model: a renewed sense of self. Science (2002) 296(5566):301-5. doi:10.1126/science.1071059
- Land W, Schneeberger H, Schleibner S, Illner WD, Abendroth D, Rutili G, et al. The beneficial effect of human recombinant superoxide dismutase on acute and chronic rejection events in recipients of cadaveric renal transplants. *Transplantation*(1994)57(2):211–7.doi:10.1097/00007890-199401001-00010
- Seong SY, Matzinger P. Hydrophobicity: an ancient damage-associated molecular pattern that initiates innate immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4(6):469–78. doi:10.1038/nri1372
- Rubartelli A, Lotze MT. Inside, outside, upside down: damage-associated molecular-pattern molecules (DAMPs) and redox. *Trends Immunol* (2007) 28(10):429–36. doi:10.1016/j.it.2007.08.004
- Li G, Tang D, Lotze MT. Menage a trois in stress: DAMPs, redox and autophagy. Semin Cancer Biol (2013) 23(5):380–90. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.08.002
- Garg AD, Martin S, Golab J, Agostinis P. Danger signalling during cancer cell death: origins, plasticity and regulation. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21(1):26–38. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.48
- 27. Bianchi ME. DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. J Leukoc Biol (2007) 81(1):1–5. doi:10.1189/jlb.0306164
- Bondanza A, Zimmermann VS, Rovere-Querini P, Turnay J, Dumitriu IE, Stach CM, et al. Inhibition of phosphatidylserine recognition heightens the immunogenicity of irradiated lymphoma cells in vivo. *J Exp Med* (2004) 200(9):1157–65. doi:10.1084/jem.20040327
- Stach CM, Turnay X, Voll RE, Kern PM, Kolowos W, Beyer TD, et al. Treatment with annexin V increases immunogenicity of apoptotic human T-cells in Balb/c mice. *Cell Death Differ* (2000) 7(10):911–5. doi:10.1038/ sj.cdd.4400715
- Dudek-Peric AM, Ferreira GB, Muchowicz A, Wouters J, Prada N, Martin S, et al. Antitumor immunity triggered by melphalan is potentiated by melanoma cell surface-associated calreticulin. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75(8):1603–14. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2089
- Rondas D, Crevecoeur I, D'Hertog W, Ferreira GB, Staes A, Garg AD, et al. Citrullinated glucose-regulated protein 78 is an autoantigen in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* (2015) 64(2):573–86. doi:10.2337/db14-0621
- 32. Venereau E, Casalgrandi M, Schiraldi M, Antoine DJ, Cattaneo A, De Marchis F, et al. Mutually exclusive redox forms of HMGB1 promote cell recruitment

or proinflammatory cytokine release. J Exp Med (2012) 209(9):1519–28. doi:10.1084/jem.20120189

- Weyd H, Abeler-Dorner L, Linke B, Mahr A, Jahndel V, Pfrang S, et al. Annexin A1 on the surface of early apoptotic cells suppresses CD8+ T cell immunity. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(4):e62449. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0062449
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Ferreira GB, Verfaillie T, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV, et al. ROS-induced autophagy in cancer cells assists in evasion from determinants of immunogenic cell death. *Autophagy* (2013) 9(9):1292–307. doi:10.4161/auto.25399
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Verfaillie T, Kaczmarek A, Ferreira GB, Marysael T, et al. A novel pathway combining calreticulin exposure and ATP secretion in immunogenic cancer cell death. *EMBO J* (2012) 31(5):1062–79. doi:10.1038/ emboj.2011.497
- Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(10):1170–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2028
- Elliott MR, Chekeni FB, Trampont PC, Lazarowski ER, Kadl A, Walk SF, et al. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. *Nature* (2009) 461(7261):282–6. doi:10.1038/ nature08296
- Iwata A, Morgan-Stevenson V, Schwartz B, Liu L, Tupper J, Zhu X, et al. Extracellular BCL2 proteins are danger-associated molecular patterns that reduce tissue damage in murine models of ischemia-reperfusion injury. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(2):e9103. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009103
- Babelova A, Moreth K, Tsalastra-Greul W, Zeng-Brouwers J, Eickelberg O, Young MF, et al. Biglycan, a danger signal that activates the NLRP3 inflammasome via toll-like and P2X receptors. *J Biol Chem* (2009) 284(36):24035–48. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.014266
- Schaefer L. Extracellular matrix molecules: endogenous danger signals as new drug targets in kidney diseases. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2010) 10(2):185–90. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2009.11.007
- Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(1):54–61. doi:10.1038/nm1523
- 42. Garg AD, Elsen S, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, de Witte P, Agostinis P. Resistance to anticancer vaccination effect is controlled by a cancer cell-autonomous phenotype that disrupts immunogenic phagocytic removal. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(29):26841–60. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.4754
- 43. Koks CA, Garg AD, Ehrhardt M, Riva M, Vandenberk L, Boon L, et al. Newcastle disease virotherapy induces long-term survival and tumor-specific immune memory in orthotopic glioma through the induction of immunogenic cell death. *Int J Cancer* (2015) 136(5):E313–25. doi:10.1002/ ijc.29202
- Gardai SJ, McPhillips KA, Frasch SC, Janssen WJ, Starefeldt A, Murphy-Ullrich JE, et al. Cell-surface calreticulin initiates clearance of viable or apoptotic cells through trans-activation of LRP on the phagocyte. *Cell* (2005) 123(2):321–34. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.08.032
- Garcia Fernandez M, Troiano L, Moretti L, Nasi M, Pinti M, Salvioli S, et al. Early changes in intramitochondrial cardiolipin distribution during apoptosis. *Cell Growth Differ* (2002) 13(9):449–55.
- 46. Sorice M, Circella A, Cristea IM, Garofalo T, Di Renzo L, Alessandri C, et al. Cardiolipin and its metabolites move from mitochondria to other cellular membranes during death receptor-mediated apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ* (2004) 11(10):1133–45. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4401457
- Korbelik M, Banath J, Sun J, Canals D, Hannun YA, Separovic D. Ceramide and sphingosine-1-phosphate act as photodynamic therapy-elicited damage-associated molecular patterns: cell surface exposure. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2014) 20(2):359–65. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2014.03.016
- Horino K, Nishiura H, Ohsako T, Shibuya Y, Hiraoka T, Kitamura N, et al. A monocyte chemotactic factor, S19 ribosomal protein dimer, in phagocytic clearance of apoptotic cells. *Lab Invest* (1998) 78(5):603–17.
- Nishimura T, Horino K, Nishiura H, Shibuya Y, Hiraoka T, Tanase S, et al. Apoptotic cells of an epithelial cell line, AsPC-1, release monocyte chemotactic S19 ribosomal protein dimer. J Biochem (2001) 129(3):445–54. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem.a002876
- 50. Peter C, Wesselborg S, Lauber K. Role of attraction and danger signals in the uptake of apoptotic and necrotic cells and its immunological outcome.

In: Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, editors. *Phagocytosis of Dying Cells*. Berlin: Springer Science + Business Media B.V. (2009). p. 63–101.

- Yamamoto T. Roles of the ribosomal protein S19 dimer and the C5a receptor in pathophysiological functions of phagocytic leukocytes. *Pathol Int* (2007) 57(1):1–11. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1827.2007.02049.x
- Struck J, Uhlein M, Morgenthaler NG, Furst W, Hoflich C, Bahrami S, et al. Release of the mitochondrial enzyme carbamoyl phosphate synthase under septic conditions. *Shock* (2005) 23(6):533–8.
- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12(12):860–75. doi:10.1038/nrc3380
- Pullerits R, Bokarewa M, Jonsson IM, Verdrengh M, Tarkowski A. Extracellular cytochrome c, a mitochondrial apoptosis-related protein, induces arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* (2005) 44(1):32–9. doi:10.1093/ rheumatology/keh406
- Codina R, Vanasse A, Kelekar A, Vezys V, Jemmerson R. Cytochrome c-induced lymphocyte death from the outside in: inhibition by serum leucine-rich alpha-2-glycoprotein-1. *Apoptosis* (2010) 15(2):139–52. doi:10.1007/ s10495-009-0412-0
- Yoon KW, Byun S, Kwon E, Hwang SY, Chu K, Hiraki M, et al. Control of signaling-mediated clearance of apoptotic cells by the tumor suppressor p53. *Science* (2015) 349(6247):1261669. doi:10.1126/science.1261669
- Kao J, Houck K, Fan Y, Haehnel I, Libutti SK, Kayton ML, et al. Characterization of a novel tumor-derived cytokine. Endothelial-monocyte activating polypeptide II. J Biol Chem (1994) 269(40):25106–19.
- Knies UE, Behrensdorf HA, Mitchell CA, Deutsch U, Risau W, Drexler HC, et al. Regulation of endothelial monocyte-activating polypeptide II release by apoptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) **95**(21):12322–7. doi:10.1073/ pnas.95.21.12322
- Ahrens S, Zelenay S, Sancho D, Hanc P, Kjaer S, Feest C, et al. F-actin is an evolutionarily conserved damage-associated molecular pattern recognized by DNGR-1, a receptor for dead cells. *Immunity* (2012) 36(4):635–45. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.03.008
- 60. Chiba S, Baghdadi M, Akiba H, Yoshiyama H, Kinoshita I, Dosaka-Akita H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating DCs suppress nucleic acid-mediated innate immune responses through interactions between the receptor TIM-3 and the alarmin HMGB1. *Nat Immunol* (2012) **13**(9):832–42. doi:10.1038/ni.2376
- Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Decoding cell death signals in inflammation and immunity. *Cell* (2010) 140(6):798–804. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.015
- Pletjushkina OY, Fetisova EK, Lyamzaev KG, Ivanova OY, Domnina LV, Vyssokikh MY, et al. Long-distance apoptotic killing of cells is mediated by hydrogen peroxide in a mitochondrial ROS-dependent fashion. *Cell Death Differ* (2005) 12(11):1442–4. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4401685
- Garg AD, Nowis D, Golab J, Agostinis P. Photodynamic therapy: illuminating the road from cell death towards anti-tumour immunity. *Apoptosis* (2010) 15(9):1050–71. doi:10.1007/s10495-010-0479-7
- 64. Suzuki S, Kulkarni AB. Extracellular heat shock protein HSP90beta secreted by MG63 osteosarcoma cells inhibits activation of latent TGF-beta1. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2010) **398**(3):525–31. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.06.112
- Korbelik M, Sun J, Cecic I. Photodynamic therapy-induced cell surface expression and release of heat shock proteins: relevance for tumor response. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(3):1018–26.
- Cirone M, Di Renzo L, Lotti LV, Conte V, Trivedi P, Santarelli R, et al. Primary effusion lymphoma cell death induced by bortezomib and AG 490 activates dendritic cells through CD91. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(3):e31732. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0031732
- Zunino B, Rubio-Patino C, Villa E, Meynet O, Proics E, Cornille A, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy leads to an anticancer immune response via exposure of cell surface heat shock protein 90. *Oncogene* (2015). doi:10.1038/onc.2015.82
- Zhou Z, Yamamoto Y, Sugai F, Yoshida K, Kishima Y, Sumi H, et al. Hepatomaderived growth factor is a neurotrophic factor harbored in the nucleus. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279(26):27320–6. doi:10.1074/jbc.M308650200
- Huang H, Evankovich J, Yan W, Nace G, Zhang L, Ross M, et al. Endogenous histones function as alarmins in sterile inflammatory liver injury through toll-like receptor 9 in mice. *Hepatology* (2011) 54(3):999–1008. doi:10.1002/ hep.24501

- Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, et al. Tolllike receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(9):1050–9. doi:10.1038/ nm1622
- Semino C, Angelini G, Poggi A, Rubartelli A. NK/iDC interaction results in IL-18 secretion by DCs at the synaptic cleft followed by NK cell activation and release of the DC maturation factor HMGB1. *Blood* (2005) 106(2):609–16. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-10-3906
- Scaffidi P, Misteli T, Bianchi ME. Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. *Nature* (2002) 418(6894):191–5. doi:10.1038/nature00858
- Thorburn J, Horita H, Redzic J, Hansen K, Frankel AE, Thorburn A. Autophagy regulates selective HMGB1 release in tumor cells that are destined to die. *Cell Death Differ* (2009) 16(1):175–83. doi:10.1038/cdd.2008.143
- 74. Yang D, Postnikov YV, Li Y, Tewary P, de la Rosa G, Wei F. High-mobility group nucleosome-binding protein 1 acts as an alarmin and is critical for lipopolysaccharide-induced immune responses. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209(1):157–71. doi:10.1084/jem.20101354
- 75. Cohen I, Rider P, Carmi Y, Braiman A, Dotan S, White MR, et al. Differential release of chromatin-bound IL-1alpha discriminates between necrotic and apoptotic cell death by the ability to induce sterile inflammation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**(6):2574–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0915018107
- Vanden Berghe T, Kalai M, Denecker G, Meeus A, Saelens X, Vandenabeele P. Necrosis is associated with IL-6 production but apoptosis is not. *Cell Signal* (2006) 18(3):328–35. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2005.05.003
- Lauber K, Bohn E, Krober SM, Xiao YJ, Blumenthal SG, Lindemann RK, et al. Apoptotic cells induce migration of phagocytes via caspase-3-mediated release of a lipid attraction signal. *Cell* (2003) 113:717–30. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(03)00422-7
- Zhang Q, Raoof M, Chen Y, Sumi Y, Sursal T, Junger W, et al. Circulating mitochondrial DAMPs cause inflammatory responses to injury. *Nature* (2010) 464(7285):104–7. doi:10.1038/nature08780
- Collins LV, Hajizadeh S, Holme E, Jonsson IM, Tarkowski A. Endogenously oxidized mitochondrial DNA induces in vivo and in vitro inflammatory responses. J Leukoc Biol (2004) 75(6):995–1000. doi:10.1189/jlb.0703328
- Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Mitochondria: master regulators of danger signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2012) 13(12):780–8. doi:10.1038/nrm3479
- Shi Y, Evans JE, Rock KL. Molecular identification of a danger signal that alerts the immune system to dying cells. *Nature* (2003) 425(6957):516–21. doi:10.1038/nature01991
- Carp H. Mitochondrial N-formylmethionyl proteins as chemoattractants for neutrophils. J Exp Med (1982) 155(1):264–75. doi:10.1084/jem.155.1.264
- Rabiet MJ, Huet E, Boulay F. The N-formyl peptide receptors and the anaphylatoxin C5a receptors: an overview. *Biochimie* (2007) 89(9):1089–106. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2007.02.015
- Czapiga M, Gao JL, Kirk A, Lekstrom-Himes J. Human platelets exhibit chemotaxis using functional N-formyl peptide receptors. *Exp Hematol* (2005) 33(1):73–84. doi:10.1016/j.exphem.2004.09.010
- Moghaddam AE, Gartlan KH, Kong L, Sattentau QJ. Reactive carbonyls are a major Th2-inducing damage-associated molecular pattern generated by oxidative stress. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(4):1626–33. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1003906
- Miller YI, Choi SH, Wiesner P, Fang L, Harkewicz R, Hartvigsen K, et al. Oxidation-specific epitopes are danger-associated molecular patterns recognized by pattern recognition receptors of innate immunity. *Circ Res* (2011) 108(2):235–48. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.223875
- Vandenberk L, Garg AD, Verschuere T, Koks C, Belmans J, Beullens M, et al. Irradiation of necrotic cancer cells employed for pulsing dendritic cells (DCs), potentiates DC vaccine-induced antitumor immunity against high-grade glioma. *Oncoimmunology* (2015). doi:10.1080/2162402X.2015.1083669
- Riddell JR, Wang XY, Minderman H, Gollnick SO. Peroxiredoxin 1 stimulates secretion of proinflammatory cytokines by binding to TLR4. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(2):1022–30. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901945
- Franz S, Herrmann K, Furnrohr BG, Sheriff A, Frey B, Gaipl US, et al. After shrinkage apoptotic cells expose internal membrane-derived epitopes on their plasma membranes. *Cell Death Differ* (2007) 14(4):733–42. doi:10.1038/ sj.cdd.4402066

- Petrovski G, Zahuczky G, Katona K, Vereb G, Martinet W, Nemes Z, et al. Clearance of dying autophagic cells of different origin by professional and non-professional phagocytes. *Cell Death Differ* (2007) 14(6):1117–28. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402112
- Bratton DL, Fadok VA, Richter DA, Kailey JM, Guthrie LA, Henson PM. Appearance of phosphatidylserine on apoptotic cells requires calcium-mediated nonspecific flip-flop and is enhanced by loss of the aminophospholipid translocase. J Biol Chem (1997) 272(42):26159–65. doi:10.1074/ jbc.272.42.26159
- 92. Martin SJ, Reutelingsperger CP, McGahon AJ, Rader JA, van Schie RC, LaFace DM, et al. Early redistribution of plasma membrane phosphatidylserine is a general feature of apoptosis regardless of the initiating stimulus: inhibition by overexpression of Bcl-2 and Abl. J Exp Med (1995) 182(5):1545–56. doi:10.1084/jem.182.5.1545
- Brouckaert G, Kalai M, Krysko DV, Saelens X, Vercammen D, Ndlovu MN, et al. Phagocytosis of necrotic cells by macrophages is phosphatidylserine dependent and does not induce inflammatory cytokine production. *Mol Biol Cell* (2004) 15(3):1089–100. doi:10.1091/mbc.E03-09-0668
- 94. Donato R. RAGE: a single receptor for several ligands and different cellular responses: the case of certain S100 proteins. *Curr Mol Med* (2007) 7(8):711–24. doi:10.2174/156652407783220688
- Goh FG, Piccinini AM, Krausgruber T, Udalova IA, Midwood KS. Transcriptional regulation of the endogenous danger signal tenascin-C: a novel autocrine loop in inflammation. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(5):2655–62. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903359
- Krispin A, Bledi Y, Atallah M, Trahtemberg U, Verbovetski I, Nahari E, et al. Apoptotic cell thrombospondin-1 and heparin-binding domain lead to dendritic-cell phagocytic and tolerizing states. *Blood* (2006) 108(10):3580–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-03-013334
- Galluzzi L, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, Abrams JM, Adam D, et al. Essential versus accessory aspects of cell death: recommendations of the NCCD 2015. Cell Death Differ (2015) 22(1):58–73. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.137
- Melcher A, Todryk S, Hardwick N, Ford M, Jacobson M, Vile RG. Tumor immunogenicity is determined by the mechanism of cell death via induction of heat shock protein expression. *Nat Med* (1998) 4(5):581–7. doi:10.1038/ nm0598-581
- Gough MJ, Melcher AA, Crittenden MR, Sanchez-Perez L, Voellmy R, Vile RG. Induction of cell stress through gene transfer of an engineered heat shock transcription factor enhances tumor immunogenicity. *Gene Ther* (2004) 11(13):1099–104. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3302274
- 100. Spisek R, Charalambous A, Mazumder A, Vesole DH, Jagannath S, Dhodapkar MV. Bortezomib enhances dendritic cell (DC)-mediated induction of immunity to human myeloma via exposure of cell surface heat shock protein 90 on dying tumor cells: therapeutic implications. *Blood* (2007) **109**(11):4839–45. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-10-054221
- 101. Casares N, Pequignot MO, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Roux S, Chaput N, et al. Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicin-induced tumor cell death. J Exp Med (2005) 202(12):1691–701. doi:10.1084/jem.20050915
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:51–72. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-032712-100008
- Garg AD, Dudek-Peric AM, Romano E, Agostinis P. Immunogenic cell death. Int J Dev Biol (2015) 59:131–40. doi:10.1387/ijdb.150061pa
- Kepp O, Senovilla L, Vitale I, Vacchelli E, Adjemian S, Agostinis P, et al. Consensus guidelines for the detection of immunogenic cell death. Oncoimmunology (2014) 3(9):e955691. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.955691
- 105. Dudek AM, Martin S, Garg AD, Agostinis P. Immature, semi-mature, and fully mature dendritic cells: toward a DC-cancer cells interface that augments anticancer immunity. *Front Immunol* (2014) 4:438. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2013.00438
- 106. Ma Y, Adjemian S, Mattarollo SR, Yamazaki T, Aymeric L, Yang H, et al. Anticancer chemotherapy-induced intratumoral recruitment and differentiation of antigen-presenting cells. *Immunity* (2013) 38(4):729–41. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.03.003
- 107. Zhang JG, Czabotar PE, Policheni AN, Caminschi I, Wan SS, Kitsoulis S, et al. The dendritic cell receptor Clec9A binds damaged cells via exposed actin filaments. *Immunity* (2012) 36(4):646–57. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.03.009

- Garnett CT, Palena C, Chakraborty M, Tsang KY, Schlom J, Hodge JW. Sublethal irradiation of human tumor cells modulates phenotype resulting in enhanced killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(21):7985–94. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1525
- 109. Hodge JW, Garnett CT, Farsaci B, Palena C, Tsang KY, Ferrone S, et al. Chemotherapy-induced immunogenic modulation of tumor cells enhances killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes and is distinct from immunogenic cell death. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 133(3):624–36. doi:10.1002/ijc.28070
- 110. Gameiro SR, Jammeh ML, Wattenberg MM, Tsang KY, Ferrone S, Hodge JW. Radiation-induced immunogenic modulation of tumor enhances antigen processing and calreticulin exposure, resulting in enhanced T-cell killing. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5(2):403–16. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.1719
- 111. Michaud M, Martins I, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Ma Y, Pellegatti P, et al. Autophagy-dependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutic agents in mice. *Science* (2011) **334**(6062):1573–7. doi:10.1126/ science.1208347
- 112. Garg AD, Dudek AM, Agostinis P. Calreticulin surface exposure is abrogated in cells lacking, chaperone-mediated autophagy-essential gene, LAMP2A. *Cell Death Dis* (2013) 4:e826. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.372
- 113. Martins I, Wang Y, Michaud M, Ma Y, Sukkurwala AQ, Shen S, et al. Molecular mechanisms of ATP secretion during immunogenic cell death. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21(1):79–91. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.75
- 114. Kazama H, Ricci JE, Herndon JM, Hoppe G, Green DR, Ferguson TA. Induction of immunological tolerance by apoptotic cells requires caspase-dependent oxidation of high-mobility group box-1 protein. *Immunity* (2008) 29(1):21–32. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.05.013
- 115. Jube S, Rivera Z, Bianchi ME, Powers A, Wang E, Pagano IS, et al. Cancer cell secretion of the DAMP protein HMGB1 supports progression in malignant mesothelioma. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**(13):3290–301. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-11-3481
- 116. Garg AD, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P. Hypericin-based photodynamic therapy induces surface exposure of damage-associated molecular patterns like HSP70 and calreticulin. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61(2):215–21. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1184-2
- Lancaster GI, Febbraio MA. Exosome-dependent trafficking of HSP70: a novel secretory pathway for cellular stress proteins. J Biol Chem (2005) 280(24):23349–55. doi:10.1074/jbc.M502017200
- Mambula SS, Calderwood SK. Heat shock protein 70 is secreted from tumor cells by a nonclassical pathway involving lysosomal endosomes. *J Immunol* (2006) 177(11):7849–57. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.11.7849
- 119. Vega VL, Rodriguez-Silva M, Frey T, Gehrmann M, Diaz JC, Steinem C, et al. Hsp70 translocates into the plasma membrane after stress and is released into the extracellular environment in a membrane-associated form that activates macrophages. J Immunol (2008) 180(6):4299–307. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.180.6.4299
- 120. Kotter B, Frey B, Winderl M, Rubner Y, Scheithauer H, Sieber R, et al. The in vitro immunogenic potential of caspase-3 proficient breast cancer cells with basal low immunogenicity is increased by hypofractionated irradiation. *Radiat Oncol* (2015) **10**(1):197. doi:10.1186/s13014-015-0506-5
- 121. Multhoff G, Botzler C, Wiesnet M, Muller E, Meier T, Wilmanns W, et al. A stress-inducible 72-kDa heat-shock protein (HSP72) is expressed on the surface of human tumor cells, but not on normal cells. *Int J Cancer* (1995) 61(2):272–9. doi:10.1002/ijc.2910610222
- 122. Gastpar R, Gehrmann M, Bausero MA, Asea A, Gross C, Schroeder JA, et al. Heat shock protein 70 surface-positive tumor exosomes stimulate migratory and cytolytic activity of natural killer cells. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(12):5238–47. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3804
- 123. Panaretakis T, Kepp O, Brockmeier U, Tesniere A, Bjorklund AC, Chapman DC, et al. Mechanisms of pre-apoptotic calreticulin exposure in immunogenic cell death. *EMBO J* (2009) 28(5):578–90. doi:10.1038/emboj.2009.1
- 124. Madeo F, Durchschlag M, Kepp O, Panaretakis T, Zitvogel L, Frohlich KU, et al. Phylogenetic conservation of the preapoptotic calreticulin exposure pathway from yeast to mammals. *Cell Cycle* (2009) 8(4):639–42. doi:10.4161/ cc.8.4.7794
- 125. Martin S, Dudek-Peric AM, Maes H, Garg AD, Gabrysiak M, Demirsoy S, et al. Concurrent MEK and autophagy inhibition is required to restore cell death associated danger-signalling in vemurafenib-resistant melanoma cells. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2015) **93**(3):290–304. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2014.12.003

- 126. Szklarczyk D, Franceschini A, Wyder S, Forslund K, Heller D, Huerta-Cepas J, et al. STRING v10: protein-protein interaction networks, integrated over the tree of life. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2015) **43**(Database issue):D447–52. doi:10.1093/nar/gku1003
- Dudek AM, Garg AD, Krysko DV, De Ruysscher D, Agostinis P. Inducers of immunogenic cancer cell death. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2013) 24(4):319–33. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2013.01.005
- Bezu L, Gomes-de-Silva LC, Dewitte H, Breckpot K, Fucikova J, Spisek R, et al. Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:187. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00187
- 129. Siurala M, Bramante S, Vassilev L, Hirvinen M, Parviainen S, Tahtinen S, et al. Oncolytic adenovirus and doxorubicin-based chemotherapy results in synergistic antitumor activity against soft-tissue sarcoma. *Int J Cancer* (2015) 136(4):945–54. doi:10.1002/ijc.29048
- 130. Menger L, Vacchelli E, Adjemian S, Martins I, Ma Y, Shen S, et al. Cardiac glycosides exert anticancer effects by inducing immunogenic cell death. *Sci Transl Med* (2012) 4(143):143ra99. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3003807
- 131. Panaretakis T, Joza N, Modjtahedi N, Tesniere A, Vitale I, Durchschlag M, et al. The co-translocation of ERp57 and calreticulin determines the immunogenicity of cell death. *Cell Death Differ* (2008) 15(9):1499–509. doi:10.1038/cdd.2008.67
- 132. Tufi R, Panaretakis T, Bianchi K, Criollo A, Fazi B, Di Sano F, et al. Reduction of endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ levels favors plasma membrane surface exposure of calreticulin. *Cell Death Differ* (2008) 15(2):274–82. doi:10.1038/ sj.cdd.4402275
- Martins I, Kepp O, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Tailler M, Shen S, et al. Restoration of the immunogenicity of cisplatin-induced cancer cell death by endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Oncogene* (2011) 30(10):1147–58. doi:10.1038/ onc.2010.500
- 134. Verfaillie T, Rubio N, Garg AD, Bultynck G, Rizzuto R, Decuypere JP, et al. PERK is required at the ER-mitochondrial contact sites to convey apoptosis after ROS-based ER stress. *Cell Death Differ* (2012) **19**(11):1880–91. doi:10.1038/cdd.2012.74
- Galluzzi L, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Kroemer G. Organelle-specific initiation of cell death. Nat Cell Biol (2014) 16(8):728–36. doi:10.1038/ncb3005
- 136. Chaurio RA, Munoz LE, Maueroder C, Janko C, Harrer T, Furnrohr BG, et al. The progression of cell death affects the rejection of allogeneic tumors in immune-competent mice – implications for cancer therapy. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:560. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00560
- 137. Garg AD, Maes H, van Vliet AR, Agostinis P. Targeting the hallmarks of cancer with therapy-induced endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress. *Mol Cell Oncol* (2015) 2(1):e975089. doi:10.4161/23723556.2014.975089
- 138. van Vliet AR, Martin S, Garg AD, Agostinis P. The PERKs of damage-associated molecular patterns mediating cancer immunogenicity: from sensor to the plasma membrane and beyond. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2015) 33:74–85. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.03.010
- 139. Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Senovilla L, Michaud M, Spaggiari S, Vacchelli E, et al. Screening of novel immunogenic cell death inducers within the NCI mechanistic diversity set. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e28473. doi:10.4161/onci.28473
- Wong DY, Ong WW, Ang WH. Induction of immunogenic cell death by chemotherapeutic platinum complexes. *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl* (2015) 54(22):6483–7. doi:10.1002/anie.201500934
- 141. Sistigu A, Yamazaki T, Vacchelli E, Chaba K, Enot DP, Adam J, et al. Cancer cell-autonomous contribution of type I interferon signaling to the efficacy of chemotherapy. *Nat Med* (2014) **20**(11):1301–9. doi:10.1038/nm.3708
- 142. Ramakrishnan R, Gabrilovich DI. The role of mannose-6-phosphate receptor and autophagy in influencing the outcome of combination therapy. *Autophagy* (2013) 9(4):615–6. doi:10.4161/auto.23485
- Kaminski JM, Shinohara E, Summers JB, Niermann KJ, Morimoto A, Brousal J. The controversial abscopal effect. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2005) 31(3):159–72. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv.2005.03.004
- 144. Golden EB, Frances D, Pellicciotta I, Demaria S, Helen Barcellos-Hoff M, Formenti SC. Radiation fosters dose-dependent and chemotherapy-induced immunogenic cell death. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e28518. doi:10.4161/ onci.28518
- 145. Garrido G, Rabasa A, Sanchez B, Lopez MV, Blanco R, Lopez A, et al. Induction of immunogenic apoptosis by blockade of epidermal growth factor receptor

activation with a specific antibody. *J Immunol* (2011) **187**(10):4954–66. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003477

- 146. Bugaut H, Bruchard M, Berger H, Derangere V, Odoul L, Euvrard R, et al. Bleomycin exerts ambivalent antitumor immune effect by triggering both immunogenic cell death and proliferation of regulatory T cells. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(6):e65181. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0065181
- 147. Diaconu I, Cerullo V, Hirvinen ML, Escutenaire S, Ugolini M, Pesonen SK, et al. Immune response is an important aspect of the antitumor effect produced by a CD40L-encoding oncolytic adenovirus. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(9):2327–38. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2975
- 148. Hemminki O, Parviainen S, Juhila J, Turkki R, Linder N, Lundin J, et al. Immunological data from cancer patients treated with Ad5/3-E2F-Delta24-GMCSF suggests utility for tumor immunotherapy. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(6):4467–81. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2901
- 149. Sun C, Wang H, Mao S, Liu J, Li S, Wang J. Reactive oxygen species involved in CT26 immunogenic cell death induced by *Clostridium difficile* toxin B. *Immunol Lett* (2015) **164**(2):65–71. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2015.02.007
- 150. Miyamoto S, Inoue H, Nakamura T, Yamada M, Sakamoto C, Urata Y, et al. *Cossackievirus* B3 Is an oncolytic virus with immunostimulatory properties that is active against lung Adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(10):2609–21. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3185
- Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, et al. Trial watch: oncolytic viruses for cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2(6):e24612. doi:10.4161/onci.22789
- 152. Schiavoni G, Sistigu A, Valentini M, Mattei F, Sestili P, Spadaro F, et al. Cyclophosphamide synergizes with type I interferons through systemic dendritic cell reactivation and induction of immunogenic tumor apoptosis. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(3):768–78. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2788
- Viaud S, Saccheri F, Mignot G, Yamazaki T, Daillere R, Hannani D, et al. The intestinal microbiota modulates the anticancer immune effects of cyclophosphamide. *Science* (2013) 342(6161):971–6. doi:10.1126/science.1240537
- 154. Fucikova J, Moserova I, Truxova I, Hermanova I, Vancurova I, Partlova S, et al. High hydrostatic pressure induces immunogenic cell death in human tumor cells. *Int J Cancer* (2014) **135**(5):1165–77. doi:10.1002/ijc.28766
- Adkins I, Fucikova J, Garg AD, Agostinis P, Spisek R. Physical modalities inducing immunogenic tumor cell death for cancer immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e968434. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.968434
- 156. Weiss EM, Meister S, Janko C, Ebel N, Schlucker E, Meyer-Pittroff R, et al. High hydrostatic pressure treatment generates inactivated mammalian tumor cells with immunogeneic features. *J Immunotoxicol* (2010) 7(3):194–204. doi:10.3109/15476911003657414
- 157. Garg AD, Agostinis P. ER stress, autophagy and immunogenic cell death in photodynamic therapy-induced anti-cancer immune responses. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* (2014) 13(3):474–87. doi:10.1039/c3pp50333j
- 158. Yu Z, Geng J, Zhang M, Zhou Y, Fan Q, Chen J. Treatment of osteosarcoma with microwave thermal ablation to induce immunogenic cell death. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5(15):6526–39. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2310
- 159. Zamarin D, Holmgaard RB, Subudhi SK, Park JS, Mansour M, Palese P, et al. Localized oncolytic virotherapy overcomes systemic tumor resistance to immune checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(226):226ra32. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008095
- 160. Chen HM, Wang PH, Chen SS, Wen CC, Chen YH, Yang WC, et al. Shikonin induces immunogenic cell death in tumor cells and enhances dendritic cell-based cancer vaccine. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61(11):1989–2002. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1258-9
- Korbelik M, Dougherty GJ. Photodynamic therapy-mediated immune response against subcutaneous mouse tumors. *Cancer Res* (1999) 59(8):1941–6.
- Krosl G, Korbelik M, Dougherty GJ. Induction of immune cell infiltration into murine SCCVII tumour by photofrin-based photodynamic therapy. *Br J Cancer* (1995) 71(3):549–55. doi:10.1038/bjc.1995.108
- Korbelik M, Stott B, Sun J. Photodynamic therapy-generated vaccines: relevance of tumour cell death expression. *Br J Cancer* (2007) 97(10):1381–7. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6604059
- 164. Korbelik M, Zhang W, Merchant S. Involvement of damage-associated molecular patterns in tumor response to photodynamic therapy: surface expression of calreticulin and high-mobility group box-1 release. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2011) **60**(10):1431–7. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1047-x

- 165. Duewell P, Steger A, Lohr H, Bourhis H, Hoelz H, Kirchleitner SV, et al. RIG-I-like helicases induce immunogenic cell death of pancreatic cancer cells and sensitize tumors toward killing by CD8 T cells. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21(12):1825–37. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.96
- 166. West AC, Mattarollo SR, Shortt J, Cluse LA, Christiansen AJ, Smyth MJ, et al. An intact immune system is required for the anticancer activities of histone deacetylase inhibitors. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(24):7265–76. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0890
- 167. Yang Y, Li XJ, Chen Z, Zhu XX, Wang J, Zhang LB, et al. Wogonin induced calreticulin/annexin A1 exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cells in a PERK/AKT dependent manner. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(12):e50811. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0050811
- 168. Panzarini E, Inguscio V, Fimia GM, Dini L. Rose Bengal acetate photodynamic therapy (RBAc-PDT) induces exposure and release of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) in human HeLa cells. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(8):e105778. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0105778
- 169. Molinari R, D'Eliseo D, Manzi L, Zolla L, Velotti F, Merendino N. The n3-polyunsaturated fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid induces immunogenic cell death in human cancer cell lines via pre-apoptotic calreticulin exposure. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2011) **60**(10):1503–7. doi:10.1007/ s00262-011-1074-7
- 170. D'Eliseo D, Manzi L, Velotti F. Capsaicin as an inducer of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) of immunogenic cell death (ICD) in human bladder cancer cells. *Cell Stress Chaperones* (2013) 18(6):801–8. doi:10.1007/ s12192-013-0422-2
- 171. Gilardini Montani MS, D'Eliseo D, Cirone M, Di Renzo L, Faggioni A, Santoni A, et al. Capsaicin-mediated apoptosis of human bladder cancer cells activates dendritic cells via CD91. Nutrition (2015) 31(4):578–81. doi:10.1016/j.nut.2014.05.005
- 172. Janeway C. Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease. 6th ed. New York, NY: Garland Science (2005). 823 p.
- 173. Fucikova J, Kralikova P, Fialova A, Brtnicky T, Rob L, Bartunkova J, et al. Human tumor cells killed by anthracyclines induce a tumor-specific immune response. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(14):4821–33. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-11-0950
- 174. Krysko DV, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Heyndrickx L, Woznicki J, Bogaert P, et al. TLR-2 and TLR-9 are sensors of apoptosis in a mouse model of doxorubicin-induced acute inflammation. *Cell Death Differ* (2011) 18(8):1316–25. doi:10.1038/cdd.2011.4
- 175. Tseng LM, Liu CY, Chang KC, Chu PY, Shiau CW, Chen KF. CIP2A is a target of bortezomib in human triple negative breast cancer cells. *Breast Cancer Res* (2012) 14(2):R68. doi:10.1186/bcr3175
- 176. Davies AM, Lara PN Jr, Mack PC, Gandara DR. Incorporating bortezomib into the treatment of lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(15 Pt 2):s4647–51. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0334
- 177. Huang T, Li S, Li G, Tian Y, Wang H, Shi L, et al. Utility of *Clostridium difficile* toxin B for inducing anti-tumor immunity. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(10):e110826. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0110826
- Bravim F, de Freitas JM, Fernandes AA, Fernandes PM. High hydrostatic pressure and the cell membrane: stress response of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2010) **1189**:127–32. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05182.x
- Senovilla L, Vitale I, Martins I, Tailler M, Pailleret C, Michaud M, et al. An immunosurveillance mechanism controls cancer cell ploidy. *Science* (2012) 337(6102):1678–84. doi:10.1126/science.1224922
- Korbelik M. Cancer vaccines generated by photodynamic therapy. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* (2011) 10(5):664–9. doi:10.1039/c0pp00343c
- 181. Garg AD, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P. DAMPs and PDTmediated photo-oxidative stress: exploring the unknown. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* (2011) 10(5):670–80. doi:10.1039/c0pp00294a
- 182. Chen J, Xie J, Jiang Z, Wang B, Wang Y, Hu X. Shikonin and its analogs inhibit cancer cell glycolysis by targeting tumor pyruvate kinase-M2. Oncogene (2011) 30(42):4297–306. doi:10.1038/onc.2011.137
- 183. Tsai CF, Yeh WL, Huang SM, Tan TW, Lu DY. Wogonin induces reactive oxygen species production and cell apoptosis in human glioma cancer cells. *Int J Mol Sci* (2012) 13(8):9877–92. doi:10.3390/ijms13089877
- 184. Sanovic R, Verwanger T, Hartl A, Krammer B. Low dose hypericin-PDT induces complete tumor regression in BALB/c mice bearing CT26 colon

carcinoma. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther (2011) 8(4):291-6. doi:10.1016/j. pdpdt.2011.04.003

- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P. The emergence of phox-ER stress induced immunogenic apoptosis. *OncoImmunology* (2012) 1(5):787–9. doi:10.4161/onci.19750
- 186. Liu Z, Zhang HM, Yuan J, Ye X, Taylor GA, Yang D. The immunity-related GTPase Irgm3 relieves endoplasmic reticulum stress response during *Coxsackievirus* B3 infection via a PI3K/Akt dependent pathway. *Cell Microbiol* (2012) 14(1):133–46. doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2011.01708.x
- 187. Bian J, Wang K, Kong X, Liu H, Chen F, Hu M, et al. Caspase- and p38-MAPK-dependent induction of apoptosis in A549 lung cancer cells by Newcastle disease virus. Arch Virol (2011) 156(8):1335–44. doi:10.1007/ s00705-011-0987-y
- 188. Garg AD, De Ruysscher D, Agostinis P. Immunological metagene signatures derived from immunogenic cancer cell death associate with improved survival of patients with lung, breast or ovarian malignancies: a large-scale meta-analysis. Oncoimmunology (2015). doi:10.1080/2162402X.2015.1069938
- Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Enlightening the impact of immunogenic cell death in photodynamic cancer therapy. *EMBO J* (2012) 31(5):1055–7. doi:10.1038/emboj.2012.2
- 190. Galluzzi L, Pietrocola F, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Amaravadi RK, Baehrecke EH, Cecconi F, et al. Autophagy in malignant transformation and cancer progression. *EMBOJ* (2015) 34(7):856–80. doi:10.15252/embj.201490784
- 191. Mattarollo SR, Loi S, Duret H, Ma Y, Zitvogel L, Smyth MJ. Pivotal role of innate and adaptive immunity in anthracycline chemotherapy of established tumors. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(14):4809–20. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-11-0753
- 192. Lin TJ, Lin HT, Chang WT, Mitapalli SP, Hsiao PW, Yin SY, et al. Shikoninenhanced cell immunogenicity of tumor vaccine is mediated by the differential effects of DAMP components. *Mol Cancer* (2015) 14:174. doi:10.1186/ s12943-015-0435-9
- 193. Ma Y, Aymeric L, Locher C, Mattarollo SR, Delahaye NF, Pereira P, et al. Contribution of IL-17-producing gamma delta T cells to the efficacy of anticancer chemotherapy. J Exp Med (2011) 208(3):491–503. doi:10.1084/ jem.20100269
- 194. Yang H, Yamazaki T, Pietrocola F, Zhou H, Zitvogel L, Ma Y, et al. STAT3 inhibition enhances the therapeutic efficacy of immunogenic chemotherapy by stimulating type 1 interferon production by cancer cells. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75(18):3812–22. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1122
- 195. Ciampricotti M, Hau CS, Doornebal CW, Jonkers J, de Visser KE. Chemotherapy response of spontaneous mammary tumors is independent of the adaptive immune system. *Nat Med* (2012) 18(3):344–6. doi:10.1038/ nm.2652
- Gould SE, Junttila MR, de Sauvage FJ. Translational value of mouse models in oncology drug development. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(5):431–9. doi:10.1038/ nm.3853
- 197. Tesniere A, Schlemmer F, Boige V, Kepp O, Martins I, Ghiringhelli F, et al. Immunogenic death of colon cancer cells treated with oxaliplatin. *Oncogene* (2010) 29(4):482–91. doi:10.1038/onc.2009.356
- 198. Hannesdottir L, Tymoszuk P, Parajuli N, Wasmer MH, Philipp S, Daschil N, et al. Lapatinib and doxorubicin enhance the Stat1-dependent antitumor immune response. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43(10):2718–29. doi:10.1002/eji.201242505
- 199. Michaud M, Xie X, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Zitvogel L, White E, Kroemer G. An autophagy-dependent anticancer immune response determines the efficacy of melanoma chemotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3(7):e944047. doi:10. 4161/21624011.2014.944047
- Demaria S, Santori FR, Ng B, Liebes L, Formenti SC, Vukmanovic S. Select forms of tumor cell apoptosis induce dendritic cell maturation. *J Leukoc Biol* (2005) 77(3):361–8. doi:10.1189/jlb.0804478
- 201. Schumacher LY, Vo DD, Garban HJ, Comin-Anduix B, Owens SK, Dissette VB, et al. Immunosensitization of tumor cells to dendritic cell-activated immune responses with the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib (PS-341, Velcade). *J Immunol* (2006) **176**(8):4757–65. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.8.4757
- 202. Chang CL, Hsu YT, Wu CC, Yang YC, Wang C, Wu TC, et al. Immune mechanism of the antitumor effects generated by bortezomib. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(6):3209–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103826

- 203. van der Most RG, Currie AJ, Mahendran S, Prosser A, Darabi A, Robinson BW, et al. Tumor eradication after cyclophosphamide depends on concurrent depletion of regulatory T cells: a role for cycling TNFR2-expressing effector-suppressor T cells in limiting effective chemotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58(8):1219–28. doi:10.1007/s00262-008-0628-9
- 204. Obeid M, Panaretakis T, Joza N, Tufi R, Tesniere A, van Endert P, et al. Calreticulin exposure is required for the immunogenicity of gamma-irradiation and UVC light-induced apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ* (2007) 14(10):1848–50. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402201
- Carr-Brendel V, Markovic D, Smith M, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Cohen EP. Immunity to breast cancer in mice immunized with X-irradiated breast cancer cells modified to secrete IL-12. *J Immunother* (1999) 22(5):415–22. doi:10.1097/00002371-199909000-00005
- 206. Strome SE, Voss S, Wilcox R, Wakefield TL, Tamada K, Flies D, et al. Strategies for antigen loading of dendritic cells to enhance the antitumor immune response. *Cancer Res* (2002) **62**(6):1884–9.
- 207. Prasad SJ, Farrand KJ, Matthews SA, Chang JH, McHugh RS, Ronchese F. Dendritic cells loaded with stressed tumor cells elicit long-lasting protective tumor immunity in mice depleted of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2005) **174**(1):90–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.1.90
- Yang H, Zhou P, Huang H, Chen D, Ma N, Cui QC, et al. Shikonin exerts antitumor activity via proteasome inhibition and cell death induction in vitro and in vivo. *Int J Cancer* (2009) 124(10):2450–9. doi:10.1002/ijc.24195
- Sharma P, Allison JP. The future of immune checkpoint therapy. Science (2015) 348(6230):56–61. doi:10.1126/science.aaa8172
- Viney M, Lazarou L, Abolins S. The laboratory mouse and wild immunology. *Parasite Immunol* (2015) 37(5):267–73. doi:10.1111/pim.12150
- Davis MM. A prescription for human immunology. *Immunity* (2008) 29(6):835–8. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.12.003
- Mestas J, Hughes CC. Of mice and not men: differences between mouse and human immunology. J Immunol (2004) 172(5):2731-8. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.172.5.2731
- Tubiana M. Klaas Breur medal lecture 1985. The growth and progression of human tumors: implications for management strategy. *Radiother Oncol* (1986) 6(3):167–84. doi:10.1016/S0167-8140(86)80151-7
- 214. Klein CA. Parallel progression of primary tumours and metastases. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2009) **9**(4):302–12. doi:10.1038/nrc2627
- 215. Yamazaki T, Hannani D, Poirier-Colame V, Ladoire S, Locher C, Sistigu A, et al. Defective immunogenic cell death of HMGB1-deficient tumors: compensatory therapy with TLR4 agonists. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) **21**(1):69–78. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.72
- 216. Loi S, Pommey S, Haibe-Kains B, Beavis PA, Darcy PK, Smyth MJ, et al. CD73 promotes anthracycline resistance and poor prognosis in triple negative breast cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) **110**(27):11091–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1222251110
- 217. Shalapour S, Font-Burgada J, Di Caro G, Zhong Z, Sanchez-Lopez E, Dhar D, et al. Immunosuppressive plasma cells impede T-cell-dependent immunogenic chemotherapy. *Nature* (2015) **521**(7550):94–8. doi:10.1038/ nature14395
- 218. De Boo S, Kopecka J, Brusa D, Gazzano E, Matera L, Ghigo D, et al. iNOS activity is necessary for the cytotoxic and immunogenic effects of doxorubicin in human colon cancer cells. *Mol Cancer* (2009) 8:108. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-8-108
- 219. Riganti C, Castella B, Kopecka J, Campia I, Coscia M, Pescarmona G, et al. Zoledronic acid restores doxorubicin chemosensitivity and immunogenic cell death in multidrug-resistant human cancer cells. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(4):e60975. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0060975
- 220. Stoll G, Enot D, Mlecnik B, Galon J, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunerelated gene signatures predict the outcome of neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3(1):e27884. doi:10.4161/onci.27884
- 221. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) **12**(4):252–64. doi:10.1038/nrc3239
- 222. Galon J, Angell HK, Bedognetti D, Marincola FM. The continuum of cancer immunosurveillance: prognostic, predictive, and mechanistic signatures. *Immunity* (2013) 39(1):11–26. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.008
- 223. Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12(4):298–306. doi:10.1038/nrc3245

- Zitvogel L, Tesniere A, Kroemer G. Cancer despite immunosurveillance: immunoselection and immunosubversion. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) 6(10):715–27. doi:10.1038/nri1936
- 225. Ladoire S, Penault-Llorca F, Senovilla L, Dalban C, Enot D, Locher C, et al. Combined evaluation of LC3B puncta and HMGB1 expression predicts residual risk of relapse after adjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer. *Autophagy* (2015) 11(10):1878–90. doi:10.1080/15548627.2015.1082022
- 226. Kacerovska D, Pizinger K, Majer F, Smid F. Photodynamic therapy of nonmelanoma skin cancer with topical *Hypericum perforatum* extract – a pilot study. *Photochem Photobiol* (2008) 84(3):779–85. doi:10.1111/j.1751-1097.2007.00260.x
- 227. Rook AH, Wood GS, Duvic M, Vonderheid EC, Tobia A, Cabana B. A phase II placebo-controlled study of photodynamic therapy with topical hypericin and visible light irradiation in the treatment of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma and psoriasis. *J Am Acad Dermatol* (2010) **63**(6):984–90. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2010.02.039
- 228. Koren H, Schenk GM, Jindra RH, Alth G, Ebermann R, Kubin A, et al. Hypericin in phototherapy. J Photochem Photobiol B (1996) 36(2):113–9. doi:10.1016/S1011-1344(96)07357-5
- 229. Alecu M, Ursaciuc C, Halalau F, Coman G, Merlevede W, Waelkens E, et al. Photodynamic treatment of basal cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma with hypericin. *Anticancer Res* (1998) 18(6B):4651–4.
- Liikanen I, Koski A, Merisalo-Soikkeli M, Hemminki O, Oksanen M, Kairemo K, et al. Serum HMGB1 is a predictive and prognostic biomarker for oncolytic immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2015) 4(3):e989771. doi:10 .4161/2162402X.2014.989771
- 231. Agostinis P, Berg K, Cengel KA, Foster TH, Girotti AW, Gollnick SO, et al. Photodynamic therapy of cancer: an update. CA Cancer J Clin (2011) 61(4):250–81. doi:10.3322/caac.20114
- 232. Suzuki Y, Mimura K, Yoshimoto Y, Watanabe M, Ohkubo Y, Izawa S, et al. Immunogenic tumor cell death induced by chemoradiotherapy in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(16):3967–76. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0851
- 233. Zappasodi R, Pupa SM, Ghedini GC, Bongarzone I, Magni M, Cabras AD, et al. Improved clinical outcome in indolent B-cell lymphoma patients vaccinated with autologous tumor cells experiencing immunogenic death. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(22):9062–72. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1825
- Baitsch L, Fuertes-Marraco SA, Legat A, Meyer C, Speiser DE. The three main stumbling blocks for anticancer T cells. *Trends Immunol* (2012) 33(7):364–72. doi:10.1016/j.it.2012.02.006
- Redmond WL, Sherman LA. Peripheral tolerance of CD8 T lymphocytes. *Immunity* (2005) 22(3):275–84. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.01.010
- Cole DK, Pumphrey NJ, Boulter JM, Sami M, Bell JI, Gostick E, et al. Human TCR-binding affinity is governed by MHC class restriction. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(9):5727–34. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.9.5727
- 237. Schmid DA, Irving MB, Posevitz V, Hebeisen M, Posevitz-Fejfar A, Sarria JC, et al. Evidence for a TCR affinity threshold delimiting maximal CD8 T cell function. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(9):4936–46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000173
- Zehn D, Bevan MJ. T cells with low avidity for a tissue-restricted antigen routinely evade central and peripheral tolerance and cause autoimmunity. *Immunity* (2006) 25(2):261–70. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.06.009
- 239. Baumgaertner P, Jandus C, Rivals JP, Derre L, Lovgren T, Baitsch L, et al. Vaccination-induced functional competence of circulating human tumor-specific CD8 T-cells. *Int J Cancer* (2012) **130**(11):2607–17. doi:10.1002/ijc.26297
- Gubin MM, Artyomov MN, Mardis ER, Schreiber RD. Tumor neoantigens: building a framework for personalized cancer immunotherapy. *J Clin Invest* (2015) 125(9):3413–21. doi:10.1172/JCI80008
- 241. Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. *Science* (2015) **348**(6230):69–74. doi:10.1126/science.aaa4971
- 242. Twyman-Saint Victor C, Rech AJ, Maity A, Rengan R, Pauken KE, Stelekati E, et al. Radiation and dual checkpoint blockade activate non-redundant immune mechanisms in cancer. *Nature* (2015) 520(7547):373–7. doi:10.1038/nature14292
- 243. Ochsenbein AF, Klenerman P, Karrer U, Ludewig B, Pericin M, Hengartner H, et al. Immune surveillance against a solid tumor fails because of immunological ignorance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1999) 96(5):2233–8. doi:10.1073/ pnas.96.5.2233
- 244. Chu-Yuan H, Jing P, Yi-Sheng W, He-Ping P, Hui Y, Chu-Xiong Z, et al. The impact of chemotherapy-associated neutrophil/lymphocyte counts

on prognosis of adjuvant chemotherapy in colorectal cancer. *BMC Cancer* (2013) **13**:177. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-13-177

- 245. Inoges S, Rodriguez-Calvillo M, Zabalegui N, Lopez-Diaz de Cerio A, Villanueva H, Soria E, et al. Clinical benefit associated with idiotypic vaccination in patients with follicular lymphoma. J Natl Cancer Inst (2006) 98(18):1292–301. doi:10.1093/jnci/djj358
- 246. Kakarla S, Gottschalk S. CAR T cells for solid tumors: armed and ready to go? Cancer J (2014) **20**(2):151–5. doi:10.1097/PPO.00000000000032

Conflict of Interest Statement: Akseli Hemminki is shareholder in Targovax AG and TILT Biotherapeutics Ltd. The remaining authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Copyright © 2015 Garg, Galluzzi, Apetoh, Baert, Birge, Bravo-San Pedro, Breckpot, Brough, Chaurio, Cirone, Coosemans, Coulie, De Ruysscher, Dini, de Witte, Dudek-Peric, Faggioni, Fucikova, Gaipl, Golab, Gougeon, Hamblin, Hemminki, Herrmann, Hodge, Kepp, Kroemer, Krysko, Land, Madeo, Manfredi, Mattarollo, Maueroder, Merendino, Mulhoff, Pabst, Ricci, Riganti, Romano, Rufo, Smyth, Sonnemann, Spisek, Stagg, Vacchelli, Vandenabeele, Vandenberk, Van den Eynde, Van Gool, Velotti, Zitvogel and Agostinis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

TABLES

TABLE 1 | A list of prominent damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) associated with cell death pathways or extracellular matrix.

DAMPs	Localization and mode-of-emission	Relevant cell death pathway	Receptors	Reference
Annexin A1	Surface exposed or actively/ passively released?	Apoptosis	FPR-1 receptor	(33)
Adenosine triphosphate	Actively or passively released	ICD, apoptosis/secondary necrosis and necrosis	P_2Y_2 and P_2x_7	(34–37)
B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2	Passive release	Necrosis	TLR2	(38)
Biglycan	Extracellular matrix	-	TLR2, TLR4, P_2x_4 , and P_2x_7	(39, 40)
Calreticulin	Mostly surface exposed; sometimes passively released	ICD	CD91	(35, 41–44)
Cardiolipin	Surface exposed?	Apoptosis	?	(45, 46)
Ceramide and sphingosine-1-phosphate	Surface exposed	Apoptosis	?	(47)
Covalent/cross-linked dimer of ribosomal protein S19	Passively released?	Apoptosis	CD88	(48–51)
Carbamoyl-phosphate synthase 1	?	?	?	(52)
Cyclophilin A	Passive release	Necrosis	CD147	(53)
Cytochrome c	Passively released?	Secondary necrosis and necrosis?	LPG?	(54, 55)
Death domain 1α	Surface exposed	Apoptosis	DD1α	(56)
Endothelial monocyte-activating polypeptide II	Passively released?	Apoptosis	CXCR3?	(50, 57, 58
F-actin	Passive release	Necrosis	DNGR-1/Clec9a	(59)
Fibrinogen	Extracellular matrix	-	TLR4	(40)
Fibronectin extra domain A	Extracellular matrix	-	TLR4?	(40)
Fragments of human tyrosyl tRNA synthetase	Passively released?	Apoptosis	?	(50)
Genomic DNA, mRNA, snRNPs	Passive release	Necrosis	TLR3	(3, 60, 61)
GRP78/BiP	Passive release	Necrosis, apoptosis?	?	(31)
H ₂ O ₂	?	Apoptosis	?	(62)
Heat shock proteins (HSP70, HSP90, HSP60, HSP72, and GP96)	Surface exposure, active secretion, or passive release	ICD, apoptosis/secondary necrosis, necrosis	CD91, TLR2, TLR4, SREC-1 and FEEL-1	(63–67)
Heparan sulfate fragments	Extracellular matrix	-	TLR4	(40)
Hepatoma-derived growth factor	Passively released	Necrosis	?	(68)
Histones	Passively released	Necrosis	TLR-9	(69)
High-mobility group box 1	Mostly passively released; sometimes actively released	ICD, secondary necrosis and necrosis	TLR2, TLR4, RAGE and TIM3	(70–73)
High-mobility group nucleosome binding domain 1	Passive release	Necrosis	TLR4	(74)
Hyaluronan	Extracellular matrix	-	TLR2 and TLR4	(40)
IL-1α	Passive release	Necrosis	IL-1R	(75)
IL-33	Passive release	Necrosis	ST2	(3, 61)
IL-6	Passive release	Necrosis	IL-6R and GP130	(76)
Lysophosphatidylcholine	Passively released?	Apoptosis	G2A	(50, 77)
Mit DNA	Passively released	Necrosis	TLR-9	(78–80)
Monosodium urate or uric acid	Passively released	Necrosis	Purinergic receptors	(50, 81)
N-formylated peptides	Passively released	Necrosis	FPR-1	(78, 82–84)
Oxidation-associated molecular patterns (reactive protein carbonyls, per-oxidized phospholipids, oxidized low-density lipoprotein)	Passively released	Necrosis, Secondary necrosis	CD36, SR-A, TLR- 2/4, CD14	(85–87)
Peroxiredoxin 1	Actively secreted or passively released	Apoptosis, necrosis	TLR4	(88)

TABLE 1 | Continued

•				
DAMPs	Localization and mode-of-emission	Relevant cell death pathway	Receptors	Reference
Phosphatidylserine	Actively externalized on the surface	Apoptosis	TIM-1/-3/-4, BAI1, Stabilin-2, MFG-E8, C1q	(56, 89–93)
S100/calgranulin protein family members (S100A8, S100A9, S100A12/EN-RAGE)	Passively released	Necrosis	RAGE	(50, 94)
Tenascin-C	Extracellular matrix	-	TLR4?	(95)
Thrombospondin 1 and its heparin-binding domain	Passively released or surface associated	Apoptosis	$\alpha_{\!\scriptscriptstyle V}\beta_{\!\scriptscriptstyle 3}$ integrin	(50, 96)
Versican	Extracellular matrix	-	TLR2, TLR6, and CD14	(40)

CD, cluster of differentiation; CLEC9A, C-type lectin domain family 9, member A; CPS-1, carbamoyl-phosphate synthase 1, mitochondrial; CXCR3, C-X-C motif receptor 3; FEEL-1/ CLEVER-1, fasciclin EGF-like/common lymphatic endothelial and vascular endothelial receptor-1; FPR-1, formyl peptides receptor-1; G2A, G2 accumulation; HMGB1, high-mobility group box 1; HSP, heat shock proteins; ICD, immunogenic cell death; IL, interleukin; LPG, leucine-rich alpha-2-glycoprotein-1; MFG-E8, milk fat globule-egf factor 8 protein; Mit DNA, mitochondrial DNA; P2XR, P2X receptor; P2YR, P2Y receptor; RAGE, receptor for advanced glycation endproducts; SREC-1, scavenger receptor class f member 1; TFAM, mitochondrial transcription factor A; TIM, transmembrane immunoglobulin and mucin domain; TLR, toll-like receptor(s).

Glossary (5, 19, 97): (1) Necrosis: primary necrosis is a form of cell death that can occur in a regulated or accidental manner, characterized by cellular swelling and rapid breakdown of the plasma membrane; (2) Necroptosis: necroptosis is a form of regulated cell death (RCD) manifesting with necrotic morphology and controlled by a signaling cascade involving (among other proteins) RIPK1, RIPK3, and MLKL; (3) Apoptosis: apoptosis is a form of RCD largely dependent on caspases activity and morphologically characterized by cell shrinkage, membrane blebbing, formation of apoptotic bodies, chromatin condensation, and systematic DNA fragmentation; (4) Secondary Necrosis: Secondary necrosis is a terminal process experienced by late-apoptotic cells if they are not cleared by phagocytes in time, and is characterized by general spill-over of apoptotic cellular contents.

TABLE 2 | Danger signaling pathways characterized as traffickers of DAMPs.

DAMPs	Role of ROS	Role of ER stress	Role of autophagy	Role of chaperone- mediated autophagy	Role of secretory pathway	Caspase activity	Role of lysosomes	Comments	Reference
Secreted ATP	+	+/0	+/0	0	+/0	+	+/0	Underlying pathway is highly inducer dependent	(34, 35, 111–113)
Released HMGB1	0	0	+	?	0	-	?	Mostly released passively on account of necrosis; only DT-EGF reported to cause active secretion so far	(73, 114, 115)
Secreted or surface HSP70	?	?	?	?	?	+	+	ABC transporters help in endolysosomal- secretion; HSP70 has also been reported to be secreted in an exosome surface-bound format	(116–122)
Surface CRT	+	+	-/0	+	+	+/0	?	LRP1/lipid rafts mediate surface tethering; components that positively regulate surface-CRT in an inducer-dependent fashion: ERp57, PI3K p110 α , BAX/BAK, cytosolic ER-Ca ²⁺ , BAP31; of note, anthracycline-induced pathway of surface CRT induction has been found to be conserved from yeast to mammals	(34, 35, 111, 112, 116, 123, 124)
Surface HSP90	+	+	-	?	+	+	?	-	(30, 125)

"+" denotes ability to positively regulate trafficking; "-" denotes ability to negatively regulate trafficking; "0" denotes confirmation of no role in regulation of trafficking and "?" denotes that the role in regulating the trafficking is unknown; "+/0" denotes positive or no role in regulation of trafficking in an inducer-dependent fashion; "-/0" denotes negative or no role in regulation of trafficking in an inducer-dependent fashion.

ATP, adenosine triphosphate; CRT, calreticulin; DT-EGF, epidermal growth factor receptor-targeted diphtheria toxin; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; HMGB1, high-mobility group box 1 protein; HSP, heat shock protein; LRP1, low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1; ROS, reactive oxygen species.

ICD inducers	Associated ICD	-relevant DAMPs	Other immunostimulatory activities or danger signals and other	Reference
	DAMP	Stage of cell death	comments on immunomodulatory activity	
Anthracyclines (epirubicin, doxorubicin, idarubicin, mitoxantrone), oxaliplatin, UVC radiation and radiotherapy	Surface CRT Surface HSP70 Secreted ATP Released HMGB1	Pre-apoptotic Mid-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic Post-apoptotic	Activation of Type I IFN response comprising MX-1 centered signature, consisting of IFN- α/β and CXCL10; surface exposure of mannose-6-phopshate receptor, which enables better interface with CTLs and facilitates GZMB-mediated cell death; radiotherapy is known to increase expression levels of various antigens in number of cancer models as well as induce "abscopal effect" in both preclinical and clinical models; overall <i>CALR</i> levels were predictive of prolonged OS in radiotherapy-treated lung cancer patients	(26, 42, 102, 127, 141–144)
Anti-EGFR antibody – 7A7	Surface CRT Surface HSP70 Surface HSP90	Pre-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic	-	(145)
Bleomycin	Surface CRT Secreted ATP Released HMGB1	Mid/post-apoptotic Mid/post-apoptotic Post-apoptotic	Induces ambivalent immune response, i.e., all valid ICD markers but also increased Treg differentiation and, thus, a good candidate for anti-Treg combinatorial therapy	(146)
Bortezomib	Surface HSP90 Surface CRT Surface HSP70	Early/mid-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic	_	(26, 66, 100, 127)
Oncolytic Adenovirus	Surface CRT Released ATP Released HMGB1	?	Immunogenicity of these viruses can be further increased by producing transgenic versions producing CD40L or GM-CSF	(147, 148)
Clostridium difficile toxin B	Surface CRT Released ATP Released HMGB1 Released HSP70/90	Early/mid-apoptotic Post-apoptotic Post-apoptotic Post-apoptotic	_	(149)
Coxsackievirus B3 (CVB3)#	Surface CRT Secreted ATP Released HMGB1	Early-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic Post-apoptotic	_	(150, 151)
Cyclophosphamide	Surface CRT Released HMGB1	Pre-apoptotic Post-apoptotic	Facilitates an interface between gut microbiota (leaked due to gut perforation) and host immune system thereby allowing Th17 cells-dependent anti-tumor immune responses; cyclophosphamide's effects on anti-tumor immunity are strongly dose dependent. High doses of this chemotherapeutic can be immunosuppressive yet low or metronomic doses facilitate anti-tumor immunity through targeted depletion of Tregs/MDSCs. In ICD set-up, a low dose (100 mg/kg in mice) of cyclophosphamide was shown to exert anti-tumor immunity	(18, 152, 153)
High hydrostatic pressure	Surface CRT Surface HSP70 Surface HSP90 Secreted ATP Released HMGB1	Early/mid-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic Mid/post-apoptotic Mid/post-apoptotic	_	(154–156)
Hypericin-based PDT	Surface CRT Surface HSP70 Surface HSP90 Secreted ATP Released HMGB1 Released HSP70/90 Released CRT	Pre-apoptotic Pre-apoptotic Pre-apoptotic Pre-apoptotic Post-apoptotic Post-apoptotic Post-apoptotic	High accumulation of OAMPs like protein carbonyls; down-regulates CD47; induces up-regulation of various molecules associated with Type I IFN response (<i>IRF7</i> , <i>IRF1</i> , <i>OASL</i> , <i>IL18</i> , <i>CXCL2</i> , <i>IL15</i> , <i>IL8</i>) but not IFN-α secretion	(26, 30, 34, 35, 112, 116, 157)
Microwave thermal ablation	Surface CRT Secreted ATP Released HMGB1	?	_	(158)
Newcastle disease virus (NDV)	Surface CRT Released HMGB1	Early/mid-necroptotic Post-necroptotic	Increases expression levels of PMEL17 antigen in glioma cells; NDV treatment has also been shown to induce "abscopal effect" in a murine melanoma model	(43, 159)
Paclitaxel	Surface CRT Released HMGB1	Early/mid-apoptotic Post-apoptotic	Overall <i>CALR</i> levels were predictive of prolonged OS or PFS in paclitaxel- treated ovarian cancer patients thereby establishing clinical validity of ICD in paclitaxel treatment set-up; paclitaxel has also been reported to enhance overall antigen levels	(42, 144, 160)

TABLE 3 | A list of prominent single-agent immunogenic cell death (ICD) inducers in cancer and their specific associations with danger signaling and other immunostimulatory signaling.

TABLE 3 | Continued

ICD inducers	Associated ICD-relevant DAMPs DAMP Stage of cell death		Other immunostimulatory activities or danger signals and other	Reference
			mments on immunomodulatory activity	
Patupilone	Surface CRT	Early/mid-apoptotic	-	(128)
Photofrin-based PDT	Surface CRT Surface HSP70/60 Released HMGB1 Surface ceramide Surface S1P	Early/mid-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic Post-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic	The only anticancer modality for which a comparison between DAMPs induced by <i>in vitro</i> versus <i>in vivo</i> treatment was carried out – however, none of ICD-related DAMPs were tested	(47, 161–164)
Pt ^{II} N-heterocyclic carbene complex	Surface CRT Released ATP Released HMGB1	Pre-apoptotic Post-apoptotic Post-apoptotic	-	(140)
RIG-I-like helicases (RLH) ligand	Surface CRT Released HMGB1 Released HSP70	Early-apoptotic Post-apoptotic Post-apoptotic	Induces Type I IFN response	(165)
Septacidin	Surface CRT Secreted ATP Released HMGB1	Pre-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic Post-apoptotic	-	(139)
Shikonin	Surface CRT Surface HSP70	Early/mid-apoptotic Early/mid-apoptotic	Also, causes surface exposure of GRP78 a prominent inducer of pro- tumorigenic effects; enhances overall cancer antigen levels	(160)
Vorinostat	Surface CRT Secreted ATP Released HMGB1	Early/mid-apoptotic Post-apoptotic Post-apoptotic	-	(166)
Wogonin	Surface CRT Released ATP Released HMGB1	Early-apoptotic Post-apoptotic Post-apoptotic	Surface-Annexin A1 is also induced by wogonin. In an ICD set-up, the role of Annexin A1 is not clear since it is a noted anti-inflammatory factor	(167)

CRT or CALR, calreticulin; CTLs, cytotoxic T lymphocytes; DAMPs, damage-associated molecular patterns; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; GZMB, granzyme B; HMGB1, high-mobility group box-1 protein; HSP, heat shock protein; ICD, immunogenic cell death; IFN, interferon; MDSC, myeloid-derived suppressor cells; OAMPs, oxidation-associated molecular patterns; OS, overall survival; PFS, progression-free survival.

Important note: It is worth noting that recently various promising candidate therapies have emerged that induce in vitro DAMPs relevant for ICD, e.g., Rose Bengal-based PDT (168), Docosahexaenoic acid (169), and Capsaicin (170, 171). Such agents may emerge as potent inducers of ICD in future, however, in order to establish them as inducers of ICD-like immunogenicity, it is imperative to confirm their (i.e., cancer cells treated with these agents) ability to stimulate T cells (in vitro or in vivo) and/or induce anti-cancer vaccination effect, in vivo, as per the consensus guidelines (104).

Glossary: In the current setting, it is crucial to differentiate between the meanings of the words, "immunogenic" and "immunogenicty" as they are not supposed to have interchangeable meanings. Immunogenic, derives from the word immunogen, which refers to any substance that can elicit an immune response; this includes, whole cells or organisms (eukaryotic or prokaryotic), specific cellular entities or specific proteins (e.g., antigens) (172). On the other hand, immunogenicity is a much more specific terms that is closer to antigenicity in operational sense, since it refers to the ability of a specific entity (e.g., an antigen or an epitope) to be recognized by the immune system through binding interactions with T or B cells, which may or may not result in an overt immunological response (4, 11).

"?" Unclear or not determined yet.

"#" Unconfirmed anti-tumour immune responses in adaptive immune system-competent.

TABLE 4 | Classification of ICD inducers into Type I and Type II based on their ER or non-ER-targeting modus operandi.

ICD inducer	Site of Cell-death inducing effects	Site of danger signaling induction	Reference
Type I inducers – agents that induce icd through a "co	ollateral" er stress effect		
Anthracyclines (epirubicin, doxorubicin, idarubicin, mitoxantrone), oxaliplatin, UVC radiation and radiotherapy	Nucleus (DNA or the DNA replication machinery proteins)	ER, autophagy, pannexin channels, lysosomes	(36, 41, 70, 111, 130, 173, 174)
Anti-EGFR antibody – 7A7	Cell surface (epidermal growth factor receptor or EGFR)	ER	(145)
Bleomycin	Nucleus (causes DNA strand-breaks)	ER?	(146)
Bortezomib	Cytosol (26S proteasome or ERAD machinery; CIP2A/cancerous inhibitor of protein phosphatase 2A)	ER	(100, 175, 176)
Clostridium difficile toxin B	Cytoskeleton (causes cytoskeletal disruption by targeting RhoA, CDC42 and Rac1)	ER	(149, 177)
Cyclophosphamide	Nucleus (DNA)	ER	(152)
High hydrostatic pressure	Broad disrupting/denaturing effects on membranes, and proteins	ER (mitochondria?)	(154, 178)
Microwave thermal ablation	Hyperthermic ablation of cellular components	ER?	(158)
Paclitaxel, patupilone	Cytoskeleton (target microtubules thereby disrupting cytoskeletal functions)	ER	(42, 104, 179)
Photofrin-based PDT	Cellular membranes (ROS-based damage of membranes)	ER?	(180, 181)
RIG-I-like helicases (RLH) ligand	Cytosol (targets RIG-I-like helicases)	ER?	(165)
Septacidin	?	ER	(139)
Shikonin	Cytosol (tumor-specific pyruvate kinase-M2 protein)	ER	(160, 182)
Vorinostat	Nucleus/Cytosol (targets histone deacetylase)	ER?	(166)
Wogonin	Mitochondria (generates mitochondria-derived ROS)	ER	(167, 183)
Type II inducers - agents that induce icd through a "fo	ocused" er stress effect		
Hypericin-based PDT	ER (ROS-based damage at the ER membrane)	ER	(35, 63, 116, 181, 184, 185)
Oncolytic adenovirus	ER (ER membranes and lumen)	ER	(104, 147)
Oncolytic coxsackievirus B3 (CVB3)	ER (ER membranes and lumen)	ER	(150, 186)
Oncolytic Newcastle disease virus (NDV)	ER (ER membranes and lumen)	ER	(43, 159, 187)
Pt ^{II} N-heterocyclic carbene complex	Predominantly targets ER (generates ER-directed ROS)	ER	(140)

EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; ICD, immunogenic cell death; PDT, photodynamic therapy; ROS, reactive oxygen species. "?" Unclear or not determined yet.

TABLE 5 | A list of molecular and immunological components crucial for regulation of ICD.

Molecular or immunological	Acting on the level of?				Confirmed by which experimental intervention?	Reference
components		Positive regulation	Negative regulation	No role in regulation		
Actin cytoskeleton	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines, hypericin-PDT	-	-	Pharmacological inhibitors of actin polymerization	(35, 123)
ATG5, ATG7, or BECN1	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines, oxaliplatin	Hypericin-PDT	Newcastle disease virotherapy	ATG5, ATG7 or BECN1 si/shRNA, ATG5 KO MEFs, or transgenic mice model of spontaneous melanoma with Atg7 ^{-/-} phenotype or pharmacological inhibitors of macroautophagy	(34, 43, 112)
BAX/BAK	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines, hypericin-PDT	-	-	BAX/BAK KO MEFs or Bax/Bak si/ shRNA	(35, 123)
Calreticulin	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines, radiotherapy, oxaliplatin, hypericin-PDT	-	-	CRT si/shRNA	(35, 41, 116, 123)
Caspase 1	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	Casp1-/- mice	(36)
Caspase-8	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines	-	Hypericin- PDT	Caspase-8 si/shRNA or HeLa cancer cells expressing CrmA (a caspase-8 inhibitory protein)	(35, 123)
CD4+/CD8+ T cells	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin, hypericin-PDT, high hydrostatic pressure, bortezomib, vorinostat, photofrin-PDT, Newcastle disease virotherapy, cyclophosphamide	-	-	Antibody-based depletion; <i>Ex vivo</i> co-culture experiments	(34, 43, 100, 102, 152, 161 162, 166, 191
CXCL10	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	Recombinant protein	(102, 141)
CXCR3	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	<i>Cxcr3-/-</i> mice or antibody-based blockade	(141)
elF2α-P	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines	-	Hypericin- PDT	MEFs expressing non-phosphorylable version of elF2α-P, salubrinal or pharmacological inhibitors of GADD34	(35, 123)
ER-Ca ²⁺	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines	-	Hypericin- PDT	BAPTA, a Ca ²⁺ chelator or Reticulon-1C overexpression;	(35)
ERp57	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines	-	Hypericin- PDT	ERp57 si/shRNA or ERp57 KO MEFs	(35, 116)
ER-to-Golgi transport	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines, hypericin-PDT	-	-	Brefeldin A, a secretory pathway inhibitor	(35, 123)
HMGB1	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines	-	-	HMGB1 si/shRNA	(70)
HSP90	Cancer cells	Bortezomib	-	-	Pharmacological HSP90 inhibitors	(66, 67, 100)
HSP70	Cancer cells	Shikonin	-	-	Antibody-mediated protein depletion	(192)
IFN-α/β or IFN-α-receptor	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines, cyclophosphamide, and/or oxaliplatin	_	-	Antibody-based blockade or recombinant proteins (wherever applicable)	(141, 152)
IFN-γ and IFN-γ-receptor	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	<i>lfng^{-/-}</i> or <i>lfngr1^{-/-}</i> mice	(70, 102)
IL17A or IL17A-receptor	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	<i>ll17a^{-/-}</i> or <i>ll17ra^{-/-}</i> mice	(36, 193)
IL1-receptor	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	<i>ll1r1-/-</i> mice	(36)
IL-1β	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	Antibody-based blockade	(36)
Lipid rafts	Cancer cells	Mitoxantrone	-	Hypericin- PDT	MBC, a cholesterol-chelator that disrupts lipid rafts	(35)

(Continued)

TABLE 5 | Continued

Molecular or immunological	Acting on the level of?			Confirmed by which experimental intervention?	Reference	
components		Positive regulation	Negative regulation	No role in regulation		
LRP1	Cancer cells	Mitoxantrone, hypericin-PDT	-	-	LRP1 shRNA, LRP1 KO MEFs, LRP1 KO CHO cells and LRP1 overexpression in CHO cells	(35)
LY96 and MyD88 (TLR-adaptors)	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	<i>Ly</i> 96 ^{-/-} or <i>Myd</i> 88 ^{-/-} mice	(102)
NLRP3	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	<i>Nlrp3^{-/-}</i> mice	(36)
P2 × 7 receptor	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	<i>P2rx7-/-</i> mice	(36)
Perforin	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	Prf1-/- mice	(36, 70, 102)
PERK	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines, hypericin-PDT, wogonin	-	-	PERK si/shRNA, PERK KO MEFs	(35, 123, 167)
ΡΙ3Κ p110α	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines, hypericin-PDT, wogonin	-	-	PI3K p110α shRNA or wortmannin, a pharmacological inhibitor	(35, 167)
Rag2	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin, vorinostat, cyclophosphamide, photofrin-PDT, Newcastle disease virotherapy	-	-	<i>Rag2^{-/-}</i> mice	(43, 70, 102, 152, 161, 162, 166)
STAT3	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	Stat3-/- cancer cells	(194)
TLR3	Cancer cells	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	TLR3 si/shRNA or Tlr3-/- cancer cells	(141)
TLR4	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	<i>Tlr4-/-</i> mice	(70, 102)
TNF or TNF-receptor	Host immune system	Anthracyclines and/or oxaliplatin	-	-	Tnf-/- or Tnfr1-/- mice	(102)
LAMP2A	Cancer cells?	Mitoxantrone and hypericin-PDT	-	-	LAMP2A KO MEFs	(112)

ATG, autophagy-related protein; BECN1, beclin-1; CD, cluster of differentiation; CRT, calreticulin; CXCL, C-X-C ligand; CXCR, C-X-C motif receptor; elF2, eukaryotic initiation factor 2; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; ERp57, endoplasmic reticulum protein 57; HMGB1, high-mobility group box 1; HSP, heat shock protein; Hyp-PDT, hypericin-based photodynamic therapy; ICD, immunogenic cell death; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; KO MEFs, knock-out murine embryonic fibroblasts; LAMP, lysosome-associated membrane glycoprotein; LRP1, low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1; MBC, methyl-₈-cyclodextrin; NLRP3, NOD-like receptor family, pyrin domain containing 3; PERK, protein kinase RNA-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase; Pl3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; PRF, perforin; TLR, toll-like receptor; TNF, tumor necrosis factor.

TABLE 6 | A list of prominent preclinical mice or rat models used for analysis of ICD.

ICD inducer	Mice tumor models utilized for positive ICD characterization or ICD "restoration/rescue" analysis						
	Heterotopic subcutaneous mice or rat models	Orthotopic mice models	Spontaneous tumor mice models	Carcinogen-induced tumor models			
Anthracyclines	CT26 cells in BALB/c mice – prophylactic immunization model (41, 70, 111, 123, 197) and curative tumor model (41, 70, 111, 197); MCA205 cells in C57BL/6 mice – prophylactic immunization and curative tumor model (36, 70, 111, 130); MCA-2/-4 cells in C57BL/6 mice – curative tumor model (36); D122 cells in C57BL/6 mice – prophylactic immunization model (145); AY27 cells in Fischer 344 rats – prophylactic immunization model (42)	-	MMTV- <i>Neu</i> T breast cancer mice model – curative set-up (198); <i>Bral^{Ca/+}</i> ; <i>Pten¹⁰¹</i> -melanoma mice model – curative set-up (199)				
Anti-EGFR antibody (7A7)	D122 cells in C57BL/6 mice – curative tumor model and prophylactic immunization model (145)	-	-	-			
Bleomycin	CT26 cells in BALB/c mice – curative tumor model (146)	-	-	-			

(Continued)

TABLE 6 | Continued

ICD inducer	Mice tumor models utilized for positive ICD char	r positive ICD characterization or ICD "restoration/rescue" analysis				
	Heterotopic subcutaneous mice or rat models	Orthotopic mice models	Spontaneous tumor mice models	Carcinogen-induced tumor models		
Bortezomib	67NR cells in BALB/c mice – prophylactic immunization model with use of stimulated DCs (200); B16 cells in C57BL/6 mice – curative tumor model, combination treatment with AdVMART1/DC and bortezomib is significantly better than bortezomib alone (201); HM-1 cells in C57BL/6 x C3/He F ₁ origin mice – prophylactic immunization model (202)	-	_	_		
CD40L-encoding Oncolytic Adenovirus	MB49 cells in C57BL/6 mice – curative tumor model (147)	-	-	-		
<i>Clostridium difficile</i> toxin B	CT26 cells in BALB/c mice – prophylactic immunization model (149)	-	-	-		
Coxsackievirus B3	A549 and EBC-1 cells in nude BALB/c mice – curative tumor model (150)	-	-	-		
Cyclophosphamide	EG7 cells in C57BL/6 mice (152); AB1-HA cells in BALB/c mice – curative tumor model followed by resistance to challenge with live cells (203)	-	-	-		
Hypericin-based PDT	CT26 cells in BALB/c mice – prophylactic immunization model (35); – curative tumor model (184); AY27 cells in Fischer 344 rats – prophylactic immunization model (42); B78 cells in C57BL/6 mice – prophylactic immunization model (30)	-	-	-		
Microwave thermal ablation	K7M2 cells in BALB/c mice or UMR106 cells in SD rats – prophylactic immunization model (158)	-	-	-		
Newcastle disease virus (NDV)	B16 cells in C57BL/6 mice – curative tumor model (159)	GL261 cells in C57BL/6 mice – curative tumor model (43)	-	-		
Oxaliplatin	CT26 cells in BALB/c mice – prophylactic immunization model (123, 197); – curative tumor model (197); EL4 cells in C57BL/6 mice – curative tumor model (36); EG7 cells in C57BL/6 mice – curative tumor model (36); EG7 cells in C3H mice – prophylactic immunization model (70)	-	-	-		
Photofrin-based PDT	EMT6 cells in BALB/c mice – curative tumor model (161); SCCVII cells in C3H/HeN mice – curative tumor model (162, 163)	-	-	-		
Radiotherapy	CT26 cells in BALB/c – prophylactic immunization model (204); 410.4 cells in BALB/c mice – prophylactic immunization model (205); EG7 cells in C57BL/6 mice and SCC VII cells in C3H mice – prophylactic immunization model (206); B16F10 cells in C57BL/6 mice – prophylactic immunization model with the use of irradiated cancer cells, as well as DCs stimulated with irradiated cancer cells (207)	-	_	-		
RIG-I-like helicases (RLH) ligand	Panc02 cells in C57BL/6 mice – prophylactic immunization and curative tumor model (165)	-	-	-		
Septacidin	MCA205 cells in BALB/c mice – prophylactic set-up (139);	-	-	-		
Shikonin	B16 cells in C57BL/6 mice – prophylactic immunization model (160); P388 cells in KMF mice – curative tumor model (208)	4T1 cells in BALB/c mice – curative tumor model (192);	-	-		
UVC irradiation	CT26 cells in BALB/c mice – prophylactic immunization model (204); EG7 cells in C57BL/6 mice – curative tumor model (152)	-	-	-		
Vorinostat	MC38 or Eµ-myc 4242/299 lymphoma in C57BL/6 mice – curative tumor set-up (166)	-	-	-		
High hydrostatic pressure Pt ^{II} N-heterocyclic carbene complex	No mice or rat based preclinical data available to support their ICD-function	ons				

DC, dendritic cell; ICD, immunogenic cell death; PDT, photodynamic therapy.

TABLE 7 | Existence of intrinsic or naturally occurring resistance to ICD in experimental cancer models.

ICD inducer(s)	Experimental set-up where resistance was observed	Reason behind Resistance	Rescued by?	Clinical applicability verified?	Reference
<i>In vivo</i> preclin	ical setting (cancer ce	II or host immune system-level resistance)			
Anthracyclines or anthracycline plus oxaliplatin	C3H mice with naturally occurring <i>tlr4</i> mutation	Host immune system-level resistance: defective <i>TLR4</i> in C3H mice causes failure of HMGB1- mediated immunity thereby leading to resistance to anti-cancer vaccination effect associated with anthracyclines treatment	Adoptive transfer of TLR4- expressing DCs loaded with dying tumor cells	Yes; breast cancer, colon cancer, and lung cancer patients carrying TLR4 gene mutation that ablates its ability to bind its ligands is associated with worse prognosis post-treatment	(215)
Doxorubicin	AT-3 or 4T1.2 breast cancer cells in C57BL/6 or BALB/c mice, respectively	Cancer cell-level resistance: CD73 overexpression confers chemo-resistance to doxorubicin by suppressing anti-tumor immunity through A2A adenosine receptors	Blockade of CD73	Yes; in triple-negative breast cancer patients, high CD73 in anthracycline- treatment set-up associated with lower rate of complete responses	(216)
Mitoxantrone and Hypericin-PDT	AY27 rat bladder cancer cells in Fischer 344 rats	Cancer cell-level resistance: low endogenous CRT levels, resulted in severely reduced surface-CRT upon treatment with mitoxantrone or Hyp-PDT; this in turn compromised immunogenic phagocytic clearance and anti-cancer vaccination effect	Exogenous addition of recombinant CRT	Yes; high tumoral <i>CALR</i> levels correlated with high expression of phagocytosis-associated genes and predicted for prolonged survival after RT or PTX treatment of lung or ovarian cancer patients respectively	(42)
Oxaliplatin	Autochthonous transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate (TRAMP) model of metastatic prostate cancer	Host immune system-level resistance: immunosuppressive B cells expressing IgA, IL10 and PD-L1 cause resistance to anti-tumorigenic effects of oxaliplatin	Genetic or pharmacological depletion of B cells	Not directly, but possible validity is supported by human patient data showing that IL-10 expressing IgA+ cells are abundant in therapy- resistant prostate cancer and are negative prognostic indicators	(217)
In vitro preclin	nical setting (cancer ce	II-level resistance)			
Anthracycline	SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cell line	Anthracycline treatment of these cells failed to induce surface-CRT due to reduced capacity to efflux ER-Ca ²⁺ into cytosol	Overexpression of reticulon-1C	-	(132)
Doxorubicin	HT29-dx and HT29 iNOS-cells (human colon cancer cells)	Doxorubicin failed to induce NO synthesis, which resulted in reduced toxicity, reduced surface-CRT and subsequently compromised immunogenic phagocytic clearance and DC stimulation	Addition of sodium nitroprusside or a NO donor	-	(218)
Doxorubicin	MDR+ human cancer cells (HT29-dx, A549- dx and MCF-7-dx)	Increased MDR levels caused increased P-glycoprotein expression which caused resistance to doxorubicin-induced ICD by affecting immunogenic phagocytic removal	Addition of zoledronic acid	Not directly	(219)

CD, cluster of differentiation; CRT or CALR, calreticulin; DC, dendritic cells; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; HMGB1, high-mobility group box-1 protein; HSP, heat shock protein; Hyp-PDT, hypericin-photodynamic therapy; ICD, immunogenic cell death; IL, interleukin; MDR, multiple drug-resistance; NO, nitric oxide; NOS, nitric oxide synthase; PD-L1, programed cell death protein ligand 1; PTX, paclitaxel; RT, radiotherapy; TLR, toll-like receptor.

TABLE 8 | A list of clinical observations supporting the existence of ICD in cancer patients.

ICD inducer	Standard-of-care therapy or regularly applied palliative therapy in clinic?	ICD-related characteristics regulating clinical patient prognosis or treatment-responsiveness
Anthracyclines	Yes	<i>P2RX7</i> loss-of-function mutation that compromises ICD also negatively affects MFS in breast cancer patients treated with adjuvant anthracyclines (36); breast cancer patients possessing a wild-type <i>TLR4</i> benefited more from the anthracyclines than those who possessed a mutated <i>TLR4</i> that compromises ICD (70); an <i>MX1</i> -centered Type I IFN signature in anthracycline-treated breast cancer patients predicts for improved disease outcome (141); combined positivity for cytoplasmic LC3B+ puncta and nuclear HMGB1 is a positive predictor of improved survival following adjuvant anthracycline-based chemotherapy (225)
High hydrostatic pressure	No; but HHP-based anticancer DC vaccines are currently being applied in clinical trials against prostate cancer and ovarian cancer (155)	No data are available
Hypericin-based PDT	No; but few clinical trials have been carried out for non-melanoma skin cancer (226), cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (227), mesothelioma (228), and basal or squamous cell carcinoma (229)	No data are available
Oncolytic adenoviruses	No; but oncolytic adenoviruses are currently being applied in various clinical trials in cancer patients	Serum HMGB1 levels and the temporal change in their levels during treatment was identified as a prognostic and predictive biomarker in cancer patients (230)
Oxaliplatin	Yes	Similar to anthracyclines, cancer patients possessing wild-type <i>TLR4</i> exhibited prolonged PFS and OS in comparison to patients bearing the loss-of-function allele of <i>TLR4</i> (197)
Paclitaxel	Yes	High tumoral CALR levels in paclitaxel-treated ovarian cancer patients associated with prolonged OS/PFS as well as increased expression levels of various phagocytosis-associated genes (42)
Photofrin-based PDT	Yes; FDA-approved for application in esophageal and lung cancer (231)	No data available
Radiotherapy	Yes	In patients of eosophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC) receiving chemo-radiotherapy significant increase in serum HMGB1-levels and increased intra-tumoral staining of HMGB1 correlated with better patient survival (232); high tumoral <i>CALR</i> levels in radiotherapy-treated lung cancer patients associated with prolonged OS as well as increased expression levels of various phagocytosis-associated genes (42)
Shikonin	No; but shikonin is currently being applied in an observational clinical study of breast cancer patients (NCT01287468)	No data are available
UVC irradiation	No; but UV treatment is sometimes applied for the preparation of clinical cell-based anticancer vaccines (233)	No data are available
Bortezomib, Anti-EGFR antibody (7A7), bleomycin, cyclophosphamide, microwave thermal ablation, vorinostat	Yes	No data are available
Coxsackievirus B3; <i>Clostridium difficile</i> toxin B; Microwave thermal ablation; Newcastle disease virus (NDV); RIG-I- like helicases (RLH) ligand; Septacidin; Pt ^{II} N-heterocyclic carbene complex; Patupilone	No	No data are available

CRT or CALR, calreticulin; HMGB1, high-mobility group box-1 protein; Hyp-PDT, hypericin-photodynamic therapy; ICD, immunogenic cell death; IFN, interferon; OS, overall survival; PFS, progression-free survival; TLR, toll-like receptor.

